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This Base Prospectus

This document is a base prospectus (the "Base Prospectus™) prepared for the purposes of Article 8 of
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (as amended, the "Prospectus Regulation™). It is valid for 12 months after
its approval (until 17 July 2021) and may be supplemented from time to time to reflect any
significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in it.
The obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of any significant new factor, material
mistake or material inaccuracy relating to the information included in it does not apply when such Base
Prospectus is no longer valid. This Base Prospectus should be read together with any supplements to it,
any documents incorporated by reference within it, and the "Issue Terms" in relation to any particular
issue of Securities.

The Issuers, the Guarantors and the Programme

The Issuers: Each of Goldman, Sachs & Co. Wertpapier GmbH ("GSW"), Goldman Sachs Finance
Corp International Ltd ("GSFCI") and Goldman Sachs International ("GSI", and together with GSW
and GSFClI, the "Issuers" and each, an "Issuer™) may from time to time issue Securities under the Series
P Programme (the "Programme") described in this Base Prospectus upon the terms and conditions of
the Securities described herein as completed (and in the case of Exempt Securities potentially as
amended), in the case of each issue of Securities, by Issue Terms (as described below).

The Guarantors: Securities issued under the Programme do not have the benefit of a Guarantee, save
as described below:

. Securities issued by GSW: The payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery
obligations of GSW under the Securities are guaranteed by either (as specified in the applicable
Issue Terms) (a) GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty (as described below) or (b) GSI pursuant
to either (i) for Securities (other than EIS Notes), the GSI Guarantee or (ii) for EIS Notes, the
GSI (Cayman) Guarantee (each as described below).

Investors should carefully review the relevant Issue Terms to determine whether the
Securities issued by GSW have the benefit of the GSG Guaranty the GSI Guarantee
or the GSI (Cayman) Guarantee.

. Securities issued by GSFCI: The payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery
obligations of GSFCI under the Securities are guaranteed by GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty
(as described below).




. Securities issued by GSI: Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Issue Terms, Securities
issued by GSI do not have the benefit of a Guarantee. If specified in the relevant Issue Terms,
the payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery obligations of GSI under the
Securities are guaranteed by GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty (as described below).

Investors should carefully review the relevant Issue Terms to determine whether or
not the Securities issued by GSI have the benefit of the GSG Guaranty.

Each of the GSG Guaranty, GSI Guarantee and GSI (Cayman) Guarantee will rank pari passu with all
other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the relevant Guarantor.

If the Issuer fails to satisfy its delivery obligations under the Securities, the relevant Guarantor (if any)
is only obliged to pay a cash amount instead of delivering the Deliverable Assets.

The Securities

Securities issued under the Programme may be in the form of warrants (the "Warrants"), certificates
(the "Certificates" and together with the Warrants, the "Instruments™) or notes (the "Notes" and
together with the Instruments, the "Securities"). Securities will give the holder certain rights against the
relevant Issuer, including the right to receive one or more cash amounts or delivery of a specified asset
or assets, against payment of a specified sum. These rights will be set forth in the terms and
conditions (the "Terms and Conditions" or the "Conditions") of the Securities, which shall comprise:

. the "General Instrument Conditions" (in the case of Instruments), commencing on page 130 of
this Base Prospectus, or the "General Note Conditions" (in the case of Notes), commencing on
page 217 of this Base Prospectus;

. where the Securities are linked to one or more Underlying Assets (as described below), the terms
and conditions relating to such Underlying Asset(s) set out in the "Underlying Asset
Conditions", commencing on page 372 of this Base Prospectus, which are specified to be
applicable in the relevant Issue Terms;

. the "coupon" terms (if any) of the Securities set out in the "Coupon Payout Conditions",
commencing on page 298 of this Base Prospectus, which are specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms;

. the "autocall” terms (if any) of the Securities (other than EIS Notes) set out in the "Autocall
Payout Conditions", commencing on page 320 of this Base Prospectus, which are specified to
be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms;

. the "payout" terms of the Securities (other than EIS Notes) set out in the "Payout Conditions",
commencing on page 330 of this Base Prospectus, or the "EIS Note Payout Conditions" in the
case of EIS Notes, commencing on page 369 of this Base Prospectus, which are specified to be
applicable in the relevant Issue Terms; and

. the issue specific details of the particular issue of Securities as set out in a separate "Issue Terms"
document.
Final Terms

A "Final Terms" document shall be prepared in respect of each issue of Securities, save as provided in
"Pricing Supplement" below. In addition to specifying the form of the Security (be it a Warrant,
Certificate or Note), and which of the Coupon Payout Conditions (if any), Autocall Payout Conditions (if
any), Payout Conditions and Underlying Asset Conditions (if any) apply to the Securities, the Final
Terms will include other important information in relation to the particular issue of Securities such as,
for example, payment and maturity dates, amounts, rates and (if applicable) the Underlying Asset(s) on
which the return on the Securities will be dependent.



Pricing Supplement

A separate "Pricing Supplement” document shall be prepared in respect of each issue of Exempt
Securities, provided that at the discretion of the Issuer a Final Terms may be prepared in respect of an
issue of Non-EEA Securities. For such purpose, "Exempt Securities" are Securities for which no
prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Regulation (or in respect of which a separate
prospectus will be published under the Prospectus Regulation other than this Base Prospectus), and
"Non-EEA Securities" are Securities in respect of which none of the Issuer or Dealer(s) shall offer or
apply for listing within the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom. In addition to specifying
the form of the Securities (be it a Warrant, Certificate or Note), and which of the Coupon Payout
Conditions (if any), Autocall Payout Conditions (if any), Payout Conditions and Underlying Asset
Conditions (if any) apply to the Securities, the Pricing Supplement will include other important
information in relation to the particular issue of Securities such as, for example, payment and maturity
dates, amounts, rates and (if applicable) the Underlying Assets(s) (as described below) on which the
return on the Securities will be dependent. The Pricing Supplement may replace or modify the "General
Terms and Conditions of Notes" or the "General Terms and Conditions of Instruments", Coupon Payout
Conditions (if any), Autocall Payout Conditions (if any), Payout Conditions and Underlying Asset
Conditions (if any) to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the same.

Issue Terms

An "Issue Terms" means either (i) the relevant Final Terms or (ii) the relevant Pricing Supplement, as
applicable in respect of the relevant Securities.

Types of Underlying Assets

The amount payable or deliverable under some, but not all, of the Securities issued under this Base
Prospectus may depend on the performance (which can be measured in different ways) of one or more
underlying reference assets ("Underlying Assets"), including:

a share (including a depositary receipt and an exchange traded fund);

an equity index, futures, options or other derivatives contracts on an equities index;
an index that is composed by the relevant Issuer or affiliate (a "proprietary index");
a commodity;

a commodity index;

a foreign exchange rate;

an inflation index or other consumer price index;

an interest rate or constant maturity swap rate;

a fund;

a basket of the above; and

a preference share issued by Goldman Sachs (Cayman) Limited.

Securities will not be linked to shares in the relevant Issuer or by any legal entity belonging to the same
group (save that Securities may be linked to preference shares of Goldman Sachs (Cayman) Limited).

Risk Factors

Before purchasing Securities, you should carefully consider the information in this Base
Prospectus, in particular, the section ""Risk Factors' commencing on page 15.

Commonly Asked Questions and Index of Defined Terms

A list of commonly asked questions and replies is set out in the section "Commonly Asked Questions
about the Programme" commencing on page 116 of this Base Prospectus.

A list of all of the defined terms used in this Base Prospectus is set out in the section "Index of Defined
Terms" commencing on page 1118 of this Base Prospectus.

Statements in relation to prospects, financial position or financial performance

In this Base Prospectus, where GSI, GSW, GSFCI and GSG make statements that "there has been no
material adverse change in the prospects™ and "no significant change in the financial position or financial



performance” of GSI, GSW, GSFCI and GSG, respectively, references in these statements to the
"prospects” and "financial or trading position" of GSI, GSW, GSFCI and GSG are specifically to their
respective ability to meet their full payment obligations under the Securities (in the case of each of GSlI,
GSW and GSFCI) or the Guarantees (in the case of each of GSI and GSG (as applicable)) in a timely
manner. Material information about the respective financial Condition and prospects of GSI, GSW,
GSFCI and GSG is included in each of GSI's, GSW's, GSFCI's and GSG's annual and interim reports,
which are incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

The date of this Base Prospectus is 17 July 2020.



IMPORTANT NOTICES

Investing in the Securities may involve exposure to derivatives and may, depending on the terms
of the particular Securities, put your capital at risk and you may lose some or all of your
investment. Also, if the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the relevant Guarantor fail or go
bankrupt, you will lose some or all of your investment.

Neither the Securities nor the Guarantees are bank deposits, and neither are insured or
guaranteed by any governmental agency: The Securities and the Guarantees are not bank deposits
and are not insured or guaranteed by the UK Financial Services Compensation Scheme, the Jersey
Depositors Compensation Scheme, the United States Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the U.S.
Deposit Insurance Fund or any other government or governmental or private agency or deposit
protection scheme in any jurisdiction.

This Base Prospectus may be (i) registered in Switzerland with the reviewing body (Prufstelle) SIX
Exchange Regulation AG or another reviewing body approved by the Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority FINMA as a foreign prospectus that is also deemed to be approved in Switzerland
pursuant to Article 54 paragraph 2 of the Swiss Federal Act on Financial Services ("Financial Services
Act"; "FinSA") for inclusion on the list of approved prospectus pursuant to Article 64 para. 5 FinSA, (ii)
deposited with this reviewing body and (iii) published pursuant to Article 64 FinSA.

Potential for discretionary determinations by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent under the

The Securities do not constitute a participation in a Collective Investment Scheme within the
meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes (""CISA™). The Securities
are neither subject to the authorisation nor to the supervision by the Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority FINMA ("FINMA") and investors do not benefit from the specific investor
protection provided under the CISA. Investors should be aware that they are exposed to the credit
risk of the relevant Issuer and the relevant Guarantor, if any, respectively.

Securities: Under the terms and conditions of the Securities, following the occurrence of certain events
— relating to the Issuer, the Issuer's hedging arrangements, the Underlying Asset(s), taxation, the relevant
currency or other matters — outside of the Issuer's control, the Issuer or the Calculation Agent may
determine in its discretion to take one of the actions available to it in order to deal with the impact of
such event on the Securities or the Issuer or both. These actions may include (i) adjustment to the terms
and conditions of the Securities, (ii) substitution of the Underlying Asset(s) or (iii) early redemption or
exercise of the Securities. Any such discretionary determination by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent
could have a negative impact on the value of the Securities. See, in particular, "Risk Factors" - risk factor
7 (Risks associated with conflicts of interest between Goldman Sachs and purchasers of Securities and
discretionary powers of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent including in relation to our hedging
arrangements) below.

Important EEA and UK Retail Investors: Unless the Issue Terms in respect of any Securities specifies
"Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", the Securities are not
intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise
made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA") or the United Kingdom.
For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined
in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended "MiFID I1'); (ii) a customer within
the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended, "Insurance Distribution Directive™), where that
customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II;
or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information
document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation™) for
offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or the
United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Securities or otherwise making
them available to any retail investor in the EEA or the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the
PRIIPs Regulation.

Notwithstanding the above paragraph, in the case where the Issue Terms in respect of any Securities
include a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors" but where the Issuer
subsequently prepares and publishes a key information document under the PRIIPs Regulation in respect
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of such Securities, then following such publication, the prohibition on the offering, sale or otherwise
making available the Securities to a retail investor in the EEA or the United Kingdom as described in the
above paragraph and in such legend shall no longer apply.

Important U.S. Legal Notices: None of the Securities, the Guarantees and any securities to be delivered
upon exercise or settlement of the Securities have been, nor will be, registered under the United States
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or any state securities laws; and trading in
the Securities has not been and will not be approved by the United States Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (the "CFTC") under the United States Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the
"Commodity Exchange Act"). Except as provided below, Securities and the Guarantees may not be
offered or sold within the United States or to U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities
Act ("Regulation S")). The Issue Terms relating to an Instrument (but not a Note) may provide for an
offer and sale of the whole or a portion of a Series of Instruments issued by GSI (but not any other Issuer)
to qualified institutional buyers ("QIBs") (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act ("Rule
144A™)) within the United States in reliance on an exemption from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act for transactions not involving any public offering ("Private Placement Exemption™). In
addition, GSI may from time to time issue Warrants that will be represented by a Regulation S/Rule
144A Global Warrant which can be (a) offered and sold to QIBs in reliance on the Private Placement
Exemption and (b) offered and sold to investors who are located outside the United States and are not
"US persons" as defined in Regulation S (each, a "Regulation S/Rule 144A Warrant™). Each purchaser
of Instruments offered within the United States is hereby notified that the offer and sale of such
Instruments to it is made in reliance upon the Private Placement Exemption and that such Instruments
are not transferable except as provided under "Selling Restrictions" below. Rights arising under the
Instruments will be exercisable by the Holder only upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial
ownership, unless the Issue Terms relating to an Instrument expressly provide otherwise in connection
with an offering of the Instruments that may be resold pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act.
Hedging transactions involving an Instrument may not be concluded other than in compliance with the
Securities Act or the Commaodity Exchange Act, as applicable.

Securities issued by GSI or GSW relating to commodities and commodities futures (within the meaning
of the Commaodity Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the CFTC thereunder), or securities
issuable upon exercise of certain of the Securities, may not be offered, sold or resold in or into the United
States without an applicable exemption under the Commodity Exchange Act. Unless otherwise stated in
the relevant Issue Terms, such Securities may not be offered, sold or resold in the United States and GSI
or GSW, as applicable, and the relevant Guarantor (if applicable) reserve the right not to make payment
or delivery in respect of such a Security to a person in the United States if such payment or delivery
would constitute a violation of U.S. law. Securities issued by GSFCI relating to commodities and
commodities futures (within the meaning of the Commodity Exchange Act and the rules and regulations
of the CFTC thereunder), or securities issuable upon exercise of certain of the Securities, may not be
offered, sold or resold in or into the United States at any time. Such Securities may not be offered, sold
or resold in the United States and GSFCI and GSG, as Guarantor reserve the right not to make payment
or delivery in respect of such a Security to a person in the United States.

The Securities have not been approved or disapproved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
"SEC") or any state securities commission in the United States nor has the SEC or any state securities
commission passed upon the accuracy or the adequacy of this Base Prospectus. Any representation to
the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States.

Important notice in relation to Securities offered in the Kingdom of Bahrain

In relation to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain, Securities issued in connection with this Base
Prospectus together with any Issue Terms and related offering documents must be in registered form and
must only be marketed to existing account holders and accredited investors as defined by the Central
Bank of Bahrain ("CBB") in the Kingdom of Bahrain where such investors make a minimum investment
of at least U.S.$100,000 or any equivalent amount in other currency or such other amount as the CBB
may determine.

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer of securities in the Kingdom of Bahrain pursuant to the
terms of Article (81) of the Central Bank and Financial Institutions Law 2006 (decree Law No. 64 of
2006). This Base Prospectus, together with any Issue Terms and related offering documents have not
been and will not be registered as a prospectus with the CBB. Accordingly, no Securities may be offered,

Vi



sold or made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase nor will this Base Prospectus
together with any Issue Terms or any other related documents or material be used in connection with any
offer, sale or invitation to subscribe or purchase securities, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in
the Kingdom of Bahrain, other than as marketing to accredited investors for an offer outside Bahrain.

The CBB has not reviewed, approved or registered this Base Prospectus together with any Issue Terms
or related offering documents and it has not in any way considered the merits of the securities to be
marketed for investment, whether in or outside the Kingdom of Bahrain. Therefore, the CBB assumes
no responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the statements and information contained in this
Base Prospectus and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
reliance upon the whole or any part of the content of this Base Prospectus.

No offer of Securities will be made to the public in the Kingdom of Bahrain and this Base Prospectus
together with any Issue Terms or related offering documents must be read by the addressee only and
must not be issued, passed to, or made available to the public generally.

The CBB and the Bahrain Bourse assume no responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the
statements and information contained in this Base Prospectus and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this Base Prospectus.

Each of the responsible persons (as defined in "Important Legal Information" below) accepts
responsibility for the information given in this Base Prospectus and confirms that, having taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Base Prospectus is, to
the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect its
import.

Any offer of Securities to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain will be made by way of private placement.
For the avoidance of doubt, no offer of Securities will be made to the public in the Kingdom of Bahrain.
All offers of Securities to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain are therefore intended for "Accredited
Investors™ only. "Accredited Investors" are defined as:

. individuals holding financial assets (either singly or jointly with their spouses) of
U.S.$1,000,000 or more, excluding that person's principal place of residence;

. companies, partnerships, trusts or other commercial undertakings, which have financial assets
available for investment of not less than U.S.$1,000,000; or

. governments, supranational organisations, central banks or other national monetary authorities,
and state organisations whose main activity is to invest in financial instruments (such as state
pension funds).

All offers of Securities to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain will be made by way of private placement
and may only be offered to investors in the Kingdom of Bahrain in minimum subscriptions of
U.S.$100,000 (or equivalent in other currencies).

Post-issuance Reporting: Neither the Issuers nor the Guarantors intend to provide any post-issuance
information or have authorised the making or provision of any representation or information regarding
the Issuers, the Guarantors or the Securities other than as contained or incorporated by reference in this
Base Prospectus, in any other document prepared in connection with the Programme or any Issue Terms
or as expressly approved for such purpose by the Issuers or the Guarantors. Any such representation or
information should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuers or the Guarantors. Neither
the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the delivery of any Issue Terms shall, in any circumstances,
create any implication that there has been no adverse change in the financial situation of the Issuers or
the Guarantors since the date hereof or, as the case may be, the date upon which this Base Prospectus has
been most recently supplemented.

Restrictions and distribution and use of this Base Prospectus and Issue Terms: The distribution of
this Base Prospectus and any Issue Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of the Securities in certain
jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any Issue
Terms comes are required by the Issuers and the Guarantors to inform themselves about and to observe
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any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Securities
and the distribution of this Base Prospectus, any Issue Terms and other offering material relating to the
Securities, see "Selling Restrictions"” below.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Issue Terms may be used for the purpose of an offer or solicitation
by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any person to
whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation, and no action has been taken or will be taken to
permit an offering of the Securities or the distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where
any such action is required.

Acknowledgement of bail-in power in respect of Swiss Securities issued by GSI

If you purchase Swiss Securities issued by GSI, you shall be deemed to have agreed to be bound by the
exercise of any UK Bail-In Power by the Relevant UK Resolution Authority. See risk factor 2.6(h) (Risks
relating to the potential exercise by a resolution authority of its resolution powers in relation to GSI),
General Instrument Condition 7 (Contractual acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of Swiss Securities
issued by GSI) and General Note Condition 7 (Contractual acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of Swiss
Securities issued by GSI).

Acknowledgement of bail-in power in respect of French Law Instruments and French Law Notes
issued by GSI

If you purchase French Law Instruments or French Law Notes issued by GSI, you shall be deemed to
have agreed to be bound by the exercise of any UK Bail-In Power by the Relevant UK Resolution
Authority. See risk factor 2.6(h) (Risks relating to the potential exercise by a resolution authority of its
resolution powers in relation to GSI), General Instrument Condition 8 (Contractual acknowledgment of
bail-in in respect of French Law Instruments issued by GSI) and General Note Condition 8 (Contractual
acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of French Law Notes issued by GSI).

Benchmarks Regulation: Amounts payable under the Securities or assets deliverable under the
Securities may be calculated or otherwise determined by reference to a reference rate, an index or a price
source. Any such reference rate, index or price source may constitute a benchmark for the purposes of
the Benchmarks Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (as amended, the "Benchmarks Regulation™).
If any such reference rate, index or price source does constitute such a benchmark then (as applicable)
(i) the Final Terms will, or (ii) the Pricing Supplement may, indicate whether or not the benchmark is
provided by an administrator included in the register of administrators and benchmarks established and
maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA") pursuant to article 36 of the
Benchmarks Regulation. Not every index will fall within the scope of the Benchmarks Regulation.
Furthermore, transitional provisions in the Benchmarks Regulation may have the result that the
administrator of a particular benchmark is not required to appear in the register of administrators and
benchmarks at the date of the relevant Issue Terms. As at the date of this Base Prospectus each of ICE
Benchmark Administration Limited (the administrator of LIBOR) and European Money Markets
Institute (the administrator of EURIBOR) is included in the register of administrators and benchmarks.
The registration status of any administrator under the Benchmarks Regulation is a matter of public record
and, save where required by applicable law, the relevant Issuer does not intend to update the relevant
Issue Terms to reflect any change in the registration status of the administrator.

Stabilisation: In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the person or persons (if any) acting
as the stabilising manager(s) (the "Stabilising Manager(s)") (or persons acting on behalf of any
Stabilising Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market
price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may
not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public
disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at
any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche
of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation
action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or person(s) acting
on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

Consent of the Jersey Financial Services Commission and the Jersey Registrar of Companies: The
Jersey Financial Services Commission (the "Commission™) has given, and has not withdrawn, its consent
under Article 4 of the Control of Borrowing (Jersey) Order 1958 to the issue of the Securities by GSFCI.
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A copy of this Base Prospectus has been delivered to the Jersey registrar of companies in accordance
with Article 5 of the Companies (General Provisions) (Jersey) Order 2002, and he has given, and has not
withdrawn, his consent to its circulation. It must be distinctly understood that, in giving these consents,
neither the registrar of companies nor the Commission takes any responsibility for the financial
soundness of GSFCI or GSG, as Guarantor, or for the correctness of any statements made, or opinions
expressed, with regard to them.

Certain defined terms: In this Base Prospectus, references to:

"U.S.$", "$", "U.S. dollars”, "dollars", "USD" and "cents" are to the lawful currency of the
United States of America;

"€", "euro"” and "EUR" are to the lawful single currency of the member states of the European
Union that have adopted and continue to retain a common single currency through monetary
union in accordance with European Union treaty law (as amended from time to time);

"£" are to Sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom;

"BRL" are to Brazilian Real, the lawful currency of the Federative Republic of Brazil (including
any lawful successor to the BRL);

"CNY" are to Chinese Renminbi, the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China
(including any lawful successor to the CNY); and

"ZAR" are to South African Rand, the lawful currency of South Africa (including any lawful
successor to the ZAR).

Any other currency referred to in any Issue Terms will have the meaning specified in the relevant Issue

Terms.

An Index of Defined Terms is set out on pages 1118 to 1144 of this Base Prospectus.
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General Description of the Programme

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME
Types of Securities which may be issued under the Programme

Under the Programme, GSI, GSW and GSFClI, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations
and directives, may from time to time issue:

Q) Warrants or Certificates or other similar instruments, including Share Linked Instruments, Index
Linked Instruments, Commodity Linked Instruments, FX Linked Instruments, Inflation Linked
Instruments or Fund Linked Instruments, or a combination of any of the foregoing; and

(i) Notes, including Fixed Rate Notes, Floating Rate Notes, Zero Coupon Notes, Instalment
Notes, Share Linked Notes, Index Linked Notes, Commaodity Linked Notes, FX Linked
Notes, Inflation Linked Notes, Fund Linked Notes, or a combination of any of the
foregoing.

In addition, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, GSW and GSFCI
may from time to time issue EIS Notes.

Whether or not the Securities have the benefit of a guarantee

M Securities issued by GSW: The payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery
obligations of GSW under the Securities are guaranteed by either (as specified in the relevant
Issue Terms) (a) GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty (as described below) or (b) GSI pursuant
to either (i) for Securities (other than EIS Notes), the GSI Guarantee or (ii) for EIS Notes, the
GSI (Cayman) Guarantee (each as described below).

(i) Securities issued by GSFCI: The payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery
obligations of GSFCI under the Securities are guaranteed by GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty
(as described below).

(iii) Securities issued by GSI: Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Issue Terms, Securities
issued by GSI will not have the benefit of a Guarantee. If specified in the relevant Issue
Terms, the payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery obligations of GSI under
the Securities are guaranteed by GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty (as described below).

Each of the GSG Guaranty, GSI Guarantee and GSI (Cayman) Guarantee will rank pari passu with all
other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the relevant Guarantor.

If the Issuer fails to satisfy its delivery obligations under the Securities, the relevant Guarantor (if any)
is only obliged to pay a cash amount instead of delivering the Deliverable Assets.

Applicable Clearing Systems

Instruments may be cleared through Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear France, VPS,
Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear Finland, CREST, SIX SIS or Monte Titoli. Notes may be cleared through
Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear France, VPS, Euroclear Sweden or Euroclear Finland.
In addition, Securities may be accepted for settlement in CREST via the CREST Depository Interest
("CDI") mechanism.

Maturity, Minimum Denomination and Restriction on Delivery of Shares of the Same Group

Subject to compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, directives and/or central bank requirements,
Notes may have any maturity and may have a denomination of less than €100,000. No Notes may be
issued under the Programme which have a minimum denomination of less than €1,000 (or nearly
equivalent in another currency) and no Securities may be issued which carry the right to acquire shares
(or transferable securities equivalent to shares) issued by the relevant Issuer or by any entity to whose
group such Issuer belongs and which, in each case, (a) are offered to the public or (b) admitted to trading
on a regulated market of any European Economic Area member state or the United Kingdom.
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Terms and Conditions of the Securities:

Instruments: the applicable terms of the Instruments will comprise:

the "General Instrument Conditions”, commencing on page 130 of this Base Prospectus;

where the Instruments are linked to one or more Underlying Assets, the terms and
Conditions relating to such Underlying Asset(s) set out in the "Underlying Asset Conditions",
commencing on page 372 of this Base Prospectus which are specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms;

the "coupon” terms (if any) of the Instruments set forth in the "Coupon Payout Conditions",
commencing on page 298 of this Base Prospectus, which are specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms;

the "autocall" terms (if any) of the Instruments set forth in the "Autocall Payout Conditions",
commencing on page 320 of this Base Prospectus, which are specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms;

the "payout” terms of the Instruments set forth in the "Payout Conditions" commencing on page
330 of this Base Prospectus which are specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms;
and

the issue specific details relating to such Instruments as set forth in a separate "Issue Terms"
document.

Notes: the applicable terms of the Notes will comprise:

the "General Note Conditions", commencing at page 217 of this Base Prospectus;

where the Notes are linked to one or more Underlying Assets, the terms and conditions relating
to such Underlying Asset(s) set out in the "Underlying Asset Conditions", commencing on page
372 of this Base Prospectus which are specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms;

the "coupon" terms (if any) of the Notes set forth in the "Coupon Payout Conditions",
commencing on page 298 of this Base Prospectus, which are specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms;

the "autocall” terms (if any) of the Notes set forth in the "Autocall Payout Conditions",
commencing on page 320 of this Base Prospectus which are specified to be applicable in the
relevant Issue Terms (except in the case of Notes which are specified in the relevant Issue Terms
to be "EIS Notes");

the "payout" terms of the Notes set forth in the "Payout Conditions" commencing on page 330
of this Base Prospectus which are specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms (except
in the case of Notes which are specified in the relevant Issue Terms to be "EIS Notes", in which
case the economic or "payout" terms of the Notes are set forth in the "EIS Note Payout
Conditions" commencing on page 369 of this Base Prospectus); and

the issue specific details relating to such Notes as set forth in a separate "Issue Terms" document.

Swiss Securities

Swiss Securities issued by GSI or GSFCI are issued in uncertificated form in accordance with article
973c of the Swiss Code of Obligations. By (i) registering Swiss Securities in uncertificated form in the
main register (Hauptregister) of SIX SIS Ltd, Olten, Switzerland ("SIS") or any other eligible entity,
acting as custodian (Verwahrungsstelle) as defined in article 4 of the Swiss Federal Intermediated
Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz) ("FISA™) and (ii) by crediting the Swiss Securities to a securities
account (Effektenkonto) of an account holder with SIS or any other eligible entity, intermediated
securities (Bucheffekten) ("Intermediated Securities"), pursuant to the FISA are created.
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Swiss Securities issued by GSW are issued in the form of a permanent global certificate in accordance
with article 973b of the Swiss Code of Obligations ("Permanent Global Certificate™). By (i) depositing
a Permanent Global Certificate with SIS, or any other eligible entity, acting as custodian as defined in
article 4 of the FISA (Verwahrungsstelle) and (ii) by crediting the Swiss Securities to a securities account
(Effektenkonto) of an account holder with SIS or any other eligible entity, Intermediated Securities,
pursuant to the FISA are created.

Status of Securities

Securities issued under the Programme will constitute direct, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations
of the relevant Issuer and will rank pari passu among themselves and with all other direct unsubordinated
and unsecured obligations of such Issuer.

Eurosystem eligibility

Registered Notes in global form held under the new safekeeping structure (NSS) may be issued with the
intention that such Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-
day credit operations by the Eurosystem, either upon issue or at any time or all times during their life.
Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the
European Central Bank. However, there is no guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible
collateral. Any other Notes are not intended to be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem
monetary policy and intra-day operations by the Eurosystem.

Agents
Notes
Fiscal Agent: Citibank, N.A., London Branch.
Transfer Agents: Citibank, N.A., London Branch and Banque Internationale a

Luxembourg, société anonyme.

Finnish Paying Agent:

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Helsinki Branch,
Finland.

Swedish Paying Agent:

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Sweden.

Norwegian Paying Agent:

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Oslo Branch,
Norway.

Luxembourg Paying Agent:

Banque Internationale a Luxembourg, société anonyme.

French Paying Agent:

BNP Paribas Securities Services.

Additional Paying Agent:

Goldman Sachs International.

Registrar (Notes):

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG.

Calculation Agent:

Goldman Sachs International (unless otherwise specified in
the relevant Issue Terms).

Instruments

Principal Programme Agent:

Citibank Europe plc, Germany Branch.

Finnish Paying Agent:

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Helsinki Branch,
Finland.

Swedish Paying Agent:

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Sweden.
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Norwegian Paying Agent: Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Oslo Branch,
Norway.

CREST Paying Agent and CREST | Equiniti Limited.

Registrar:

Italian Paying Agent: Citibank Europe Plc, Dublin

Luxembourg Paying Agent: Banque Internationale a Luxembourg, société anonyme.

French Paying Agent: BNP Paribas Securities Services.

Swiss Paying Agent Goldman Sachs International

Additional Paying Agent: Goldman Sachs International.

Calculation Agent: Goldman Sachs International (unless otherwise specified in
the relevant Issue Terms).
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Risk factors

RISK FACTORS

An investment in your Securities is subject to the risks described below, together with any risk factors
set out in any documents incorporated by reference. You should carefully review these risks as well
as the terms and conditions of the Securities described herein and in the related Issue Terms. Your
Securities may be a riskier investment than ordinary debt or most other securities. Also, your
Securities are not equivalent to investing directly in the Underlying Asset(s) — i.e. the ordinary share,
preference share, equity index, commodity, commodity index, foreign exchange rate, inflation index,
interest rate, swap rate or some or a combination of these assets to which the return on your particular
Securities depends. You should carefully consider whether the Securities are suited to your particular
circumstances, including to consult your own professional advisers as necessary. We do not give to
you as a prospective purchaser of Securities any assurance or guarantee as to the merits, performance
or suitability of such Securities, and you should be aware that we act as an arm's length contractual
counterparty and not as an advisor or fiduciary.

In these Risk Factors, "we" and "our" mean Goldman Sachs and "Underlying Asset" means each
Underlying Asset specified in the relevant Issue Terms or, if no Underlying Asset is specified in the Issue
Terms, the rate(s) or other financial metric(s) to which the Securities are linked
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RISK WARNING OF POTENTIAL LOSS OF SOME OR ALL OF YOUR INVESTMENT

You may lose some or all of your investment in the Securities where:

The Issuer or (if applicable) the Guarantor fails or goes bankrupt or is otherwise unable
to meet its payment or delivery obligations: The payment of any amount due on, or an
asset deliverable under, the Securities is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer, and (if
applicable) the credit risk of the relevant Guarantor. The Securities and the Guarantees
are our unsecured obligations. Investors are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts
due on the Securities, and therefore investors are subject to the Issuer’s credit risk and
to changes in the market's view of the Issuer’s creditworthiness. Similarly, investors are
dependent on the ability of the relevant Guarantor to pay all amounts due on the
Securities, and therefore are also subject to the credit risk of the relevant Guarantor
and to changes in the market's view of the creditworthiness of the relevant Guarantor.
Neither the Securities nor the Guarantees are bank deposits, and neither are insured or
guaranteed by the UK Financial Services Compensation Scheme, the Jersey Depositors
Compensation Scheme, the United States Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the
U.S. Deposit Insurance Fund or any other government or governmental or private
agency or deposit protection scheme in any jurisdiction.

Investors in Securities issued by GSW should carefully review the relevant Issue Terms t
determine whether the Securities have the benefit of the GSG Guaranty, the GSI Guarante
or the GSI (Cayman) Guarantee.

Investors in Securities issued by GSI should carefully review the relevant Issue Terms t
determine whether the Securities have the benefit of the GSG Guaranty.

The final redemption amount of the Securities is less than the purchase price, due to the
performance of the Underlying Asset(s): In the case of Securities linked to Underlying
Asset(s), where the terms of your Securities do not provide for scheduled minimum
payment of the face value or issue price of the Securities at maturity, whether you
receive some or all of your money back at maturity (and any positive return) will
depend on the performance of the Underlying Asset(s). Therefore, depending on the
performance of the Underlying Asset(s), you may lose some or all of your investment.

The secondary sale price is less than the original purchase price: The market price of
your Securities prior to maturity may be significantly lower than the purchase price
you pay for them. Consequently, if you sell your Securities before the stated scheduled
redemption date, you may receive far less than your original invested amount.

The Securities are redeemed early due to an unexpected event and the amount you
receive is less than the original purchase price: Your Securities may be redeemed in
certain extraordinary circumstances as described in this Base Prospectus prior to
scheduled maturity and, in such case, the early redemption amount paid to you may be
less than the amount you paid for the Securities.

Where applicable, the relevant Guarantor fails or goes bankrupt but the Issuer does
not: The bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor will not constitute an event
of default in relation to your Securities. There is no automatic default or acceleration
upon the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor. In the event that the
relevant Guarantor becomes subject to bankruptcy or resolution proceedings (but the
Issuer does not), you will not be able to declare the Securities to be immediately due and
repayable. The return you receive on the Securities in this particular circumstance
could be significantly less than what you would have otherwise received had you been
able to declare the Securities immediately due and repayable upon the bankruptcy or
resolution of the relevant Guarantor.

These circumstances are more fully described below.
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1.2

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT OUR ABILITY TO FULFIL OUR OBLIGATIONS
UNDER THE SECURITIES

Risks relating to GSG
Credit risks

The Issuer may partially or wholly fail to meet its obligations under the Securities. Investors
should therefore take the creditworthiness of the Issuer, as well as the creditworthiness of the
relevant Guarantor of the Securities, into account in their investment decision. Credit risk means
the risk of insolvency or illiquidity of the Issuer, i.e. a potential, temporary or final inability to
fulfil its interest and repayment obligations on time. An increased insolvency risk is typical of
issuers that have a low creditworthiness.

Although the return on your Securities will be based on the performance of the Underlying
Asset(s) (if applicable), the payment of any amount due on, or delivery of any asset(s)
deliverable under, the Securities is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer, and (if applicable) the
credit risk of the relevant Guarantor. This is also the case for Securities not linked to any
Underlying Asset. The Securities and the Guarantees are our unsecured obligations. Investors
are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on, or deliver any asset(s) deliverable under,
the Securities, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the market's
view of our creditworthiness. Similarly, investors are dependent on the ability of (if applicable)
the relevant Guarantor, to pay all amounts due on the Securities, and therefore are also subject
to its credit risk and to changes in the market's view of its creditworthiness.

Because the assets of GSG consist principally of interests in the subsidiaries through which GSG
conducts its businesses, its right to participate as an equity holder in any distribution of assets
of any of its subsidiaries upon the subsidiary's liquidation or otherwise, and thus the ability of
the security holders of the Issuer, as the beneficiaries of the GSG Guaranty (if applicable), to
benefit from the distribution, is junior to creditors of the subsidiary, except to the extent that any
claims GSG may have as a creditor of the subsidiary are recognised. In addition, dividends,
loans and advances to GSG from some of its subsidiaries are restricted by net capital
requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and under rules of securities exchanges
and other regulatory bodies. Furthermore, because some of the subsidiaries of GSG are
partnerships in which GSG is a general partner or the sole limited partner, GSG may be liable
for their obligations. GSG also guarantees many of the obligations of its subsidiaries other than
the Issuer. Any liability GSG may have for its subsidiaries' obligations could reduce its assets
that are available to satisfy its obligations under the GSG Guaranty to the investors in securities
of the Issuer.

The Securities are not bank deposits and are not insured or guaranteed by the UK
Financial Services Compensation Scheme, the Jersey Depositors Compensation Scheme,
the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the U.S. Deposit Insurance Fund or any
other government or governmental or private agency or deposit protection scheme in any
jurisdiction. Investors are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on the
Securities, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the
market's view of our creditworthiness.

Where applicable, the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor will not
constitute an event of default in relation to the Securities. There is no automatic default or
acceleration upon the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor. In the event that the
relevant Guarantor becomes subject to bankruptcy or resolution proceedings (but the Issuer does
not), you will not be able to declare the Securities to be immediately due and repayable. Instead,
you will need to wait until the earlier of the time that (i) the Issuer itself becomes bankrupt or
otherwise defaults on the terms of the Securities and (ii) the time the Securities become due and
repayable at their maturity. Therefore, the return you receive on the Securities in this particular
circumstance could be significantly less than what you would have otherwise received had you
been able to declare the Securities immediately due and repayable upon the bankruptcy or
resolution of the relevant Guarantor.

Market risks
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1.4

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

See the following risk factors as incorporated by reference from the 2019 Form 10-K (as
defined below in "Documents Incorporated by Reference™), in the following order:

Our businesses have been and may continue to be adversely affected by conditions in the
global financial markets and economic conditions generally. (page 23 of the 2019 Form
10-K);

Our businesses have been and may be adversely affected by disruptions in the credit
markets, including reduced access to credit and higher costs of obtaining credit. (page 26
of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Our market-making activities have been and may be affected by changes in the levels of
market volatility. (page 27 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Our investment banking, client execution, asset management and wealth management
businesses have been adversely affected and may in the future be adversely affected by
market uncertainty or lack of confidence among investors and CEOs due to general
declines in economic activity and other unfavorable economic, geopolitical or market
conditions. (page 27 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Our businesses, profitability and liquidity may be adversely affected by Brexit. (page 34
of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Our businesses, profitability and liquidity may be adversely affected by deterioration in
the credit quality of, or defaults by, third parties who owe us money, securities or other
assets or whose securities or obligations we hold. (pages 34-35 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Concentration of risk increases the potential for significant losses in our market-making,
underwriting, investing and financing activities. (page 35 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

(viii) We may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including the

(ix)

emergence of a pandemic, terrorist attacks, extreme weather events or other natural
disasters (page 44 of the 2019 Form 10-K); and

Climate change concerns could disrupt our businesses, affect client activity levels and
creditworthiness and damage our reputation (page 44 of the 2019 Form 10-K).

Liquidity risks

(i)

See the following risk factors as incorporated by reference from the 2019 Form 10-K (as
defined below in "Documents Incorporated by Reference™), in the following order:

Our liquidity, profitability and businesses may be adversely affected by an inability to
access the debt capital markets or to sell assets or by a reduction in our credit ratings or
by an increase in our credit spreads. (pages 28-29 of the 2019 Form 10-K); and

Group Inc. is a holding company and is dependent for liquidity on payments from its
subsidiaries, many of which are subject to restrictions. (page 40 of the 2019 Form 10-K).

Business activities and industry risks

(i)

(i)

See the following risk factors as incorporated by reference from the 2019 Form 10-K (as
defined below in "Documents Incorporated by Reference™), in the following order:

Our businesses have been and may be adversely affected by declining asset values. This
is particularly true for those businesses in which we have net "long" positions, receive
fees based on the value of assets managed, or receive or post collateral. (pages 25-26 of
the 2019 Form 10-K);

Our asset management and wealth management businesses may be affected by the poor
investment performance of our investment products or a client preference for products

18



Risk factors

15

1.6

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

other than those which we offer or for products that generate lower fees. (page 27 of the
2019 Form 10-K);

We face enhanced risks as new business initiatives and acquisitions lead us to engage in
new activities, transact with a broader array of clients and counterparties and expose us
to new asset classes and new markets. (pages 29-30 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

The financial services industry is both highly competitive and interrelated. (pages 35-36
of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Our results have been and may in the future be adversely affected by the composition of
our client base. (page 36 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Derivative transactions and delayed settlements may expose us to unexpected risk and
potential losses. (page 37 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

Certain of our businesses, our funding and financial products may be adversely affected
by changes in or the discontinuance of Interbank Offered Rates (IBORs), in particular
LIBOR (pages 37- 38 of the 2019 Form 10-K)

Certain of our businesses and our funding may be adversely affected by changes in other
reference rates, currencies, indexes, baskets or ETFs to which products we offer or
funding that we raise are linked. (page 38 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

The growth of electronic trading and the introduction of new trading technology may
adversely affect our business and may increase competition. (pages 42-43 of the 2019
Form 10-K); and

In conducting our businesses around the world, we are subject to political, economic,
legal, operational and other risks that are inherent in operating in many countries. (page
43 of the 2019 Form 10-K).

Operational Risks

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

See the following risk factors as incorporated by reference from the 2019 Form 10-K (as
defined below in "Documents Incorporated by Reference™), in the following order:

We may incur losses as a result of ineffective risk management processes and strategies.
(page 28 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

A failure in our operational systems or infrastructure, or those of third parties, as well as
human error, malfeasance or other misconduct, could impair our liquidity, disrupt our
businesses, result in the disclosure of confidential information, damage our reputation
and cause losses. (pages 30-32 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

A failure to protect our computer systems, networks and information, and our clients’
information, against cyber-attacks and similar threats could impair our ability to conduct
our businesses, result in the disclosure, theft or destruction of confidential information,
damage our reputation and cause losses. (pages 32-34 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

A failure to appropriately identify and address potential conflicts of interest could
adversely affect our businesses. (page 36 of the 2019 Form 10-K);and

Our businesses may be adversely affected if we are unable to hire and retain qualified
employees. (page 38 of the 2019 Form 10-K).

Legal, regulatory and reputational risks

See the following risk factors as incorporated by reference from the 2019 Form 10-K (as
defined below in "Documents Incorporated by Reference™), in the following order:

(@)  Our businesses and those of our clients are subject to extensive and pervasive
regulation around the world. (pages 24-25 of the 2019 Form 10-K);
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(b)  We may be adversely affected by increased governmental and regulatory scrutiny
or negative publicity. (page 39 of the 2019 Form 10-K);

(c)  Substantial civil or criminal liability or significant regulatory action against us
could have material adverse financial effects or cause us significant reputational
harm, which in turn could seriously harm our business prospects. (pages 39-40 of
the 2019 Form 10-K); and

(d)  The application of regulatory strategies and requirements in the U.S. and non-
U.S. jurisdictions to facilitate the orderly resolution of large financial institutions
could create greater risk of loss for Group Inc.’s security holders. (page 41 of the
2019 Form 10-K);

(e)  The application of Group Inc.’s proposed resolution strategy could result in
greater losses for Group Inc.’s security holders. (page 42 of the 2019 Form 10-
K);

(j)] Our commodities activities, particularly our physical commodities activities,
subject us to extensive regulation and involve certain potential risks, including
environmental, reputational and other risks that may expose us to significant
liabilities and costs. (pages 43-44 of the 2019 Form 10-K).

Risks relating to GSI

GSI faces a variety of risks that are substantial and inherent in its businesses including market,
liquidity, credit, operational, model, legal, regulatory and reputational risks and uncertainties.
The following are some of the more important factors that could affect GSI's businesses.

Credit risks

The Issuer may partially or wholly fail to meet its obligations under the Securities. Investors
should therefore take the creditworthiness of the Issuer, as well as the creditworthiness of the
relevant Guarantor of the Securities, into account in their investment decision. Credit risk means
the risk of insolvency or illiquidity of the Issuer, i.e. a potential, temporary or final inability to
fulfil its interest and repayment obligations on time. An increased insolvency risk is typical of
issuers that have a low creditworthiness.

Although the return on your Securities will be based on the performance of the Underlying
Asset(s) (if applicable), the payment of any amount due on, or delivery of any asset(s)
deliverable under, the Securities is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer, and (if applicable) the
credit risk of the relevant Guarantor. This is also the case for Securities not linked to any
Underlying Asset. The Securities and the Guarantees are our unsecured obligations. Investors
are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on, or deliver any asset(s) deliverable under,
the Securities, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the market's
view of our creditworthiness. Similarly, investors are dependent on the ability of (if applicable)
the relevant Guarantor, to pay all amounts due on the Securities, and therefore are also subject
to its credit risk and to changes in the market's view of its creditworthiness.

Because the assets of GSG consist principally of interests in the subsidiaries through which GSG
conducts its businesses, its right to participate as an equity holder in any distribution of assets
of any of its subsidiaries upon the subsidiary's liquidation or otherwise, and thus the ability of
the security holders of the Issuer, as the beneficiaries of the GSG Guaranty (if applicable), to
benefit from the distribution, is junior to creditors of the subsidiary, except to the extent that any
claims GSG may have as a creditor of the subsidiary are recognised. In addition, dividends,
loans and advances to GSG from some of its subsidiaries are restricted by net capital
requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and under rules of securities exchanges
and other regulatory bodies. Furthermore, because some of the subsidiaries of GSG are
partnerships in which GSG is a general partner or the sole limited partner, GSG may be liable
for their obligations. GSG also guarantees many of the obligations of its subsidiaries other than
the Issuer. Any liability GSG may have for its subsidiaries' obligations could reduce its assets
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(@)

that are available to satisfy its obligations under the GSG Guaranty to the investors in securities
of the Issuer.

The Securities are not bank deposits and are not insured or guaranteed by the UK
Financial Services Compensation Scheme, the Jersey Depositors Compensation Scheme,
the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the U.S. Deposit Insurance Fund or any
other government or governmental or private agency or deposit protection scheme in any
jurisdiction. Investors are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on the
Securities, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the
market's view of our creditworthiness.

Where applicable, the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor will not
constitute an event of default in relation to the Securities. There is no automatic default or
acceleration upon the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor. In the event that the
relevant Guarantor becomes subject to bankruptcy or resolution proceedings (but the Issuer does
not), you will not be able to declare the Securities to be immediately due and repayable. Instead,
you will need to wait until the earlier of the time that (i) the Issuer itself becomes bankrupt or
otherwise defaults on the terms of the Securities and (ii) the time the Securities become due and
repayable at their maturity. Therefore, the return you receive on the Securities in this particular
circumstance could be significantly less than what you would have otherwise received had you
been able to declare the Securities immediately due and repayable upon the bankruptcy or
resolution of the relevant Guarantor.

Risks relating to GSlI's financial situation
Risks relating to economic and market conditions

GSlI's businesses, by their nature, do not produce predictable earnings and are materially affected
by conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions generally, both directly
and through their impact on client activity levels and creditworthiness. These conditions can
change suddenly and negatively.

GSI's financial performance is highly dependent on the environment in which its businesses
operate. A favourable business environment is generally characterised by, among other factors,
high global gross domestic product growth, regulatory and market conditions that result in
transparent, liquid and efficient capital markets, low inflation, high business and investor
confidence, stable geopolitical conditions, clear regulations and strong business earnings.

Unfavourable or uncertain economic and market conditions can be caused by: declines in
economic growth, business activity or investor, business or consumer confidence; limitations
on the availability or increases in the cost of credit and capital; illiquid markets; increases in
inflation, interest rates, exchange rate or basic commodity price volatility or default rates;
concerns about sovereign defaults; uncertainty concerning fiscal or monetary policy; the extent
of and uncertainty about tax and other regulatory changes; the imposition of tariffs or other
limitations on international trade and travel; outbreaks of domestic or international tensions or
hostilities, terrorism, nuclear proliferation, cybersecurity threats or attacks and other forms of
disruption to or curtailment of global communication, energy transmission or transportation
networks or other geopolitical instability or uncertainty, such as corporate, political or other
scandals that reduce investor confidence in capital markets; extreme weather events or other
natural disasters or pandemics; or a combination of these or other factors.

The financial services industry and the securities and other financial markets have been
materially and adversely affected in the past by significant declines in the values of nearly all
asset classes, by a serious lack of liquidity and by high levels of borrower defaults. In addition,
concerns about European sovereign debt risk and its impact on the European banking system,
the impact of Brexit, the imposition of tariffs and actions taken by other countries in response,
and changes in interest rates and other market conditions or actual changes in interest rates and
other market conditions, have resulted, at times, in significant volatility while negatively
impacting the levels of client activity.
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General uncertainty about economic, political and market activities, and the scope, timing and
impact of regulatory reform, as well as weak consumer, investor and chief executive officer
confidence resulting in large part from such uncertainty, has in the past negatively impacted
client activity, which can adversely affect many of GSI's businesses. Periods of low volatility
and periods of high volatility combined with a lack of liquidity, have at times had an
unfavourable impact on GSlI's market-making businesses.

Financial institution returns in many countries may be negatively impacted by increased funding
costs due in part to the lack of perceived government support of such institutions in the event of
future financial crises relative to financial institutions in countries in which governmental
support is maintained. In addition, liquidity in the financial markets has also been negatively
impacted as market participants and market practices and structures continue to adjust to new
regulations.

GSI's revenues and profitability and those of its competitors have been and will continue to be
impacted by requirements relating to capital, additional loss-absorbing capacity, leverage,
minimum liquidity and long-term funding levels, requirements related to resolution and
recovery planning, derivatives clearing and margin rules and levels of regulatory oversight, as
well as limitations on which and, if permitted, how certain business activities may be carried
out by financial institutions.

Risks relating to liquidity

Liquidity is essential to GSI's businesses. It is of critical importance to GSI, as most of the
failures of financial institutions have occurred in large part due to insufficient liquidity. GSI's
liquidity may be impaired by an inability to access secured and/or unsecured debt markets, an
inability to access funds from GSG or other affiliates, an inability to sell assets or redeem
investments or unforeseen outflows of cash or collateral. This situation may arise due to
circumstances that GSI may be unable to control, such as a general market disruption or an
operational problem that affects third parties or GSI or its affiliates or even by the perception
amongst market participants that GSI, or other market participants, are experiencing greater
liquidity risk.

GSI employs structured products to benefit its clients and hedge its own risks. The financial
instruments that GSI holds and the contracts to which it is a party are often complex, and these
complex structured products often do not have readily available markets to access in times of
liquidity stress. GSl's investing and financing activities may lead to situations where the
holdings from these activities represent a significant portion of specific markets, which could
restrict liquidity for GSI's positions.

Further, GSI's ability to sell assets may be impaired if there is not generally a liquid market for
such assets, as well as in circumstances where other market participants are seeking to sell
similar assets at the same time, as is likely to occur in a liquidity or other market crisis or in
response to changes to rules or regulations. In addition, financial institutions with which GSI
interacts may exercise set-off rights or the right to require additional collateral, including in
difficult market conditions, which could further impair GSI's liquidity.

GSl is an indirect, wholly-owned operating subsidiary of GSG and depends on GSG. for capital
and funding. The credit ratings of GSI and those of GSG are important to GSlI's liquidity. A
reduction in GSlI's and/or GSG's credit ratings could adversely affect GSI's liquidity and
competitive position, increase borrowing costs, limit access to the capital markets or funding
from GSG or trigger obligations under certain provisions in some trading and collateralised
financing contracts. Under these provisions, counterparties could be permitted to terminate
contracts with GSI or GSG or require additional collateral. Termination of trading and
collateralised financing contracts could cause losses and impair liquidity by requiring GSG or
GSI to find other sources of financing or to make significant cash payments or securities
movements.

GSlI's cost of obtaining long-term unsecured funding is directly related to both the credit spreads
of GSI and GSG. Increases in the credit spreads of GSI and/or GSG can significantly increase
the cost of this funding. Changes in credit spreads are continuous, market-driven, and subject at

22



Risk factors

(©)

(d)

times to unpredictable and highly volatile movements. The credit spreads of GSI and/or GSG
are also influenced by market perceptions of its and/or GSG's creditworthiness and movements
in the costs to purchasers of credit default swaps referenced to GSG's long-term debt. The
market for credit default swaps has proven to be extremely volatile and at times has lacked a
high degree of transparency or liquidity.

Regulatory changes relating to liquidity may also negatively impact GSl's results of operations
and competitive position. Numerous regulations have been adopted or proposed to introduce
more stringent liquidity requirements for large financial institutions. These regulations address,
among other matters, liquidity stress testing, minimum liquidity requirements, wholesale
funding, restrictions on short-term debt and structured notes issued by top-tier holding
companies and prohibitions on parent guarantees that are subject to certain cross-defaults. New
and prospective liquidity-related regulations may overlap with, and be impacted by, other
regulatory changes, including rules relating to minimum long-term debt requirements and
TLAC, capital, leverage and resolution and recovery frameworks applicable to large financial
institutions. Given the overlapping and complex interactions among these new and prospective
regulations, they may have unintended cumulative effects, and their full impact will remain
uncertain, while regulatory reforms are being adopted and market practices develop.

Risks relating to concentration of risk

Concentration of risk increases the potential for significant losses in market-making,
underwriting, investing and financing activities. The number and size of these transactions has
affected and may in the future affect GSI's results of operations in a given period. Moreover,
because of concentration of risk, GSI may suffer losses even when economic and market
conditions are generally favourable for competitors. Disruptions in the credit markets can make
it difficult to hedge these credit exposures effectively or economically.

In the ordinary course of business, GSI may be subject to a concentration of credit risk to a
particular counterparty, borrower, issuer (including sovereign issuers) or geographic area or
group of related countries, such as the EU. A failure or downgrade of, or default by, such entities
could negatively impact GSlI's businesses and the systems by which GSI sets limits and monitors
the level of its credit exposure to individual entities, industries, countries and regions may not
function as anticipated. Regulatory reforms, including the European Market Infrastructure
Regulation and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act have led to
increased centralisation of trading activity through particular clearing houses, central agents or
exchanges, which has significantly increased GSI's concentration of risk with respect to these
entities. While GSI's activities expose it to many different industries, counterparties and
countries, GSI routinely executes a high volume of transactions with counterparties engaged in
financial services activities, including brokers and dealers, commercial banks, clearing houses
and exchanges. This has resulted in significant credit concentration with respect to these
counterparties.

Risks relating to credit quality

GSl is exposed to the risk that third parties who owe money, securities or other assets will not
perform their obligations. These parties may default on their obligations to GSI due to
bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. A failure of a significant
market participant, or even concerns about a default by such an institution, could lead to
significant liquidity problems, losses or defaults by other institutions, which in turn could
adversely affect GSI.

GSl is also subject to the risk that its rights against third parties may not be enforceable in all
circumstances. In addition, deterioration in the credit quality of third parties whose securities or
obligations are held by GSI, including a deterioration in the value of collateral posted by third
parties to secure their obligations to GSI under derivatives contracts and loan agreements, could
result in losses and/or adversely affect GSI's ability to rehypothecate or otherwise use those
securities or obligations for liquidity purposes.

A significant downgrade in the credit ratings of GSI's counterparties could also have a negative
impact on GSl's results. While in many cases GSI is permitted to require additional collateral
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from counterparties that experience financial difficulty, disputes may arise as to the amount of
collateral GSl is entitled to receive and the value of pledged assets. The termination of contracts
and the foreclosure on collateral may subject GSI to claims for the improper exercise of its
rights. Default rates, downgrades and disputes with counterparties as to the valuation of
collateral typically increase significantly in times of market stress, increased volatility and
illiquidity.

Risks relating to changes in underliers

Certain of GSI's businesses and its funding may be adversely affected by changes in the
reference rates, currencies, indices, baskets, exchange-traded funds ("ETF") or other financial
metrics (the underlier) to which the products offered by GSI or funding raised by GSI are linked,
in particular by changes in or the discontinuance of IBORs.

Many of the products that GSI owns or that it offers, such as structured notes, warrants, swaps
or security-based swaps, pay interest or determine the principal amount to be paid at maturity
or in the event of default by reference to rates or by reference to another underlier. In the event
that the composition of the underlier is significantly changed, by reference to rules governing
such underlier or otherwise, the underlier ceases to exist (for example, in the event that LIBOR
is discontinued, a country withdraws from the Euro or links its currency to or delinks its currency
from another currency or benchmark, or an index or ETF sponsor materially alters the
composition of an index or ETF) or the underlier ceases to be recognised as an acceptable market
benchmark, GSI may experience pricing volatility, loss of market share in certain products,
adverse tax or accounting impacts, compliance, legal and operational costs and risks associated
with client disclosures, as well as systems disruption, model disruption and other business
continuity issues. In addition, uncertainty relating to IBORs could result in increased capital
requirements for GSI given potential low transaction volumes, a lack of liquidity or limited
observability for exposures linked to IBORs or any emerging successor rates and operational
incidents associated with changes in and the discontinuance of IBORs.

There is uncertainty as to how the financial services industry will address the discontinuance of
designated rates in contracts and financial instruments or such designated rates ceasing to be
acceptable reference rates. This uncertainty could ultimately result in client disputes and
litigation surrounding the proper interpretation of GSI's IBOR-based contracts and financial
instruments.

Further, the discontinuation of an IBOR, changes in an IBOR or changes in market acceptance
of any IBOR as a reference rate may also adversely affect the yield on loans or securities held
by GSI, amounts paid on securities GSI has issued, amounts received and paid on derivative
instruments GSI has entered into, the value of such loans, securities or derivative instruments,
the trading market for securities, the terms of new loans being made using different or modified
reference rates, GSl's ability to effectively use derivative instruments to manage risk, or the
availability or cost of GSl's floating-rate funding and its exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates.

Risks relating to GSI's business activities and industry
Risks relating to market volatility

GSI's businesses have been and may be adversely affected by declining asset values. This is
particularly true for those businesses in which GSI has net "long" positions, receives fees based
on the value of assets managed, or receives or posts collateral. Many of GSI's businesses have
net "long" positions in debt securities, loans, derivatives, mortgages, equities (including private
equity) and most other asset classes. These include positions taken when GSI acts as a principal
to facilitate clients' activities, including exchange-based market-making activities, or commits
large amounts of capital to maintain positions in interest rate and credit products, as well as
through currencies, commaodities, equities and mortgage-related activities. In addition, GSI
invests in similar asset classes. Substantially all of GSlI's investing and market-making positions
are marked-to-market on a daily basis and declines in asset values directly and immediately
impact earnings, unless GSI has effectively "hedged" its exposures to those declines.
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In certain circumstances (particularly in the case of credit products, private equities or other
securities that are not freely tradable or lack established and liquid trading markets), it may not
be possible or economic to hedge its exposures and to the extent that this is done the hedge may
be ineffective or may greatly reduce GSlI's ability to profit from increases in the values of the
assets. Sudden declines and significant volatility in the prices of assets may substantially curtail
or eliminate the trading markets for certain assets, which may make it difficult to sell, hedge or
value such assets. The inability to sell or effectively hedge assets reduces GSI's ability to limit
losses in such positions and the difficulty in valuing assets may negatively affect its capital,
liquidity or leverage ratios, increase its funding costs and generally require maintaining
additional capital.

In GSI's exchange-based market-making activities, GSI is obligated by stock exchange rules to
maintain an orderly market, including by purchasing securities in a declining market. In markets
where asset values are declining and in volatile markets, this results in losses and an increased
need for liquidity.

Collateral is posted to support obligations of GSI and received to support the obligations of
clients and counterparties in connection with client execution businesses. When the value of the
assets posted as collateral or the credit ratings of the party posting collateral decline, the party
posting the collateral may need to provide additional collateral or, if possible, reduce its trading
position. An example of such a situation is a "margin call" in connection with a brokerage
account. Therefore, declines in the value of asset classes used as collateral mean that either the
cost of funding positions is increased or the size of positions is decreased. If GSI is the party
providing collateral, this can increase costs and reduce profitability and if GSI is the party
receiving collateral, this can also reduce profitability by reducing the level of business done with
clients and counterparties. In addition, volatile or less liquid markets increase the difficulty of
valuing assets which can lead to costly and time-consuming disputes over asset values and the
level of required collateral, as well as increased credit risk to the recipient of the collateral due
to delays in receiving adequate collateral. In cases where GSI forecloses on collateral, sudden
declines in the value or liquidity of the collateral may, despite credit monitoring, over-
collateralisation, the ability to call for additional collateral or the ability to force repayment of
the underlying obligation, result in significant losses to GSI, especially where there is a single
type of collateral supporting the obligation. In addition, GSI may be subject to claims that the
foreclosure was not permitted under the legal documents, was conducted in an improper manner
or caused a client or counterparty to go out of business.

Risks related to credit markets

Widening credit spreads for GSI or GSG, as well as significant declines in the availability of
credit, have in the past adversely affected GSI's ability to borrow on a secured and unsecured
basis and may do so in the future. GSI obtains the majority of its unsecured funding indirectly
from GSG, which funds itself on an unsecured basis by issuing long-term debt, by accepting
deposits at its bank subsidiaries, by issuing hybrid financial instruments, or by obtaining bank
loans or lines of credit. GSI seeks to finance many of its assets on a secured basis. Any
disruptions in the credit markets may make it harder and more expensive to obtain funding for
businesses. If GSI's available funding is limited or GSI is forced to fund operations at a higher
cost, these conditions may require curtailment of business activities and increase the cost of
funding, both of which could reduce profitability, particularly in businesses that involve
investing and market making.

Clients engaging in mergers, acquisitions and other types of strategic transactions often rely on
access to the secured and unsecured credit markets to finance their transactions. A lack of
available credit or an increased cost of credit can adversely affect the size, volume and timing
of clients' merger and acquisition transactions, particularly large transactions, and adversely
affect GSI's financial advisory and underwriting businesses.

Risks relating to composition of client base

GSI's client base is not the same as that of its major competitors. GSI's businesses may have a
higher or lower percentage of clients in certain industries or markets than some or all of its
competitors. Therefore, unfavourable industry developments or market conditions affecting
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certain industries or markets have resulted in the past and may result in the future in GSI's
businesses underperforming relative to similar businesses of a competitor if its businesses have
a higher concentration of clients in such industries or markets.

Correspondingly, favourable or simply less adverse developments or market conditions
involving industries or markets in a business where GSI has a lower concentration of clients in
such industry or market have also resulted in the past and may result in the future in GSI
underperforming relative to a similar business of a competitor that has a higher concentration
of clients in such industry or market. For example, GSI has a smaller corporate client base in its
market-making businesses than many of its peers and therefore GSI's competitors may benefit
more from increased activity by corporate clients.

Risks relating to derivative transactions

GSl is party to a large number of derivative transactions, including credit derivatives. Many of
these derivative instruments are individually negotiated and non-standardised, which can make
exiting, transferring or settling positions difficult. Many credit derivatives require that GSI
deliver to the counterparty the underlying security, loan or other obligation in order to receive
payment. In a number of cases, GSI does not hold the underlying security, loan or other
obligation and may not be able to obtain the underlying security, loan or other obligation. This
could cause GSI to forfeit the payments due under these contracts or result in settlement delays
with the attendant credit and operational risk as well as increased costs to GSI.

As a signatory to the International Swaps and Derivatives Association Universal Resolution
Stay Protocol ("ISDA Universal Protocol”) and the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association 2018 U.S. Resolution Stay Protocol (collectively, "ISDA Protocols™), GSI may not
be able to exercise termination rights and other remedies against counterparties and, as this new
regime has not yet been tested, GSI may suffer risks or losses that it would not have expected
to suffer if it could immediately close out transactions upon a termination event. Various non-
U.S. regulators have also proposed regulations contemplated by the ISDA Universal Protocol,
which might result in additional limitations on GSI's ability to exercise remedies against
counterparties. The ISDA Protocols and these rules and regulations extend to repurchase
agreements and other instruments that are not derivative contracts, and their impact will depend
on the development of market practices and structures.

Derivative contracts and other transactions entered into with third parties are not always
confirmed by the counterparties or settled on a timely basis. While the transaction remains
unconfirmed or during any delay in settlement, GSI is subject to heightened credit and
operational risk and in the event of a default may find it more difficult to enforce its rights.

In addition, as new complex derivative products are created, covering a wider array of
underlying credit and other instruments, disputes about the terms of the underlying contracts
could arise, which could impair GSI's ability to effectively manage its risk exposures from these
products and subject it to increased costs. The provisions of legislation requiring central clearing
of credit derivatives and other over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives, or a market shift toward
standardised derivatives, could reduce the risk associated with these transactions, but under
certain circumstances could also limit GSI's ability to develop derivatives that best suit the needs
of clients and to hedge its own risks, and could adversely affect GSI's profitability and increase
credit exposure to central clearing platforms.

Risks relating to competition

To the extent GSI expands into new business areas and new geographic regions, it will face
competitors with more experience and more established relationships with clients, regulators
and industry participants in the relevant market, which could adversely affect its ability to
expand. Governments and regulators have recently adopted regulations, imposed taxes, adopted
compensation restrictions or otherwise put forward various proposals that have impacted or may
impact GSI's ability to conduct certain of its businesses in a cost-effective manner or at all in
certain or all jurisdictions, including proposals relating to restrictions on the type of activities in
which financial institutions are permitted to engage. These or other similar rules, many of which
do not apply to all GSI's competitors, could impact its ability to compete effectively.
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Pricing and other competitive pressures in GSl's businesses have continued to increase,
particularly in situations where some competitors may seek to increase market share by reducing
prices. For example, in connection with investment banking and other engagements, in response
to competitive pressure GSI has experienced, GSI has extended and priced credit at levels that
may not always fully compensate it for the risks taken.

The financial services industry is highly interrelated in that a significant volume of transactions
occur among a limited number of members of that industry. Many transactions are syndicated
to other financial institutions and financial institutions are often counterparties in transactions.
This has led to claims by other market participants and regulators that such institutions have
colluded in order to manipulate markets or market prices, including allegations that antitrust
laws have been violated. While GSI has extensive procedures and controls that are designed to
identify and prevent such activities, allegations of such activities, particularly by regulators, can
have a negative reputational impact and can subject GSI to large fines and settlements, and
potentially significant penalties, including treble damages.

GSlI's legal and regulatory risks
Risks relating to regulation

As a participant in the financial services industry and a subsidiary of a systemically important
financial institution, GSI is subject to extensive regulation, principally in the UK, and the
European Union ("EU") more generally, but also in the U.S. as a subsidiary of GSG and in
certain other jurisdictions. GSI faces the risk of significant intervention by law enforcement,
regulatory and tax authorities, as well as private litigation, in all jurisdictions in which it
conducts its businesses. In many cases, GSl's activities have been and may continue to be subject
to overlapping and divergent regulation in different jurisdictions. Among other things, as a result
of law enforcement authorities, regulators or private parties challenging its compliance with
laws, rules and regulations, GSI or its employees have been and could be fined, criminally
charged or sanctioned, prohibited from engaging in certain business activities, subjected to
limitations or conditions on its business activities including higher capital requirements, or
subjected to new or substantially higher taxes or other governmental charges in connection with
the conduct of its businesses or with respect to its employees. These limitations or conditions
may limit business activities and negatively impact GSI's profitability.

In addition to the impact on the scope and profitability of GSI's business activities, day-to-day
compliance with laws and regulations has involved and will, except to the extent that some of
these regulations are modified or otherwise repealed, continue to involve significant amounts of
time, including that of GSI's senior leaders and that of a large number of dedicated compliance
and other reporting and operational personnel, all of which may negatively impact GSI's
profitability.

If there are new laws, regulations or changes in the enforcement of existing laws or regulations
applicable to its businesses or those of its clients, including capital, liquidity, leverage, long-
term debt, total loss- absorbing capacity ("TLAC") and margin requirements, restrictions on
other business practices, reporting requirements, requirements relating to the implementation of
the BRRD, tax burdens and compensation restrictions, that are imposed on a limited subset of
financial institutions which may include GSI or GSG, compliance with these new laws and
regulations, or changes in the enforcement of existing laws or regulations, could adversely affect
GSl's ability to compete effectively with other institutions that are not affected in the same way.
In addition, regulation imposed on financial institutions or market participants generally, such
as taxes on financial transactions, could adversely impact levels of market activity more broadly,
and thus impact GSI's businesses.

These developments could impact GSl's profitability in the affected jurisdictions, or even make
it uneconomic to continue to conduct all or certain businesses in those jurisdictions, or could
result in GSI incurring significant costs associated with changing business practices,
restructuring businesses, moving all or certain businesses and employees to other locations or
complying with applicable capital requirements, including liquidating assets or raising capital
in a manner that adversely increases GSl's funding costs or otherwise adversely affects its
shareholder and creditors.
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The implementation of higher capital requirements, the liquidity coverage ratio, the net stable
funding ratio, requirements relating to long-term debt and TLAC and the prohibition on
proprietary trading and the sponsorship of, or investment in, covered funds by the Volcker Rule
may continue to adversely affect its profitability and competitive position, particularly if these
requirements do not apply, or do not apply equally, to its competitors or are not implemented
uniformly across jurisdictions.

GSl is also subject to laws and regulations, relating to the privacy of the information of clients,
employees and others, and any failure to comply with these laws and regulations could expose
it to liability and/or reputational damage. As new privacy-related laws and regulations are
implemented, the time and resources needed for GSI to comply with such laws and regulations,
as well as its potential liability for non-compliance and reporting obligations in the case of data
breaches, may significantly increase.

In addition, GSlI's businesses are increasingly subject to laws and regulations relating to
surveillance, encryption and data on-shoring in the jurisdictions in which it operates.
Compliance with these laws and regulations may require it to change its policies, procedures
and technology for information security, which could, among other things, make it more
vulnerable to cyber-attacks and misappropriation, corruption or loss of information or
technology.

Increasingly, regulators and courts have sought to hold financial institutions liable for the
misconduct of their clients where such regulators and courts have determined that the financial
institution should have detected that the client was engaged in wrongdoing, even though the
financial institution had no direct knowledge of the activities engaged in by its client. Regulators
and courts have also increasingly found liability as a "control person™ for activities of entities in
which financial institutions or funds controlled by financial institutions have an investment, but
which they do not actively manage. In addition, regulators and courts continue to seek to
establish "fiduciary" obligations to counterparties to which no such duty had been assumed to
exist. To the extent that such efforts are successful, the cost of, and liabilities associated with,
engaging in brokerage, clearing, market-making, prime brokerage, investing and other similar
activities could increase significantly.

To the extent that GSI has fiduciary obligations in connection with acting as a financial adviser,
investment adviser or in other roles for individual, institutional, sovereign or investment fund
clients, any breach, or even an alleged breach, of such obligations could have materially negative
legal, regulatory and reputational consequences.

Risk relating to Brexit

On January 31, 2020, the UK left the EU. GSI expects considerable change in the regulatory
framework that will govern transactions and business undertaken by GSI in the EU. As a result,
GSI faces numerous risks that could adversely affect the conduct of its businesses, its
profitability and liquidity. In addition, as a result of establishing third country branches in
anticipation of a "hard" Brexit, GSI will be subject to additional regulation and supervision in
those jurisdictions.

GSI is incorporated and headquartered in the UK, and currently benefits from non-
discriminatory access to EU clients and infrastructure based on EU treaties and EU legislation,
including arrangements for cross-border "passporting™ and the establishment of EU branches.
The EU and the UK Parliament have ratified the Withdrawal Agreement, which provides for a
transition period for the UK and the EU to negotiate and agree to a framework for their future
relationship. The transition period is currently scheduled to end on December 31, 2020 and the
relationship between the UK and the EU beyond that date is uncertain. At the end of the
transition period, firms based in the UK are expected to lose their existing access arrangements
to the EU markets.

As necessary, certain client relationships and activities currently undertaken by GSI may be

transitioned to other EU subsidiaries of GSG, which may result in a decline in GSI's net revenues
and profitability, and could adversely affect its businesses and liquidity.
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In addition, Brexit has created an uncertain political and economic environment in the UK, and
may create such environments in current EU member states. Political and economic uncertainty
has in the past led to, and the impact of Brexit could lead to, declines in market liquidity and
activity levels, volatile market conditions, a contraction of available credit, changes in interest
rates or exchange rates, weaker economic growth and reduced business confidence all of which
could adversely impact GSl's business.

Risks relating to legal liability

Substantial civil or criminal liability or significant regulatory action against GSI could have
material adverse financial effects or cause significant reputational harm, which in turn could
seriously harm business prospects. GSI faces significant legal risks in its businesses, and the
volume of claims and amount of damages and penalties claimed in litigation and regulatory
proceedings against financial institutions remain high. GSI is, from time to time, subject to a
number of other investigations and reviews by, and in some cases has received requests for
documents and information from, various governmental and regulatory bodies and self-
regulatory organisations relating to various aspects of GSlI's businesses and operations. From
experience, legal claims by clients increase in a market downturn and employment-related
claims increase following periods of headcount reduction. Additionally, governmental entities
have been and are plaintiffs in certain of the legal proceedings in which GSI is involved, and it
may face future civil or criminal actions or claims by the same or other governmental entities,
as well as follow-on civil litigation that is often commenced after regulatory settlements.

Significant settlements by several large financial institutions with governmental entities have
been publicly announced. The trend of large settlements with governmental entities may
adversely affect the outcomes for other financial institutions in similar actions, especially where
governmental officials have announced that the large settlements will be used as the basis or a
template for other settlements. The uncertain regulatory enforcement environment makes it
difficult to estimate probable losses, which can lead to substantial disparities between legal
reserves and subsequent actual settlements or penalties.

GSI is subject to laws and regulations worldwide, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act and the UK Bribery Act, relating to corrupt and illegal payments to, and hiring practices
with regard to, government officials and others. Violations of these or similar laws and
regulations could result in significant monetary penalties, severe restrictions on GSI's activities
and damage to its reputation.

Resolution of a criminal matter involving GSI or its employees could lead to increased exposure
to civil litigation, could adversely affect GSI's reputation, could result in penalties or limitations
on GSI's ability to conduct its activities generally or in certain circumstances and could have
other negative effects.

GSl's internal control risks
Risks relating to operational infrastructure

GSlI's businesses are highly dependent on its ability to process and monitor, on a daily basis, a
very large number of transactions, many of which are highly complex, and occur at high
volumes and frequencies, across numerous and diverse markets in many currencies. These
transactions, as well as information technology services provided to clients, often must adhere
to client-specific guidelines, as well as legal and regulatory standards.

Many rules and regulations worldwide govern GSl's obligations to execute transactions and
report such transactions and other information to regulators, exchanges and investors.
Compliance with these legal and reporting requirements can be challenging, and GSI has been,
and may in the future be, subject to regulatory fines and penalties for failing to follow these
rules or to report timely, accurate and complete information in accordance with these rules. As
such requirements expand, compliance with these rules and regulations has become more
challenging.
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The use of computing devices and phones is critical to the work done by GSI's employees and
the operation of GSl's systems and businesses and those of its clients, third-party service
providers and vendors. Computers and computer networks are subject to various risks,
including, among others, cyber-attacks, inherent technological defects, system failures and
errors by human operators. For example, fundamental security flaws in computer chips found
in many types of these computing devices and phones have been reported in the past and may
be discovered in the future. Cloud technologies are also critical to the operation of GSI's systems
and platforms and GSlI's reliance on cloud technologies is growing. Service disruptions may
lead to delays in accessing, or the loss of, data that is important to GSI's businesses and may
hinder GSI's clients' access to GSlI's platforms. Addressing these and similar issues could be
costly and affect the performance of these businesses and systems. Operational risks may be
incurred in applying fixes and there may still be residual security risks.

Additionally, although the prevalence and scope of applications of distributed ledger technology
and similar technologies is growing, the technology is also nascent and may be vulnerable to
cyber-attacks or have other inherent weaknesses. GSI may be, or may become, exposed to risks
related to distributed ledger technology through GSl's facilitation of clients' activities involving
financial products linked to distributed ledger technology, such as blockchain or
cryptocurrencies, GSI's investments in firms that seek to develop platforms based on distributed
ledger technology, and the use of distributed ledger technology by third-party vendors, clients,
counterparties, clearing houses and other financial intermediaries.

In addition, GSI faces the risk of operational failure or significant operational delay, termination
or capacity constraints of any of the clearing agents, exchanges, clearing houses or other
financial intermediaries that it uses to facilitate securities and derivatives transactions, and as
interconnectivity with clients grows, GSI will increasingly face the risk of operational failure or
significant operational delay with respect to clients' systems.

Despite GSl's resiliency plans and facilities, GSI's ability to conduct business may be adversely
impacted by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports its businesses and the communities
where GSI is located. This may include a disruption involving electrical, satellite, undersea
cable or other communications, internet, transportation or other facilities used by GSI, its
employees or third parties with which GSI conducts business, including cloud service providers.
These disruptions may occur as a result of events that affect only GSlI's buildings or systems or
those of such third parties, or as a result of events with a broader impact globally, regionally or
in the cities where those buildings or systems are located, including, but not limited to, natural
disasters, war, civil unrest, terrorism, economic or political developments, pandemics and
weather events.

In addition, although GSI seeks to diversify its third-party vendors to increase its resiliency, GSI
is also exposed to the risk that a disruption or other information technology event at a common
service provider to GSlI's vendors could impede their ability to provide products or services to
GSI. GSI may not be able to effectively monitor or mitigate operational risks relating to its
vendors' use of common service providers.

Risks relating to cyber security

GSl is regularly the target of attempted cyber-attacks, including denial-of-service attacks, and
must continuously monitor and develop its systems to protect the integrity and functionality of
its technology infrastructure and access to and the security of its data. The increasing migration
of GSI’s communication from devices GSI provides to employee-owned devices presents
additional risks of cyber-attacks. In addition, due to the interconnectivity with third-party
vendors (and their respective service providers), central agents, exchanges, clearing houses and
other financial institutions, GSI could be adversely impacted if any of them is subject to a
successful cyber-attack or other information security event. These impacts could include the
loss of access to information or services from the third party subject to the cyber-attack or other
information security event, which could, in turn, interrupt certain of GSI’s businesses.

Despite GSI’s efforts to ensure the integrity of its systems and information, it may not be able
to anticipate, detect or implement effective preventive measures against all cyber threats,
especially because the techniques used are increasingly sophisticated, change frequently and are
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often not recognised until launched. Cyber-attacks can originate from a variety of sources,
including third parties who are affiliated with or sponsored by foreign governments or are
involved with organised crime or terrorist organisations. Third parties may also attempt to place
individuals in GSl's office or induce employees, clients or other users of GSI’s systems to
disclose sensitive information or provide access to GSI’s data or that of its clients, and these
types of risks may be difficult to detect or prevent.

Although GSI takes protective measures proactively and endeavours to modify them as
circumstances warrant, its computer systems, software and networks may be vulnerable to
unauthorised access, misuse, computer viruses or other malicious code, cyber-attacks on GSI’s
vendors and other events that could have a security impact. Due to the complexity and
interconnectedness of GSI’s systems, the process of enhancing protective measures can itself
create a risk of systems disruptions and security issues. In addition, protective measures that
GSI employs to compartmentalise its data may reduce its visibility into, and adversely affect its
ability to respond to, cyber threats and issues within its systems.

If one or more of such events occur, this potentially could jeopardise GSI, its clients” or
counterparties’ confidential and other information processed, stored in or transmitted through
GSI’s computer systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in
GSI’s, operations or those of its clients’, its counterparties’ or third parties’, which could impact
their ability to transact with GSI or otherwise result in legal or regulatory action, significant
losses or reputational damage.

In addition, such an event could persist for an extended period of time before being detected,
and, following detection, it could take considerable time for GSI to obtain full and reliable
information about the extent, amount and type of information compromised. During the course
of an investigation, GSI may not know the full impact of the event and how to remediate it, and
actions, decisions and mistakes that are taken or made may further increase the negative effects
of the event on GSI’s business, results of operations and reputation.

GSI has expended, and expects to continue to expend, significant resources on an ongoing basis
to modify its protective measures and to investigate and remediate vulnerabilities or other
exposures, but if these measures are ineffective, GSI may be subject to legal or regulatory
action, as well as financial losses that are either not insured against or not fully covered through
any insurance it maintains. GSl's confidential information may also be at risk from the
compromise of clients' personal electronic devices or as a result of a data security breach at an
unrelated company. Losses due to unauthorised account activity could harm GSl's reputation
and may have adverse effects on its business, financial condition and results of operations. See
also Risk factor 2.5 (a) above (Risks relating to operational infrastructure).

GSl routinely transmits and receives personal, confidential and proprietary information by email
and other electronic means. GSI has discussed and worked with clients, vendors, service
providers, counterparties and other third parties to develop secure transmission capabilities and
protect against cyber-attacks, but does not have, and may be unable to put in place, secure
capabilities with all of its clients, vendors, service providers, counterparties and other third
parties and it may not be able to ensure that these third parties have appropriate controls in place
to protect the confidentiality of the information. An interception, misuse or mishandling of
personal, confidential or proprietary information being sent to or received from a client, vendor,
service provider, counterparty or other third party could result in legal liability, regulatory action
and reputational harm.

Risks relating to risk management

GSI seeks to monitor and control its risk exposure through a risk and control framework
encompassing a variety of separate, but complementary financial, credit, operational,
compliance and legal reporting systems, internal controls, management review processes and
other mechanisms. GSl's risk management process seeks to balance its ability to profit from
market-making positions and underwriting activities with its exposure to potential losses. Whilst
GSI employs a broad and diversified set of risk monitoring and risk mitigation techniques, those
techniques and the judgements that accompany their application cannot anticipate every
economic and financial outcome or the specifics and timing of such outcomes. Thus, in the
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course of its activities, GSI has incurred and may in the future incur losses. Market conditions
in recent years have involved unprecedented dislocations and highlight the limitations inherent
in using historical data to manage risk.

The models that GSI uses to assess and control its risk exposures reflect assumptions about the
degrees of correlation or lack thereof among prices of various asset classes or other market
indicators. In times of market stress or other unforeseen circumstances, previously uncorrelated
indicators may become correlated, or conversely previously correlated indicators may move in
different directions. These types of market movements have at times limited the effectiveness
of GSI's hedging strategies and have caused it to incur significant losses, and they may do so in
the future. These changes in correlation have been and may in the future be exacerbated where
other market participants are using risk or trading models with assumptions or algorithms that
are similar to GSI's. In these and other cases, it may be difficult to reduce GSl's risk positions
due to the activity of other market participants or widespread market dislocations, including
circumstances where asset values are declining significantly or no market exists for certain
assets.

In addition, the use of models in connection with risk management and numerous other critical
activities presents risks that such models may be ineffective, either because of poor design,
ineffective testing or improper or flawed inputs, as well as unpermitted access to such models
resulting in unapproved or malicious changes to the model or its inputs.

To the extent that GSI has positions through its market-making or origination activities or it
makes investments directly through its investing activities, including private equity, that do not
have an established liquid trading market or are otherwise subject to restrictions on sale or
hedging, GSI may not be able to reduce its positions and therefore reduce its risk associated
with those positions. In addition, to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulation, GSI
invests its own capital in private equity, credit, real estate and hedge funds that it manages and
limitations on its ability to withdraw some or all of its investments in these funds, whether for
legal, reputational or other reasons, may make it more difficult for GSI to control the risk
exposures relating to these investments.

Prudent risk management, as well as regulatory restrictions, may cause GSI to limit its exposure
to counterparties, geographic areas or markets, which may limit its business opportunities and
increase the cost of funding or hedging activities.

GSlI's environmental, social and governance risks
Risks relating to new business initiatives

GSI faces enhanced risks as new business initiatives lead it to transact with a broader array of
clients and counterparties and expose it to new asset classes and new markets. A number of
GSI’s recent and planned business initiatives and expansions of existing businesses may bring
it into contact, directly or indirectly, with individuals and entities that are not within GSI’s
traditional client and counterparty base and expose it to new asset classes and new markets. For
example, GSI continues to transact business and invest in new regions, including a wide range
of emerging and growth markets.

New business initiatives expose GSI to new and enhanced risks, including risks associated with
dealing with governmental entities, reputational concerns arising from dealing with different
types of clients, counterparties and investors, greater regulatory scrutiny of these activities,
increased credit-related, market, sovereign and operational risks, risks arising from accidents or
acts of terrorism, and reputational concerns with the manner in which certain assets are being
operated or held or in which GSI interacts with these counterparties. Legal, regulatory and
reputational risks may also exist in connection with activities and transactions involving new
products or markets where there is regulatory uncertainty or where there are different or
conflicting regulations depending on the regulator or the jurisdiction involved, particularly
where transactions in such products may involve multiple jurisdictions.

Risks relating to operating in multiple jurisdictions
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In conducting GSI’s businesses and maintaining and supporting its global operations, GSI is
subject to risks of possible nationalisation, expropriation, price controls, capital controls,
exchange controls and other restrictive governmental actions, as well as the outbreak of
hostilities or acts of terrorism. For example, sanctions have been imposed by the U.S. and EU
on certain individuals and companies in Russia and Venezuela. In many countries, the laws and
regulations applicable to the securities and financial services industries and many of the
transactions in which GSI is involved are uncertain and evolving, and it may be difficult to
determine the exact requirements of local laws in every market. Any determination by local
regulators that GSI has not acted in compliance with the application of local laws in a particular
market or a failure to develop effective working relationships with local regulators could have
a significant and negative effect not only on GSI’s businesses in that market but also on its
reputation generally. Further, in some jurisdictions a failure, or alleged failure, to comply with
laws and regulations have subjected and may in the future subject GSI and its personnel not
only to civil actions but also criminal actions. GSI is also subject to the enhanced risk that
transactions it structures might not be legally enforceable in all cases.

While business and other practices throughout the world differ, GSI is subject in its operations
worldwide to rules and regulations relating to corrupt and illegal payments, hiring practices and
money laundering, as well as laws relating to doing business with certain individuals, groups
and countries, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001
and the UK Bribery Act. While GSI has invested and continues to invest significant resources
in training and in compliance monitoring, the geographical diversity of its operations,
employees and clients, as well as the vendors and other third parties that GSI deals with, greatly
increases the risk that GSI may be found in violation of such rules or regulations and any such
violation could subject it to significant penalties or adversely affect its reputation.

In addition, there have been a number of highly publicised cases around the world, involving
actual or alleged fraud or other misconduct by employees in the financial services industry in
recent years, and GSI has had, and may in the future have, employee misconduct. This
misconduct has included and may also in the future include intentional efforts to ignore or
circumvent applicable policies, rules or procedures or misappropriation of funds and the theft
of proprietary information, including proprietary software. It is not always possible to deter or
prevent employee misconduct and the precautions taken to prevent and detect this activity have
not been and may not be effective in all cases.

Risks relating to conflicts of interest

A failure to appropriately identify and address potential conflicts of interest could adversely
affect GSI’s businesses. Due to the broad scope of The Goldman Sachs Group’s businesses and
client base, GSI regularly addresses potential conflicts of interest, including situations where
services to a particular client or The Goldman Sachs Group’s own investments or other interests
conflict, or are perceived to conflict, with the interests of that client or another client, as well as
situations where one or more of its businesses have access to material non-public information
that may not be shared with other businesses within The Goldman Sachs Group and situations
where it may be a creditor of an entity with which The Goldman Sachs Group also has an
advisory or other relationship.

Extensive procedures and controls are in place that are designed to identify and address conflicts
of interest, including those designed to prevent the improper sharing of information among
businesses. However, appropriately identifying and dealing with conflicts of interest is complex
and difficult, and GSI’s reputation, which is one of its most important assets, could be damaged
and the willingness of clients to enter into transactions with GSI may be affected if it fails, or
appears to fail, to identify, disclose and deal appropriately with conflicts of interest. In addition,
potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to litigation or regulatory enforcement actions.
Additionally, GSG's One Goldman Sachs initiative aims to increase collaboration amongst its
businesses, which may increase the potential for actual or perceived conflicts of interest and
improper information sharing.

Risks relating to personnel
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GSI’s businesses may be adversely affected if it is unable to hire and retain qualified employees.
GSI’s performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled people;
therefore, GSI’s continued ability to compete effectively in its businesses, to manage its
businesses effectively and to expand into new businesses and geographic areas depends on its
ability to attract new talented and diverse employees and to retain and motivate existing
employees. Factors that affect GSI’s ability to attract and retain such employees include the
level and composition of compensation and benefits, and a reputation as a successful business
with a culture of fairly hiring, training and promoting qualified employees. As a significant
portion of the compensation that GSI pays to its employees is paid in the form of year-end
discretionary compensation, a significant portion of which is in the form of deferred equity-
related awards, declines in The Goldman Sachs Group’s profitability, or in the outlook for its
future profitability, as well as regulatory limitations on compensation levels and terms, can
negatively impact GSI’s ability to hire and retain highly qualified employees.

Competition from within the financial services industry and from businesses outside the
financial services industry, including the technology industry, for qualified employees has often
been intense. GSI has experienced increased competition in hiring and retaining employees to
address the demands of new regulatory requirements and GSI’s technology initiatives. This is
also the case in emerging and growth markets, where GSI is often competing for qualified
employees with entities that have a significantly greater presence or more extensive experience
in the region.

Changes in law or regulation in jurisdictions in which GSI’s operations are located that affect
taxes on GSI’s employees’ income, or the amount or composition of compensation, may also
adversely affect GSI’s ability to hire and retain qualified employees in those jurisdictions.

GSI’s compensation practices are subject to review by, and the standards of, the Prudential
Regulation Authority (the "PRA") and the Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA"). As a large
financial institution, GSI is subject to limitations on compensation practices (which may or may
not affect competitors) by the PRA and the FCA and other regulators worldwide. These
limitations, including any imposed by or as a result of future legislation or regulation, may
require GSI to alter compensation practices in ways that could adversely affect its ability to
attract and retain talented employees.

Risks relating to negative publicity

The financial services industry generally and GSlI's businesses in particular have been subject
to negative publicity. GSI's reputation and businesses may be adversely affected by negative
publicity or information regarding its business and personnel, whether or not accurate or true,
that may be posted on social media or other internet forums or published by news organisations.
The speed and pervasiveness with which information can be disseminated through these
channels, in particular social media, may magnify risks relating to negative publicity.

Risks relating to unforeseen or catastrophic events

The occurrence of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including the emergence of a pandemic,
such as coronavirus, or other widespread health emergency (or concerns over the possibility of
such an emergency), terrorist attacks, extreme terrestrial or solar weather events or other natural
disasters, could create economic and financial disruptions, and could lead to operational
difficulties (including travel limitations) that could impair GSI’s ability to manage its businesses
and result in losses.

The emergence of the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has created economic and
financial disruptions that have adversely affected, and are likely to continue to adversely affect
GSlI's business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. The extent to which the
COVID-19 pandemic will continue to negatively affect GSI’s businesses, financial condition,
liquidity and results of operations will depend on future developments, which are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted.

The COVID-19 pandemic has contributed to (i) the sudden and significant reduction in the
valuation of the equity, fixed-income and commaodity markets and the significant increase in the
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volatility of those markets; (ii) a decrease in the rates and yields on certain government
securities, in some cases declining below zero; (iii) a major reduction in merger and acquisition
activity and significant uncertainty about whether previously announced deals will be completed
or restructured; (iv) a major reduction in equity new issue activity; (v) significantly more
challenging conditions in the new issue debt market; (vi) significant draws in credit lines,
including syndicated credit lines, as clients seek to increase liquidity; (vii) the risk that hedges
become less effective, including for example, due to the movement of short and long positions
in government securities and the assets they hedge; (viii) significant increases in collateral calls
and disputes as the valuation of derivative positions and, in some cases, collateral has become
more challenging; (ix) ratings downgrades, credit deterioration and defaults in many industries,
including oil and gas, gaming and lodging, and airlines; and (x) heightened cybersecurity,
information security and operational risks as a result of work-from-home arrangements.

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on economic and market conditions have also increased
demands on GSI's liquidity as it meets client needs. Likewise, these adverse developments have
affected GSl's capital and leverage ratios. Governmental authorities worldwide have taken
increased measures from March 2020 onwards to stabilise the markets and support economic
growth. The success of these measures is unknown and they may not be sufficient to address
the market dislocations or avert severe and prolonged reductions in economic activity. GSI also
faces an increased risk of client disputes, litigation and governmental and regulatory scrutiny as
a result of the effects of COVID-19 on economic and market conditions.

The length of the pandemic and the efficacy of the extraordinary measures being put in place to
address it are unknown. Until the pandemic subsides, GSI expects reduced activity levels in
investment banking, reduced revenues in investment management and increased client defaults.
Even after the pandemic subsides, most major economies may continue to experience a
recession, and GSI anticipates its businesses would be materially and adversely affected by a
prolonged recession in major markets.

Risks relating to climate change

Climate change concerns could disrupt GSl's business, affect client activity levels and
creditworthiness and damage GSI's reputation. Climate change may cause extreme weather
events that disrupt operations at one or more of GSI's primary locations, which may negatively
affect its ability to service and interact with its clients. Climate change may also have a negative
impact on the financial condition of its clients, which may decrease revenues from those clients
and increase the credit risk associated with loans and other credit exposures to those clients.
Additionally, GSI's reputation may be damaged as a result of its involvement, or its clients'
involvement, in certain industries or projects associated with climate change.

Risks relating to the potential exercise by a resolution authority of its resolution powers in
relation to GSlI

The EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive ("BRRD") entered into force on 2 July 2014.
EU member states were required to adopt and publish the laws, regulations and administrative
provisions necessary to comply with the BRRD. Its stated aim is to provide national "resolution
authorities™ with powers and tools to address banking crises pre-emptively in order to safeguard
financial stability and minimise taxpayers' exposure to losses.

The majority of the requirements of the BRRD have been implemented in the UK through the
UK Banking Act 2009, as amended and related statutory instruments (together, the "UK
Banking Act"). The UK Banking Act provides for a "resolution regime" granting substantial
powers to the Bank of England (or, in certain circumstances, HM Treasury), to implement
resolution measures (in consultation with other UK authorities) with respect to a UK financial
institution (such as GSI) where the resolution authority considers that the relevant institution is
failing or is likely to fail, there is no reasonable prospect of other measures preventing the failure
of the institution and resolution action is necessary in the public interest.

The resolution powers available to the resolution authority include powers to:
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write down the amount owing, including to zero, or convert the relevant securities into other
securities, including ordinary shares of the relevant institution (or a subsidiary) — the so-called
"bail-in" tool;

e transfer all or part of the business of the relevant institution to a "bridge bank™;
e transfer impaired or problem assets to an asset management vehicle; and
e sell the relevant institution to a commercial purchaser.

In addition, the resolution authority is empowered to modify contractual arrangements, suspend
enforcement or termination rights that might otherwise be triggered and disapply or modify laws
in the UK (with possible retrospective effect) to enable the recovery and resolution powers under
the UK Banking Act to be used effectively.

You should assume that, in a resolution situation, financial public support will only be available
to GSI (or any member of Goldman Sachs) as a last resort after the relevant resolution authorities
have assessed and used, to the maximum extent practicable, the resolution tools, including the
bail-in tool.

In the event that GSI, or any of its affiliates, becomes subject to a proceeding under the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act or Title Il of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (together, the "U.S. Special Resolution Regimes"), default rights against GSI in
relation to the Instruments or (if applicable) to the relevant Guarantee given by GSI (as
Guarantor) in relation to any Instruments issued by GSW, are permitted to be exercised to no
greater extent than such default rights could be exercised under such U.S. Special Resolution
Regime if the Instruments were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United
States.

You should be aware that the exercise of any such resolution power or even the suggestion of
any such potential exercise in respect of GSI (or any member of Goldman Sachs) could have a
material adverse effect on the rights of holders of Securities and (if applicable) the relevant
Guarantee given by GSI (as Guarantor), and could lead to a loss of some or all of the investment.
The resolution regime is designed to be triggered prior to insolvency of the relevant institution,
and holders of securities issued by such institution may not be able to anticipate the exercise of
any resolution power (including exercise of the "bail-in" tool) by the resolution authority.
Further, holders of securities issued by an institution which has been taken into a resolution
regime will have very limited rights to challenge the exercise of powers by the resolution
authority, even where such powers have resulted in the write down of the securities or
conversion of the securities to equity.

Acknowledgement of bail-in power in respect of Swiss Securities issued by GSI: if you purchase
Swiss Securities issued by GSI, you shall be deemed to have agreed to be bound by the exercise
of any UK Bail-In Power by the Relevant UK Resolution Authority. See General Instrument
Condition 7 (Contractual acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of Swiss Securities issued by
GSI) and General Note Condition 7 (Contractual acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of Swiss
Securities issued by GSI).

Acknowledgement of bail-in power in respect of French Law Instruments and French Law Notes
issued by GSI: if you purchase French Law Instruments or French Law Notes issued by GSI,
you shall be deemed to have agreed to be bound by the exercise of any UK Bail-In Power by
the Relevant UK Resolution Authority. See General Instrument Condition 7 (Contractual
acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of French Law Instruments issued by GSI) and General
Note Condition 7 (Contractual acknowledgment of bail-in in respect of French Law Notes
issued by GSI).

Risks relating to GSW
The following are further specific risks relating to GSW:

Credit Risks
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The Issuer may partially or wholly fail to meet its obligations under the Securities. Investors
should therefore take the creditworthiness of the Issuer, as well as the creditworthiness of the
relevant Guarantor of the Securities, into account in their investment decision. Credit risk means
the risk of insolvency or illiquidity of the Issuer, i.e. a potential, temporary or final inability to
fulfil its interest and repayment obligations on time. An increased insolvency risk is typical of
issuers that have a low creditworthiness.

Although the return on your Securities will be based on the performance of the Underlying
Asset(s) (if applicable), the payment of any amount due on, or delivery of any asset(s)
deliverable under, the Securities is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer, and (if applicable) the
credit risk of the relevant Guarantor. This is also the case for Securities not linked to any
Underlying Asset. The Securities and the Guarantees are our unsecured obligations. Investors
are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on, or deliver any asset(s) deliverable under,
the Securities, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the market's
view of our creditworthiness. Similarly, investors are dependent on the ability of (if applicable)
the relevant Guarantor, to pay all amounts due on the Securities, and therefore are also subject
to its credit risk and to changes in the market's view of its creditworthiness.

Because the assets of GSG consist principally of interests in the subsidiaries through which GSG
conducts its businesses, its right to participate as an equity holder in any distribution of assets
of any of its subsidiaries upon the subsidiary's liquidation or otherwise, and thus the ability of
the security holders of the Issuer, as the beneficiaries of the GSG Guaranty (if applicable), to
benefit from the distribution, is junior to creditors of the subsidiary, except to the extent that any
claims GSG may have as a creditor of the subsidiary are recognised. In addition, dividends,
loans and advances to GSG from some of its subsidiaries are restricted by net capital
requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and under rules of securities exchanges
and other regulatory bodies. Furthermore, because some of the subsidiaries of GSG are
partnerships in which GSG is a general partner or the sole limited partner, GSG may be liable
for their obligations. GSG also guarantees many of the obligations of its subsidiaries other than
the Issuer. Any liability GSG may have for its subsidiaries' obligations could reduce its assets
that are available to satisfy its obligations under the GSG Guaranty to the investors in securities
of the Issuer.

The Securities are not bank deposits and are not insured or guaranteed by the UK
Financial Services Compensation Scheme, the Jersey Depositors Compensation Scheme,
the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the U.S. Deposit Insurance Fund or any
other government or governmental or private agency or deposit protection scheme in any
jurisdiction. Investors are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on the
Securities, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the
market's view of our creditworthiness.

Where applicable, the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor will not
constitute an event of default in relation to the Securities. There is no automatic default or
acceleration upon the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor. In the event that the
relevant Guarantor becomes subject to bankruptcy or resolution proceedings (but the Issuer does
not), you will not be able to declare the Securities to be immediately due and repayable. Instead,
you will need to wait until the earlier of the time that (i) the Issuer itself becomes bankrupt or
otherwise defaults on the terms of the Securities and (ii) the time the Securities become due and
repayable at their maturity. Therefore, the return you receive on the Securities in this particular
circumstance could be significantly less than what you would have otherwise received had you
been able to declare the Securities immediately due and repayable upon the bankruptcy or
resolution of the relevant Guarantor.

Risks in connection with the legal form and organisation of GSW
GSW may partially or wholly fail to meet its obligations under the Securities. Investors should

therefore take the creditworthiness of GSW, as well as the creditworthiness of the relevant
Guarantor of the Securities, into account in their investment decision. Credit risk means the risk
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of insolvency or illiquidity of GSW. An increased insolvency risk is typical of issuers that have
a low creditworthiness.

The creditworthiness of GSW may also change due to developments in the general economic or
company-specific environment during the term of the Securities. This may be caused in
particular by cyclical changes, which may have a lasting detrimental effect on the profitability
and the solvency of GSW. In addition, changes may also be considered that are caused by
individual companies, industries, or countries such as, for example, economic crises as well as
political developments with strong economic effects.

According to its articles of association, GSW was established only for the purpose of issuing
fungible securities and does not carry out any further operating business activity besides that.
The issued share capital of GSW amounts to only EUR 51,129.19 (DM 100,000.00). You will
therefore be exposed to a significantly greater credit risk by purchasing the Securities compared
to securities issued by an issuer equipped with significantly more capital.

In the case of an insolvency of GSW, an investment in a Security issued by GSW may mean a
complete loss of the invested amount if the loss cannot be satisfied by the relevant Guarantee.

In this context, investors should also note that GSW is not connected to a deposit protection
fund or similar safety system, which would cover all or part of the claims of holders of Securities
in the case of an insolvency of GSW.

In the event that GSW, or any of its affiliates, becomes subject to a proceeding under the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act or Title 1l of the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (together, the "U.S. Special Resolution Regimes"), the transfer of Instruments
issued by GSW, and any interest and obligation in or under such Instruments, from GSW will
be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under such U.S. Special
Resolution Regime if such Instruments, and any interest and obligation in or under such
Instruments, were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.

In order to hedge its claims arising from the issued Securities, GSW enters into hedging
transactions with GSI. In this context, there is a risk of insolvency of the parties with whom
GSW concludes derivative transactions to hedge its obligations in respect of the issuance of
Securities. Since GSW enters into such hedging transactions mainly with GSlI, this risk is more
prominent for GSW compared to other issuers with a more widely spread selection of
contracting partners. Therefore, an illiquidity or insolvency of companies affiliated with GSW
may directly result in an insolvency of GSW.

Holders of Securities of GSW are not entitled to any claims in respect of any hedging
transactions concluded in this manner.

There is no rating of GSW regarding its credit risk by renowned rating agencies such as Moody's
or Standard and Poor's.

Risks relating to the commercial activity of GSW

GSW is primarily involved in the issuance of securities. The activity of GSW and its annual
issuance volume is affected both by positive and by negative developments in the markets where
it carries out its business activity. A difficult general economic situation may lead to a lower
issuance volume and negatively affect GSW's earnings situation. The general market
development of securities depends particularly on the development of the capital markets, which
is in turn affected by the general situation of the world economy as well as the economic and
political conditions in the respective countries (so-called market risk).

Risks relating to GSFCI
The following are further specific risks relating to GSFCI.

Credit risks
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The Issuer may partially or wholly fail to meet its obligations under the Securities. Investors
should therefore take the creditworthiness of the Issuer, as well as the creditworthiness of the
relevant Guarantor of the Securities, into account in their investment decision. Credit risk means
the risk of insolvency or illiquidity of the Issuer, i.e. a potential, temporary or final inability to
fulfil its interest and repayment obligations on time. An increased insolvency risk is typical of
issuers that have a low creditworthiness.

Although the return on your Securities will be based on the performance of the Underlying
Asset(s) (if applicable), the payment of any amount due on, or delivery of any asset(s)
deliverable under, the Securities is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer, and (if applicable) the
credit risk of the relevant Guarantor. This is also the case for Securities not linked to any
Underlying Asset. The Securities and the Guarantees are our unsecured obligations. Investors
are dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on, or deliver any asset(s) deliverable under,
the Securities, and therefore investors are subject to our credit risk and to changes in the market's
view of our creditworthiness. Similarly, investors are dependent on the ability of (if applicable)
the relevant Guarantor, to pay all amounts due on the Securities, and therefore are also subject
to its credit risk and to changes in the market's view of its creditworthiness.

Because the assets of GSG consist principally of interests in the subsidiaries through which GSG
conducts its businesses, its right to participate as an equity holder in any distribution of assets
of any of its subsidiaries upon the subsidiary's liquidation or otherwise, and thus the ability of
the security holders of the Issuer, as the beneficiaries of the GSG Guaranty (if applicable), to
benefit from the distribution, is junior to creditors of the subsidiary, except to the extent that any
claims GSG may have as a creditor of the subsidiary are recognised. In addition, dividends,
loans and advances to GSG from some of its subsidiaries are restricted by net capital
requirements under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and under rules of securities exchanges
and other regulatory bodies. Furthermore, because some of the subsidiaries of GSG are
partnerships in which GSG is a general partner or the sole limited partner, GSG may be liable
for their obligations. GSG also guarantees many of the obligations of its subsidiaries other than
the Issuer. Any liability GSG may have for its subsidiaries' obligations could reduce its assets
that are available to satisfy its obligations under the GSG Guaranty to the investors in securities
of the Issuer.

The Securities are not bank deposits and are not insured or guaranteed by the UK Financial
Services Compensation Scheme, the Jersey Depositors Compensation Scheme, the U.S. Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, the U.S. Deposit Insurance Fund or any other government or
governmental or private agency or deposit protection scheme in any jurisdiction. Investors are
dependent on our ability to pay all amounts due on the Securities, and therefore investors are
subject to our credit risk and to changes in the market's view of our creditworthiness.

Where applicable, the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor will not constitute an
event of default in relation to the Securities. There is no automatic default or acceleration upon
the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant Guarantor. In the event that the relevant Guarantor
becomes subject to bankruptcy or resolution proceedings (but the Issuer does not), you will not
be able to declare the Securities to be immediately due and repayable. Instead, you will need to
wait until the earlier of the time that (i) the Issuer itself becomes bankrupt or otherwise defaults
on the terms of the Securities and (ii) the time the Securities become due and repayable at their
maturity. Therefore, the return you receive on the Securities in this particular circumstance could
be significantly less than what you would have otherwise received had you been able to declare
the Securities immediately due and repayable upon the bankruptcy or resolution of the relevant
Guarantor.

Risks relating to the commercial activity of GSFCI

GSFCI was established only for the purpose of issuing securities, lending and entering into
derivatives transactions with its affiliates for hedging purposes, and does not carry out any other
operating business activities. You will therefore be exposed to a significantly greater credit
risk by purchasing the Securities compared to securities issued by an issuer equipped with
significantly more capital.
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GSFCl is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of GSG and depends on GSG for capital. All of
GSFClI's unsecured debt issuances are guaranteed by GSG. If GSFCI fails or goes bankrupt, an
investment in a Security may mean a complete loss of the invested amount if the loss cannot be
satisfied by the GSG Guaranty. You should note the Securities are not covered by a deposit
protection fund or similar safety system in relation to the claims of holders of Securities in the
case of an insolvency of GSFCI.

There is no rating of GSFCI regarding its credit risk by renowned rating agencies such as
Moody's or Standard and Poor's.

In the event that GSFCI, or any of its affiliates, becomes subject to a proceeding under the U.S.
Special Resolution Regimes, the transfer of Instruments issued by GSFCI, and any interest and
obligation in or under such Instruments, from GSFCI will be effective to the same extent as the
transfer would be effective under such U.S. Special Resolution Regime if such Instruments, and
any interest and obligation in or under such Instruments, were governed by the laws of the
United States or a state of the United States.

Risks relating to economic and market conditions

GSFCI is primarily involved in the issuance of securities in a number of markets and the
proceeds from these securities are lent to affiliates. GSFCI also enters into derivative
transactions with affiliates for hedging purposes. The activity of GSFCI and its annual issuance
volume is affected both by positive and negative developments in the markets where it carries
out its business activity. A difficult general economic situation may lead to a lower issuance
volume. The market of these securities depends particularly on the development of capital
markets, which are in turn affected by the general situation of the world economy, as well as the
economic and political conditions in the respective countries.

Risks relating to liquidity

The credit ratings of GSG are important to GSFCI's liquidity. A reduction in GSG's credit ratings
could adversely affect GSFCI's liquidity and competitive position, increase borrowing costs or
limit access to the capital markets. There is no rating of GSFCI regarding its credit risk by
renowned rating agencies such as Moody's Investors Service or Standard & Poor's Ratings
Services.

GSFCI's liquidity could be impaired by an inability to access unsecured debt markets, an
inability to access funds from GSG, or unforeseen outflows of cash.

Risks relating to credit markets

Widening credit spreads for GSG, as well as significant declines in the availability of credit,
could adversely affect GSFCI's ability to borrow on an unsecured basis. GSFCI issues securities,
the proceeds of which are onward lent to GSG and/or its subsidiaries. Any disruptions in the
credit markets may make it harder and more expensive to obtain funding for the Group's
businesses.

Risks relating to changes in underliers

GSFClI's businesses and its funding may be adversely affected by changes in the reference rates,
currencies, indices, baskets, ETFs or other financial metrics to which the products offered by
GSFCI are linked, in particular by changes in or the discontinuance of IBORs.

The discontinuation of an IBOR, changes in an IBOR or changes in market acceptance of any
IBOR as a reference rate may also adversely affect the amounts paid on securities GSFCI has
issued, amounts received and paid on derivative instruments GSFCI has entered into, the value
of such securities or derivative instruments, the trading market for securities, GSFCI's ability to
effectively use derivative instruments to manage risk, or the availability or cost of GSFCI's
floating-rate funding and its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates.
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1.2

FACTORS WHICH ARE MATERIAL FOR THE PURPOSES OF ASSESSING THE
MARKET RISKS IN RELATION TO THE SECURITIES

Risks associated with the value, liquidity and offering of your Securities

The estimated value of your Securities (as determined by reference to pricing models used by
us) at the time the terms and conditions of your Securities are set on the trade date, will be
less than the original issue price of your Securities

The original issue price for your Securities will exceed the estimated value of your Securities as
from the trade date, as determined by reference to our pricing models and taking into account
our credit spreads. The difference between the estimated value of your Securities as of the time
the terms and conditions of your Securities were set on the trade date and the original issue price
is a result of many factors, including among others on issuance (the underwriting discount and
commissions where permitted by applicable law), the expenses incurred in creating,
documenting and marketing the Securities and our own internal funding costs (being an amount
based on what we would pay to holders of a non-structured security with a similar maturity).
The difference may be greater when the Securities are initially traded on any secondary markets
and may gradually decline in value during the term of the Securities. Information with respect
to the amount of these inducements, commissions and fees will be included in the Issue Terms
and may be obtained from the Issuer upon request.

In estimating the value of your Securities as of the time the terms and conditions of your
Securities were set on the trade date, our pricing models consider certain variables, including
principally our credit spreads, interest rates (forecasted, current and historical rates), volatility,
price-sensitivity analysis and the time to maturity of the Securities. These pricing models are
proprietary and rely in part on certain assumptions about future events, which may prove to be
incorrect. As a result, the actual value you would receive if you sold your Securities in the
secondary market, if any, to others may differ, perhaps materially, from the estimated value of
your Securities determined by reference to our models due to, among other things, any
differences in pricing models or assumptions used by others. Accordingly, the issue price of the
Securities as at the trade date is likely to be more than the initial market value of the Securities,
and this could result in a loss if you sell the Securities prior to their scheduled redemption.

The value and quoted price of your Securities (if any) at any time will reflect many factors
and cannot be predicted

The value and quoted price of your Securities (if any) at any time will reflect many factors and
cannot be predicted. The following factors, amongst others, many of which are beyond our
control, may influence the market value of your Securities:

o the volatility — i.e. the frequency and magnitude of changes — of the levels of the
Underlying Asset or basket of Underlying Assets;

) whether your Securities are linked to a single Underlying Asset or a basket of
Underlying Assets;
o the level, price, value or other measure of the Underlying Asset(s) to which your

Securities are linked, the participation rate, the weighting multipliers, the cap level
and/or the buffer level and/or other payout term, as applicable;

o the dividend rates of the stocks underlying the Underlying Asset(s);

o economic, financial, regulatory, political, military and other events that affect stock
markets generally and the stocks underlying the Underlying Asset(s) or basket of
Underlying Asset(s), and which may affect the closing level of the Underlying Asset(s)
or the basket closing level;

) economic, financial, regulatory, geographic, judicial, political and other developments
that affect the level, value or price of the Underlying Asset(s), and real or anticipated
changes in those factors;
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o interest rates and yield rates in the market;
o the time remaining until your Securities mature; and
) our creditworthiness, whether actual or perceived, and including actual or anticipated

upgrades or downgrades in our credit ratings or changes in other credit measures.

If we make a market in the Securities, the price quoted by us would reflect any changes in market
conditions and other relevant factors, including any deterioration in our creditworthiness or
perceived creditworthiness. These changes may adversely affect the value of your Securities,
including the price you may receive for your Securities in any market making transaction. To
the extent that we make a market in the Securities, the quoted price will reflect the estimated
value determined by reference to our pricing models at that time, plus or minus its customary
bid and ask spread for similar sized trades of structured securities and subject to the declining
excess amount described in risk factor 1.1 (The estimated value of your Securities (as
determined by reference to pricing models used by us) at the time the terms and conditions of
your Securities are set on the trade date, will be less than the original issue price of your
Securities) above.

Further, if you sell your Securities, you will likely be charged a commission for secondary
market transactions, or the price will likely reflect a dealer discount. This commission or
discount will further reduce the proceeds you would receive for your Securities in a secondary
market sale.

If you sell your Securities prior to maturity, you may receive less than the face amount or initial
purchase price of your Securities. You cannot predict the future performance of the applicable
Underlying Asset(s) based on its historical performance.

You should note that the issue price and/or offer price of the Securities may include subscription
fees, placement fees, direction fees, structuring fees and/or other additional costs. Any such fees
and costs may not be taken into account for the purposes of determining the price of such
Securities on the secondary market and could result in a difference between the original issue
price and/or offer price, the theoretical value of the Securities, and/or the actual bid/offer price
quoted by any intermediary in the secondary market. Any such difference may have an adverse
effect on the value of the Securities, particularly immediately following the offer and the issue
date relating to such Securities, where any such fees and/or costs may be deducted from the
price at which such Securities can be sold by the initial investor in the secondary market.

There is no assurance that we or any other party will be willing to purchase your Securities at
any price and, in this regard, we are not obligated to make a market in the Securities. See risk
factor 1.4 (Your Securities may not have an active trading market; the aggregate nominal
amount or number of Securities outstanding at any time may be significantly less than that
outstanding on the issue date, and this could have a negative impact on your ability to sell your
Securities in the secondary market) below.

The Securities may lose value if interest rates increase

Particularly in relation to Fixed Rate Notes that are not linked to an Underlying Asset and have
a term of ten years or more, in most cases an increase in interest rates during the term of the
Securities will cause their value to decrease and if you sell the Securities prior to maturity you
will receive less than the face amount of the Securities.

Your Securities may not have an active trading market; the aggregate nominal amount or
number of Securities outstanding at any time may be significantly less than that outstanding
on the issue date, and this could have a negative impact on your ability to sell your Securities
in the secondary market

Unless we expressly tell you otherwise, or to the extent that the rules of any stock exchange on
which the Securities are listed and admitted to trading require us to provide liquidity in respect
of the Securities, there may be little or no secondary market for your Securities and you may be
unable to sell them.
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If we do make a market for the Securities, we may cease to do so at any time without notice to
you and we are not obligated to provide any quotation of bid or offer price(s) of the Securities
which is favourable to you.

For those Securities for which an application will be or has been made to be listed and admitted
to trading on a stock exchange, we give no assurance that such application will be accepted, that
any particular Securities will be so admitted, or that an active trading market in the Securities
will develop. We may discontinue any such listing at any time.

Even if a secondary market for your Securities develops, it may not provide significant liquidity
and transaction costs in any secondary market could be high. As a result, the difference between
bid and asked prices for your Securities in any secondary market could be substantial. See also
risk factor 1.2 (The value and quoted price of your Securities (if any) at any time will reflect
many factors and cannot be predicted) above. There may be less liquidity in the secondary
market for the Securities also if they are exclusively offered to retail investors without any offer
to institutional investors.

If so indicated in the Issue Terms, on the issue date a specified amount of Securities will be
issued to and made available for sale by GSI (or any other appropriately licensed affiliate),
acting as dealer, and may be listed and admitted to trading on one or more regulated markets of
any European Economic Area member state for purchase by investors. However, the Issuer and
GSI (or any other appropriately licensed affiliate), acting as dealer, reserve the right to cancel
some or all of the Securities held by GSI (or any other appropriately licensed affiliate) at any
time prior to the final maturity of the Securities. Accordingly, the aggregate nominal amount or
number of Securities outstanding at any time may be significantly less than that outstanding on
the Issue Date, and this could have a negative impact on your ability to sell the Securities in the
secondary market. While this risk applies to all Securities, it may be particularly the case with
regard to Securities to be listed on Borsa Italiana S.p.A. ("Borsa Italiana™) and admitted to
trading on Borsa Italiana's MOT (electronic bond market). Any such right of cancellation by
GSI (or any other appropriately licensed affiliate), acting as dealer, shall be exercised in
accordance with applicable laws, the terms and conditions of the Securities and the applicable
rules of the relevant stock exchange(s) and markets, including as to notification.

You should therefore not assume that the Securities can be sold at a specific time or at a specific
price during their life, and you should assume that you may need to hold them until they mature.
The availability of any secondary market may be limited or non-existent and, if you are able to
sell your Securities, you may receive significantly less than you would otherwise receive by
holding the Securities to their scheduled maturity.

Certain specific information may not be known at the beginning of an offer period

The Final Terms of your Securities may provide that certain specific information relating to
your Securities (such as certain amounts, levels, percentages, prices, rates or values (as
applicable) used to determine or calculate amounts payable or assets deliverable in respect of
the Securities) may not be fixed or determined until the end of the offer period. In such case, the
Final Terms will specify in place of the relevant amounts, levels, percentages, prices, rates or
values (as applicable), such indicative amounts, levels, percentages, prices, rates or values (as
applicable), or an indicative range thereof, which may be subject to a minimum or maximum
amount, level, percentage, price, rate or value (as applicable).

The actual amounts, levels, percentages, prices, rates or values (as applicable) will be
determined based on market conditions by the Issuer on or around the end of the offer period
and may be the same as or different from any indicative amount specified in the Final Terms,
provided that such actual amounts will not be less than any indicative minimum amount
specified therein and will not be more than any indicative maximum amount specified therein.

You will be required to make your investment decision based on the indicative amounts or
indicative range rather than the actual amounts, levels, percentages, prices, rates or values (as
applicable), which will only be fixed or determined at the end of the offer period after their
investment decision is made but will apply to the Securities once issued.
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If the Final Terms of your Securities provides that an indicative range of amounts, levels,
percentages, prices, rates or values (as applicable), you should, for the purposes of evaluating
the risks and benefits of an investment in the Securities, assume that the actual amounts, levels,
percentages, prices, rates or values (as applicable) fixed or determined at the end of the offer
period may have a negative impact on the amounts payable or assets deliverable in respect of
the Securities and consequently, have an adverse impact on the return on the Securities (when
compared with other amounts, levels, percentages, prices, rates or values (as applicable) within
any indicative range, or less than any indicative maximum amount, or greater than any indicative
minimum amount). You should therefore make your decision to invest in the Securities on that
basis.

Certain considerations relating to public offers of the Securities

If the Securities are distributed by means of a public offer, under certain circumstances indicated
in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer and/or the other entities indicated in the relevant Final
Terms will have the right to withdraw or revoke the offer, and the offer will be deemed to be
null and void according to the terms indicated in the relevant Final Terms.

The Issuer and/or the other entities specified in the relevant Final Terms may also terminate the
offer early by immediate suspension of the acceptance of further subscription requests and by
giving notice to the public in accordance with the relevant Final Terms. Any such termination
may occur even where the maximum amount for subscription in relation to that offer (as
specified in the relevant Final Terms), has not been reached. In such circumstances, the early
closing of the offer may have an impact on the aggregate number of Securities issued and,
therefore, may have an adverse effect on the liquidity of the Securities.

Furthermore, under certain circumstances indicated in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer
and/or the other entities indicated in the relevant Final Terms will have the right to extend the
offer period and/or to postpone the originally designated issue date, and related interest payment
dates and the maturity date. For the avoidance of doubt, this right applies also in the event that
the Issuer publishes a supplement to the Base Prospectus in accordance with the provisions of
the Prospectus Regulation.

In addition, you should note that if it is indicated in the Final Terms that the Issuer will adopt
the distribution process on the MOT described in article 2.4.3, paragraph 7 of the Rules of the
Markets organised and managed by Borsa Italiana, the circumstance that, pursuant to this
distribution process, potential investors can monitor (via market operators) the progress of the
proposed purchases of the Securities during the offer period, may have an impact on the progress
and results of the offer. You should also note that, pursuant to distribution process on the MOT
indicated above, the proposed acquisition of the Securities during the offer period does not
constitute conclusion of the contract, which remains subject to confirmation of the correct
execution of the order and the issuance of the Securities.

If the relevant Final Terms provide that the Issuer or the placer, as applicable, will apply or has
applied for admission to trading of the Instruments on SeDeX, a multilateral trading facility
organised and managed by Borsa Italiana ("SeDeX"), or admission to trading of the Instruments
on the EuroTLX market, a multilateral trading facility organised and managed by EuroTLX
SIM S.p.A,, then the relevant Final Terms may also provide that the effectiveness of the offer
of such Instruments will be conditional upon such admission to trading occurring by the Issue
Date. In such case, in the event that admission to trading of the Instruments does not take place
by the Issue Date for whatever reason, the Issuer will withdraw the offer, the offer will be
deemed to be null and void and the relevant Instrument will not be issued. As a consequence,
you will not receive any Instruments, any subscription rights you have for the Instruments will
be cancelled and you will not be entitled to any compensation thereof.
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Risks associated with certain products or product features

If your Securities include a leverage factor of over 100 per cent. there may be a higher risk
of loss

If the terms and conditions of your Securities provide that the amount payable (or deliverable)
on the Securities is based upon the performance, price, value or level of the Underlying Asset(s)
multiplied by a factor which is over 100 per cent., the Securities may have a disproportionate
exposure to any negative performance of the Underlying Asset(s). In such circumstances, the
Securities will represent a very speculative and risky form of investment, since any loss in the
value of the Underlying Asset(s) carries the risk of a disproportionately higher loss in the value
of and return on the Securities.

The return on your Securities may be linked to the level, price, rate or other applicable value
of the Underlying Asset(s) on a number of averaging dates

The terms and conditions of your Securities may provide that the amount payable (or
deliverable) on the Securities (whether at maturity or otherwise) will be based on the arithmetic
average of the applicable levels, prices, rates or other applicable values of the Underlying
Asset(s) on each of the specified averaging dates, and not the simple performance of the
Underlying Asset(s) over the term of the Securities. An averaging feature could result in a lower
value of and return on the Securities than if there was no averaging feature. For example, if the
applicable level, price, rate or other applicable value of the particular Underlying Asset(s)
dramatically increases on an averaging date (but not the other averaging dates), the return on
your Securities may be significantly less than it would have been had it been linked only to the
applicable level, price, rate or other value of the Underlying Asset(s) on that single date.

The potential for the value of your Securities to increase may be limited

If the terms and conditions of your Securities provide that the Securities are subject to a cap,
your ability to participate in any change in the value of the Underlying Asset(s) over the term
of the Securities will be limited, no matter how much the level, price, rate or other applicable
value of the Underlying Asset(s) may rise beyond the cap level over the life of the Securities.
Accordingly, the return on your Securities may be significantly less than if you had purchased
the Underlying Asset(s) directly.

In addition, if the participation rate on your Securities is less than 100 per cent. and, at maturity,
the final level, price, rate or other applicable value of the Underlying Asset(s) exceeds the initial
level, price, rate or other applicable value of the Underlying Asset(s), the return on your
Securities may be significantly less than had you purchased the Underlying Asset(s) or an
investment linked to the Underlying Asset(s) on a leveraged or one to one basis. This is because
a participation rate of less than 100 per cent. will have the effect of reducing your exposure to
any positive return on the Underlying Asset(s).

The "Worst-of""(""Minimum Performance™, ""Barrier Worst Closing Price™ and "'Barrier
Worst Asset Performance') feature means that you will be exposed to the performance of
each Underlying Asset and, in particular, to the Underlying Asset which has the worst
performance

If the terms and conditions of your Securities provide that the return on the Securities depends
on the 'worst-of' performance of the basket of Underlying Assets, you will be exposed to the
performance of each Underlying Asset and, in particular, to the Underlying Asset which has the
worst performance. This means that, irrespective of how the other Underlying Assets perform,
if any one or more Underlying Assets fails to meet a relevant threshold or barrier for the payment
of interest or the calculation of any redemption amount, you may receive no interest payments
and/or could lose some or all of your initial investment.

The return on your Securities may be linked to the lowest or highest level or price of the
Underlying Asset(s) on a number of entry level observation dates

The terms and conditions of your Securities may provide that the amount payable (or
deliverable) on the Securities (whether at maturity or otherwise) will be based on the
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performance of the Underlying Asset(s) compared to the highest or lowest (as specified in the
relevant Issue Terms) levels or prices of the Underlying Asset(s) observed across each of the
specified entry level observation dates, and not just the price or level of the Underlying Asset(s)
on asingle initial date. Such a feature could result in a lower value of and return on the Securities
than if there was no entry level feature. For example, if the applicable level or price of the
particular Underlying Asset(s) increased significantly across the entry level observation dates,
the value of and return on your Securities may be significantly less than it would have been had
the return been determined by reference to only the applicable level or price of the Underlying
Asset(s) on a single initial date.

The Fixed Coupon Payment Dates may be delayed if the corresponding Coupon Reference
Date is adjusted

The Fixed Coupon Payment Date(s) will be postponed if the Coupon Reference Date
corresponding to such Fixed Coupon Payment Date is not a day on which we would usually
value the Underlying Asset (despite the fact that no value of any Underlying Asset is being taken
on such Coupon Reference Date), and this may result in Holders suffering a delay in the payment
of the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount until after the date on which such Fixed Coupon Payment
Date is scheduled to fall.

Risks associated with certain terms of the Securities, including adjustment, early
redemption, substitution, Issuer call option, exercise, amendments and foreign exchange
rates

Your Securities may be redeemed prior to maturity due to a change in law event, and you may
lose some or all of your investment

Where, due to a change in law event, (a) our performance under the Securities or (b) (save in
respect of Belgian Securities) our hedging transactions relating to the Securities has become (or
there is a substantial likelihood in the immediate future that it will become) illegal or (save in
respect of Belgian Securities) impractical, we may, in our discretion, redeem the Securities.

If we elect to early redeem the Securities, if permitted by applicable law, we shall pay to you an
amount equal to the non-scheduled early repayment amount of such Securities. Unless the terms
of your Securities provide that "Par plus accrued”, "Accreted Value" (in respect of Zero Coupon
Notes) or "Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities" is applicable, the non-scheduled
early repayment amount will be an amount determined by the Calculation Agent as the fair
market value of such Securities on the second Business Day prior to the date of such early
redemption or settlement, determined by reference to such factors as the Calculation Agent
considers to be appropriate, and (if the relevant Issue Terms specify "Adjusted for Issuer
Expenses and Costs" as applicable) adjusted to account fully for any of our reasonable expenses
and costs including, those relating to the unwinding of any underlying and/or our related hedging
arrangements (if any). The non-scheduled early repayment amount may be less than your initial
investment and you may therefore lose some or all of your investment.

If the terms of your Securities provide that "Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities"
is applicable:

(i) in the case of an unscheduled early redemption due to a change in law event which
renders the continuance of the Securities definitely impaossible, the non-scheduled early
repayment amount will be an amount determined in good faith and in a commercially
reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent as the fair market value of such Securities
on the second Business Day prior to the date of such early redemption or settlement,
determined by reference to such factors as the Calculation Agent considers to be
appropriate (taking into account the remaining present value (including the present value
of the future selling commissions payable to the distributor (the "Distributor™) (if any)))
(such amount, the "Fair Market Value");

(i) inthe case of an unscheduled early redemption due to a change in law event which does
not render the continuance of the Securities definitely impossible and where "Fair Market
Value (Plus Issuer Cost Reimbursement)” is specified as applicable in the relevant Issue
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Terms, the non-scheduled early repayment amount will be an amount equal to the sum
of (a) the Fair Market Value, plus (b) a pro rata share of the total costs of the Issuer (for
example, structuring costs but excluding selling commissions paid or payable by the
Issuer to the Distributor) paid by the original holders of the Securities as part of the
original issue price of the Securities, as adjusted to take into account the time remaining
to maturity (the "Pro Rata Issuer Cost Reimbursement");

(iii)  in the case of an unscheduled early redemption due to a change in law event which does
not render the continuance of the Securities definitely impossible and where "Holder Put
or Monetisation (or Best of Amount)" is specified as applicable in the relevant Issue
Terms, the non-scheduled early repayment amount will be an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following in relation to each Security:

(A)  where the Holder has exercised its right to early redeem such Security in
accordance with the terms and conditions, an amount, payable on the early
redemption date specified in the notice from the Issuer, equal to the sum of (a) the
Fair Market Value, plus (b) the Pro Rata Issuer Cost Reimbursement; or

(B)  otherwise, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the Calculation Amount (CPP) plus
(b) the present value (if any) of the option component or embedded derivative(s)
of such Security at or around the date on which the Issuer gives notice of the early
redemption event, plus (c) the present value of the future selling commission
payable to the Distributor (if any), plus (d) the Pro Rata Issuer Cost
Reimbursement, plus (e) accrued interest (if any) on such present value (if any)
of the option component or embedded derivative(s), such present value of the
future selling commissions payable to the Distributor (if any) and such Pro Rata
Issuer Cost Reimbursement up to, but excluding, the maturity date, and such
amount as described in this paragraph (B) will be payable on the scheduled
maturity date,

PROVIDED THAT, the Issuer may determine instead to redeem all of the
Securities on the early redemption date specified in the notice from the Issuer and
for an amount equal to the sum of (a) the greater of (i) the Calculation Amount
(CPP) and (ii) the Fair Market Value and (b) the Pro Rata Issuer Cost
Reimbursement.

Following any such early redemption of the Securities, you may not be able to reinvest the
proceeds from such redemption at a comparable return and/or with a comparable interest rate
for a similar level of risk. You should consider such reinvestment risk in light of other available
investments when you purchase the Securities.

Your Securities may be redeemed early if the Issuer has a call option and exercises it

Where the terms of your Securities provide that we have the right to call the Securities, following
the exercise by the Issuer of such option, you will no longer be able to realise your expectations
for a gain in the value of such Securities and, if applicable, will no longer participate in the
performance of the Underlying Assets.

Also, an optional redemption feature of Securities is likely to limit the market value of your
Securities. During any period when we may elect to redeem Securities, the market value of the
Securities generally will not rise above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may
be true prior to the beginning of any redemption period.

Further, we may be expected to redeem Securities when our cost of borrowing is lower than the
interest rate on the Securities. At those times, you generally would not be able to reinvest the
redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Securities
being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. You should consider
such reinvestment risk in light of other available investments.
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The Issuer of your Securities may be substituted with another company

The Issuer may be substituted as principal obligor under the Securities by (if applicable) the
relevant Guarantor or another wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor. Whilst the new issuer
will provide an indemnity in your favour in relation to any additional tax or duties (and, in the
case of Belgian Securities, any losses suffered by the holders of the Securities due to a different
regulatory regime of the new issuer) that become payable solely as a result of such substitution,
you will not have the right to consent to such substitution.

You may be exposed to foreign exchange risk on your Securities

Where the terms of your Securities provide that payments will be made in a currency which is
different from the currency of the Underlying Asset(s), and the Securities do not have a 'quanto’
feature (as described in the next paragraph), or in the case of Underlying Asset(s) that
themselves contain currency conversions (such as a global equity index that converts all stock
prices to a single currency for purposes of calculating the index level), you may be exposed not
only to the performance of the Underlying Asset(s) but also to the performance of such foreign
currency, which cannot be predicted. Depreciation of the currency in which the payments under
the Securities is denominated or the currency of the Underlying Asset(s) could result in a
decrease in the value of and return on your Securities.

If the Underlying Asset(s) are not denominated in the currency of the Securities and at the same
time only the performance of the Underlying Asset(s) in their denominated currency is relevant
to the payout on the Securities, the Securities are referred to as currency-protected Securities or
Securities with a 'quanto’ feature. Under such "quanto™ feature, any change in the rate of
exchange between the currency of the Underlying Asset(s) and the Securities is disregarded for
the purposes of determining the return on the Securities. Accordingly, a ‘quanto’ feature means
that you will not have the benefit of any change in the rate of exchange between the currency of
the Underlying Asset(s) and the Securities that would otherwise increase the performance of the
Underlying Asset(s) in the absence of such 'quanto’ feature. In addition, changes in the relevant
exchange rate may indirectly influence the level, price, rate or other applicable value of the
relevant Underlying Asset(s) which, in turn, could have a negative effect on the value of and
return on the Securities and may lead to the loss of some or all of your initial investment.

Further, foreign exchange fluctuations between your home currency and the currency in which
payments under the Securities is denominated may affect you if you intend to convert gains or
losses from the exercise or sale of Securities into your home currency.

Foreign exchange rates are, and have been, highly volatile and determined by supply and
demand for currencies in the international foreign exchange markets; such fluctuations in rates
are subject to economic factors, including, among others, inflation rates in the countries
concerned, interest rate differences between the respective countries, economic forecasts,
international political factors, currency convertibility and safety of making financial
investments in the currency concerned, speculation and measures taken by governments and
central banks.

Foreign currency exchange rates can either float or be fixed by sovereign governments. From
time to time, governments use a variety of techniques, such as intervention by a country's central
bank or imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, to affect the exchange rate of their currencies.
Governments may also issue a new currency to replace an existing currency or alter the
exchange rate or exchange characteristics by devaluation or revaluation of a currency. Thus, a
particular concern in purchasing Securities with foreign exchange risks as described above is
that their yields or payouts could be significantly and unpredictably affected by governmental
actions. Even in the absence of governmental action directly affecting currency exchange rates,
political or economic developments in the country of the relevant currency or elsewhere could
lead to significant and sudden changes in the exchange rate of that currency and others. These
changes could negatively (or positively) affect the value of and return on the Securities as
participants in the global currency markets move to buy or sell the relevant currency in reaction
to these developments.
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Governments have imposed from time to time and may in the future impose exchange controls
or other conditions, including taxes, with respect to the exchange or transfer of a currency that
could affect exchange rates as well as the availability of the currency for a Security at its
maturity or on any other payment date. In addition, your ability to move currency freely out of
the country in which payment in the currency is received or to convert the currency at a freely
determined market rate could be limited by governmental actions.

There are particular risks in relation to CNY

CNY is not freely convertible at present. The government of the People's Republic of China
continues to regulate conversion between CNY and foreign currencies despite the significant
reduction over the years by such government of its control over routine foreign exchange
transactions conducted through current accounts. The People's Bank of China ("PBOC") has
established a clearing and settlement system pursuant to the Settlement Agreement on the
Clearing of CNY Business between PBOC and Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited. However,
the current size of CNY and CNY denominated financial assets in Hong Kong is limited, and
its growth is subject to many constraints imposed by the laws and regulations of the People's
Republic of China on foreign exchange.

We can give you no assurance that access to CNY funds for the purposes of making payments
under the Securities or generally will remain available or will not become restricted. The value
of CNY against foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by changes in the People's Republic
of China and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. As a
result, foreign exchange fluctuations between a purchaser's home currency and CNY may affect
purchasers who intend to convert gains or losses from the sale or redemption of the Securities
into their home currency.

Developments and the perception of risks in other countries, especially emerging market
countries, may adversely affect the USD/CNY exchange rate and therefore the value of
Securities denominated in or referencing CNY.

You should also read risk factor 4.6 (Risks relating to emerging markets).

The occurrence of an FX Disruption Event or CNY Disruption Event may lead to delayed
payment and/or payment in USD

If the terms and conditions of your Securities provide that "FX Disruption” or "CNY Disruption
Event" is applicable, then if the relevant currency is subject to convertibility, transferability,
market disruption or other conditions affecting its availability at or about the time when a
payment on the Securities comes due because of circumstances beyond our control, we will be
entitled to make the payment in U.S. dollars or delay making the payment. These circumstances
could include the imposition of exchange controls or our inability to obtain the other currency
because of a disruption in the currency markets. If we made payment in U.S. dollars, the
exchange rate we would use would be determined based on dealer quotations or, failing that, in
our discretion. A discretionary determination of this kind may be based on limited information
and would involve significant application of our discretion on our part. As a result, the value of
the payment in U.S. dollars you would receive on the payment date may be less than the value
of the payment you would have received in the other currency if it had been available, or may
be zero. In addition, a government may impose extraordinary taxes on transfers of a currency.
If that happens we will be entitled to deduct these taxes from any payment on Securities payable
in that currency.

There are particular foreign exchange risks in relation to *"Dual Currency" securities

There are particular risks relating to Securities where "Dual Currency Payout" and/or "Dual
Currency Coupon™ are specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms (“Dual Currency
Securities™). For such Securities payments of interest and/or principal are made in a currency
which may be different from the currency in which the Securities are denominated. The value
of Dual Currency Securities is more volatile than the value of comparable securities where
payments are made in the denomination currency due to the exposure Dual Currency Securities
provide to fluctuations in exchange rates and the risk that the payment currency will depreciate
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against the denomination currency. Where payments under the Dual Currency Securities are
made in a currency that is different from the currency in which the securities are denominated,
the amount investors receive, when converted into the denomination currency, may be less than
the purchase price of the Dual Currency Securities and investors may lose some or all of their
initial investment. In such circumstances investors will receive a lower return than if such
payment had been made in the denomination currency of the Dual Currency Securities due to
the foreign exchange rate risk. Investors in Dual Currency Securities may receive payment in a
currency that they did not expect and may suffer losses converting such currency to their home
currency. The amounts of principal and/or interest in the payment currency may be fixed on or
before the issue date of the Dual Currency Securities and, in such a circumstance, as the
exchange rate between the payment currency and the denomination currency on the relevant
payment date cannot be predicted, investors assume the risk that the value of such payments on
the relevant payment date, when converted into the denomination currency, will have declined
from the issue date.

There are particular risks relating to Securities where "Alternative Redemption Percentage” is
specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms (“Alternative Dual Currency
Securities™). The amount payable on maturity of Alternative Dual Currency Securities will be
calculated by converting a specified amount in a currency which is different from the
denomination currency of such Securities into the denomination currency of such Securities at
the prevailing foreign exchange rate. For such Securities, investors will be exposed to the
exchange rate between the specified currency and the denomination currency in which the
payment is made and may suffer losses if the specified currency has depreciated against the
denomination currency.

The tax treatment of Dual Currency Securities and Alternative Dual Currency Securities may
differ from the tax treatment of Securities without "dual currency" features. You should consult
your own tax advisers about the tax implications of holding any Dual Currency Security or
Alternative Dual Currency Security and of any transaction involving any Dual Currency
Security or Alternative Dual Currency Security.

You should also read risk factor 3.4 (You may be exposed to foreign exchange risk on your
Securities) above.

There are risks in relation to the exercise of the Securities

If the terms and conditions of your Securities provide that the Securities must be exercised in
order to receive their settlement amount, and the Securities are not designated 'Automatic
Exercise Instruments', you must exercise your rights to receive payment in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Securities and the requirements of the relevant clearing systems or
the registrar, as applicable, otherwise you may lose all of your investment.

We may amend the terms and conditions of your Securities in certain circumstances without
your consent; amendments to the Securities will bind all holders thereof

The terms and conditions of the Securities (other than Securities governed by French law) may
be amended by us without your consent as a holder of the Securities in any of the following
circumstances:

. to correct a manifest or proven error or omission;
. where the amendment is of a formal, minor or technical nature; or
o where such amendment will not materially and adversely affect the interests of holders.

In certain other circumstances, the consent of a defined majority of holders is required to make
amendments. The terms and conditions of the Securities contain provisions for holders of
Securities to call and attend meetings to vote upon such matters or to pass a written resolution
in the absence of such a meeting. Resolutions passed at such a meeting, or passed in writing,
can bind all holders of Securities, including investors that did not attend or vote, or who do not
consent to the amendments.
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In the case of Securities governed by French law which (i) have a denomination lower than EUR
100,000 and (ii) may be traded in amounts lower than EUR 100,000, the terms and conditions
of the Securities may only be amended if there is a meeting or a written resolution of the holders
of the Securities in accordance with French law. The positive vote of two-thirds (for a meeting
of the holders) or three-quarters (for a written resolution of the holders) or more of holders will
bind the remaining holders.

In the case of Securities governed by French law which (i) have a denomination at least equal
to EUR 100,000 or (i) can only be traded in amounts of at least EUR 100,000, the terms and
conditions of the Securities may be amended by us without your consent to correct a manifest
error. In other circumstances, the consent of a defined majority of holders is required to make
amendments. The terms and conditions of the Securities contain provisions for holders of
Securities to call and attend meetings to vote upon such matters or to pass a written resolution
in the absence of such a meeting. Resolutions passed at such a meeting, or passed in writing,
can bind all holders of Securities, including investors that did not attend or vote, or who do not
consent to the amendments.

Risks associated with Securities that reference one or more Underlying Assets(s)

The following risks are associated with Securities that reference one or more Underlying
Asset(s):

The value of and return on your Securities depends on the performance of the Underlying
Asset(s)

The return on your Securities may depend on the performance of one or more Underlying
Asset(s). The level, price, rate, net asset value or other applicable value of the Underlying
Asset(s) may be subject to unpredictable change over time. This degree of change is known as
"volatility". The volatility of an Underlying Asset may be affected by national and international
financial, political, military or economic events, including governmental actions, or by the
activities of participants in the relevant markets. Any of these events or activities could
adversely affect the value of and return on the Securities. Volatility does not imply direction of
the level, price, rate, net asset value or other applicable value, though an Underlying Asset that
is more volatile is likely to increase or decrease in value more often and/or to a greater extent
than one that is less volatile.

Where the performance of an Underlying Asset in relation to your Securities is calculated on a
"European basis" — i.e. a comparison is made between the Underlying Asset's level, price, rate,
net asset value or other applicable value on a start date and a future date to determine
performance — you will not benefit from any increase in the Underlying Asset's level, price, rate,
net asset value or other applicable value from the start date up to, but excluding, the specified
date on which the Underlying Asset's level, price, rate, net asset value or other applicable value
will be determined for the purpose of your Securities.

Where the performance of an Underlying Asset in relation to your Securities is calculated on an
"Asian basis" — i.e. the average of the Underlying Asset's level, price, rate, net asset value or
other applicable value on a number of reference dates is used to determine the performance —
the average level, price, rate, net asset value or other applicable value will be lower than the
highest value and therefore you will not benefit from the greatest increase in the Underlying
Asset's level, price, rate, net asset value or other applicable value from the start date.

Past performance of an Underlying Asset is not indicative of future performance

You should not regard any information about the past performance of the Underlying Asset(s)
as indicative of the range of, or trends in, fluctuations in the Underlying Asset(s) that may occur
in the future. Underlying Asset(s) may perform differently (or the same) as in the past, and this
could have material adverse effect on the value of and return on your Securities.

You will not have any rights of ownership in the Underlying Asset(s)

The Underlying Asset(s) will not be held by us for your benefit and, as such, you will have not
have any rights of ownership, including, without limitation, any voting rights, any rights to
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receive dividends or other distributions or any other rights with respect to any Underlying
Asset(s). The return on your Securities may be less than if you held the Underlying Asset(s)
directly or a different product linked to such Underlying Asset(s)

Following a disruption event, the valuation of the Underlying Asset(s) may be postponed
and/or valued by us in our discretion

If we (as Calculation Agent) determine that a disruption event in relation to the Underlying
Asset(s) has occurred which affects the determination of the level, price, rate, net asset value or
other applicable value of the Underlying Asset(s) on any relevant day, we may postpone the
valuation and ultimately determine the level, price, rate, net asset value or other applicable value
in our discretion. Any such postponement and/or alternative valuation may have a negative
effect on the value of and return on your Securities. In the event that the valuation day of the
Underlying Asset(s) is postponed, the date on which final cash settlement or physical delivery
is made on your Securities may be postponed.

Following the occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying
Asset(s) or the Original Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities, following
the occurrence of an index adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your Securities may
be adjusted or the Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment
amount

If we (as Calculation Agent) determine that an extraordinary event (as described below in
relation to each type of Underlying Asset) has occurred in relation to the Underlying Asset(s),
or an Original Primary Rate Event has occurred in relation to the Original Primary Rate(s) or an
Index Adjustment Event has occurred in relation to an Index, or a Commaodity Index Adjustment
Event has occurred in relation to a Commodity Index, or a Disruption Event has occurred in
relation to a Commodity Reference Price, or a Potential Adjustment Event or a Crystallisation
Event has occurred in relation to a Fund, then we may adjust the terms and conditions of the
Securities (without your consent) to account for such event or we may redeem the Securities
early. Any adjustment made to the terms and conditions of the Securities may have a negative
effect on the value of and return on the Securities.

In the event of early redemption, we will pay to you the non-scheduled early repayment amount.
Unless the terms of your Securities provide that "Par plus accrued"”, "Accreted Value" (in respect
of Zero Coupon Notes) or "Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities" is applicable, the
non-scheduled early repayment amount will be an amount determined by the Calculation Agent
as the fair market value of such Securities on the second Business Day prior to the date of such
early redemption or settlement, determined by reference to such factors as the Calculation Agent
considers to be appropriate, and (if the relevant Issue Terms specify "Adjusted for Issuer
Expenses and Costs" as applicable) adjusted to account fully for our reasonable expenses and
costs including those relating to the unwinding of any underlying and/or our related hedging
arrangements (if any). The non-scheduled early repayment amount may be less than your initial
investment and you may therefore lose some or all of your investment.

If the terms of your Securities provide that "Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities"
is applicable, the non-scheduled early repayment amount will be an amount determined in
accordance with (A) or (B) below, as applicable:

(A) in the case of an early redemption due to an event which renders the continuance of the
Securities definitely impossible, the non-scheduled early repayment amount will be an
amount equal to the Fair Market Value;

(B) in all other cases and where "Fair Market Value (Plus Issuer Cost Reimbursement)" is
specified as applicable in the relevant Issue Terms, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the
Fair Market Value, plus (b) the Pro Rata Cost Reimbursement: or

(C) in all other cases and where "Holder Put or Monetisation (or Best of Amount)" is
specified as applicable in the relevant Issue Terms, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following in relation to each Security:
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(@  where the Holder has exercised its right to early redeem such Security in
accordance with the terms and conditions, an amount, payable on the early
redemption date specified in the notice from the Issuer, equal to the sum of (a) the
Fair Market Value, plus (b) the Pro Rata Issuer Cost Reimbursement; or

(b)  otherwise, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the Calculation Amount (CPP) plus
(b) the present value (if any) of the option component or embedded derivative(s)
of such Security at or around the date on which the Issuer gives notice of the early
redemption event, plus (c) the present value of the future selling commissions
payable to the Distributor (if any), plus (d) the Pro Rata Issuer Cost
Reimbursement, plus (e) accrued interest (if any) on such present value (if any)
of the option component or embedded derivative(s), such present value of the
future selling commissions payable to the Distributor (if any) and such Pro Rata
Issuer Cost Reimbursement up to, but excluding, the maturity date, and such
amount as described in this paragraph (b) will be payable on the scheduled
maturity date,

PROVIDED THAT, in the case of an early redemption due to an extraordinary event in
relation to Shares which does not render the continuance of the Securities definitely
impossible, the Issuer may determine instead to redeem all of the Securities on the early
redemption date specified in the notice from the Issuer and for an amount equal to the
sum of (a) the greater of (i) the Calculation Amount (CPP) and (ii) the Fair Market Value
and (b) the Pro Rata Issuer Cost Reimbursement.

Following any such early redemption of the Securities, you may not be able to reinvest the
proceeds from an investment at a comparable return and/or with a comparable interest rate for
a similar level of risk. You should consider such reinvestment risk in light of other available
investments when you purchase the Securities.

Risks relating to emerging markets

Where the terms of your Securities are linked to emerging market Underlying Asset(s) or
provide for payments to be made in the currency of an emerging markets jurisdiction, you may
be exposed to additional risks from those normally associated with an investment relating to the
relevant type of Underlying Asset(s). The political and economic situation in countries with
emerging economies or stock markets may be undergoing significant evolution and rapid
development, and such countries may lack the social, political and economic stability
characteristics of more developed countries, which may result in a significant risk of high
inflation and currency value fluctuation. Such instability may result from, among other things,
authoritarian governments, or military involvement in political and economic decision-making,
including changes or attempted changes in governments through extra-constitutional means;
popular unrest associated with demands for improved political, economic or social conditions;
internal insurgencies; hostile relations with neighbouring countries; and ethnic, religious and
racial disaffections or conflict. Some of these countries may have in the past failed to recognise
private property rights and have at times nationalised or expropriated the assets of private
companies. As a result, the risks from investing in those countries, including the risks of
nationalisation or restrictions being imposed on foreign purchasers, expropriation of assets,
confiscatory taxation, confiscation or nationalisation of foreign bank deposits or other assets,
the introduction of currency controls or other detrimental developments, which may financially
impair investments in such countries, may be heightened. Such impairments can, under certain
circumstances, last for long periods of time, i.e. weeks or years, and may result in the occurrence
of market disruption events which means that no prices will be quoted for the Securities affected
by such market disruption events. In addition, unanticipated political or social developments
may affect the values of an underlying asset investment in those countries. The small size and
inexperience of the securities markets in certain countries and the limited volume of trading in
securities may make the underlying assets illiquid and more volatile than investments in more
established markets. There may be little financial or accounting information available with
respect to local issuers, and it may be difficult as a result to assess the value or prospects of the
Underlying Asset(s) and consequently it may be difficult to obtain a value for the Securities.
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The regulation and reform of *‘benchmarks”, including LIBOR, EURIBOR and other
interest rate, equity, commodity, foreign exchange rate and other types of benchmarks could
have a material adverse effect on the value of, and return on, the Securities

A number of major interest rates, other rates, indices and other published values or benchmarks
are the subject of national and international regulatory reforms. These reforms may cause such
benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other
consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse
effect on the value of and return on Securities linked to any such value or benchmark.

The EU Regulation on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial
contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds (the "Benchmark Regulation™) is
a key element of ongoing regulatory reform in the EU and has applied, subject to certain
transitional provisions, since 1 January 2018. In addition to so-called "critical benchmarks" such
as LIBOR and EURIBOR, other interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and indices, including
equity, commaodity and "proprietary™ indices or strategies, will in most cases be within scope of
the Benchmark Regulation as "benchmarks" where they are used to determine the amount
payable under, or the value of, certain financial instruments (including Securities listed on an
EU regulated market or EU multilateral trading facility (MTF)), and in a number of other
circumstances.

The Benchmark Regulation applies to the contribution of input data to a benchmark, the
administration of a benchmark, and the use of a benchmark in the EU. Amongst other things,
the Benchmark Regulation requires EU benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered
as such and to comply with extensive requirements relating to benchmark administration. It also
prohibits certain uses by EU supervised entities of (a) benchmarks provided by EU
administrators which are not authorised or registered in accordance with the Benchmark
Regulation and (b) benchmarks provided by non-EU administrators where (i) the administrator's
regulatory regime has not been determined to be "equivalent" to that of the EU, (ii) the
administrator has not been recognised in accordance with the Benchmark Regulation, and (iii)
the benchmark has not been endorsed in accordance with the Benchmark Regulation.

The Benchmark Regulation could have a material impact on Securities linked to a benchmark
rate or index. For example:

o a benchmark could be prohibited from being used in the EU if (subject to applicable
transitional provisions) (a) its administrator is based in the EU and is not authorised or
registered in accordance with the Benchmark Regulation, or (b) its administrator is based
outside the EU and (i) the administrator's regulatory regime has not been determined to
be "equivalent" to that of the EU, (ii) the administrator has not been recognised in
accordance with the Benchmark Regulation, and (iii) the benchmark has not been
endorsed in accordance with the Benchmark Regulation. In such case, depending on the
particular benchmark and the applicable terms of the Securities, the Securities could be
de-listed, adjusted, redeemed prior to maturity or otherwise impacted; and

o the methodology or other terms of the benchmark could be changed in order to comply
with the terms of the Benchmark Regulation, and such changes could reduce or increase
the rate or level or affect the volatility of the published rate or level, and could lead to
adjustments to the terms of the Securities, including Calculation Agent determination of
the rate or level in its discretion.

Save where the Benchmark Transition Provisions (as described in Risk Factor 4.8 (U.K.
Regulators will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for calculation of LIBOR
after 2021; the interest rate benchmark could be discontinued) apply, if the Calculation Agent
determines that a relevant reference rate (for example, a relevant LIBOR or ICE swap rate) has
been discontinued or has otherwise ceased to exist, the Calculation Agent shall select a
replacement rate of interest to replace it. The replacement rate selected shall be the rate which
is formally designated, nominated or recommended by any relevant nominating body or the
administrator or sponsor of the relevant reference rate, provided that if the Calculation Agent
determines that: (a) there is no such replacement rate; (b) such replacement rate is not a suitable
replacement; or (c) such replacement rate will not achieve a commercially reasonable result, the
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Calculation Agent shall select a replacement rate, taking into account the rate that is recognised,
or acknowledged as being an industry standard replacement rate. The Calculation Agent may
also apply such adjustments as it determines to be appropriate. If the Calculation Agent
determines that it cannot identify a replacement rate, we will pay the non-scheduled early
repayment amount in respect of the Securities.

Any such action following the discontinuance of a reference rate could have a material adverse
effect on the value of, and return on, the Securities.

U.K. Regulators will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for calculation of
LIBOR after 2021; the interest rate benchmark could be discontinued

On 27 July 2017, and in a subsequent speech by its Chief Executive on 12 July 2018, the FCA
confirmed that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of
any LIBOR rates after 2021. The announcements indicated that the continuation of LIBOR on
the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021 and, accordingly, you should
anticipate that all LIBOR rates are likely to be discontinued by, or soon after, 31 December
2021.

It is also possible that such lack of compulsion from the FCA will result in fewer contributor
banks submitting data for the calculation of LIBOR, which may give rise to a "non-
representative” LIBOR, for a period of time, which does not accurately reflect the underlying
market that it purports to represent. Also, LIBOR could cease to be a regulated benchmark under
the Benchmark Regulation, which would mean that EU supervised entities (such as the Issuer)
could not use it for purposes of the Benchmark Regulation (as described in Risk Factor 4.7 (The
regulation and reform of "benchmarks", including LIBOR, EURIBOR and other interest rate,
equity, commadity, foreign exchange rate and other types of benchmarks could have a material
adverse effect on the value of, and return on, the Securities) above). Further, it is possible that
the FCA could compel changes to the methodology to compile a relevant LIBOR rate to be
continued and available for use for certain legacy products even though deemed "non-
representative”. It is impossible to predict whether and to what extent banks will continue to
provide LIBOR submissions to the administrator of LIBOR, whether LIBOR rates will cease to
be published or supported before or after 2021 or whether any additional reforms to LIBOR
may be enacted in the United Kingdom or elsewhere.

Relevant authorities are strongly encouraging the transition away from Interbank Offered Rates
("IBORs"), such as LIBOR and EURIBOR, and have identified "risk free rates" to eventually
take the place of such IBORs as primary benchmarks. This includes (i) for sterling LIBOR, a
reformed Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA"), so that SONIA may be established as
the primary sterling interest rate benchmark by the end of 2021, (ii) for EONIA and EURIBOR,
a new Euro Short-Term Rate (ESTER) as the new euro risk-free rate, and (iii) for USD LIBOR,
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) to be established as the primary US dollar
interest rate benchmark. The risk free rates have a different methodology and other important
differences from the IBORs they will eventually replace and have little, if any, historical track
record. Any of these developments could have a material adverse effect on the value of and
return on Securities linked to any such rates.

They also have different calculation methodologies and other important differences from the
IBORs that they are intended to replace. Market terms for Securities linked to such risk free
rates (such as SONIA or SOFR), such as the spread over the rate reflected in interest rate
provisions, may evolve over time, and trading prices of such Securities may be lower than those
of later-issued Securities as a result. Furthermore, if the relevant risk-free rate (such as SONIA
or SOFR) does not prove to be widely used in the capital markets, the trading price of Securities
linked to risk free rates may be lower than those of Securities linked to rates that are more widely
used. You may not be able to sell your Securities at all or may not be able to sell your Securities
at prices that will provide you with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a
developed secondary market, and may consequently suffer from increased pricing volatility and
market risk. See also Risk Factor 4.9 (Risks associated with SOFR) below.

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related
Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to USD LIBOR (of the applicable
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tenor), then a Benchmark Replacement will be selected by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the provisions set out in the USD LIBOR Fallbacks Schedule (the "Benchmark Transition
Provisions"). The selection of a Benchmark Replacement, and any decisions, determinations or
elections made by the Calculation Agent in connection with implementing a Benchmark
Replacement with respect to the Securities in accordance with the Benchmark Transition
Provisions, could result in adverse consequences to the interest rate, which could adversely
affect the return on, value of and market for the Securities. Further, there is no assurance that
the characteristics of any Benchmark Replacement will be similar to USD LIBOR (of the
applicable tenor), or that any Benchmark Replacement will produce the economic equivalent of
USD LIBOR (of the applicable tenor).

Risks associated with SOFR

Under the Benchmark Transition Provisions of the Securities, if a Benchmark Transition Event
and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to USD LIBOR (of the
applicable tenor), then the rate of interest on the Securities will be determined based on SOFR.

On 22 June 2017, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee ("ARRC"), convened by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York,
identified SOFR, a broad U.S. treasuries repurchase financing rate published by the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, as the rate that, in the consensus view of the ARRC, represented
best practice for use in certain new U.S. dollar derivatives and other financial contracts. SOFR
is a broad measure of the cost of borrowing cash overnight collateralized by U.S. treasury
securities and has been published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York since April 2018.
The Federal Reserve Bank of New York has also begun publishing historical indicative Secured
Overnight Financing Rates going back to 2014. Investors should not rely on any historical
changes or trends in SOFR as an indicator of future changes in SOFR.

The composition and characteristics of SOFR are not the same as those of USD LIBOR and
SOFR is fundamentally different from USD LIBOR for two key reasons. First, SOFR is a
secured rate, while USD LIBOR is an unsecured rate. Second, SOFR is an overnight rate, while
USD LIBOR is a forward-looking rate that represents interbank funding over different
maturities (e.g., three months). USB LIBOR incorporates a bank credit risk premium (and
various other premia), which are not reflected in SOFR. As a result, there can be no assurance
that SOFR (including a term SOFR or compounded SOFR) will perform in the same way as
USD LIBOR would have at any time, including, without limitation, as a result of changes in
interest and yield rates in the market, market volatility or global or regional economic, financial,
political, regulatory, judicial or other events.

Because SOFR is published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York based on data received
from other sources, we have no control over its methods of calculation, publication schedule,
rate revision practices or the availability of SOFR at any time without notice. There can be no
guarantee, particularly given its relatively recent introduction, that SOFR will not be
discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to the interests of
investors in the Securities. If the manner in which SOFR is calculated is changed, that change
may result in a reduction of the amount of interest payable on the Securities and the trading
prices of the Securities. In addition, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York may withdraw,
modify or amend published SOFR data in its sole discretion and without notice. The interest
rate for any day will not be adjusted for any modifications or amendments to SOFR data that
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York may publish after the interest rate for that day has been
determined.

Since SOFR is a relatively new reference rate, the Securities may not have an established trading
market if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have
occurred with respect to USD LIBOR (of the applicable tenor), and an established trading
market may never develop or may not be very liquid. Market terms for floating-rate debt
securities linked to SOFR, such as the spread over the base rate reflected in interest rate
provisions or the manner of compounding the base rate, may evolve over time, and trading prices
of the applicable Securities may be lower than those of later-issued SOFR-based debt securities
as a result. Similarly, if SOFR does not prove to be widely used in securities like the Securities,
the trading price of the Securities may be lower than those of Securities linked to reference rates
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that are more widely used. Investors in the Securities may not be able to sell the Securities at all
or may not be able to sell the Securities at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable
to similar investments that have a developed secondary market, and may consequently suffer
from increased pricing volatility and market risk.

Risks associated with Original Primary Rates by reference to which any Interest Amount
payable under the Securities is determined

The Interest Amount(s) payable under the Securities may be determined by reference to one or
more Original Primary Rates. An Original Primary Rate: (a) may be materially modified, (b)
may cease to be provided permanently or indefinitely, (c) may not be used in certain ways by
the Issuer or the Calculation Agent if its administrator or such Original Primary Rate does not
obtain authorisation or registration (subject to applicable transitional provisions). If any such
event mentioned in (b) or (c) above occurs, we (as Calculation Agent) shall (after the application
of any Priority Fallback(s) specified in the definition of such Original Primary Rate): (i) attempt
to identify a replacement rate, (ii) attempt to determine an adjustment spread that we determine
is required in order to reduce or eliminate any transfer of economic value from the Issuer to the
Holders (or vice versa), and (iii) make such adjustments to the terms and conditions as we
determine to be necessary or appropriate in order to account for the effect of such replacement.

If: (a) we cannot identify a replacement rate or determine an adjustment spread, or (b) we believe
that it would be unlawful or would contravene any applicable licensing requirements for the
Calculation Agent to perform the proposed actions above, or (c) we believe that the adjustment
spread is or would be a benchmark, index or other price source that would subject us to material
additional regulatory obligations, or (d) the adjustments above would not achieve a
commercially reasonable result, we may redeem the Securities early. In such event, we will pay
to you the non-scheduled early repayment amount. The non-scheduled early repayment amount
may be less than your original investment and you may lose some or all of your money.

Risks associated with particular types of Underlying Assets

The following risks are associated with Securities that reference a particular type of Underlying
Asset(s):

Risks associated with Shares as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.1 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is a Share.

(@)  Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of Shares

The performance of Shares is dependent upon macroeconomic factors, such as interest
and price levels on the capital markets, currency developments, political factors as well
as company-specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk situation,
shareholder structure and distribution policy, as well as business risks faced by the
issuers thereof. Any one or a combination of such factors could adversely affect the
performance of the Underlying Asset(s) which, in turn, would have a negative effect on
the value of and return on your Securities.

(b)  You will not be able to participate in dividends or other distributions on the Shares

The return on your Securities will not be linked to dividends or any other distributions
paid on the Shares. Accordingly, you may receive a lower return on the Securities than
you would have received had you invested directly in the Underlying Asset(s).

(c)  Actions by the issuer of a Share may negatively affect the Securities

We give no assurance that all events occurring prior to the issue date of the Securities
that would affect the trading price of the relevant Share will have been publicly disclosed.
Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose
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material future events concerning the share issuer could affect the trading price of the
Share and therefore the trading price of the Securities.

Also, you should be aware that the issuer of the Share(s) will have no involvement in the
offer and sale of the Securities and will have no obligation to you as a holder of
Securities. The issuer of the Share(s) may take any actions in respect of such Share(s)
without regard to your interests as a holder of Securities, and any of these actions could
have a negative effect on the value of and return on the Securities.

Following the occurrence of an extraordinary event in relation to the Share(s), the
terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted or the Securities may be
redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount

If a delisting, insolvency, merger event, nationalisation or tender offer (all as defined in
the terms and conditions of the Securities) occurs in relation to the underlying Share(s)
or the issuer of the relevant underlying Shares, this will be an 'Extraordinary Event'
leading to the adjustment by us (as Calculation Agent) of the terms and conditions of the
Securities (without the consent of holders) or the early redemption of the Securities. If
we redeem your Securities, the non-scheduled early repayment amount payable to you
may be less than you paid for the Securities. See risk factor 4.5 (Following the occurrence
of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying Asset(s) or the Original
Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities, following the occurrence of
an index adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted
or the Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount)
above.

The occurrence of a potential adjustment event may lead to an adjustment to the terms
of the Securities that could have a negative effect on the value of and return on your
Securities

A 'potential adjustment event' is an event which has a diluting or concentrating effect on
the theoretical value of the Underlying Asset(s). If a Potential Adjustment Event occurs,
we may elect to amend the terms and conditions of the Securities (such amendment to
be determined without your consent) to account for the diluting or concentrative effect
of the event. Any adjustment made to the terms and conditions of the Securities may
have a negative effect on the value of and return on your Securities.

Your Securities may be adjusted or redeemed prior to maturity due to a change in law.
Any such adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value of and return on the
Securities; and the amount you receive following an early redemption may be less than
your initial investment

Where, due to a change in law, we would incur a materially increased cost in performing
our obligations under the Securities, we may, in our discretion, either (i) amend the terms
and conditions of the Securities to account for such change in law or (ii) redeem the
Securities and for an amount which may be less than you paid for the Securities. See risk
factor 4.5 (Following the occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the
Underlying Asset(s) or the Original Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked
securities, following the occurrence of an index adjustment event, the terms and
conditions of your Securities may be adjusted or the Securities may be redeemed early
at the non-scheduled early repayment amount) above.

There are risks in relation to physical delivery of assets in lieu of payment of cash
settlement

Where the terms of your Securities provide that, subject to the fulfilment of a particular
condition, the Securities shall be redeemed at their maturity by delivery of Shares, as a
holder of Securities you will receive such Shares rather than a monetary amount upon
maturity. You will, therefore, be exposed to the issuer of such Shares and the risks
associated with holding such Shares.
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The value of each such Share to be delivered multiplied by the number of Shares to be
delivered (together with any residual cash amount) to you may be less than the purchase
amount paid by you for your Securities and the principal amount (if any) of the
Securities. In the worst case, the Shares to be delivered may be worthless. You should
also consider that you will be exposed to any fluctuations in the price of the Shares to be
delivered after the end of the term of the Securities until the respective actual delivery.
This means that your actual loss (or gain) and final return on the Securities can only be
determined after delivery of the Shares to you. Further, you may be subject to
documentary or stamp taxes in relation to the delivery and/or disposal of Shares.

If the Share to be delivered is a registered share, the rights associated with the Share (e.g.
participation in the general meeting, exercise of voting rights, etc.) can generally only be
exercised by shareholders who are registered in the share register or a comparable official
list of shareholders of the relevant Share Issuer. Our obligation to deliver Shares is
limited to the provision of Shares having the characteristics and in the form that allows
delivery via an exchange and does not include registration of the purchaser in the share
register or in the list of shareholders, and we accept no liability for any such failure of
(or delay in) registration.

Lastly, you should be aware that, in certain circumstances, where we are obliged to
physically deliver one or more Shares in order to redeem your Securities, we may elect
instead to redeem your Securities by way of payment of a cash amount (referred to in the
terms and conditions as the "Physical Settlement Disruption Amount"). Further, under
the relevant Guarantee, the relevant Guarantor is only obliged to discharge any obligation
to physically deliver Shares by way of a cash payment instead.

Risks associated with Depositary Receipts (comprising American Depositary Receipts
(""ADRs') and Global Depositary Receipts (*"GDRs")) as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.2 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is an ADR or GDR.

(@)

(b)

ADRs and GDRs represent underlying shares, and therefore you are exposed to the
risks of an investment linked to underlying shares

See risk factor 5.1 (Risks associated with Shares as Underlying Assets) above.
Exposure to risk of non-recognition of beneficial ownership

The legal owner of the shares underlying the ADRs or GDRs is the custodian bank which
is also the issuing agent of the depositary receipts. Depending on the jurisdiction under
which the depositary receipts have been issued, there is a risk that such jurisdiction does
not legally recognise the purchasers of the ADR or GDR as the beneficial owner of the
underlying shares. In the event the custodian becomes insolvent or that enforcement
measures are taken against the custodian it is possible that an order restricting the free
disposition of the underlying shares is issued. In this event the purchaser of an ADR or
GDR may lose its rights to the underlying shares under the ADR or GDR and the ADR
or GDR would become worthless. As a result, the value of and return on Securities linked
to the ADRs or GDRs may be negatively affected.

Risks associated with Exchange Traded Funds as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.3 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is an Exchange Traded Fund.

(@)

Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of Exchange Traded Funds

An Exchange Traded Fund may seek to track the performance of an index (in relation to
such Exchange Traded Fund, an "ETF underlying index"), or the performance of certain
assets, contracts and/or instruments which may be invested in or held by the Exchange
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Traded Fund. The performance of an Exchange Traded Fund may be dependent upon
company-specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk situation,
shareholder structure and distribution policy of the underlying companies that comprise
the ETF underlying index of such Exchange Traded Fund, or upon the value of such
assets, contracts and/or instruments invested in, held by or tracked by the Exchange
Traded Fund as well as macroeconomic factors, such as interest and price levels on the
capital markets, currency developments and political factors.

Fees charged by the investment manager of the Exchange Traded Fund may reduce the
performance of the fund as compared to the ETF underlying index. In addition, Exchange
Traded Funds occasionally experience market volatility and trading disruptions that are
inconsistent with the net asset value of the Exchange Traded Fund's assets.

Actions by the management company, trustee or sponsor of an Exchange Traded Fund
may negatively affect the Securities

We give no assurance that all events occurring prior to the issue date of the Securities
that would affect the trading price of the relevant Exchange Traded Fund will have been
publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the disclosure of or
failure to disclose material future events concerning the Exchange Traded Fund, such as
a change in investment objective, could affect the trading price of the Exchange Traded
Fund and therefore the trading price of and return on the Securities.

The management company, trustee or sponsor of an Exchange Traded Fund will have no
involvement in the offer and sale of the Securities and will have no obligation to you as
a holder of Securities and may take any actions in respect of such Exchange Traded Fund
without regard to your interests as a holder of Securities. Any of these actions could have
a negative effect on the value of and return on your Securities.

Following the occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Exchange
Traded Fund, the terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted, the
Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount or the
Exchange Traded Fund may be substituted for another

If a delisting, insolvency, merger event, nationalisation, tender offer or NAV publication
suspension (all as defined in the terms and conditions of the Securities) occurs in relation
to the Exchange Traded Fund, this will be an 'Extraordinary Event' leading to the
adjustment by us (as Calculation Agent) of the terms and conditions of the Securities
(without the consent of holders) or the early redemption of the Securities. If we redeem
your Securities, the non-scheduled early repayment amount payable to you may be less
than you paid for the Securities. See risk factor 4.5 (Following the occurrence of certain
extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying Asset(s) or the Original Primary
Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities, following the occurrence of an index
adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted or the
Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount) above.
Where the Exchange Traded Fund has been discontinued, we may instead determine to
replace the Exchange Traded Fund with a successor Exchange Traded Fund. Any of these
determinations could have a negative effect on the value of and return on the Securities.

If the ETF underlying index or the Exchange Traded Fund is materially changed, the
terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted or your Securities may be
redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount

If at any time the ETF underlying index is changed in a material respect, or if the
Exchange Traded Fund in any other way is modified so that it does not, in the opinion of
the Calculation Agent, fairly represent the net asset value of the Exchange Traded Fund
had those changes or modifications not been made, then, from and after that time, we (as
Calculation Agent) will make those calculations and adjustments as may be necessary in
order to arrive at a price of an exchange traded fund comparable to the Exchange Traded
Fund, as if those changes or modifications had not been made, and calculate the closing
prices with reference to the Exchange Traded Fund, as adjusted. Accordingly, if the
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Exchange Traded Fund is modified in a way that the price of its shares is a fraction of
what it would have been if it had not been modified (for example, due to a split or a
reverse split), then we will adjust the price in order to arrive at a price of the Exchange
Traded Fund as if it had not been modified (for example, as if the split or the reverse split
had not occurred). We (as Calculation Agent) may determine that no adjustment is
required by the modification of the method of calculation. Any of these determinations
could negatively affect the value of and return on your Securities.

The occurrence of a potential adjustment event may lead to an adjustment to the terms
of the Securities that could have a negative effect on the value of and return on your
Securities

A 'potential adjustment event' is an event which has a diluting or concentrating effect on
the theoretical value of the Underlying Asset. If a potential adjustment event occurs, we
may elect to amend the terms and conditions of the Securities (without your consent) to
account for the diluting or concentrative effect of the event. Any adjustment made to the
terms and conditions of the Securities may have a negative effect on the value of and
return on your Securities.

Your Securities may be adjusted or redeemed prior to maturity due to a change in law.
Any such adjustment may have an adverse effect on the value of and return on your
Securities; and the amount you receive following an early redemption may be less than
your initial investment

Where, due to a change in law, we would incur a materially increased cost in performing
our obligations under the Securities, we may, in our discretion, either (i) amend the terms
and conditions of the Securities to account for such change in law or (ii) redeem the
Securities. If we redeem your Securities, the non-scheduled early repayment amount
payable to you may be less than you paid for the Securities. See risk factor 4.5 (Following
the occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying Asset(s) or
the Original Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities, following the
occurrence of an index adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your Securities may
be adjusted or the Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early
repayment amount) above.

There are risks in relation to physical delivery of assets in lieu of payment of cash
settlement

Where the terms of your Securities provide that, subject to the fulfilment of a particular
condition, the Securities shall be redeemed at their maturity by delivery of Shares, as a
holder of Securities you will receive such Shares rather than a monetary amount upon
maturity. You will, therefore, be exposed to the risks associated with holding the Shares.

The value of each such Share to be delivered multiplied by the number of Shares to be
delivered (together with any residual cash amount) to you may be less than the purchase
amount paid by you for such Securities and the principal amount (if any) of the relevant
Securities. In the worst case, the Shares to be delivered may be worthless. You should
also consider that you will be exposed to any fluctuations in the price of the Shares to be
delivered after the end of the term of the Securities until the respective actual delivery.
This means that your actual loss (or gain) and final return on the Securities can only be
determined after delivery of the Shares to you. Further, you may be subject to
documentary or stamp taxes in relation to the delivery and/or disposal of Shares.

If the Share to be delivered is a registered share, the rights associated with the Share (e.g.
participation in the general meeting, exercise of voting rights, etc.) can generally only be
exercised by shareholders who are registered in the share register or a comparable official
list of shareholders of the relevant Share Issuer. Our obligation to deliver Shares is
limited to the provision of Shares having the characteristics and in the form that allows
delivery via an exchange and does not include registration of the purchaser in the share
register or in the list of shareholders, and we accept no liability for any such failure of
(or delay in) registration.
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Lastly, you should be aware that, in certain circumstances, where we are obliged to
physically deliver one or more Shares in order to redeem your Securities, we may elect
instead to redeem your Securities by way of payment of a cash amount (referred to in the
terms and conditions as the 'Physical Settlement Disruption Amount’). Further, under the
relevant Guarantee, the relevant Guarantor is only obliged to discharge any obligation to
physically deliver Shares by way of a cash payment instead.

Risks associated with Indices as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.4 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is an equity Index.

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of equity Indices

Equity indices are comprised of a synthetic portfolio of shares, and as such, the
performance of an Index is dependent upon the macroeconomic factors relating to the
shares that underlie such Index, such as interest and price levels on the capital markets,
currency developments, political factors as well as company-specific factors such as
earnings position, market position, risk situation, shareholder structure and distribution
policy, as well as the index composition, which may change over time.

Actions by the index sponsor may negatively affect the Securities

The sponsor of the Index(s) will have no involvement in the offer and sale of the
Securities and will have no obligation to you as a holder of Securities. For example, the
sponsor can add, delete or substitute the components of an index at its discretion, and
may also alter the methodology used to calculate the level of the Index. The sponsor may
also alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of the Index. Any of these
actions may have a detrimental impact on the level of the Index, which in turn could have
a negative impact on the value of and return on your Securities.

You may receive a lower return on Securities linked to equity Indices than if you held
the underlying shares directly

The value of and return on Securities that depend on the performance of one or more
equity Indices may be less than the value of and return on a direct holding of the shares
of the companies comprising the components of the Index. This is because the closing
index level on any specified valuation date may reflect the prices of such index
components without taking into account any dividend payments on those component
shares. Accordingly, you may receive a lower return on Securities linked to one or more
equity Indices than you would have received had you invested directly in those shares.

The occurrence of an index adjustment event or the replacement of the index sponsor
by a successor index sponsor may have a negative effect on your Securities

If the sponsor of an Index makes a material alteration to the Index or cancels the Index
and no successor exists, or if the sponsor fails to calculate and announce the Index, or if
the Index or its administrator does not obtain authorisation or registration with the effect
that the Index may not be used in certain ways by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent,
we (as Calculation Agent) shall, (i) (if "Calculation Agent Adjustment" is specified as
applicable in the relevant Issue Terms) if we determine the event to have a material effect
on the Securities, calculate the level of the Index according to the previous formula and
method, (ii) (if "Index Substitution" is specified as applicable in the relevant Issue
Terms) replace the Index with another index (or basket of indices) or (iii) (if "Related
Exchange Adjustment” is specified as applicable in the relevant Issue Terms) adjust the
terms and conditions of the Securities (without your consent). Any such action may have
a negative effect on the value and return on the Securities.

If we believe that (i) it would be unlawful or would contravene any applicable licensing
requirements for the Calculation Agent to perform the proposed action above or (ii) the
proposed action above would not achieve a commercially reasonable result, we may
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redeem the Securities early. In such event, we will pay to you the non-scheduled early
repayment amount. The non-scheduled early repayment amount may be less than your
original investment and you may lose some or all of your money. See also risk factor 4.5
(Following the occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying
Asset(s) or the Original Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities,
following the occurrence of an index adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your
Securities may be adjusted or the Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled
early repayment amount).

If an index is calculated by a successor index sponsor, or, is replaced by a successor
index, the successor index or index as calculated by the successor index sponsor, will be
deemed to be the index if approved by us (as Calculation Agent). Any such successor
index may perform poorly and may result in holders of Securities receiving less than they
otherwise expected.

Any of these events may have a negative effect on the value of and return on your
Securities.

There are additional risks in relation to Securities linked to exchange traded futures
and options contracts on underlying indices

If your Securities depend on the performance of exchange traded futures and options
contracts on one or more underlying Indices (collectively, "index-linked derivatives
contracts"), then you are exposed to the performance of the index-linked derivatives
contracts which, in turn, will be driven by the level of the underlying Index.

There will be a correlation between the level of an Index and the price at which an index-
linked derivatives contract trades on the relevant futures or options exchange, and you
will therefore be exposed to the performance of the Index. However, you should also be
aware that the expectations of dealers in index-linked derivatives contracts of the level
of the Index on the date(s) on which the settlement amount of an index-linked derivatives
contract is determined may also have an impact on the price of an index-linked
derivatives contract on the Index. For example, if the expectation of dealers in options
contracts is that the level of the Index will be lower on a future date when the settlement
amount of the options contract is to be determined than the current level of the Index,
this may result in the price of the options contract falling (in the case of a call option) or
rising (in the case of a put option) even where the current level of the Index is rising.
Moreover, because the settlement amount of many options contracts is a multiple of the
difference between the level of the Index on a future date and the strike, a relatively small
change in the level of an Index may result in a proportionately much larger change in the
price of the options contract.

If the expectation of dealers in futures contracts is that the settlement price of the Index
on the date(s) on which the settlement amount of the futures contract is determined will
be lower than the forward price of the Index specified in the contract, this may result in
the price of the futures contract falling (in the case of buyers of the futures contract) or
rising (in the case of sellers of the futures contract) even where the current level of the
Index is rising. Moreover, because the settlement amount of many futures contracts is a
multiple of the difference between the settlement price and the forward price, a relatively
small change in the level of an Index may result in a proportionately much larger change
in the price of the futures contract.
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Risks associated with Proprietary Indices as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.5 is relevant to you if the Underlying
Asset(s) (or if one of the Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are linked is a Proprietary

Index.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all capitalised terms which are not defined in this Base
Prospectus will have the meanings given to them in the rules of the Relevant Index or the Money
Market Index (as applicable).

(@)
(i)

(i)

(iii)

Risks relating to Proprietary Indices generally
We are the sponsor of each Proprietary Index and each Underlying Strategy (if any)

We are the sponsor of each Proprietary Index and each Underlying Strategy (if any) (each
a "Relevant Index"). Each Relevant Index has been developed, owned, calculated and
maintained by us (including one of our affiliates), and we have responsibility for the
composition, calculation and maintenance of such Relevant Index. As index sponsor, we
may also amend the rules of the Relevant Index from time to time, or discontinue it, in
our discretion. In our capacity as index sponsor, we are under no obligation to take into
account your interests as a holder of Securities that references a Proprietary Index. Any
such determinations made by us as index sponsor in relation to each Relevant Index may
have a negative impact on the value of and return on your Securities.

No assurance can be given that the methodology underlying each Relevant Index will
be successful in producing positive returns or that such Relevant Index will
outperform any other alternative investment strategy

None of the Strategy Sponsor, the Hedging Party, the Strategy Calculation Agent or the
Index Calculation Agent or any of their respective affiliates make any express or implied
representation that a Relevant Index will achieve a positive performance, or a higher
performance than any other index or strategy, whether managed or not managed.

The value of a Relevant Index depends on the performance of the Strategy
Component(s), each of which may increase or decrease in value. Neither a Relevant
Index nor any of the Strategy Component(s) includes any element of capital protection
or guaranteed return. The value of any Strategy Component or a Relevant Index itself,
may fall to zero.

If a floor is specified to be applicable in respect of a Relevant Index and the value of
such Relevant Index falls to zero, then the value of such Relevant Index will remain at
zero and there will be no chance of the value recovering. If no floor is specified to be
applicable in respect of a Relevant Index, then the value of such Relevant Index may fall
below zero and have a negative value. In each case, this may result in any investment in
Securities linked solely to the relevant Proprietary Index losing all of its value, in which
case there will be no chance of such investment thereafter recovering.

Furthermore, it should be noted that the results that may be obtained from investing in
any Securities linked to a Proprietary Index may be significantly different from the
results that could theoretically be obtained from a direct investment in the Strategy
Component(s) or any related derivatives.

Changes in market structure and/or increased investment in similar products may
negatively affect the value of a Relevant Index

As a result of changes in market structure and/or due to increased investment in products
using the same or similar investment rationale to that of a Relevant Index or a Strategy
Component, the underlying market or economic characteristics that such Relevant Index
or such Strategy Component attempts to capture, measure or replicate may change, cease
to exist, and/or lead to negative expected returns over any time period. This may have a
negative impact on the value of a Relevant Index and the value of an investment in
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(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Securities linked to a Proprietary Index. The terms of such Securities and Relevant Index
will not be adjusted to take account of any such changes.

A Relevant Index is not actively managed

The weight or quantity assigned to a Strategy Component on each relevant rebalancing
day may be fixed or may be determined by applying an algorithm operating within pre-
determined rules. There will be no active management of a Relevant Index so as to
enhance returns beyond those embedded in a Relevant Index.

Market participants are often able to adjust their investments promptly in view of market,
political, financial or other factors, and an actively managed product could potentially
respond more directly and appropriately to immediate market, political, financial or other
factors than a non-actively managed strategy. In contrast, the algorithm for a Relevant
Index will rebalance the weights or quantities to their specified values on each relevant
rebalancing day.

The actual weights or quantities of Strategy Component(s) may vary following each
rebalancing

The actual weight or quantity of each of the Strategy Component(s) may be different
than the assigned weights or quantities, and therefore the relative contribution of each
Strategy Component to the relevant Strategy Value may vary from time to time,
depending on the performance of each of the Strategy Components relative to the other
Strategy Components since such immediately preceding rebalancing. The longer the
period between each rebalancing, the greater the likelihood that there will be a significant
variance between the absolute values of the weights or quantities of the Strategy
Components and the Relevant Index may therefore have an exposure to a Strategy
Component further below or in greater excess of its assigned weight than it would if the
period were shorter, which may result in a greater skewing of the absolute nature of the
investment positions with respect to the Strategy Components and increase the overall
risk profile of the Relevant Index.

Historical levels of a Relevant Index may not be indicative of future performance

Past performance of a Relevant Index is no guide to future performance. It is impossible
to predict whether the value of a Relevant Index will rise or fall. The actual performance
of a Relevant Index in the future may bear little relation to the historical performance of
a Relevant Index.

An investor in Securities linked to a Proprietary Index will have no rights in respect
of any Strategy Component(s)

The investment exposure provided by a Relevant Index is synthetic. Investment in
Securities linked to a Proprietary Index will therefore not make an investor a holder of,
or give an investor a direct investment position in, any Strategy Component (or any
components thereof). The return on your Securities may be less than if you held a direct
position in a Relevant Index or any Strategy Component (or any components thereof), or
a different product linked thereto.

A Relevant Index may have a limited operating history and may perform in
unanticipated ways

Each Relevant Index is a relatively new strategy. As limited historical performance data
may exist with respect to a Relevant Index and/or the Strategy Component(s) referenced
by such Relevant Index, any investment in respect of which returns are linked to the
performance of a Relevant Index or its Strategy Component(s) may involve greater risk
than an investment linked to returns generated by an investment strategy with a proven
track record. While a longer history of actual performance could provide more reliable
information on which to base an investment decision, the fact that a Relevant Index and
the relevant Strategy Component(s) are relatively new would not allow this. There can
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(ix)

)

(xi)

(xii)

be no guarantee or assurance that a Relevant Index or its Strategy Component(s) will
operate in a manner consistent with the data available.

A Relevant Index may be subject to a Disruption Event

If a Disruption Event occurs or is continuing in respect of a Relevant Index, the index
sponsor, Strategy Calculation Agent or Index Calculation Agent, as the case may be, may
make certain adjustments in respect of such Relevant Index which may include
adjustments to the methodology and relevant data sources in order to calculate the
Strategy Value, a postponement of any relevant rebalancing, or the suspension of the
publication of the Strategy Value. If the index sponsor, Strategy Calculation Agent or
Index Calculation Agent (as applicable) makes any adjustments to the methodology and
relevant data sources or postpones any relevant rebalancing, it is likely that the Strategy
Value will be different from what it would have been if such event had not occurred, and
it may vary unpredictably and could be lower.

Changes in the Strategy Components may affect the Strategy Value

Where a Strategy Component ceases to exist or is no longer tradable, including as a result
of a Goldman Sachs Group member discontinuing a Strategy Component of which it is
a sponsor, or where the index sponsor would be prevented from entering into transactions
in respect of a Strategy Component (including one for which a Goldman Sachs Group
member is the sponsor) by any applicable law or regulation, the index sponsor may (but
is not obliged to) substitute another Strategy Component for the original one where it
considers in its sole discretion that a similar alternative is available. Any such
substitution could alter the exposure provided by a Relevant Index and materially affect
the performance and value of such Relevant Index.

The index sponsor's hedging activity may affect the level of a Relevant Index

By executing products linked to a Relevant Index ("Linked Products"), GSI and/or its
affiliates ("GS") will have an exposure to such Relevant Index and its Strategy
Component(s). GS will take risk positions to hedge this exposure in its sole discretion
and in a principal capacity. Investors in any Linked Product will not have any rights in
respect of any GS hedge positions, including any shares, futures, options, commodities
or currencies. GS may execute its hedging activity by trading in the Strategy
Component(s) of a Relevant Index on or before the related rebalancing day. Such trading
may have an adverse impact on the level at which a Strategy Component is rebalanced
which will result in an adverse impact on the performance of such Relevant Index. GS's
hedging activity, and hence the size of such impact, will be linked to the amount of new
and outstanding Linked Products at the relevant time and then-prevailing market
conditions and may affect the market price of or liquidity in the relevant market of a
Relevant Index. Additionally, GS may generate revenues if it executes its hedging
activity at different levels from those used to determine the value of a Relevant Index or
on a rebalancing of such Relevant Index. Such hedging activity could generate
significant returns to GS that will not be passed on to investors in Linked Products.

A Relevant Index and its components are calculated and rebalanced according to the
methodology for such Relevant Index, which may include assumptions as to transaction
or servicing costs and rates of dividend withholding tax. GS will generate revenues in
relation to a Relevant Index if the costs or tax rates that GS incurs through its hedging
activities are less than the assumed costs or tax rates used in the methodology for a
Relevant Index.

As index sponsor and/or calculation agent of a Relevant Index, GSI has the authority
to make determinations that could materially affect such Relevant Index and create
conflicts of interest

As the index sponsor and/or calculation agent of a Relevant Index, GSI does not
generally exercise any discretion in relation to the operation of such Relevant Index. GSI
owes no fiduciary duties in respect of each Relevant Index. GSI may, however, exercise
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(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

(xvi)

discretion in certain limited situations including, but not limited to, those situations
described in the relevant Index Rules.

Determinations made by GSI as the index sponsor and/or calculation agent of a Relevant
Index could adversely affect the Strategy Value of such Relevant Index and the exercise
by Goldman Sachs of its discretion could present it with a conflict of interest. In making
those determinations, the index sponsor and/or calculation agent will not be required to,
and will not, take the interests of any investor in Securities linked to the relevant
Proprietary Index into account or consider the effect its determinations will have on the
value of such Securities. All determinations made by index sponsor and/or calculation
agent shall be at its sole discretion and shall be conclusive for all purposes and will bind
all holders of any Securities linked to the Proprietary Index. The index sponsor and/or
calculation agent shall not have any liability for such determinations.

Trading and other transactions by the Goldman Sachs Group could materially affect
the value of Securities linked to a Proprietary Index

The Goldman Sachs Group is a full service financial services firm engaged in a range of
market activities. Goldman Sachs Group may issue, arrange for the issue of, or enter into
financial instruments referenced to, a Relevant Index or any of the Strategy
Component(s) of such Relevant Index and arrange for the distribution of these financial
instruments, including the payment of distribution fees and commissions to any
intermediaries. These activities could adversely affect the Strategy Value of a Relevant
Index, and any of its Strategy Component(s), and may present the Goldman Sachs Group
with a conflict of interest.

Information provided by the Goldman Sachs Group about the value of any Strategy
Component may not be indicative of future performance

Any information about the performance of any Strategy Component provided by the
Goldman Sachs Group will be or has been furnished as a matter of information only, and
an investor in Securities linked to a Proprietary Index should not regard the information
as indicative of the range of, or trends in, fluctuations in the levels or values that may
occur in the future. Such information will likely differ from the actual values and levels
used under the relevant index methodology.

Information about a Proprietary Index may only be available through the Goldman
Sachs Group

The Goldman Sachs Group may not provide holders of Securities linked to a Proprietary
Index with further information in relation to such Proprietary Index or any Relevant
Index beyond what is provided in the relevant Index Rules, and further information may
not be generally available. The Goldman Sachs Group has entered into non-exclusive
licensing agreements with certain of its third party data suppliers in order to source the
necessary data to calculate each Relevant Index. The formalities necessary to obtain
access to such figures may deter potential investors from buying Securities linked to a
Proprietary Index on the secondary market.

The index sponsor and any calculation agent may rely upon third party and other
external and internal data sources which may be inaccessible and/or inaccurate, and
the inputs used by the index sponsor and any calculation agent may affect the value
of a Relevant Index

The index sponsor and the Strategy Calculation Agent or Index Calculation Agent, as the
case may be, may rely upon third party brokers or external dealers and other external and
internal sources to obtain certain inputs necessary to compute the value of a Relevant
Index and/or to determine the weights of the Strategy Components, which may be
inaccessible and/or inaccurate and the inputs used by them to compute the value of a
Relevant Index may affect the value of such Relevant Index.
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The inability of the index sponsor or the Strategy Calculation Agent or Index Calculation
Agent, as the case may be, to source necessary data to calculate the relevant formulae of
a Relevant Index may affect the value of such Relevant Index. In addition, the index
sponsor and the Strategy Calculation Agent or Index Calculation Agent, as the case may
be, make no warranty as to the correctness or completeness of that information and take
no responsibility for the accuracy of such data or the impact of any inaccuracy of such
data on the value of a Relevant Index and investors should carefully read and understand
the information about the relevant Strategy Components.

Securities linked to a Proprietary Index may be exposed to more or less risk, or perform
better or worse, based upon the inputs received from the above sources, than an actual
investment in or linked to one or more of the Strategy Components.

The changes in the policies of the index sponsor or a cancellation, discontinuation or
suspension of a Relevant Index could affect the value of such Relevant Index

The policies of the index sponsor concerning the calculation of a Relevant Index could
affect the value of such Relevant Index and/or the Proprietary Index and, therefore, the
amount payable on Securities linked to such Proprietary Index on the stated maturity date
of such Securities (or on any other payment date) and the market value of such Securities
before that date.

The amount payable on any Securities linked to a Proprietary Index and their market
value could also be affected if the index sponsor changes these policies, for example, by
changing the manner in which it calculates such Proprietary Index or a Relevant Index,
or if the index sponsor cancels, discontinues or suspends calculation or publication of
such Proprietary Index or a Relevant Index, in which case it may become difficult to
determine the market value of such Securities.

If such policies change, or the calculation or publication of a Proprietary Index or a
Relevant Index is cancelled, discontinued or suspended, the Calculation Agent of the
Securities (which may be GSI) may have discretion in determining the level of such
Proprietary Index or Relevant Index on the relevant determination date, or the Securities
may be redeemed early by payment of the non-scheduled early repayment amount. Any
such determination or early redemption may have an adverse effect on the value of and
return on the Securities, and you may lose some or all of your investment in the
Securities.

A Relevant Index may be calculated without reference to corrected data

In the event that the value of any component which is used for the calculation of the
weight or quantity (as applicable) of any Strategy Component in relation to a Relevant
Index is corrected after such time as it is used in such Relevant Index, the Strategy
Calculation Agent or the Index Calculation Agent, as the case may be, may not use such
corrected value and may instead use the weight or quantity (as applicable) as calculated
before such correction. As a result the performance of a Relevant Index may differ from
the performance had such corrected values been used, and possibly materially so.

A Relevant Index may be changed or become unavailable

The index sponsor shall have the right to alter the methodology used to calculate a
Relevant Index or to discontinue publication of the value of a Relevant Index and such
event may result in a decrease in the value of or return on any Securities linked to a
Proprietary Index. The index sponsor reserves the right to form a Strategy Committee or
Index Committee, as the case may be, for the purposes of considering certain changes.
Any changes may be made without regard to the interests of a holder of Securities linked
to a Proprietary Index.

Furthermore, the decisions and policies of the index sponsor concerning the calculation

of the value of a Relevant Index could affect its value and, therefore, the amount payable
over the term of Securities linked to a Proprietary Index and the market value of such
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(b)
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(i)

(iii)
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Securities. The amount payable on Securities linked to a Proprietary Index and their
market value could also be affected if the index sponsor changes these policies.

Risks associated with certain types of Proprietary Indices

The reference level of Underlying Funds or Component Stocks included in a
Proprietary Index may be adjusted to take account of potential adjustment events

Following the determination by the index sponsor that an event has occurred that would
have a diluting or concentrative effect in respect of an Underlying Fund or Component
Stock, as the case may be, or following any adjustment to the settlement terms of listed
options or futures contracts on such Underlying Fund or Component Stock, as the case
may be, traded on an options or futures exchange, the index sponsor may make an
adjustment to account for such effect. The index sponsor may, but need not, determine
the appropriate adjustment by reference (amongst other things) to the adjustment in
respect of such event made by the other equity market dealers and/or exchanges
(including but not limited to the reference exchange for such Underlying Fund or
Component Stock, as the case may be, and options and futures exchanges related to such
Underlying Fund or Component Stock, as the case may be) or quoting services. Such
adjustment may have an adverse effect on the performance of the relevant Proprietary
Index.

A Relevant Index may provide short exposure to one or more of the Strategy
Components

A Relevant Index may specify that the weight of a Strategy Component may be less than
zero, i.e. a short position in such Strategy Component. A short position in a Strategy
Component means that a Relevant Index will have negative exposure to such Strategy
Component and the Strategy Value of such Relevant Index will be negatively affected if
the value of such Strategy Component should increase and positively affected if the value
of such Strategy Component should decrease. Therefore, investors should be aware that
an investment in Securities linked to a Proprietary Index may decline in value in a period,
even if the value of such Strategy Component increases during that timeframe. Further,
given that short positions may create exposure to uncapped losses, increases in the value
of such Strategy Component could result in a decrease in the Strategy Value that is
greater than the weight in respect of such Strategy Component, and may result in the
Strategy Value falling to zero.

Correlation of performances among the Strategy Components may reduce the
performance of a Relevant Index

Performances of the Strategy Components of a Relevant Index may become highly
correlated from time to time, including, but not limited to, periods in which there is a
substantial decline in a particular sector or asset type represented by the Strategy
Components. High correlation during periods of negative returns among the Strategy
Components may have an adverse effect on the level of a Relevant Index.

Information about a Relevant Index is no guarantee of the performance of such
Relevant Index

Certain presentations and historical analysis ("Back-testing") or other statistical analysis
materials in respect of the operation and/or potential returns of a Relevant Index which
may be provided are based on a number of assumptions, historical estimates, simulated
analyses and hypothetical circumstances to estimate how such Relevant Index may have
performed prior to its actual existence. The index sponsor may use historical data that is
available to calculate the hypothetical level of a Relevant Index prior to its inception. If
the index sponsor determines that such historical data is not available or is incomplete,
the index sponsor may use alternate sources of data in place of such historical data as
well as make certain modifications to the strategy methodology as it deems necessary to
calculate the hypothetical level of a Relevant Index prior to its inception. The index
sponsor provides no assurance or guarantee that a Relevant Index will operate or would
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have operated in the past in a manner consistent with those materials. As such, any
historical returns projected in such materials or any hypothetical simulations based on
these analyses, which are provided in relation to a Relevant Index may not reflect the
performance of, and are no guarantee or assurance in respect of the performance or
returns of, a Relevant Index over any time period. Furthermore, any Back-testing of a
Relevant Index is based on information and data provided to the index sponsor by third
parties. The index sponsor will not have independently verified or guaranteed the
accuracy and/or the completeness of such information or data provided and is not
responsible for any inaccuracy, omission, mistake or error in such information, data
and/or Back-testing.

Some index parameters may be partially based on simulated data

Some parameters of a Relevant Index may have been determined by reference to
simulated time series data which start before the Strategy Inception Date or Index
Inception Date, as the case may be, for such Relevant Index. Such simulated data are
based on various assumptions, do not reflect actual trading and are subject to various
market data limitations. As a result, the performance of the simulated time series data
may differ from the actual historical performance of a Relevant Index and this difference
may be material. The future performance of a Relevant Index will depend, among other
things, on the choice of the parameters as described in the relevant Index Rules. As such,
the performance of such Relevant Index could be materially different if the relevant
parameters were determined based on the actual performance of such Relevant Index
rather than based on simulated time series data.

Specific risks associated with the Goldman Sachs Global Diversified Funds Volatility
Target Strategy

The Goldman Sachs Global Diversified Funds Volatility Target Strategy (for the
purposes of the risk factors set out under this sub-category and risk factor 7.11, the
"Strategy') provides a volatility targeted exposure to the performance of the Goldman
Sachs Global Diversified Funds Basket Excess Return (the "Underlying Strategy™) and
together with the Strategy. The Underlying Strategy intends to provide a synthetic
exposure to the performance of a dynamically weighted basket of funds (each an
"Underlying Fund"), which shall be adjusted by reference to the EUR Goldman Sachs
Overnight Money Market Index (the "Money Market Index") to change the type of return
of each Underlying Fund from a "total return™ to an "excess return" basis. For the
purposes of the Goldman Sachs Global Diversified Funds Volatility Target Strategy, a
"Strategy Component” shall mean, in respect of (i) the Strategy, the Underlying Strategy
and (ii) the Underlying Strategy, each Underlying Fund and the Money Market Index.

The weights of the Strategy Components may total more or less than 100 per cent.

The Strategy's absolute overall exposure to its Strategy Component may be less than 100
per cent. The Underlying Strategy's absolute overall exposure to the Strategy
Components may be greater or less than 100 per cent.

If the sum of the absolute weights of the Strategy Components is greater than 100 per
cent. the Underlying Strategy will employ leverage. In the current instance, leverage
means that the Underlying Strategy will have increased exposure to changes, which may
be positive or negative, in the levels of the Strategy Components, magnifying the
volatility and risk the performance of the Underlying Strategy will be adversely affected
should the level of long Strategy Components decrease and/or the value of short Strategy
Components increase.

If the sum of the absolute weights of the Strategy Component(s) is less than 100 per cent.
the Relevant Index will have a reduced participation to the Strategy Component(s) and
may underperform as compared to a strategy where the exposure was greater.

Excess Return Strategies will nearly always underperform Total Return Strategies
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Each Relevant Index is calculated on an excess return basis. Unlike a total return strategy,
a strategy which is calculated on an excess return basis does not include the accrual of
any amount in relation to a notional interest rate. Thus, the performance of an excess
return strategy will nearly always be less than the performance of the equivalent total
return strategy.

An investment in Securities linked to the Strategy may be subject to dilution, which
may limit the gains in such investment

A Relevant Index may be subject to dilution, such that investors in Securities linked to
the Strategy may not benefit fully from increases or decreases (depending on whether
the exposure is long or short) in the value of a Strategy Component. In particular, the
Strategy may be subject to dilution if the Reference Volatility exceeds the Volatility
Target, such that investors in Securities linked to the Strategy may not benefit fully from
increases in the value of the Underlying Asset. Dilution means that the return or loss on
an investment is subject to a multiplier decreasing exposure to such investment and
reducing the volatility and risk of loss should the value of such investment decline, but
reducing the potential gain should the value of such investment increase. Investors
should be aware that if the value of a Strategy Component increases or decreases, an
investment in Securities linked to the Strategy may not have the same magnitude of
increased or decreased value as the Strategy Component.

The Strategy provides a volatility controlled exposure to the Underlying Strategy and
may underperform a strategy that provides a greater exposure to the Underlying
Strategy

The Strategy has a volatility adjustment feature which aims to provide a notional
volatility controlled exposure to the Underlying Strategy. This is achieved by
periodically increasing or decreasing the exposure of the Strategy to the Underlying
Strategy, based on the historical realised volatility of the Underlying Strategy relative to
aspecified Volatility Target level. An increase in the realised volatility of the Underlying
Strategy may decrease the exposure of the Strategy to the Underlying Strategy and vice
versa. The future realised volatility of the Underlying Strategy may differ from the
historical realised volatility of the Underlying Strategy and as such, the Asset Weight
and the performance of the Strategy may be different if it was calculated based on the
future realised volatility rather than the historical realised volatility.

As a result of the volatility adjustment feature, the Strategy 's absolute overall exposure
to the Underlying Strategy may be less than 100 per cent. If the weight of the Underlying
Strategy is less than 100 per cent., the Strategy will have a reduced participation to the
Underlying Strategy and may underperform as compared to a Strategy where the
exposure was greater.

Strategy Inception Date

A Relevant Index will only have been calculated since the "Strategy Inception Date",
being a date determined by the Strategy Sponsor as the date on which the value of the
strategy would have been equal to the "Strategy Initial VValue" (as specified in the rules
of such Relevant Index) based on Back-testing (using simulated analyses and
hypothetical circumstances, as described in more detail above). As such, any historical
returns or any hypothetical simulations based on such back-tested data or analyses with
respect to the period from the Strategy Inception Date to the date on which investment
products linked to a Relevant Index are first implemented (which may be materially later
than the Strategy Inception Date of such Relevant Index), may not reflect the
performance of, and are no guarantee or assurance in respect of the performance or
returns of, such Relevant Index over any time period.

The value of each Relevant Index is reduced by the deduction of certain costs included
in the calculation of the value of such Relevant Index and this will negatively impact
the return on an investment in Securities linked to the Strategy
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A strategy deduction rate of one per cent. per annum will be deducted from the Strategy
Value on a daily basis. Such deduction has the effect of reducing the performance of the
Strategy and consequently the return on an investment in Securities linked to the
Strategy.

The value of the Underlying Strategy is reduced by the deduction of basket rebalancing
costs and asset servicing costs. Such deduction has the effect of reducing the performance
of the Underlying Strategy and indirectly the performance of the Strategy and
consequently the return on an investment in Securities linked to the Strategy. The basket
rebalancing costs reflect the synthetic costs of entering into and/or unwinding any
transactions relating to the Underlying Funds following changes to their Asset
Quantities. The asset servicing costs reflect the synthetic costs of maintaining positions
in, and replicating the performance of, such Underlying Funds.

The Relevant Index costs (and the component amounts thereof) which are embedded and
reflected in the calculation of a Relevant Index will be calculated by reference to pre-
determined rates and will not necessarily reflect the actual or realised servicing costs and
transaction costs that would be incurred by an investor in the relevant Strategy
Component(s) or their underlying constituents, which could be larger or smaller from
time to time. The Strategy Sponsor (or its affiliates) may benefit if the Relevant Index
costs (and the component amounts thereof) embedded in a Relevant Index exceed the
actual servicing costs and/or transaction costs that are incurred by the Strategy Sponsor
(or its affiliates) in hedging transactions that may be entered into in respect of such
Relevant Index, each Strategy Component and/ or any underlying component thereof.

Additionally, the Strategy Sponsor and/or its affiliates may receive payments by way of
fee rebates from the manager, the investment advisor and/or an affiliate of the relevant
Underlying Fund linked to the size of its holding.

Under certain market conditions, the Strategy Sponsor could significantly increase the
costs that are deducted from a Relevant Index

Under certain market conditions, the Strategy Sponsor of a Relevant Index may
determine to increase significantly the costs that are deducted from such Relevant Index,
and there may be no fixed limits on the levels of these costs. Although this determination
is constrained by the procedure described in the relevant Index Rules, it is possible that
the increased cost may be significantly greater than the levels originally assigned to them.
Further, although a period of such market conditions may last only a short time, the
increased cost could be deducted from a Relevant Index for an extended period of time.
This could materially adversely affect the performance and value of a Relevant Index
and an investment in Securities linked to the Strategy.

As sponsors of Strategy Components, Goldman Sachs Group members have the
authority to make determinations that could materially affect a Relevant Index and
create conflicts of interest

Goldman Sachs Group members may be the sponsors of Strategy Component(s) of a
Relevant Index. In that capacity, each of them has the power to make determinations that
could materially affect the value of these Strategy Component(s) and, in turn, the
Strategy Value of such Relevant Index, and the exercise by such members of their
discretion in their capacity as sponsors of such Strategy Components could present them
with a conflict of interest.

Sponsors of Strategy Components have authority to make determinations that could
materially affect a Relevant Index

Determinations that the sponsors of the Strategy Component(s) of a Relevant Index,
including Goldman Sachs Group members, may make in connection with the
composition, calculation and maintenance of the Strategy Component(s) may materially
affect the value of the Strategy Component(s) and could, in turn, adversely affect the
Strategy Value of such Relevant Index. Those sponsors have no obligation to take the
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interests of the Strategy Sponsor or the holders of Securities linked to the Strategy into
consideration for any reason in carrying out their functions and have generally
disclaimed all liability to the extent permitted by law.

In addition, the sponsors of the Strategy Component(s) have licensed, and may continue
to license, such Strategy Component(s) for use by other market participants, for
publication in newspapers and periodicals, for distribution by information and data
dissemination services and for various other purposes, any of which may contribute to
an increased or decreased level of investment in such Strategy Component(s), which
could adversely affect the Strategy Value of a Relevant Index.

Goldman Sachs owns a non-controlling interest in the Strategy Calculation Agent

As Strategy Calculation Agent for both the Strategy and the Underlying Strategy,
Solactive AG, is responsible for setting and reviewing the rules and procedures and the
methods of calculation and adjustments, if any, related to the Strategy and the Underlying
Strategy, and calculates the value of the Strategy and the Underlying Strategy in
accordance with the relevant index methodology and/or implements such methodology
determined by the relevant strategy committee (if any). The Strategy Sponsor of each
Relevant Index has discretion with respect to determining index market disruption
events, force majeure events, exchange disruptions (if applicable), index adjustment
events, and other events which may affect the value, composition or existence of such
Relevant Index. The exercise of this discretion by the Strategy Sponsor of the Relevant
Index could adversely affect the value of your Securities. GSG owns a noncontrolling
interest in Solactive AG.

Additional risks associated with the Underlying Strategy and the Underlying Funds
(A)  Excess return over EUR overnight interest rate

The value of the Underlying Strategy takes into account the daily excess return of
the Underlying Funds over the EUR overnight interest rate with daily resets. As
a result, the value of the Underlying Strategy is reduced by the return that could
be earned on a synthetic cash deposit at the EUR overnight interest rate. The
Underlying Strategy is therefore likely to underperform an otherwise similar total
return strategy.

(B)  The Underlying Strategy provides a notional exposure to the Underlying Funds

The Underlying Strategy provides a notional exposure to a basket of shares issued
by each Underlying Fund. Investors in Securities linked to the Strategy should
read and understand the relevant Fund Prospectuses and any other documents
provided by each Underlying Fund or the Fund Service Provider (or any successor
thereto) which may be necessary for any investment decision relating to such
shares. Investors should read risk factor 5.11 (Risks associated with Funds as
Underlying Assets) for a description of certain risks relating to investments in
Securities that directly or indirectly reference funds.

(C)  Occurrence of a Maximum AUM Event

The Hedging Party will have discretion in determining the occurrence of a
Maximum AUM Event. The Hedging Party may have a pre-existing exposure to
the Underlying Funds that is likely to contribute to the occurrence of a Maximum
AUM Event.

(D)  Occurrence of an Additional Market Disruption Event

The Hedging Party will have discretion in determining the occurrence of
Additional Market Disruption Events. The manager and/or investment advisor of
the Underlying Fund may have the ability to directly or indirectly influence the
occurrence of such Additional Market Disruption Events.
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(E)

(F)

The occurrence of an Additional Market Disruption Event may result in
significant delays in the publication of the value of the Underlying Strategy. At
any time following the occurrence of one or more Additional Market Disruption
Events in respect of an Underlying Fund, the Hedging Party will communicate
the occurrence to the Strategy Sponsor and the Strategy Sponsor may, acting in
good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, determine appropriate
amendments to the Underlying Strategy. The Strategy Sponsor will have sole
discretion in determining appropriate amendments. The amendments may result
in the exposure of the Underlying Strategy to the affected Underlying Fund
ceasing and being replaced with exposure to a substitute fund asset (a
"Substitution Asset™). It is likely that the occurrence of such events will have an
adverse effect on the Underlying Strategy by materially changing the investment
exposure of the Underlying Strategy as defined on the Strategy Inception Date.
The amendments determined by the Strategy Sponsor may also benefit the Issuer
in its capacity of issuer of Securities linked to the Strategy and, consequently,
may lead to a conflict of interest.

Cash Proceeds

If a hypothetical investor has validly submitted a redemption request in respect of
a Underlying Strategy and a period of 30 calendar days has lapsed following such
redemption request, and the Fund Service Provider (or any successor thereto) has
failed to deliver full cash proceeds, the Underlying Fund might be valued at zero
by the Strategy Sponsor.

Execution and Publication Delay in Valuation of Underlying Funds

(1)  Alltransactions in Underlying Funds are made on a forward pricing basis.
This means that daily orders to subscribe or redeem shares issued by any
Underlying Fund are implemented at a Net Asset Value per share or unit
of any Underlying Fund known only after the order is placed.

(2)  The Net Asset Value per share or unit of any Underlying Fund underlying
the Underlying Strategy will be made available by the Fund Service
Provider (or any successor thereto) with a significant delay following the
point at which such Net Asset Value is determined.

Therefore, the latest published Net Asset Value per share or unit of an Underlying
Fund may not reflect the level at which the Underlying Strategy is able to
notionally deal in the Underlying Fund. Determination of the value of the
Underlying Strategy relies on values made available by the Fund Service
Provider, either directly or through publication on public sources, and will
consequently reflect the delay in Net Asset Value publication.

(xii)  Additional risks associated with the Underlying Strategy and the Money Market Index

(A)

(B)

Historical Levels of the Money Market Index may not be indicative of future
performance

Past performance of the Money Market Index is no guide as to future
performance. The Money Market Index is based on historical performance of the
Overnight Interest Rate Option. However, the actual performance of the Money
Market Index in the future may bear little relation to the historical value of the
Money Market Index.

The Index Sponsor Has Discretion to Make Certain Determinations Which
Could Adversely Affect the Value of the Index

The Index Sponsor has discretion to make determinations that could adversely
affect the value of the Money Market Index. In making those determinations, the
Index Sponsor will not be required to, and will not, take any persons interests into
account or consider the effect its determinations will have on the value of the
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(d)

(i)

Money Market Index. The Index Sponsor will not be liable for their
determinations. The Index Sponsor reserves the right to alter the methodology
used to calculate the Money Market Index or the formula underlying the Money
Market Index or to discontinue calculation and dissemination of such Money
Market Index and an alteration may result in a decrease in the value of the Money
Market Index. As such, many aspects of the Money Market Index may change in
the future, including, without limitation, the formulae, methodology and third
party data sources.

(C)  The Index Sponsor Relies Upon Third Party Data Sources Which May Be
Inaccessible and/or Inaccurate

The Index Sponsor relies upon third party external sources to obtain certain inputs
necessary to compute the Money Market Index. The inability of the Index
Sponsor to source necessary data to carry out the Money Market Index formula
may affect the Index Value. In addition, the Index Sponsor makes no warranty as
to the correctness or completeness of that information and takes no responsibility
for the accuracy of such data or the impact of any inaccuracy of such data on the
Index Value.

In particular, if the rate specified as the Overnight Interest Rate Option is not
published (or if published, is determined by the Index Sponsor to be manifestly
incorrect) for a period longer than three Overnight Interest Rate Business Days,
the Index Sponsor may substitute the Overnight Interest Rate Option with an
alternative overnight interest rate option for the relevant currency. This
substitution may have a negative impact on the performance of the Money Market
Index and therefore on your Securities.

(D) Overnight Interest Rates are not Guaranteed Rates and do not Reflect
Government Deposit Guarantees

The Overnight Interest Rate Option is not a rate applicable to guaranteed deposits
and will not reflect any insurance or guarantee by any governmental agency in
any jurisdiction (including without limitation the United States Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, the Deposit Insurance Fund or any other governmental

agency).
Specific risks associated with the Goldman Sachs Single Stocks Static Basket Indices

The Securities may also be linked to the Goldman Sachs Single Stocks Static Basket
Indices (for the purposes of the risk factors set out under this sub-category, each, a
"Single Stock Static Basket Index" and together, the "Single Stock Static Basket
Indices"). Each Single Stock Static Basket Index seeks to reflect a notional investment
in a basket (the "Stock Basket™) of equity stocks (each, a "Component Stock™) which
are selected from a broad universe of equity stocks in multiple jurisdictions and/or
traded on different exchanges.

Dividends may be subject to assumed tax rates which will have a negative impact on a
Single Stock Static Basket Index

Where a Single Stock Static Basket Index is calculated on a net total return basis, it will
deduct a notional dividend withholding tax from any dividend amounts in respect of a
Component Stock included in the Stock Basket, which is intended to reflect the
withholding tax rate levied, or the potential tax rate that may be levied, by the country of
incorporation or residence of the issuer of such Component Stock. The assumed tax rate
(which may be zero) will be determined by the Index Calculation Agent based on its
view of applicable law and/or regulations, observable sources and/or market practice.
The assumed tax rates may be amended from time to time by the Index Calculation
Agent. If the assumed tax rate in respect of one or more Component Stock is increased
then the Strategy Value may be affected.
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

A hedging party that has hedged its exposure to the Component Stocks will benefit if the
effective rate of withholding tax that it incurs in carrying out its hedging activity is less
than the synthetic tax withholding applied in respect of a Single Stock Static Basket
Index. Any such benefit will not be passed on to investors in products linked to such
Single Stock Static Basket Index.

As some Component Stocks may not be denominated in the Index Currency, a Single
Stock Static Basket Index may be subject to currency exchange rate risks

Some of the Component Stocks may be denominated in currencies other than the Index
Currency. The relevant Single Stock Static Basket Index will notionally convert the value
of such Component Stocks into its Index Currency at prevailing exchange rates for
purposes of determining the Strategy Value. The exposure of these Component Stocks
to movements in currency exchange rates will depend on the extent to which such
currencies strengthen or weaken against the Index Currency and the relative weighting
of such Component Stocks. Changes in a particular currency exchange rate result from
the interaction of many factors directly or indirectly affecting economic or political
conditions, including rates of inflation, interest rate levels, balances of payment among
countries, the extent of governmental surpluses or deficits and other financial, economic,
military and political factors, among others.

If "FX Hedge" is applicable to a Single Stock Static Basket Index, the Strategy Value
will be adjusted to reduce the impact of currency fluctuations in respect of Components
Stocks which are denominated in currencies other than the Index Currency. However,
such adjustment will not eliminate the foreign exchange risk incurred by converting the
price of each such Component Stock into the Index Currency.

If "FX Hedge" is not applicable to a Single Stock Static Basket Index, such Single Stock
Static Basket Index will not seek to hedge any foreign currency exposure embedded in
the Component Stocks included in the Stock Basket and will not provide any hedge
against any such foreign currency risk.

Index Inception Date

A Single Stock Static Basket Index will only be calculated from a date (the "Index
Inception Date"), which may be materially before the date on which it is created (the
"Index Launch Date"). On the Index Launch Date, the value of a Single Stock Static
Basket Index will be equal to the value as specified in the relevant Index Rules. The
values of a Single Stock Static Basket Index between the Index Inception Date and the
Index Launch Date are calculated based on Back-testing. As such, any historical returns
or any hypothetical simulations based on such back-tested data or analyses with respect
to the period from the Index Inception Date to the date on which investment products
linked to a Single Stock Static Basket Index are first implemented (which may be
materially later than the Index Inception Date), may not reflect the performance of, and
are no guarantee or assurance in respect of the performance or returns of, such Single
Stock Static Basket Index over any time period.

Gains from an investment linked to a Single Stock Static Basket Index will be adjusted
by deductions included in the calculation of the value of such Single Stock Static
Basket Index

Notional embedded costs will be included within a Single Stock Static Basket Index and
will reduce the level of such Single Stock Static Basket Index.

Such amounts will be deducted from the performance of a Single Stock Static Basket
Index with the intention of synthetically reflecting transaction costs (including, but not
limited to, any applicable stamp duty payments, financial transaction taxes, brokerage
costs, and/or other fees and expenses) that would be incurred by a hypothetical investor
if it were to enter into actual transactions to provide the same exposure to the Component
Stocks as such Single Stock Static Basket Index. Such transaction costs are linked to the
magnitude and frequency of changes to the number of shares of the Component Stocks

76



Risk factors

v)

(vi)

(vii)

included in the Stock Basket and are made only as a result of a rebalancing of the Stock
Basket. Deductions representing such transaction costs may be significant if there is a
high turnover of Component Stocks in the Stock Basket, which could result in a material
negative impact on the performance of a Single Stock Static Basket Index.

The notional transaction costs reflected in the calculation of a Single Stock Static Basket
Index are calculated by reference to pre-determined transaction cost rates and do not
necessarily reflect the actual or realised transaction costs that would be incurred by an
investor in the relevant Component Stocks, which could be larger or smaller from time
to time. The index sponsor (or its affiliates) that has hedged its exposure to the
Component Stocks will benefit if such actual or realised costs are less than the notional
transaction costs in respect of such Single Stock Static Basket Index. Any such benefit
will not be passed on to investors in Securities linked to such Single Stock Static Basket
Index.

The value of a Single Stock Static Basket Index may also be reduced by an amount
calculated at a fixed rate specified in the rules of such Single Stock Static Basket Index.
In addition, the value of a Single Stock Static Basket Index may be reduced by further
deductions if so specified in the relevant Index Rules.

Potential amendment to the methodology of a Single Stock Static Basket Index or
replacement of a Single Stock Static Basket Index

If the index sponsor determines that the aggregate notional or principal amount of
Securities linked to a Single Stock Static Basket Index is above a certain threshold it may
(@) change the methodology of such Single Stock Static Basket Index so that the
rebalancing of such Single Stock Static Basket Index is executed over one or more
additional business days or that the rebalancing of such Single Stock Static Basket Index
occurs more frequently, (b) replace such Single Stock Static Basket Index with a
replacement index which will be identical in all material respects other than the day or
days on which the relevant index is rebalanced and/or (c) make such other adjustments
to such Single Stock Static Basket Index, in each case, in order to enable the index
sponsor and/or any affiliate to be able to effectively hedge its exposure to such Single
Stock Static Basket Index and/or to reduce the expected impact of such hedging
transactions on the relevant markets. Although such amendments or such replacement
would be designed to minimise potential market impact, the performance of a Single
Stock Static Basket Index may be affected by such amendments or replacement,
potentially materially so.

Reliance on the Index Calculation Agent

The Single Stock Static Basket Indices rely on the Index Calculation Agent to determine
the Strategy Value, amongst other obligations. If the Index Calculation Agent does not,
and/or is unable to, perform its obligations in respect of a Single Stock Static Basket
Index, the determination and publication of the Strategy Value of such Single Stock
Static Basket Index is likely to be materially delayed. In such cases the index sponsor
will aim to replace the Index Calculation Agent but there is no guarantee that this will be
achieved in a reasonable timeframe and the determination and publication of the Strategy
Value of such Single Stock Static Basket Index may be delayed for a material period of
time. This is likely to have an adverse effect on Securities linked to such Single Stock
Static Basket Index.

Exchange closed on Observation Days and Rebalancing Days

The universe of potential Component Stocks is broad and covers multiple jurisdictions
and stock exchanges. It is likely that on any Observation Day and/or Rebalancing Day
the primary exchanges for a significant proportion of the Component Stocks included in
the Stock Basket will be closed. Where the relevant primary exchange for a Component
Stock is closed, the relevant Single Stock Static Basket Index will use the previous
closing price for such Component Stock. As a result, previous closing prices may be used
for a significant proportion of the universe of potential stocks when determining the
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5.6

(viii)

(ix)

Component Stocks. This may impact the performance of a Single Stock Static Basket
Index as compared to a methodology that required all exchanges to be open on an
Observation Day and/or a Rebalancing Day.

Unavailability of exact Rebalancing Days

Given the universe of potential Component Stocks is broad and covers multiple
jurisdictions and stock exchanges, the business day calendar used to determine the
frequency of Rebalancing Days is a sub-set of the entire holiday calendar for all possible
jurisdictions and stock exchanges. The exact calendar used by a Single Stock Static
Basket Index will not be made public.

Determinations and adjustments in respect of Component Stocks for Disruption
Events and Extraordinary Events may have an adverse effect on the value of a Single
Stock Static Basket Index

To the extent that a Disruption Event has occurred in respect of a Component Stock of a
Single Stock Static Basket Index, the index sponsor may, inter alia, determine the price
of the relevant Component Stock in its commercially reasonable judgment, and in
making such determination, the index sponsor may, but shall not be obliged to, have
reference to the most recently available price of the relevant Component Stock. If the
index sponsor makes such a determination in respect of the price of an affected
Component Stock, it is likely that such price would be different from what it would have
been if a Disruption Event had not occurred and this may have an adverse effect on the
Strategy Value of such Single Stock Static Basket Index.

To the extent that an Extraordinary Event has occurred in respect of a Component Stock
of a Single Stock Static Basket Index, the Index Calculation Agent may, inter alia,
determine adjustments to the Strategy Value of such Single Stock Static Basket Index
and/or the price of a Component Stock of such Single Stock Static Basket Index. The
determinations will be made by the Index Calculation Agent in its capacity as a
professional calculation agent with extensive experience of acting as calculation agent to
other indices or products. Such determinations may however differ materially from
determinations made in respect of other indices or products by other third parties.

Risks associated with Commodities as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.6 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is a Commodity.

(@)

Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of Commodities

Commodities comprise physical commaodities, which need to be stored and transported,
and commodity contracts, which are agreements either to buy or sell a set amount of a
physical commodity at a predetermined price and delivery period (which is generally
referred to as a delivery month), or to make and receive a cash payment based on changes
in the price of the physical commodity.

Commodity contracts may be traded on regulated specialised futures exchanges (such as
futures contracts) or may be traded directly between market participants "over-the-
counter™ (such as swaps and forward contracts) on trading facilities that are subject to
lesser degrees of regulation or, in some cases, no substantive regulation.

The performance of commodity contracts are correlated with, but may be different from,
the performance of physical commodities. Commodity contracts are normally traded at
a discount or a premium to the spot prices of the physical commodity. The difference
between the spot prices of the physical commodities and the futures prices of the
commodity contracts, is, on one hand, due to adjusting the spot price by related expenses
(warehousing, transport, insurance, etc.) and, on the other hand, due to different methods
used to evaluate general factors affecting the spot and the futures markets. In addition,
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(b)

and depending on the commodity, there can be significant differences in the liquidity of
the spot and the futures markets.

The performance of a commadity, and consequently the corresponding commodity
contract, is dependent upon various factors, including supply and demand, liquidity,
weather conditions and natural disasters, direct investment costs, location and changes
in tax rates as set out in more detail below. Commodity prices are more volatile than
other asset categories, making investments in commodities riskier and more complex
than other investments.

0] Supply and demand — The planning and management of commodities supplies is
very time-consuming. This means that the scope for action on the supply side is
limited and it is not always possible to adjust production swiftly to take account
of demand. Demand can also vary on a regional basis. Transport costs for
commodities in regions where these are needed also affect their prices. The fact
that some commodities take a cyclical pattern, such as agricultural products which
are only produced at certain times of the year, can also result in major price
fluctuations.

(i) Liquidity — Not all commodities markets are liquid and able to quickly and
adequately react to changes in supply and demand. The fact that there are only a
few market participants in the commodities markets means that speculative
investments can have negative consequences and may distort prices.

(ili)  Weather conditionsand natural disasters — Unfavourable weather
conditions can influence the supply of certain commaodities for the entire year.
This kind of supply crisis can lead to severe and unpredictable price fluctuations.
Diseases and epidemics can also influence the prices of agricultural commaodities.

(iv)  Direct investment costs — Direct investments in commodities involve storage,
insurance and tax costs. Moreover, no interest or dividends are paid on
Commodities. The total returns from investments in commodities are therefore
influenced by these factors.

(v)  Governmental programs and policies, national and international political,
military and economic events and trading activities in commodities and related
contracts — Commodities are often produced in emerging market countries, with
demand coming principally from industrialised nations. The political and
economic situation is however far less stable in many emerging market countries
than in the developed world. They are generally much more susceptible to the
risks of rapid political change and economic setbacks. Political crises can affect
purchaser confidence, which can as a consequence affect commodity prices.
Armed conflicts can also impact on the supply and demand for certain
commaodities. It is also possible for industrialised nations to impose embargos on
imports and exports of goods and services. This can directly and indirectly impact
commaodity prices. Furthermore, numerous commodity producers have joined
forces to establish organisations or cartels in order to regulate supply and
influence prices.

(vi) Changes in tax rates — Changes in tax rates and customs duties may have a
positive or a negative impact on the profitability margins of commaodities
producers. When these costs are passed on to purchasers, these changes will affect
prices.

Any of these factors may affect in varying ways the value of and return on a Security
linked to a Commaodity or a Commodity Index.

Disruption Event — Limit Prices

The commodity markets are subject to temporary distortions or other disruptions due to
various factors, including the lack of liquidity in the markets and government regulation
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and intervention. In addition, U.S. futures exchanges and some foreign exchanges have
regulations that limit the amount of fluctuation in contract prices which may occur during
a single business day. These limits are generally referred to as "daily price fluctuation
limits" and the maximum or minimum price of a contract on any given day as a result of
these limits is referred to as a "limit price". Once the limit price has been reached in a
particular contract, trading in the contract will follow the regulations set forth by the
trading facility on which the contract is listed. Limit prices may have the effect of
precluding trading in a particular contract, which could adversely affect the value of a
commodity contract or a commodity index. The disruption events referred to in risk
factor 4.4 (Following a disruption event, the valuation of the Underlying Asset(s) may
be postponed and/or valued by us in our discretion) include, in respect of commodities
and commodity indices, the occurrence of "limit prices".

Legal and regulatory changes

Commodity derivatives are subject to legal and regulatory regimes that may change in
ways that could affect our ability to hedge our obligations under the Securities, and could
lead to the adjustment to the terms and conditions of the Securities or to the early
redemption of the Securities (as described in these risk factors and as set forth in the
terms and conditions of the Securities).

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act ("Dodd-Frank™),
which effected substantial changes to the regulation of the futures and over-the-counter
(OTC) derivative markets, was enacted in July 2010. Dodd-Frank requires regulators,
including the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the "CFTC"), to adopt
regulations to implement many of the requirements of the legislation. While the CFTC
has adopted most of the required regulations, of the most significant regulations for
purposes of the Securities, such as position limits, have not yet been adopted, and the
effect of other aspects of the regulations cannot yet be fully evaluated. Under Dodd-
Frank, the CFTC has proposed rules to impose limits on the size of positions that can be
held by market participants in futures and OTC derivatives on physical commaodities.
That proposal has not yet been finalised or adopted. When the final rules are adopted,
and position limits are actually imposed, such limits could restrict the ability of certain
market participants to participate in the commaodity, future and swap markets and
markets for other OTC derivatives on physical commodities to the extent and at the levels
that they have in the past. These factors may also have the effect of reducing liquidity
and increasing volatility and costs in these markets as well as affecting the structure of
the markets in other ways. All of these factors could adversely affect the return on and
value of the Securities. Position limits may also have the effects on our hedging activities
noted above, if we are unable to maintain positions necessary to hedge our exposure
under the Securities, potentially resulting in adjustments or early redemption, as set forth
above.

In addition, these legislative and regulatory changes have increased, and will continue to
increase, the level of regulation of markets and market participants, and therefore the
costs of participating in the commodities, futures and OTC derivative markets. Without
limitation, these changes require many OTC derivative transactions to be executed on
regulated exchanges or trading platforms and cleared through regulated clearing houses
and generally require the posting of initial and/or variation margin in respect of both
cleared and uncleared transactions. Swap dealers (as defined by the CFTC) are also
required to be registered and are or will be subject to various regulatory requirements,
including, but not limited to, capital and margin requirements, record keeping and
reporting requirements and various business conduct requirements. These legislative and
regulatory changes, and the resulting increased costs and regulatory oversight
requirements, could result in market participants being required to, or deciding to, limit
their trading activities, or could increase the cost of their trading activities, which could
cause reductions in market liquidity and increases in market volatility. In addition,
transaction costs incurred by market participants are likely to be higher than in the past,
reflecting the costs of compliance with the new regulations. These consequences could
adversely affect the level of the price of a commodity or the level of a commaodity index,
which could in turn adversely affect the return on and value of your Securities.
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In addition, other regulatory bodies have proposed, or may propose in the future,
legislation similar to that proposed by Dodd-Frank or other legislation containing other
restrictions that could adversely impact the liquidity of and increase costs of participating
in the commaodities markets. For example, under the Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive (Directive 2014/65/EU) (as amended, "MiFID 11") and the accompanying
Markets in Financial Instruments Regulations ("MiFIR"), there are requirements for
national competent authorities to establish position limits on the size of a net position
which a person can hold at all times in commaodity derivatives traded on trading venues
and economically equivalent OTC contracts. Certain national competent authorities have
set out specific position limits. Since 3 January 2018, the FCA has imposed rules that
require  that commodity  derivatives not listed on its  webpage
(https://www.fca.org.uk/markets/mifid-ii/commodity-derivatives/position-limits) ~ and
traded on a UK trading venue will be subject to a limit of 2,500 lots, unless a different
position limit is set by another competent authority in another EU Member State. These
FCA position limits can be modified by the FCA and may have, an adverse effect on the
prices of commodities and the return on and value of the Securities. By way of further
example, the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (Regulation (EU) No 648/2012)
(as amended,"EMIR") requires mandatory clearing of certain OTC derivative contracts,
reporting of derivatives and implementation of risk mitigation techniques (including
margin requirements) for uncleared OTC derivative contracts. EMIR has already had an
impact on some market participants and, as the phase-in of these requirements continues,
will impact an increasing number of market participants and is expected to continue to
increase the cost of transacting in derivatives. Some of the obligations under EMIR
already apply in full and others are still being phased in. This, along with other
regulations or additional implementing measures in relation to these regulations that are
adopted in the future, could have an adverse impact on the price of a commodity or the
level of a commadity index or a commodity strategy, and the value of and return on your
Securities.

Further, the adoption of or change to certain regulations may negatively impact our
hedging positions (including potentially incurring materially increased cost in
performing our obligations under the Securities and/or maintaining our hedge positions).
In such case, we may, in our discretion, either (i) amend the terms and conditions of the
Securities to account for such change in law or (ii) redeem the Securities. If we redeem
your Securities, the non-scheduled early repayment amount payable to you may be less
than you paid for the Securities. See risk factor 4.5 (Following the occurrence of certain
extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying Asset(s) or the Original Primary
Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities, following the occurrence of an index
adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted or the
Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount) above.

Factors affecting prices of precious metals: Gold, Silver, Platinum and Palladium

Gold, silver, platinum and palladium are precious metals. Consequently, in addition to
factors affecting commaodities generally that are described above, the price of gold,
silver, platinum or palladium may be subject to a number of additional factors specific
to precious metals, including the following:

. disruptions in the supply chain, from mining to storage to smelting or refining;

. adjustments to inventory;

. variations in production costs, including storage, labour and energy costs;

. costs associated with regulatory compliance, including environmental
regulations;

. changes in industrial, governmental and consumer demand, both in individual

consuming nations and internationally;

. precious metal leasing rates;
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. foreign exchange rates;
. the level of economic growth and inflation; and
. the degree to which consumers, governments, corporate and financial institutions

hold physical gold as a safe haven asset (hoarding) which may be caused by a
banking crisis/recovery, a rapid change in the value of other assets (both financial
and physical) or changes in the level of geopolitical tension.

These factors interrelate in complex ways, and the effect of one factor may offset or
enhance the effect of another factor.

See also risk factor 4.7 (The regulation and reform of "benchmarks", including LIBOR,
EURIBOR and other interest rate, equity, commodity, foreign exchange rate and other
types of benchmarks could have a material adverse effect on the value of, and return on,
the Securities).

Factors affecting prices of energy commaodities

Global energy commaodity prices are primarily affected by the global demand for and
supply of these commodities, but are also significantly influenced by speculative actions
and by currency exchange rates. In addition, prices for energy commodities are affected
by governmental programs and policies, national and international political and
economic events, changes in interest and exchange rates, the general level of equity
markets, trading activities in commodities and related contracts, trade, fiscal, monetary
and exchange control policies and with respect to oil, drought, floods, weather,
government intervention, environmental policies, embargoes and tariffs. Demand for
refined petroleum products by consumers, as well as the agricultural, manufacturing and
transportation industries, affects the price of energy commodities. Sudden disruptions in
the supplies of energy commodities, such as those caused by war, natural events,
accidents or acts of terrorism, may cause prices of energy commodity futures contracts
to become extremely volatile and unpredictable. Also, sudden and dramatic changes in
the futures market may occur, for example, upon a cessation of hostilities that may exist
in countries producing energy commodities, the introduction of new or previously
withheld supplies into the market or the introduction of substitute products or
commodities. In particular, supplies of crude oil may increase or decrease depending on,
among other factors, production decisions by the Organization of the Petroleum
Exporting Countries ("OPEC") and other crude oil producers. Crude oil prices are
determined with significant influence by OPEC, which has the capacity to influence oil
prices worldwide because its members possess a significant portion of the world's oil
supply. Crude oil prices are generally more volatile and subject to dislocation than prices
of other commodities. Demand for energy commodities such as oil and gasoline is
generally linked to economic activity, and will tend to reflect general economic
conditions.

Factors affecting agricultural commodities

The markets for futures contracts on agricultural commaodities are generally less liquid
than the markets for contracts on other categories of commodities, such as energy
commodities. The greater illiquidity of contracts on such commodities could adversely
affect the prices of such commodities and therefore the returns on any Securities linked
to Underlying Asset(s) comprising such commodities. In addition, the CFTC imposes
limits on the size of positions in contracts on agricultural commaodities that may be held
or controlled by one trader for speculative purposes. In contrast, many other types of
commodities are either not subject to position limits at all or are subject to limits
established by the exchanges, rather than by the CFTC (although position limits on other
commodities will in the near future become subject to position limits established by the
CFTC as well, as discussed above). The CFTC's position limits on contracts on
agricultural commaodities could restrict the sizes of positions held by many market
participants, which could further constrain liquidity.
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Prices of agricultural commodities may be affected by certain factors to a greater extent
than other commodity sectors. The prices of agricultural commodities and the futures
contracts tied to those commodities, are affected by a variety of factors, including
weather, governmental programs and policies, outbreaks of disease and epidemics or
other unanticipated natural disasters, the seasonality of supply and demand,
transportation and distribution considerations. Agricultural products which are only
produced at certain times of the year can also result in major price fluctuations. While
all commaodity prices are affected by some or all of these factors, they may have a greater
impact on the prices of agricultural commaodities and the futures contracts tied to those
commodities.

The occurrence of an Administrator/Benchmark Event may have a negative effect on
your Securities

If a Commodity Reference Price or its administrator does not obtain authorisation or
registration with the effect that the Commodity Reference Price may not be used in
certain ways by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent or the Commodity Reference Price
is materially modified, we (as Calculation Agent) shall, if we determine the event to have
a material effect on the Securities, apply the applicable fallback(s) specified, which may
include basing our determination on an alternate commaodity reference price or we may
determine the level of the Commodity Reference Price. If we believe that (i) it would be
unlawful or would contravene any applicable licensing requirements for the Calculation
Agent to perform the proposed action(s) above or (ii) the proposed action(s) above would
not achieve a commercially reasonable result, we may redeem the Securities early. In
such event, we will pay to you the non-scheduled early repayment amount. The non-
scheduled early repayment amount may be less than your original investment and you
may lose some or all of your money. See also risk factor 4.5 (Following the occurrence
of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying Asset(s) or the Original
Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities, following the occurrence of
an index adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted
or the Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount).

Risks associated with Commodity Indices as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.7 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is a Commodity Index.

(@)

(b)

Commodity Indices are comprised of futures contracts on their underlying
commodities constituents, and therefore you are exposed to the risks of an investment
linked to commaodities

See risk factor 5.6 (Risks associated with Commodities as Underlying Assets) above.
Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of Commaodities

Commodity Indices track the performance of a synthetic production-weighted basket of
commodity contracts on certain physical commodities. The level of Commodity Indices
replicates an actual investment in commodity contracts, and therefore goes up or down
depending on the overall performance of the weighted basket of commodity contracts.
Although Commodity Indices track the performance of the commodity markets, in a
manner generally similar to the way in which an index of equity securities tracks the
performance of the share market, there are important differences between a Commodity
Index and an equity index. First, an equity index typically weights the shares in the index
based on market capitalisation, while the commaodities included in a Commodity Index
are typically, though not always, weighted based on their world production levels and
the dollar value of those levels with the exception of any sub-index of a Commodity
Index based upon such sub-index. Second, unlike shares, commodity contracts expire
periodically and, in order to maintain an investment in commodity contracts, it is
necessary from time to time to "roll" out of such commodity contracts before they expire
and "roll" into longer-dated commodity contracts. A Commodity Index may from time-
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to-time "roll" commodity contracts for reasons other than imminent expiration and in
some such cases "roll" into nearer-dated commodity contracts. This feature of a
Commodity Index, which is discussed below — see risk factor 5.7(e) (Exposure to
"Rolling" and its impact on the performance of a Commodity Index), has important
implications for changes in the value of a Commaodity Index. Finally, the performance of
a Commodity Index is dependent upon the macroeconomic factors relating to the
commodities that underpin the commodities contracts included in such Commaodity
Index, such as supply and demand, liquidity, weather conditions and natural disasters,
direct investment costs, location and changes in tax rates — see risk factor 5.6(a) (Various
unpredictable factors may affect the performance of Commodities). The performance of
commodity contracts in one sector may offset the performance of commodity contracts
in another sector.

While holding an inventory of physical commodities may have certain economic benefits
(for example, a refinery could use a reserve of crude oil for the continuation of its
operations), it also poses administrative burdens and costs, including those arising from
the need to store or transport physical commodities. These requirements and costs may
prove unattractive to purchasers who are interested solely in the price movement of
commodities. Commodity contracts permit a purchaser to obtain exposure to the prices
of commodities without directly incurring these requirements and costs. However, a
purchaser in commodity contracts, or in an index of commodity contracts, can be
indirectly exposed to these costs, which may be reflected in the prices of the commodity
contracts and therefore in the level of a Commaodity Index. In addition, the fact that
commodity contracts have publicly available prices allows calculation of an index based
on these prices. The use of commaodity contracts, therefore, allows the Commodity Index
sponsor, to separate the exposure to price changes from the ownership of the underlying
physical commaodity, and thus allow participation in the upside and downside movement
of commodity prices independently of the physical commodity itself.

Exposure to risk that if the price of the underlying physical commaodities increases, the
level of the Commodity Index will not necessarily also increase — redemption amounts
in respect of Securities that reference Commaodity Indices do not reflect direct
investment in physical commodities or commodity contracts

If the price of the underlying physical commaodities increases, the level of the Commodity
Index, will not necessarily also increase. The redemption amount payable on Securities
that reference a Commaodity Index is linked to the performance of such Commodity Index
which in turn tracks the performance of the basket of commodity contracts included in
such Commodity Index, rather than individual physical commodities themselves.
Changes in the prices of commaodity contracts should generally track changes in the
prices of the underlying physical commadities, but, as described above, the prices of
commodity contracts might from time to time move in ways or to an extent that differ
from movements in physical commodity prices. Therefore, the prices of a particular
commodity may go up but the level of the Commodity Index may not change in the same
way.

Accordingly, as a holder of Securities linked to the performance of one or more
Commodity Indices, you may obtain a lower return on your Securities than if you had
invested directly in the underlying commaodities.

Exposure to commaodity futures contracts through an investment in Securities that
reference Commaodity Indices compared to *'spot" prices

It is typical in commodity markets to take the price of the first-nearby commaodity futures
contract with respect to a commodity (that is, as of a given date, the commodity futures
contract first to expire following such date) as a reference for the "spot™ price of such
commodity. Over time such "spot" price will vary for two reasons. Firstly, the price of
the first-nearby commodity futures contract will vary over time due to market
fluctuations. Secondly, when the commodity futures contract which is considered to be
the first-nearby contract changes from contract expiration "X" to contract expiration "Y"
(as contract expiration "X" is approaching expiry), there is a discrete change in the price
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of the "prevailing" first-nearby commodity futures contract. If contract expiration "Y" is
trading at a premium to contract expiration *X" (referred to as a "contango" market, as
described in further detail below), the discrete change will represent a "jump” in the
"spot" price. If contract expiration "Y" is trading at a discount to contract expiration " X"
(referred to as a "backwardated" market, as described in further detail below) the discrete
change will represent a "drop" in the "spot" price.

Since such "jump" or "drop" does not correspond to a change in price of any given
commodity futures contract, these economics cannot be captured by a futures-linked
investment such as a Commodity Index. Therefore, all other things being equal (in
particular, assuming no change in the relative price of the various contract expirations
with respect to the relevant commaodity futures contract), in a "contango” market a long-
only futures-linked investment may be expected to underperform the "spot" price (due
to not capturing the "jump" in spot price) and in a "backwardated" market a long-only
futures-linked investment may be expected to outperform the "spot™ price (due to not
capturing the "drop" in spot price).

Accordingly, as a holder of Securities linked to the performance of one or more
Commodity Indices, you may obtain a lower return on your Securities than if you had
invested directly in the underlying commaodities.

Exposure to ""Rolling" and its impact on the performance of a Commaodity Index

Generally, a Commodity Index will, from time-to-time, shift exposure from one
commodity contract to another commodity contract on the same underlying commodity
but with a different expiration (this is referred to as "rolling" the commaodity contract).
In particular, since any commodity contract has a predetermined expiration date on
which trading of the commodity contract ceases, holding a commodity contract until
expiration would result in delivery of the underlying physical commodity or the
requirement to make or receive a cash settlement. Therefore if a Commodity Index is
exposed to a commodity contract which is approaching expiration, such Commodity
Index will typically roll such exposure to a commodity contract with a later expiration
date. This would allow an actual purchaser to maintain an investment position without
receiving delivery of physical commaodities or making or receiving a cash settlement. As
Commodity Indices replicate an actual investment in commodity contracts, it takes into
account the rolling of commodity contracts included in such Commodity Indices.
Specifically, as the composition of the Commodity Index changes from one commodity
futures contract to another, the Commodity Index is calculated as if the former contract
is sold and the proceeds of that sale are used to purchase the latter commodity contract.

Prices of commodity contracts underlying a Commodity Index may change
unpredictably, affecting the market price of Securities linked to such Commodity Index
in unforeseeable ways

Trading in commodities has been and can be extremely volatile. Commodity prices are
affected by a variety of factors that are unpredictable, including, without limitation,
changes in supply and demand relationships, weather, governmental programs and
policies, national and international political, military, terrorist and economic events,
fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs, changes in interest and exchange rates
and changes, suspensions or disruptions of market trading activities in commodities and
related contracts.

These factors may affect the value of Securities linked to a Commodity Index in varying
ways, and different factors may cause the value of different commaodities underlying a
Commodity Index and the volatilities of their prices, to move in inconsistent directions
and at inconsistent rates.

Actions by the index sponsor may negatively affect the Securities

The sponsor of the Commodity Index is responsible for the compaosition, calculation and
maintenance of such Commaodity Index. The sponsor will have no involvement in the
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offer and sale of the Securities and will have no obligation to you as a holder of
Securities. The sponsor may take any actions in respect of such Commodity Index
without regard to your interests as a holder of Securities, and any of these actions could
adversely affect the market value and return on the Securities.

The sponsor of any Commodity Index can add, delete or substitute the commaodity
contracts of such Commodity Index or make other methodological changes that could
change the weighting of one or more commodity contracts, such as rebalancing the
commodities in the Commodity Index. The composition of a Commodity Index may
change over time as additional commodity contracts satisfy the eligibility criteria or
commodity contracts currently included in such Commodity Index fail to satisfy such
criteria. Such changes to the composition of the Commodity Index may affect the level
of such Commodity Index as a newly added commodity contract may perform
significantly worse or better than the commodity contract it replaces, which in turn, may
affect the payments made by the Issuer to the purchasers of the Securities. The sponsor
of any such Commaodity Index may also alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or
dissemination of such Commaodity Index. In such circumstances, the Calculation Agent
would have the discretion to make determinations with respect to the level of the
Commodity Index.

Any of these events may have an adverse effect on the value of and return on your
Securities.

A Commodity Index may include commaodity contracts that are not traded on regulated
futures exchanges

A Commodity Index may not always include exclusively regulated futures contracts and
could at varying times include over-the-counter contracts (such as swaps and forward
contracts) traded on trading facilities that are subject to lesser degrees of regulation or,
in some cases, no substantive regulation. As a result, trading in such contracts, and the
manner in which prices and volumes are reported by the relevant trading facilities, may
not be subject to the same provisions of, and the protections afforded by, the U.S.
Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended, or other applicable statutes and related
regulations, that govern trading on U.S. regulated futures exchanges or similar statutes
and regulations that govern trading on regulated UK futures exchanges. In addition,
many electronic trading facilities have only recently initiated trading and do not have
significant trading histories. As a result, the trading of contracts on such facilities and the
inclusion of such contracts in a Commodity Index may be subject to certain risks not
presented by most U.S. or UK exchange-traded futures contracts, including risks related
to the liquidity and price histories of the relevant contracts.

Disruption Event — Continuation of calculation of Commodity Index Level by Sponsor

If a disruption event referred to in risk factor 4.4 (Following a disruption event, the
valuation of the Underlying Asset(s) may be postponed and/or valued by us in our
discretion) occurs with respect to any commaodity contract included in a Commodity
Index, the adjustment provisions included in the terms and conditions of the Securities
will apply, including the determination by the Calculation Agent of the value of the
relevant disrupted commodity contract underlying the Commodity Index, and in turn the
level of such Commodity Index on the date specified in such Securities. However,
regardless of the disruption event, the sponsor of the Commaodity Index may continue to
calculate and publish the level of such Commodity Index. In such circumstances, as a
holder of Securities linked to such Commaodity Index, you should be aware that the level
of the Commodity Index, determined by the Calculation Agent upon the occurrence of a
disruption event, may not reflect the level of the Commodity Index as calculated and
published by the sponsor of such Commodity Index for the relevant valuation date, nor
would the Calculation Agent be willing to settle, unwind or otherwise use any such
published level while a disruption event is occurring with respect to any commodity
contract included in a Commodity Index.
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Data sourcing and calculation risks associated with a Commodity Index and the
commodity contracts underlying a Commodity Index may adversely affect the value of
the Commodity Index

The closing level of a Commaodity Index or the prices of commodity contracts underlying
such Commodity Index will be calculated based on price data that are subject to potential
errors in data sources or other errors that may affect the closing levels published by the
relevant sponsor of a Commodity Index or the prices published by the relevant price
source(s) for such underlying commodity contracts, as applicable. Also, there may be
errors in any other data sourced by the sponsor of a Commodity Index. Such errors could
adversely affect the closing level of the Commaodity Index on any given day, which could
in turn have an adverse effect on the value of the Securities and any amount payable
under the Securities. There can be no assurance that any error or discrepancy on the part
of any data source or sponsor will be corrected or revised or that the sponsor of a
Commodity Index will incorporate any such correction or revision into the calculation
of such Commodity Index. The sponsor of a Commaodity Index makes no representation
or warranty, express or implied, as to the correctness or completeness of that information
and takes no responsibility for the accuracy of such data or the impact of any inaccuracy
of such data on the relevant level of such Commodity Index, or on the value of any
commodity contracts included in such Commaodity Index.

The occurrence of a commodity index adjustment event or the replacement of the
commodity index sponsor by a successor commodity index sponsor may have a
negative effect on your Securities

If the sponsor of a Commodity Index makes a material alteration to the Commodity Index
or cancels the Commodity Index and no successor exists, or if the sponsor fails to
calculate and announce the level of the Commaodity Index, or if the Commodity Index or
its administrator does not obtain authorisation or registration with the effect that the
Commodity Index may not be used in certain ways by the Issuer or the Calculation
Agent, we (as Calculation Agent) shall, if we determine the event to have a material
effect on the Securities, (i) calculate the level of the Commaodity Index according to the
previous formula and method, (ii) replace the Commaodity Index with another index (or
basket of indices) or (iii) determine the appropriate adjustments to be made to the terms
and conditions of the Securities (without your consent). Any such action may have a
negative effect on the value and return on the Securities.

If we believe that (i) it would be unlawful or would contravene any applicable licensing
requirements for the Calculation Agent to perform the proposed action above or (ii) the
proposed action above would not achieve a commercially reasonable result, we may
redeem the Securities early. In such event, we will pay to you the non-scheduled early
repayment amount. The non-scheduled early repayment amount may be less than your
original investment and you may lose some or all of your money. See also risk factor 4.5
(Following the occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying
Asset(s) or the Original Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities,
following the occurrence of an index adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your
Securities may be adjusted or the Securities may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled
early repayment amount).

If a Commodity Index is calculated by a successor commaodity index sponsor, or, is
replaced by a successor commodity index, the successor commodity index or commodity
index as calculated by the successor commaodity index sponsor, will be deemed to be the
Commodity Index if approved by us (as Calculation Agent). Any such successor
commodity index may perform poorly and may result in holders of Securities receiving
less than they otherwise expected.

Any of these events may have a negative effect on the value of and return on your
Securities.
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Risks associated with foreign exchange rates as Underlying Assets

The description of the risks factors in this risk factor 5.8 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is a foreign exchange rate.

The performance of foreign exchange rates, currency units or units of account is dependent upon
the supply and demand for currencies in the international foreign exchange markets, which are
subject to economic factors, including inflation rates in the countries concerned, interest rate
differences between the respective countries, economic forecasts, international political factors,
currency convertibility and safety of making financial investments in the currency concerned,
speculation and measures taken by governments and central banks. Such measures include,
without limitation, imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, issuance of a new currency to
replace an existing currency, alteration of the exchange rate or exchange characteristics by
devaluation or revaluation of a currency or imposition of exchange controls with respect to the
exchange or transfer of a specified currency that would affect exchange rates as well as the
availability of a specified currency.

Administrator/Benchmark Event

If an FX Rate or its administrator does not obtain authorisation or registration with the effect
that the FX Rate may not be used in certain ways by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent or the
FX Rate is materially modified, we (as Calculation Agent) shall, if we determine the event to
have a material effect on the Securities, base our determination on the fallback rate specified. If
no fallback rate is specified and/or we believe that (i) it would be unlawful or would contravene
any applicable licensing requirements for the Calculation Agent to perform the proposed action
above or (ii) the proposed action above would not achieve a commercially reasonable result, we
may redeem the Securities early. In such event, we will pay to you the non-scheduled early
repayment amount. The non-scheduled early repayment amount may be less than your original
investment and you may lose some or all of your money. See also risk factor 4.5 (Following the
occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Underlying Asset(s) or the Original
Primary Rate(s) or with respect to index linked securities, following the occurrence of an index
adjustment event, the terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted or the Securities
may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount).

Risks associated with Interest Rates as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.9 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is an interest rate.

(@)  Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of interest rates

The performance of interest rates is dependent upon a number of factors, including
supply and demand on the international money markets, which are influenced by
measures taken by governments and central banks, as well as speculations and other
macroeconomic factors.

(b)  Ongoing reforms to LIBOR, EURIBOR and proposed regulation of other
'benchmarks' could negatively impact your Securities

You should read risk factor 4.7 (The regulation and reform of "benchmarks", including
LIBOR, EURIBOR and other interest rate, equity, commodity, foreign exchange rate and
other types of benchmarks could have a material adverse effect on the value of, and return
on, the Securities).

() A negative floating rate may reduce any positive margin otherwise payable on your
Securities

It is possible that floating rates of interest (e.g. LIBOR and EURIBOR, etc.) could turn
negative. If the interest rate of your Securities is based on a floating rate, plus a specified
Margin, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify "Reference Rate 0% Floor" or "ISDA
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Rate 0% Floor" to be not applicable, a negative floating rate will reduce the Margin,
potentially to zero. In such case, the interest rate that you receive on your Securities will
be lower than the Margin, and may even reduce it to zero, so that you receive no interest
on your Securities.

(d)  Aninterest rate may be floored at the minimum interest rate of zero per cent.

If the interest rate of your Securities is based on a floating rate (e.g. LIBOR and
EURIBOR, etc.), plus or minus a specified Margin, it is possible that the interest rate
could become negative. In such case, if the relevant Issue Terms specify "Minimum Rate
of Interest" to be zero per cent., the minimum interest rate that you receive on your
Securities will be zero, so that you receive no interest on your Securities.

(e)  There are risks associated with French law as the governing law of the Securities

In the case where payments due in respect of Securities governed by French law are
calculated and determined by reference to definitions published by the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association ("ISDA") and governed by English law (such as the
2006 ISDA Definitions), the relevant English law provisions or concepts may not be
construed and applied by French courts in the same way as the English courts. French
courts might proceed to recharacterise such English law provisions or concepts in order
to make them compliant with general principles prevailing under French law; in
particular, there is a possibility that the French courts may nullify a conditional provision
when the effectiveness of such conditional provision is dependent on the absolute
discretion of the debtor of the obligation.

j] The interest rate on Securities with a negative Participation Rate will fall when the
floating rate increases

A negative Participation Rate will result in the interest rate of your Securities moving in
the opposite direction to a floating rate (e.g. LIBOR and EURIBOR, etc.) and therefore
an increase in such floating rate will reduce the interest rate of your Securities
(potentially to zero). When prevailing floating rates increase, the market value of
Securities that have a negative Participation Rate can fall significantly due to the
reduction in interest payable and because in most cases a rise in interest rates will cause
the value of Securities to decrease. This fall will be magnified if the negative
Participation Rate is lower than minus one, such that a rise in interest rates will result in
a disproportionately higher fall in value of the Securities. See also risk factor 1.3 (The
Securities may lose value if interest rates increase).

Risks associated with Inflation Indices and other inflation measurements as Underlying
Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.10 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
linked is an inflation index, consumer price index or other formula linked to a measure of
inflation.

If one or more of the Underlying Assets of your Securities comprise inflation indices, consumer
price indices or other formulae linked to a measure of inflation as Underlying Assets, then you
are exposed to the performance of such inflation indices or other measurement formulae, which
may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with other indices and may not
correlate perfectly with the rate of inflation experienced by you in your home jurisdiction. The
return on the Securities may be based on a calculation made by reference to an inflation index
for a month which is several months prior to the date of payment on the Securities and therefore
could be substantially different from the level of inflation at the time of the payment on your
Securities.

Risks associated with funds as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.11 is relevant to you if the type of
Underlying Asset(s) (or if one of the types of Underlying Assets) to which your Securities are
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linked is a Fund. In addition, the fund offering document of the relevant Fund sets out further
details on such Fund, including its fees and charges and any related risks, which you should
take into account before deciding to invest in Securities linked to such Fund.

(@)

Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of a Fund and this may
adversely affect the value and return on your Securities

The performance of the units or shares of a Fund to which the Securities are linked will
affect the value and investment return on your Securities. We give no assurance relating
to the present or future performance of the units or shares of a Fund or any underlying
component in which such Fund may invest. The performance of the units or shares of a
Fund is dependent upon many factors which may include, without limitation, the
following:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

Macroeconomic factors: macroeconomic factors (such as interest and price levels
on the capital markets, currency developments including variations of exchange
rates of foreign currencies, political, judicial or economic factors);

Volatile/illiquid investments: a Fund may make investments in markets that are
volatile and/or illiquid and it may be difficult or costly for investment positions
to be opened or liquidated. A Fund may invest in and actively trade instruments
with significant risk characteristics, including risks arising from the volatility of
securities, financial futures, derivatives, currency and interest rate markets, the
leverage factors associated with trading in such markets and instruments, and the
potential exposure to loss resulting from counterparty defaults;

Concentration risk: a Fund may concentrate its investments in assets of a certain
class or in securities or derivative instruments relating to certain issuers, industries
or geographic regions and therefore the overall adverse impact on one or more
components of a Fund, and correspondingly on the value of a Fund, of an event
could be considerably greater than if a Fund were not permitted to concentrate its
investments;

Credit risk: a Fund may take credit risk with regard to counterparties with which
it trades, may bear the risk of settlement default and may also invest in securities
which expose it to the credit risk of an issuer;

Risks of short selling: a Fund may sell securities short. Short selling exposes a
Fund to theoretically unlimited risk due to the lack of an upper limit on the price
to which a security may rise;

Dependence on key individuals: the success of a Fund is dependent on the
expertise of its service providers (the "Fund Service Providers") and the loss of
key personnel could have a material adverse effect on such Fund;

Regulatory and legislative risk: see "Regulatory and legislative risk" below;

Leverage: a Fund may utilise leverage techniques, including the use of borrowed
funds, repurchase agreements and other derivative financial instruments. While
leverage presents opportunities for increasing a Fund's total return, it increases
the potential risk of losses which could be greater than if leverage had not been
used;

Strategies of a Fund may not be successful in achieving its investment objective:
see "Strategies of a Fund may not be successful in achieving its investment
objective" below;

Costs relating to Funds: a Fund's performance will be affected by the fees and
expenses which it incurs, as described in its offering documents. Such fees and
expenses may include the investment management fees, performance fees and
operating expenses typically incurred in connection with any direct investment in
a Fund. A Fund will assess fees and incur costs and expenses regardless of its
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performance. High levels of trading could cause a Fund to incur increased trading
costs; and

(xi)  Risk of fraud: there is a risk that a Fund Service Provider could divert or abscond
with the assets of a Fund, fail to follow the investment strategies of a Fund,
provide false reports of operations or engage in other misconduct.

Any one or a combination of the above factors could adversely affect the performance
of a Fund which, in turn, would have a negative effect on the value of and return on your
Securities. In addition, we may determine that such event has resulted in the occurrence
of a Crystallisation Event (as defined in the Conditions of the Securities), and may take
one of the actions available to us to deal with such event (see "Determinations in respect
of Crystallisation Events may have an adverse effect on the value of your Securities"
below).

No recourse to assets or shares of a Fund

You will not have any right of recourse under the Securities to the Fund Service Provider
of any Fund, the units or shares of any Fund, or any assets of any Fund and you will have
no claim against such Fund or the Fund Service Provider. The return on your Securities
may be less than if you held shares in the Fund directly or a different product linked to
such Fund.

Actions by a Fund or the Fund Service Provider of a Fund may negatively affect your
Securities

The Securities are not in any way sponsored, endorsed or promoted by any Fund or any
Fund Service Provider, and such entities have no obligation to take into account the
consequences of their actions in respect of any Holders. A Fund or any Fund Service
Provider may take any actions (including adding, removing or substituting the
components of such Fund, making other methodological changes that could change the
investment profile of such Fund or discontinuing such Fund) in respect of such Fund
without regard to the interests of the Holders, and any of these actions could adversely
affect the market value of and return on your Securities.

Units and shares in a Fund may be subject to transfer restrictions and illiquidity

There can be no assurance that the liquidity of a Fund will always be sufficient to meet
redemption requests as, and when, made. Any lack of liquidity or restrictions on
redemptions may affect the liquidity of the units or shares of a Fund and their value and
could adversely affect the performance of your Securities. A Fund may make
investments for which no liquid market exists, including those that are not listed on a
securities exchange or traded on an over-the-counter market. The market values, if any,
of such investments tend to be more volatile and a Fund may not be able to sell them
when it desires to do so or to realise what it perceives to be their fair value in the event
of a sale. Furthermore, entities whose securities are not publicly traded are not subject to
the disclosure and other investor protection requirements which would be applicable if
their securities were publicly traded.

The units or shares of a Fund and the assets of a Fund may be subject to transfer
restrictions arising by way of applicable securities laws or otherwise. Holders of units or
shares in a Fund may have the right to transfer or withdraw their investment in a Fund
only at certain times and upon completion of certain documentary formalities and such
rights may be subject to suspension or alteration.

These circumstances may affect the net asset value of a Fund and could adversely affect
the performance of your Securities. We may also determine that such circumstances have
resulted in the occurrence of a Crystallisation Event, and may take one of the actions
available to us to deal with such event (see "Determinations in respect of Crystallisation
Events may have an adverse effect on the value of your Securities™ below).
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In addition, the net asset value of the units or shares in a Fund used to calculate payments
under the Securities will be reduced by the subscription or redemption costs or dealing
charges incurred by the Issuer and/or its affiliates.

Strategies of a Fund may not be successful in achieving its investment objective

No assurance can be given that the investment strategy of a Fund will be successful or
that the investment objective of a Fund will be achieved, or that any analytical model
used by the relevant management company will prove to be correct or that any
assessments of the short-term or long-term prospects, volatility and correlation of the
types of investments in which a Fund has invested or will invest will prove accurate. The
analytical models utilised by a management company of a Fund and upon which
investment decisions are based may be developed from historical analysis of the
performance or correlation of certain companies, securities, industries, countries or
markets. There can be no assurance that the historical performance that is used to
determine such analytical models will be a good indicator of future performance, and if
the future performance of a Fund varies significantly, the management company of a
Fund may not achieve its intended investment performance.

No assurance can be given that the strategies to be used by a Fund will be successful
under all or any market conditions. A Fund may utilise financial instruments such as
derivatives for investment purposes and/or seek to hedge against fluctuations in the
relative values of such Fund's portfolio positions as a result of changes in exchange rates,
interest rates, equity prices and levels of yields and prices of other securities. Such
hedging transactions may not always achieve the intended outcome and can also limit
potential gains.

The management of a Fund may have broad discretion over its investment strategy,
within specified parameters. A Fund could, for example, alter its investment focus within
a prescribed market. Any shift in strategy could bear adverse consequences to a Fund's
investment performance. Furthermore, a Fund may have difficulty realising any strategy
initiatives that it undertakes. It may not sometimes be clear whether a Fund fulfils the
investment criteria set out in its investment guidelines.

Re-characterisation risk

No advice is being provided by the Issuer or any of its respective affiliates with respect
to any re-characterisation risk (including the risk that your Securities may be considered
part of a collective investment scheme) in connection with Securities linked to any Fund.
Prospective investors should consult their own advisers with respect to the implications
of an investment in the Securities. Any re-characterisation could have a material adverse
effect on the return you realise on the Securities.

Fee rebate arrangements

The Issuer and/or its affiliates may receive rebates from the management company of a
Fund in respect of the units or shares of a Fund or any other assets which the Issuer and/or
its affiliates may hold as a hedge to the Securities. Any breach by a counterparty to such
fee rebate arrangement may result in losses or increased costs to the Issuer and we may
determine that such circumstances have resulted in the occurrence of a Crystallisation
Event, and may take one of the actions available to us to deal with such event (see
"Determinations in respect of Crystallisation Events may have an adverse effect on the
value of your Securities" below).

Regulatory and legislative risk

The regulatory environment is evolving and changes therein may adversely affect the
ability of a Fund to obtain the leverage it might otherwise obtain or to pursue its
investment strategies. In addition, the regulatory or tax environment for derivative and
related instruments is evolving and may be subject to modification by government or
judicial action which may adversely affect the value of the investments held by a Fund.
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It is not possible to predict the effect of any future changes to applicable law or regulation
or uncertainties such as international political developments, changes in government
policies, taxation, restrictions or foreign investment and currency repatriation or
fluctuations.

Furthermore, the markets in which a Fund invests may prove to be highly volatile from
time to time as a result of, for example, sudden changes in government policies on
taxation and currency repatriation or changes in legislation relating to the value of foreign
ownership of assets held by a Fund, and this may affect the net asset value at which a
Fund may liquidate positions to meet repurchase requests or other funding requirements
and, in turn, the value of your Securities. We may also determine that such circumstances
have resulted in the occurrence of a Crystallisation Event, and may take one of the actions
available to us to deal with such event (see "Determinations in respect of Crystallisation
Events may have an adverse effect on the value of your Securities™ below).

Where, due to a change in law event, our performance under the Securities or any hedge
relating to the Securities has become (or there is a substantial likelihood in the immediate
future that it will become) illegal or impractical, we may, in our discretion, redeem your
Securities.

If we elect to early redeem the Securities, if permitted by applicable law, we shall pay to
you an amount equal to the non-scheduled early repayment amount of such Securities.
The non-scheduled early repayment amount may be less than your initial investment and
you may therefore lose some or all of your investment.

Following any such early redemption of the Securities, you may not be able to reinvest
the proceeds from such redemption at a comparable return and/or with a comparable
interest rate for a similar level of risk. You should consider such reinvestment risk in
light of other available investments when you purchase the Securities.

Valuation risk in relation to a Fund

We will rely on the calculation and publication of the net asset value per unit or share of
a Fund by such Fund (or another entity on its behalf). Any delay, suspension or
inaccuracy in the calculation and publication of the net asset value per unit or share of a
Fund may have an impact on the calculation of the return on your Securities. The units
and shares of a Fund and/or the investments made by a Fund may be valued only by
administrators, custodians or other service provider of such Fund and may not be verified
by an independent third party on a regular or timely basis.

There is a risk that (i) our determinations may not reflect the true value of the units or
shares of a Fund at a specific time which could result in losses or inaccurate pricing
and/or (ii) the net asset value may not be available on a relevant date which could result
in the calculation of the return on your Securities being based on our commercially
reasonable estimate of the net asset value per unit or share of a Fund on a long-stop date
that falls after such relevant date.

Determinations in respect of Crystallisation Events may have an adverse effect on the
value of your Securities

Upon determining that a Crystallisation Event has occurred in relation to a Fund, we
may, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, substitute such Fund
for a replacement asset or basket of replacement assets that preserves as closely as is
commercially practicable the original economic and investment objective of such Fund
and we may elect to amend the terms and conditions of the Securities (such amendment
to be determined without your consent) to account for the replacement of such Fund. The
replacement of a Fund and any amendments to the terms and conditions of the Securities
may have an adverse effect on the value of and return on your Securities.

If we determine, acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, that the
date for such substitution would otherwise fall after the relevant scheduled reference
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date, or we are not able to determine an appropriate replacement asset or basket of
replacement assets for a Fund, then we may, in our discretion, redeem your Securities on
the scheduled maturity date by payment of an amount equal to (i) (a) if a protection level
is specified in the relevant Issue Terms, the specified denomination or nominal amount,
as the case may be, multiplied by the protection level, otherwise, (b) zero plus (ii) the
value of the derivative component of such Security, plus (iii) the sum of the overnight
interest amounts calculated in respect of the remaining term of the Securities (without
compounding). Such amount may be less than the amount that would have been payable
on the maturity date if a Crystallisation Event had not occurred.

If a Crystallisation Event has occurred due to the occurrence of a Non-full Cash
Redemption Proceeds Event, then the settlement amount or redemption amount that was
originally payable on any scheduled payment date may be significantly reduced and the
payment date postponed. If this occurs, a Holder of the Securities may lose some or all
of his investment in the Securities.

See "Introduction to the Fund Linked Conditions" of this Base Prospectus for a
description of the consequences of Crystallisation Events.

Risks associated with baskets comprised of various constituents as Underlying Assets

The description of the risk factors in this risk factor 5.12 is relevant to you if your Securities are
linked to a basket of Underlying Assets, in addition to the risks in relation to each particular
type of Underlying Asset in the basket as described above.

Various unpredictable factors may affect the performance of a basket of Underlying Assets

If your Securities are linked to a basket of Underlying Assets, you are exposed to the
performance of such basket and bear the risk that such performance cannot be predicted and is
determined by macroeconomic factors relating to the constituents that comprise such basket, all
as described above in relation to each particular type of Underlying Asset.

In addition, you should be aware of the following:

Lesser number of basket constituents: The performance of a basket that includes a fewer
number of basket constituents will be more affected by changes in the value of any
particular basket constituent than that of a basket that includes a greater number of basket
constituents.

Unequal weighting of basket constituents: The performance of a basket that gives
greater weight to some basket constituents will be more affected by changes in the value
of any such particular basket constituent than a basket that gives relatively equal weight
to each basket constituent.

High correlation of basket constituents could have a significant effect on amounts
payable: Correlation of the basket constituents measures the level of interdependence
among the individual basket constituents with respect to their performance. Correlation
has a value ranging from "-1" to "+1", whereby a correlation of "+1", i.e. a high positive
correlation, means that the performance of the basket constituents always moves in the
same direction. A correlation of "-1", i.e. a high negative correlation, means that the
performance of the basket constituents is always diametrically opposed. A correlation of
"0" indicates that it is not possible to make a statement on the relationship between the
basket constituents. If, for example, all of the basket constituents are shares which
originate from the same sector and the same country, a high positive correlation may be
assumed. Correlation may fall however, for example when the company whose shares
are included in the basket are engaged in intense competition for market shares and the
same markets. Where the Securities are subject to high correlation, any move in the
performance of the basket constituents will exaggerate the performance of the Securities.

Negative performance of a basket constituent may outweigh a positive performance of
one or more basket constituents: Even in the case of a positive performance of one or
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more basket constituents, the performance of the basket as a whole may be negative if
the performance of the other basket constituents is negative to a greater extent.

Risks associated with EIS Notes
There are risks associated with the Preference Shares

@) Following the occurrence of certain extraordinary events in relation to the Preference
Share(s), the terms and conditions of your Securities may be adjusted or the Securities
may be redeemed early at the non-scheduled early repayment amount

If an insolvency, merger event, tender offer, nationalisation or preference share
adjustment or termination event (all as defined in the terms and conditions of the
Securities) occurs in relation to the Preference Share(s) or the issuer of the Preference
Share(s) (as applicable), this will be an 'Extraordinary Event' leading to the adjustment
by us (as Calculation Agent) of the terms and conditions of the Securities (without the
consent of holders) or the early redemption of the Securities, and for an amount which
may be less than you paid for the Securities.

In the event of early redemption we will pay the non-scheduled early repayment amount
in respect of the Securities, which will be calculated using the same formula as the Final
Redemption  Amount (being, calculation amount x  Preference Share
Valuerina/Preference Share Valueniia)) save that for the purposes of "Performance Share
Valuerina" the Preference Shares will be valued on or just prior to the date set for
redemption rather than the Final Valuation Date. The non-scheduled early repayment
amount may be less than your initial investment and you may therefore lose some or all
of your investment. Following any such early redemption of the Securities, you may not
be able to reinvest the proceeds from an investment at a comparable return and/or with a
comparable interest rate for a similar level of risk. You should consider such
reinvestment risk in light of other available investments when you purchase the
Securities.

(b)  There are risks in relation to each type of 'Preference Share Underlying'

Preference Shares may be linked to different types of underlying assets (referred to as
the 'Preference Share Underlying’), including, but not limited to, indices and shares.
Risks in relation to each type of Underlying Asset are described above.

There are risks associated with Cayman Islands law as the governing law of the EIS Notes

EIS Notes are governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands. However, the courts of England will
also have non-exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes, controversy, proceedings or claim of
whatever nature that may arise out of or in connection with EIS Notes. In considering the
substance of any such dispute, the courts of England would still apply the laws of the Cayman
Islands, and would not generally apply (for example) English statutes, which do not form part
of Cayman Islands law.

The courts in the Cayman Islands have a shorter history and deal with a smaller volume of
disputes than do the English courts. As a result, case law in the Cayman Islands is generally
considered to be less well developed than English case law. Therefore, there may be less
certainty as to the legal position in relation to any particular issue arising under Securities
governed by Cayman Islands law than if the Securities were governed by English law. It is
possible that there could be a different result than under English law, which result could have a
negative impact on your Securities. However, as Cayman Islands common law has developed
from English common law, English case law is generally viewed by the Cayman Islands courts
as being highly persuasive.

The Preference Share Issuer — Goldman Sachs (Cayman) Limited — is subject to credit
and fraud risk

The value of the EIS Notes depends on the value of the relevant Preference Shares of Goldman
Sachs (Cayman) Limited ("GSCL"), which will depend in part on the creditworthiness of
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GSCL. GSCL is not an operating company. Its sole business activity is the issue of preference
shares. GSCL does not have any trading assets and does not generate any significant net income.
As its funds are limited, any misappropriation of funds or other fraudulent action by GSCL or a
person acting on its behalf would have a significant effect on the value of the Preference Shares
and will affect the value of the EIS Notes.

Risks associated with conflicts of interest between Goldman Sachs and purchasers of EIS
Notes

In addition to the conflicts of interest described in risk factor 5.9(d)6.4 (Risks associated with
conflicts of interest between Goldman Sachs and purchasers of Securities and discretionary
powers of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent including in relation to our hedging
arrangements) below, the roles of Goldman Sachs could create additional conflicts of interest
between you and us in relation to EIS Notes.

The Preference Share Issuer and a counterparty, which is expected to be an affiliate of the Issuer
and the relevant Guarantor, will enter into a swap arrangement in order to fund the payout on
the Preference Shares. The counterparty will also act as the calculation agent under the swap
arrangement. In such capacity it may make certain determinations in relation to the amount
payable under the swap, which could, in turn, affect the value of and return on the EIS Notes.

Also, we will act as calculation agent in relation to both the Preference Shares and the EIS Notes.
These roles could create conflicts of interest between us and you, including with respect to the
exercise of the discretionary powers of the calculation agent under Preference Shares and the
EIS Notes. You should be aware that any discretionary determination made by us as calculation
agent under the Preference Shares or the EIS Notes could have a negative impact on the value
of and return on your Securities.

Tax risk

The basis and rate of taxation in respect of the EIS Notes and reliefs depend on your own
individual circumstances and could change at any time. This could have a negative impact on
the return of the EIS Notes. You should seek your own independent tax advice as to the possible
tax treatment of redemption payments (such term including early or final redemption) received
on EIS Notes prior to investing.

In the event that your EIS Notes pay a coupon otherwise than by way of a premium payable on
redemption (such term including early or final redemption), you should be aware that such
coupon will likely be subject to income tax.

Risks associated with conflicts of interest between Goldman Sachs and purchasers of
Securities and discretionary powers of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent including in
relation to our hedging arrangements

The various roles and trading activities of Goldman Sachs could create conflicts of interest
between you and us. The below risks highlight such risks associated with conflicts of interest
between Goldman Sachs and purchasers of securities:

Anticipated hedging activities by Goldman Sachs or our distributors may negatively
impact investors in the Securities and cause our interests and those of our clients and
counterparties to be contrary to those of investors in the Securities

In anticipation of the sale of the Securities, we and/or our affiliates expect to hedge our
obligations under the Securities by purchasing futures and/or other instruments linked to the
Underlying Asset(s) or components thereof, or, if applicable, the foreign currencies in which
Underlying Asset(s) are denominated, as applicable. We also expect to adjust the hedge by,
among other things, purchasing or selling any of the foregoing, and perhaps other instruments
linked to the Underlying Asset(s) or any components thereof (the "Underlying Components"),
at any time and from time to time, and to unwind the hedge by selling any of the foregoing on
or before the final valuation date for your Securities. Alternatively, we may hedge all or part of
our obligations under the Securities with unaffiliated distributors of the Securities which we
expect will undertake similar market activity. We may also enter into, adjust and unwind
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hedging transactions relating to other underlier-linked securities whose returns are linked to
changes in the level of the Underlying Asset(s) or one or more of the Underlying Components,
as applicable.

In addition to entering into such transactions itself, or distributors entering into such
transactions, Goldman Sachs may structure such transactions for its clients or counterparties, or
otherwise advise or assist clients or counterparties in entering into such transactions. These
activities may be undertaken to achieve a variety of objectives, including: permitting other
purchasers of the Securities or other securities to hedge their investment in whole or in part;
facilitating transactions for other clients or counterparties that may have business objectives or
investment strategies that are inconsistent with, or contrary to, those of investors in the
Securities; hedging the exposure of Goldman Sachs to the Securities including any interest in
the Securities that it reacquires or retains as part of the offering process, through its market-
making activities or otherwise; enabling Goldman Sachs to comply with its internal risk limits
or otherwise manage firmwide, business unit or product risk; and/or enabling Goldman Sachs
to take directional views as to relevant markets on behalf of itself or its clients or counterparties
that are inconsistent with or contrary to the views and objectives of the investors in the
Securities.

Any of these hedging or other activities may adversely affect the levels of the Underlying
Asset(s) — directly or indirectly by affecting the price of the Underlying Components — and
therefore the market value of your Securities and the amount we will pay on your Securities, if
any, at maturity. In addition, you should expect that these transactions will cause Goldman Sachs
or its clients, counterparties or distributors to have economic interests and incentives that do not
align with, and that may be directly contrary to, those of an investor in the Securities. Neither
Goldman Sachs nor any distributor will have any obligation to take, refrain from taking or cease
taking any action with respect to these transactions based on the potential effect on an investor
in the Securities, and may receive substantial returns on hedging or other activities while the
value of the Securities declines. In addition, if the distributor from which you purchase
Securities is to conduct hedging activities in connection with the Securities, that distributor may
otherwise profit in connection with such hedging activities and such profit, if any, will be in
addition to the compensation that the distributor receives for the sale of the Securities to you.
You should be aware that the potential to earn fees in connection with hedging activities may
create a further incentive for the distributor to sell the Securities to you in addition to the
compensation they would receive for the sale of the Securities.

Goldman Sachs' trading and investment activities for its own account or for its clients
could negatively impact investors in the Securities

Goldman Sachs is a global investment banking, securities and investment management firm that
provides a wide range of financial services to a substantial and diversified client base that
includes corporations, financial institutions, governments and high-net-worth individuals. As
such, it acts as an investor, investment banker, research provider, investment manager,
investment advisor, market maker, trader, prime broker and lender. In those and other capacities,
Goldman Sachs purchases, sells or holds a broad array of investments, actively trades securities,
derivatives, loans, commaodities, currencies, credit default swaps, indices, baskets and other
financial instruments and products for its own account or for the accounts of its customers, and
will have other direct or indirect interests, in the global fixed income, currency, commodity,
equity, bank loan and other markets. Any of Goldman Sachs' financial market activities may,
individually or in the aggregate, have an adverse effect on the market for your Securities, and
you should expect that the interests of Goldman Sachs or its clients or counterparties will at
times be adverse to those of investors in the Securities.

Goldman Sachs regularly offers a wide array of securities, financial instruments and other
products into the marketplace, including existing or new products that are similar to your
Securities, or similar or linked to the Underlying Asset(s). Investors in the Securities should
expect that Goldman Sachs will offer securities, financial instruments, and other products that
will compete with the Securities for liquidity, research coverage or otherwise.
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Goldman Sachs' market-making activities could negatively impact investors in the
Securities

Goldman Sachs actively makes markets in and trades financial instruments for its own account
and for the accounts of customers. These financial instruments include debt and equity
securities, currencies, commodities, bank loans, indices, baskets and other products. Goldman
Sachs' activities include, among other things, executing large block trades and taking long and
short positions directly and indirectly, through derivative instruments or otherwise. The
securities and instruments in which Goldman Sachs takes positions, or expects to take positions,
include securities and instruments of the Underlying Asset(s) or the Underlying Components
thereof, securities and instruments similar to or linked to the foregoing or the currencies in which
they are denominated. Market making is an activity where Goldman Sachs buys and sells on
behalf of customers, or for its own account, to satisfy the expected demand of customers. By its
nature, market making involves facilitating transactions among market participants that have
differing views of securities and instruments. As a result, you should expect that Goldman Sachs
will take positions that are inconsistent with, or adverse to, the investment objectives of
investors in the Securities.

If Goldman Sachs becomes a holder of any Underlying Asset or Underlying Component thereof,
as applicable, in its capacity as a market-maker or otherwise, any actions that it takes in its
capacity as securityholder, including voting or provision of consents, will not necessarily be
aligned with, and may be inconsistent with, the interests of investors in the Securities.

You should expect that Goldman Sachs personnel will take research positions, or
otherwise make recommendations, provide investment advice or market colour or
encourage trading strategies that might negatively impact investors in the Securities

Goldman Sachs and its personnel, including its sales and trading, investment research and
investment management personnel, regularly make investment recommendations, provide
market colour or trading ideas, or publish or express independent views in respect of a wide
range of markets, issuers, securities and instruments. They regularly implement, or recommend
to clients that they implement, various investment strategies relating to these markets, issuers,
securities and instruments. These strategies include, for example, buying or selling credit
protection against a default or other event involving an issuer or financial instrument. Any of
these recommendations and views may be negative with respect to the Underlying Asset(s) or
Underlying Components thereof, as applicable, or other securities or instruments similar to or
linked to the foregoing or result in trading strategies that have a negative impact on the market
for any such securities or instruments, particularly in illiquid markets. In addition, you should
expect that personnel in the trading and investing businesses of Goldman Sachs will have or
develop independent views of the Underlying Asset(s) or Underlying Components thereof, as
applicable, the relevant industry or other market trends, which may not be aligned with the views
and objectives of investors in the Securities.

Goldman Sachs regularly provides services to, or otherwise has business relationships
with, a broad client base, which may include the sponsors or issuers of the Underlying
Asset(s) or Underlying Components thereof or other entities that are involved in the
transaction

Goldman Sachs regularly provides financial advisory, investment advisory and transactional
services to a substantial and diversified client base, and you should assume that Goldman Sachs
will, at present or in the future, provide such services or otherwise engage in transactions with,
among others, the sponsors or issuers of the Underlying Asset(s) or Underlying Components
thereof, or transact in securities or instruments or with parties that are directly or indirectly
related to the foregoing. These services could include making loans to or equity investments in
those companies, providing financial advisory or other investment banking services, or issuing
research reports. You should expect that Goldman Sachs, in providing such services, engaging
in such transactions, or acting for its own account, may take actions that have direct or indirect
effects on the Underlying Asset(s) or Underlying Components thereof, as applicable, and that
such actions could be adverse to the interests of investors in the Securities. In addition, in
connection with these activities, certain Goldman Sachs personnel may have access to
confidential material non-public information about these parties that would not be disclosed to
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Goldman Sachs employees that were not working on such transactions as Goldman Sachs has
established internal information barriers that are designed to preserve the confidentiality of non-
public information. Therefore, any such confidential material non-public information would not
be shared with Goldman Sachs employees involved in structuring, selling or making markets in
the Securities or with investors in the Securities.

In any offering under the Programme, as well as in all other circumstances in which Goldman
Sachs receives any fees or other compensation in any form relating to services provided to or
transactions with any other party, no accounting, offset or payment in respect of the Securities
will be required or made; Goldman Sachs will be entitled to retain all such fees and other
amounts, and no fees or other compensation payable by any party or indirectly by holders of the
Securities will be reduced by reason of receipt by Goldman Sachs of any such other fees or other
amounts.

An offering of the Securities may reduce an existing exposure of Goldman Sachs or
facilitate a transaction or position that serves the objectives of Goldman Sachs or other
parties

A completed offering of Securities may reduce Goldman Sachs' existing exposure to the
Underlying Asset(s) or Underlying Components thereof, as applicable, securities and
instruments similar to or linked to the foregoing or the currencies in which they are
denominated, including exposure gained through hedging transactions in anticipation of this
offering. An offering of Securities will effectively transfer a portion of Goldman Sachs'
exposure (and indirectly transfer the exposure of Goldman Sachs' hedging or other
counterparties) to investors in the Securities.

The terms of an offering (including the selection of the Underlying Asset(s) and the
establishment of other transaction terms) may have been selected in order to serve the
investment or other objectives of Goldman Sachs or another client or counterparty of Goldman
Sachs. In such a case, Goldman Sachs would typically receive the input of other parties that are
involved in or otherwise have an interest in the offering, transactions hedged by the offering, or
related transactions. The incentives of these other parties would normally differ from and in
many cases be contrary to those of investors in the Securities.

Other investors in the Securities may not have the same interests as you

Other investors in the Securities are not required to take into account the interests of any other
investor in exercising remedies or voting or other rights in their capacity as securityholders or
in making requests or recommendations to us as to the establishment of other transaction terms.
The interests of other investors may, in some circumstances, be adverse to your interests. For
example, certain investors may take short positions (directly or indirectly through derivative
transactions) on assets that are the same or similar to your Securities, Underlying Asset(s) or
other similar securities, which may adversely impact the market for or value of your Securities.

As Calculation Agent, we will have the authority to make determinations that could affect
the market value and return on your Securities

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will be Goldman
Sachs International. The Calculation Agent has the authority (i) to determine whether certain
specified events and/or matters so specified in the conditions relating to the Securities have
occurred, and (ii) to determine the consequence of such event, including potentially, revised
calculations, adjustments, postponements or early redemption of the Securities. See risk factor
7 (Risks associated with conflicts of interest between Goldman Sachs and purchasers of
Securities and discretionary powers of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent including in
relation to our hedging arrangements) above. Any such determination made by the Calculation
Agent (in the absence of manifest or proven error) shall be binding on the Issuer and all
purchasers of the Securities. Any such determinations may have an adverse impact on the value
of and return on the Securities.

As a participant or contributor to certain ""benchmarks' we may have conflicts with you

99



Risk factors

7.10

7.11

We may act as a participant or contributor to certain "benchmarks", which could create conflicts
of interest between you and us. In its capacity as a participant or contributor to a "benchmark™,
we will provide input data which will affect the price or level or such "benchmark"”, and this
could affect the value of and return on any Securities linked to a "benchmark".

There may be potential conflicts of interest relating to distributors or other entities
involved in the offer or listing of the Securities

Potential conflicts of interest may arise in connection with the Securities, as any distributors or
other entities involved in the offer and/or the listing of the Securities as indicated in the relevant
Final Terms, will act pursuant to a mandate granted by the Issuer and can receive commissions
and/or fees on the basis of the services performed in relation to such offer and/or listing.

Additional conflicts of interests associated with Securities linked to a Proprietary Index

Potential conflicts of interest may arise in relation to Goldman Sachs' multiple roles in
connection with a Proprietary Index. Although the Goldman Sachs Group will perform its
obligations in a manner that it considers commercially reasonable, it may face conflicts between
the roles it performs in respect of a Proprietary Index and its own interests. In particular, the
Goldman Sachs Group may have, or enter into transactions to create, a physical, economic or
other interest (including an adverse and/or short interest, as the case may be) in a Relevant Index,
products linked thereto, any Strategy Component and/or investments referenced by or linked to
any Strategy Component, and may exercise remedies or take other action with respect to its
interests as it deems appropriate. These actions could adversely affect the Strategy Value and
may include the following:

(i) The Goldman Sachs Group actively trades products linked to each Relevant Index, any
Strategy Component, investments referenced by or linked to a Strategy Component and
numerous related investments. These activities could adversely affect the Strategy Value,
which could in turn affect the return on, and the value of, Securities linked to a
Proprietary Index.

(i) The Goldman Sachs Group may have access to information relating to a Relevant Index,
products linked thereto, a Strategy Component, or investments referenced by or linked
to a Strategy Component. The Goldman Sachs Group is not obliged to use that
information for the benefit of any person acquiring or entering into Securities linked to
a Proprietary Index.

(iii)  Certain activities conducted by the Goldman Sachs Group may conflict with the interests
of those acquiring Securities linked to a Proprietary Index. It is possible that the Goldman
Sachs Group could receive substantial returns in respect of these activities while the
value of any investment referenced to such Strategy may decline. For example:

(@)  The Goldman Sachs Group and other parties may issue or underwrite additional
securities or trade other financial or derivative instruments or investments
referenced to a Relevant Index or other similar strategies or any Strategy
Component. An increased level of investment and trading in these securities,
instruments or investments may negatively affect the performance of a Relevant
Index and could affect the value of the Strategy Value of a Relevant Index and,
therefore, the amount payable at maturity (or on any other payment date) on
Securities linked to a Proprietary Index and the value before maturity of such
Securities. Such securities, instruments or investments may also compete with
Securities linked to a Proprietary Index. By introducing competing products into
the marketplace in this manner, the Goldman Sachs Group could adversely affect
the market value of Securities linked to a Proprietary Index and the amount paid
by it on such Securities at maturity (or on any other payment date). To the extent
that the Goldman Sachs Group serves as issuer, agent, underwriter or counterparty
in respect of those securities or other similar instruments or investments, its
interests in respect of those securities, instruments or investments may be adverse
to the interests of a holder of Securities linked to a Proprietary Index.
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(b)

(©)

(d)

Although the Goldman Sachs Group is not obliged to do so, it may elect to hedge
its exposure to a Relevant Index, any products linked thereto, a Strategy
Component, or any investment referenced by or linked to a Strategy Component
with an affiliate or a third party. That affiliate or third party, in turn, is likely to
directly or indirectly hedge some or all of its exposure, including through
transactions taking place on the futures and options markets. Where the Goldman
Sachs Group chooses to hedge its exposure, it may adjust or unwind such hedges
by purchasing or selling products linked to a Relevant Index, a Strategy
Component, any investments referenced by or linked to a Strategy Component,
or any other product on or before the date such Relevant Index is valued for
purposes of any investments referenced to such Relevant Index. The Goldman
Sachs Group may also enter into, adjust or unwind hedging transactions relating
to other instruments linked to a Relevant Index or a Strategy Component,
including at times and/or levels which are different from those used to determine
the Strategy Value. Any of this hedging activity may adversely affect the Strategy
Value of a Relevant Index and the value of any Securities linked to a Proprietary
Index. In addition, and without limitation:

()] The Goldman Sachs Group could receive substantial returns with respect
to these hedging activities while the Strategy Value of a Relevant Index
and/or the value of Securities linked to a Proprietary Index may decline.

(1) The Goldman Sachs Group could receive substantial returns if it trades in
a Strategy Component on or before the rebalancing of a Relevant Index
and/or at levels which are different from the levels specified in the
methodology for determining the Strategy Value of a Relevant Index. Such
trading may have an adverse impact on the level at which a rebalancing
occurs, which may result in an adverse impact on the performance of a
Relevant Index. In addition, such trading could generate significant returns
to the Goldman Sachs Group that will not be passed on to the investors in
Securities linked to a Proprietary Index.

(1) In respect of Securities linked to the Strategy, to the extent that the
Hedging Party or any affiliate may hold a physical position in an
Underlying Fund, the Hedging Party may receive payments by way of fee
rebates from the manager, the investment advisor and/or an affiliate of the
relevant Underlying Fund linked to the size of such holding. Such fee
rebates will not be included in the costs applied to the Underlying Strategy
or the Strategy but the benefit of any rebate will benefit the Hedging Party
and will have an impact on the pricing of Securities linked to the Strategy.

Certain activities conducted by the Goldman Sachs Group may conflict with the
interests of those acquiring Securities linked to a Proprietary Index. For example,
as described above, the Goldman Sachs Group may elect to hedge its obligations,
if any, with an affiliate or a third party. It is possible that the Goldman Sachs
Group could receive substantial returns with respect to these activities irrespective
of the performance of a Proprietary Index and including while the value of any
investment in Securities linked to such Proprietary Index may decline.

The Goldman Sachs Group may also engage in trading for its proprietary
accounts, for other accounts under its management or to facilitate transactions,
including block transactions, on behalf of customers relating to one or more
products linked to a Relevant Index, a Strategy Component or any constituent
thereof and/or any investment referenced by or linked to a Strategy Component
or any constituent thereof. In the course of these transactions, the Goldman Sachs
Group's customers may receive information about a Relevant Index before it is
made available to other investors. Any of these activities could also adversely
affect the Strategy Value of such Relevant Index directly or indirectly by affecting
the level of a Strategy Component or any constituent thereof or the investments
referenced by or linked to a Strategy Component or any constituent thereof and,
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(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

therefore, the market value of Securities linked to the relevant Proprietary Index
and the amount paid on any such Securities at maturity.

As operator or sponsor of a Relevant Index, under certain circumstances GSI will have
discretion in making various determinations that affect a Relevant Index and products
linked to it including, but not limited to, those situations described in the relevant Index
Rules. GSI may use these determinations to calculate how much cash it must pay at
maturity, or, as the case may be, upon any early redemption or on any other payment
date, of Securities linked to a Proprietary Index. The exercise by GSI of this discretion
could adversely affect the Strategy Value of such Proprietary Index and the value of
Securities linked to it. It is possible that the exercise by the Strategy Sponsor of its
discretion to change the relevant methodology may result in substantial returns in respect
of the Goldman Sachs Group's trading activities for its proprietary accounts, for other
accounts under its management or to facilitate transactions on behalf of customers
relating to one or more products linked to a Relevant Index, and/or the Strategy
Components thereof or any investment referenced by or linked to such Strategy
Components.

In respect of Securities linked to the Strategy, following the occurrence of an Additional
Market Disruption Event in respect of one or more Underlying Funds, the Strategy
Sponsor may, acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, determine
appropriate amendments to or make certain discretionary determinations in respect of
the Underlying Strategy. The amendments and/or determinations made by the Strategy
Sponsor may result in a material loss of Strategy Value and may benefit Goldman Sachs
in its capacity as issuer of Securities linked to the Strategy and, consequently, lead to a
conflict of interest.

As operator or sponsor of one or more Strategy Components, the Goldman Sachs Group
members may be entitled to exercise discretion over decisions that would have an adverse
impact on the Strategy Value of a Relevant Index, including, without limitation,
discontinuing publication of the level of one or more Strategy Components. The
Goldman Sachs Group members will exercise any such discretion without regard to a
Relevant Index or investors in Securities linked to the relevant Proprietary Index.

The Goldman Sachs Group may in the future create and publish other indices or
strategies, the concepts of which are similar, or identical, to that of a Relevant Index or
one or more of the Strategy Components. The Strategy Component(s), as specified in the
relevant Index Rules, however, are the only components that will be used for the
calculation of the Relevant Index. Accordingly, no other published indices should be
treated by any investor as the level of any Strategy Component (except as the Strategy
Sponsor or any Calculation Agent may so determine, as described above).

The Goldman Sachs Group may publish research, express opinions or provide
recommendations (for example, with respect to a Strategy Component) that are
inconsistent with investing in Securities linked to a Proprietary Index, and which may be
revised at any time. Any such research, opinions or recommendations may or may not
recommend that investors buy or hold the relevant Strategy Component and could affect
the value and or performance of the relevant Proprietary Index and of Securities linked
to such Proprietary Index.

The Goldman Sachs Group may have ownership interests in sponsors of Strategy
Components and as such may be able to influence the methodology and other features of
such Strategy Components. In addition, members of the Goldman Sachs Group may
provide pricing or other data that is directly used in the calculation of the level, coupon
and/or components of Strategy Components (or the components thereof). The activities
of the Goldman Sachs Group members as contributor to any Strategy Components may
be adverse to the interests of investors and/or counterparties to products linked to any
such Strategy Components and may have an impact on the performance of such Strategy
Components.
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7.12

8.1

(X)  The Goldman Sachs Group may have ownership interests in any Strategy Calculation
Agent (or any other calculation agent with respect to a Relevant Index or Strategy
Component) and any third party data providers with respect to a Relevant Index or any
Strategy Component and as such may be able to influence the determinations of such a
Calculation Agent or other calculation agent. GSG owns a noncontrolling interest in
Solactive AG, which acts as the Strategy Calculation Agent of each Relevant Index. In
addition, members of the Goldman Sachs Group may provide pricing or other data that
is directly used in the calculation of the level, coupon and/or components of a Relevant
Index. The activities of the Goldman Sachs Group members as contributor to a Relevant
Index may be adverse to the interests of investors in Securities linked to a Proprietary
Index and may have an impact on the performance of such Proprietary Index.

Discretionary powers of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent including in relation to our
hedging arrangements

As described elsewhere in these risk factors, the occurrence of certain events — relating to the
Issuer, our hedging arrangements, the Underlying Asset(s), taxation, the relevant currency or
other matters — may give rise to discretionary powers on our part (as Issuer or as Calculation
Agent) under the terms and conditions of the Securities.

In relation to the Underlying Asset(s), a key investment objective of the Securities is to allow
holders to gain an economic exposure to the Underlying Asset(s). Therefore, if an Underlying
Asset is materially impacted by an unexpected event or the relevant level, price, rate, net asset
value or other applicable value can no longer be calculated, then it may not be possible to
achieve the investment objective of your Securities based on their original terms. In that case,
we may have discretionary powers under the terms and conditions of the Securities (as described
elsewhere in these risk factors) to (i) adjust the terms and conditions of the Securities to preserve
the original economic terms and rationale, (ii) in certain cases, substitute the Underlying
Asset(s) for another, (iii) calculate the relevant level, price, rate, net asset value or other
applicable value itself, (iv) postpone payment, (v) redeem the Securities early or (vi) apply some
combination thereof.

In relation to our hedging arrangements, we (including through one or more affiliates of the
relevant Issuer and the relevant Guarantor) may enter into one or more arrangements to cover
our exposure to the relevant cash amounts to be paid or assets to be delivered under the
Securities as these fall due. We describe some of the potential types of arrangements in risk
factor 7.1 (Anticipated hedging activities by Goldman Sachs or our distributors may negatively
impact investors in the Securities and cause our interests and those of our clients and
counterparties to be contrary to those of investors in the Securities) above. The particular
hedging arrangements (if any) undertaken by us, and their cost, will likely be a significant
determinant of the price and the economic terms and conditions of your Securities. Accordingly,
if an event occurs which negatively impacts our hedging arrangements, we may have
discretionary powers under the terms and conditions of your Securities as described in the
paragraph immediately above to account for such impact on our hedging arrangements. The
exercise by us of such discretionary powers may have a negative impact on the value of and
return on your Securities.

Risks associated with taxation
Tax laws may change and this may have a negative impact on your Securities

Tax law and practice is subject to change, possibly with retrospective effect and this could
adversely affect the value of your Securities to you and/or their market value generally. Any
such change may (i) cause the tax treatment of the relevant Securities to change from what you
understood the position to be at the time of purchase; (ii) render the statements in this document
concerning relevant tax law and practice in relation to the Securities inaccurate or inapplicable
in some or all respects to certain Securities or have the effect that this document does not include
material tax considerations in relation to certain Securities; or (iii) give us the right to redeem
the Securities early, if such change has the effect that (a) our performance under the Securities
or (b) (save in respect of Belgian Securities) our hedging transaction relating to the Securities is
unlawful (save in respect of Belgian Securities) or impracticable (see risk factor 3.1 (Your
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8.2

8.3

Securities may be redeemed prior to maturity due to a change in law event, and you may lose
some or all of your investment)).

Payments on Securities that are issued by GSFCI may be subject to United States withholding
tax

GSFCl is classified as a branch of a United States subsidiary of GSG for United States federal
income tax purposes, and therefore any Securities that are issued by GSFCI will be treated as
issued by a United States corporation for United States federal income tax purposes.
Accordingly, payments on Securities that are issued by GSFCI may be subject to United States
withholding tax in the same manner as securities issued by a United States corporation. See the
discussion below under "Taxation — United States Tax Considerations — Securities Issued by
GSFCI".

Payments on Securities that reference United States equities may be subject to United States
withholding tax

Securities that directly or indirectly reference the performance of United States equities
(including an index or basket that includes United States equities) may be subject to withholding
tax under Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code").
Prospective holders of such Securities should consult the discussion below under "Taxation —
United States Tax Considerations — Dividend Equivalent Payments" for further information.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This document should be read and construed in conjunction with each supplement to this Base Prospectus
and the documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

1.

Goldman Sachs International

GSiI files documents and information with the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the
"CSSF"). The following documents, which GSI has filed with the CSSF, are hereby incorporated by
reference into this Base Prospectus:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

The Unaudited Quarterly Financial Report of GSI for the period ended 29 February 2020
("GSI's 2020 First Quarter Financial Report"), containing, in Part 11, the Unaudited Financial
Statements of GSI for the period ended 29 February 2020 ("GSl's 2020 First Quarter
Financial  Statements"). (accessible on  https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-
relations/redirects/gsi-02-29-20-financial-statements );

The Annual Report for the period ended 30 November 2019 of GSI ("GSl's 2019 Annual
Report™), containing, in Part 11, the Directors' Report and Audited Financial Statements of GSI
for the period ended 30 November 2019 ("GSI's 2019 Financial Statements™) (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/redirects/gsi-11-30-19-financial-
statements );

The report on the Regulatory Ratios of Goldman Sachs International for the fiscal quarter ended
31 December 2019 ("GSI's Regulatory Ratios, 31 December 2019"). (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/disclosures/pdfs/gsi-requlatory-ratios-31-dec-2019.pdf );

The Annual Report for the fiscal year ended 30 November 2018 of GSI ("GSl's 2018 Annual
Report™), containing, in Part 11, the Directors' Report and Audited Financial Statements of GSI
for the period ended 30 November 2018 ("GSl's 2018 Financial Statements") (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/redirects/gsi-11-30-18-financial-statements

).

Cross-Reference List

GSI Information in GSl's 2020 First
the Financial Quarter Financial GSI's 2019 Annual GSl's 2018 Annual
Statements Report Report Report
Management Report/ pp. 2-16 pp. 2-41 pp. 2-41
Strategic Report
Report of the Directors N/A pp. 42-43 pp. 42-43
Balance Sheet p. 18 p.51 p. 50
Profit  and Loss p. 17 p. 50 p. 49
Account
Statement of Cash p. 20 p. 53 p. 52
Flows
Notes to the Financial pp. 21-39 pp. 54-95 pp. 53-94
Statements
Independent Auditors' N/A pp. 44-49 pp. 44-48
Report
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

GSlI's Regulatory Ratios, 31 December 2019
Introduction Page 1

Regulatory Ratios Page 1

Any information included in the documents incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-
reference list is not incorporated by reference and is therefore not relevant to an investor (meaning that
it is not necessary information to be included in the Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 6(1) of the
Prospectus Regulation and is not otherwise required to be included under the relevant schedules of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 supplementing Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the
European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004, (as
amended, the "PR Regulation™).

2. Goldman Sachs & Co Wertpapier GmbH

The following documents, which have previously been published and have been filed with the CSSF,
shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

@ The German language version of the (i) Financial Statements for the period ending 31 December
2019 and the Management Report for the Financial Year 2019 and (ii) Auditors' Report thereon
((i) and (ii) are accessible on http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/106afc3c1323224eba8da7d7bab9aa76d8)
(together with, in each case, an unofficial English translation thereof, for which GSW accepts
responsibility, accessible on http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10a71cc0fd4500402a8ea2b14b9906514b)
("GSW's 2019 Financial Statements"); and

(b) The German language version of the (i) Financial Statements for the period ending 31 December
2018 and the Management Report for the Financial Year 2018 and (ii) Auditors' Report thereon
((i) and (ii) are accessible on http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/108154e3a2994c41d0a007166728ad95f0)
(together with, in each case, an unofficial English translation thereof, for which GSW accepts
responsibility, accessible on http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10cdaa4bdc720f44dd8987f504020d12ce)
("GSW's 2018 Financial Statements").

Cross Reference List

GSW Information

in the Financial GSW's 2018 Financial
Statements GSW's 2019 Financial Statements* Statements*

Balance Sheet p. 11 p. 11
Profit and Loss p. 13 p. 13
Account/Income
Statement
Cash Flow Statement p. 19, 23 p. 25
Notes to the p. 15-20 pp. 15-21

Financial Statements

Independent p. 25-30 pp. 27-32
Auditors' Report

Statement of p. 21 p. 23
Changes in Equity

* The page numbers referenced above in relation to GSW's 2019 Financial Statements and GSW's 2018 Financial Statements relate
to the order in which the pages appear in the PDF version of such document.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

Only the German language versions of GSW's 2019 Financial Statements and GSW's 2018 Financial
Statements relating to GSW are legally binding. The page references above refer to the English language
versions of GSW's 2019 Financial Statements and GSW's 2018 Financial Statements.

Any information included in the documents incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-
reference list is not incorporated by reference and is therefore not relevant to an investor (meaning that
is not necessary information to be included in the Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 6(1) of the
Prospectus Regulation and is not otherwise required to be included under the relevant schedules of the
PR Regulation).

3. Goldman Sachs Finance Corp International Ltd

The following documents, which have previously been published and have been filed with the CSSF,
shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

@) The Annual Report for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2019 of GSFCI ("GSFCI's 2019
Annual Report"), which includes the management report and the audited financial statements of
GSFCI for the period ended 31 December 2019 ("GSFCI's 2019 Financial Statements")
(accessible on https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/redirects/gsfci-31-december-
2019-financial-statements ); and

(b) The Annual Report for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018 of GSFCI ("GSFCI's 2018
Annual Report"), which includes the management report and the audited financial statements of
GSFCI for the period ended 31 December 2018 ("GSFCI's 2018 Financial Statements")
(accessible on https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/redirects/gsfci-31-december-
2018-financial-statements.html ).

Cross-Reference List

GSFCI Information in the GSFCl's 2019
Financial Statements Annual Report GSFCI's 2018 Annual Report

Management Report pp.2-3 pp.3-5
Profit and Loss Account p.10 p.11
Balance Sheet p.11 p.12
Statement of Changes in Equity p.12 p.13
Statement of Cash Flows p.12 p.13
Notes to the Financial Statements p.13-27 pp.14-29
Independent Auditors' Report pp.5-9 pp.7-10
Information required by the PR regulation Document/Location

Expected financing of GSFCI's activities (Annex

6, Item 4, Item 4.1.8 of the PR Regulation) GSFCI's 2019 Annual Report (pp. 2-3)

Any information included in the documents incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-
reference list is not incorporated by reference and is therefore not relevant to an investor (meaning that
it is not necessary information to be included in the Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 6(1) of the
Prospectus Regulation and is not otherwise required to be included under the relevant schedules of the
PR Regulation).
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4.

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

GSG files documents and information with the SEC. The following documents, which have previously
been published and filed with the SEC, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and to form
part of, this Base Prospectus:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

The Current Report on Form 8-K dated 15 July 2020 for the second fiscal quarter ended 30 June
2020 of The Goldman Sacks Group Inc. ("GSG's 15 July 2020 Form 8-K") including Exhibit
99.1 ("Exhibit 99.1 to GSG's 15 July 2020 Form 8-K") as filed with the SEC on 15 July 2020
(accessible on https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/financials/current/8k/8k-07-

15-20.pdf);

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first fiscal quarter ended 31 March 2020 of the
Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG's 2020 First Quarter Form 10-Q"), as filed with the SEC
on 30 April 2020 2020; (accessible on https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-
relations/redirects/10-g-2020-1q );

The Proxy Statement relating to GSG's 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders on 30 April 2020
("GSG's 2020 Proxy Statement"), as filed with the SEC on 20 March 2020; (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/redirects/2020-proxy-statement-pdf ); and

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2019 of The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG's 2019 Form 10-K"), containing financial statements relating to the
fiscal years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, including Exhibit 21.1, as filed
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on 21 February 2020; (accessible on
https://www.goldmansachs.com/investor-relations/redirects/2019-10K ).

The following table indicates where information required by the PR Regulation is to be disclosed in, and
incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus can be found in the documents referred to above:

Information required by the PR Regulation

Document/Location

Risk factors relating to GSG (Annex 6, Section 3, Item 3.1 of the PR
Regulation)

Information about GSG

History and development of the company (Annex 6, Section 4, Item 4.1
of the PR Regulation)

Business overview

GSG's principal activities (Annex 6, Section 5, Item 5.1 of the PR
Regulation)

GSG's principal markets (Annex 6, Section 5, Item 5.1.1 (c) of the PR
Regulation)

Organisational Structure (Annex 6, Section 6, Items 6.1 and 6.2 of the
PR Regulation)

Trend information (Annex 6, Section 7, Items 7.1 and 7.2 of the PR
Regulation)

Expected financing of GSG's activities (Annex 6, Item 4, Item 4.1.8 of
the PR Regulation)
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GSG's 2019 Form 10-K
(pp. 23-44)

GSG's 2019 Form 10-K
(p-1)

GSG's 2019 Form 10-K
(pp. 1-5, 109)

GSG's 2019 Form 10-K
(pp. 1-7, 45, 184)

GSG's 2019 Form 10-K
(pp. 749-750 (PDF page
reference) of Exhibit 21.1)

GSG's 2019 Form 10-K
(pp. 46-101)

GSG's 15 July 2020 Form
8-K (pp. 5-18 (PDF page
reference) of Exhibit 99.1)

GSG's 2019 Form 10-K
(pp. 105-108, 133-144)
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Administrative, management and supervisory bodies, including
conflicts of interest (Annex 6, Section 9, Items 9.1 and 9.2 of the PR
Regulation)

Beneficial owners of more than five per cent. (Annex 6, Section 10, Item
10.1 of the PR Regulation)

Financial information

Audited historical financial information for the fiscal years ended 31
December 2019, 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 (Annex 6,
Section 11, Items 11.1.1 and 11.1.5 of the PR Regulation)

Audit report (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.1.1 of the PR
Regulation)

Balance sheet (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.1.5 of the PR
Regulation)

Income statement (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.1.5 of the PR
Regulation)

Cash flow statement (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.1.5 of the
PR Regulation)

Accounting policies and explanatory notes (Annex 6, Section
11, Item 11.1.5 of the PR Regulation)

Unaudited interim and other financial information (Annex 6, Section 11,
Item 11.2.1 of the PR Regulation)

Balance sheet (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.2.1 of the PR
Regulation)

Income statement (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.2.1 of the PR
Regulation)

Cash flow statement (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.2.1 of the
PR Regulation)

Accounting policies and explanatory notes (Annex 6, Section
11, Item 11.2.1 of the PR Regulation)

Legal and arbitration proceedings (Annex 6, Section 11, Item 11.4.1 of
the PR Regulation)

Additional information

Share capital (Annex 6, Section 12, Item 12.1 of the PR Regulation)
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Any information included in the documents incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-
reference list is not incorporated by reference and is therefore not relevant to an investor (meaning that
it is not necessary information to be included in this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 6(1) of the
Prospectus Regulation and is not otherwise required to be included under the relevant schedules of the
PR Regulation.

5. 29 May 2019 Base Prospectus

The base prospectus dated 29 May 2019 relating to the issuance of Warrants, Notes and Certificates by
Goldman Sachs International, Goldman, Sachs & Co. Wertpapier GmbH and Goldman Sachs Finance
Corp International Ltd (the "May 2019 Base Prospectus”) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10f1c7393cfh5644ad4ac3bd6202cee29fa) is hereby incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus.

Cross Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the May 2019 Page references
Base Prospectus

General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments Pages 142 to 211
General Terms and Conditions of the Notes Pages 212 to 275
Coupon Payout Conditions Pages 276 to 290
Autocall Payout Conditions Pages 291 to 295
Payout Conditions Pages 296 to 331
EIS Note Payout Conditions Pages 332 to 334
Share Linked Conditions Pages 342 to 369
Index Linked Conditions Pages 379 to 411
Commodity Linked Conditions Pages 418 to 456
FX Linked Conditions Pages 460 to 478
Inflation Linked Conditions Pages 481 to 485
Multi-Asset Basket Linked Conditions Pages 490 to 500

Form of Final Terms (Instruments) (the "May 2019 Form of Pages 503 to 585
Final Terms (Instruments)")*

Form of Final Terms (Notes) (the "May 2019 Form of Final Pages 588 to 672
Terms (Notes)")**

* Save as provided in paragraph 12(i) (Final Terms for certain fungible issuances) and paragraph
13 (Securities with offer periods continuing beyond the validity of the May 2019 Base
Prospectus) of the section of this Base Prospectus entitled "Important Legal Information”.

** Save as provided in paragraph 12(i) (Final Terms for certain fungible issuances) and paragraph
13 (Securities with offer periods continuing beyond the validity of the May 2019 Base
Prospectus) of the section of this Base Prospectus entitled "Important Legal Information”.

6. 18 July 2019 Base Prospectus
The base prospectus dated 18 July 2019 relating to the issuance of Warrants, Notes and Certificates by

Goldman Sachs International, Goldman, Sachs & Co. Wertpapier GmbH and Goldman Sachs Finance
Corp International  Ltd (the "July 2019 Base Prospectus") (accessible on
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/102d4aec32e8a94227846572ch972f9bad) is hereby incorporated by reference
into this Base Prospectus.

Cross Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the July 2019 Page references
Base Prospectus

General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments Pages 171 to 248
General Terms and Conditions of the Notes Pages 249 to 324
Coupon Payout Conditions Pages 325 to 342
Autocall Payout Conditions Pages 343 to 348
Payout Conditions Pages 349 to 385
EIS Note Payout Conditions Pages 386 to 388
Share Linked Conditions Pages 396 to 423
Index Linked Conditions Pages 433 to 469
Commodity Linked Conditions Pages 476 to 514
FX Linked Conditions Pages 518 to 536
Inflation Linked Conditions Pages 539 to 543
Fund Linked Conditions Pages 547-559

Multi-Asset Basket Linked Conditions Pages 564 to 574

Form of Final Terms (Instruments) (the "July 2019 Form of Pages 577 to 665
Final Terms (Instruments))*

Form of Final Terms (Notes) (the "July 2019 Form of Final Pages 668 to 755
Terms (Notes)")**

* Save as provided in paragraph 12(i) (Final Terms for certain fungible issuances) and paragraph
13 (Securities with offer periods continuing beyond the validity of the July 2019 Base
Prospectus) of the section of this Base Prospectus entitled "Important Legal Information”.

** Save as provided in paragraph 12(i) (Final Terms for certain fungible issuances) and paragraph
13 (Securities with offer periods continuing beyond the validity of the July 2019 Base
Prospectus) of the section of this Base Prospectus entitled "Important Legal Information”.

7. Prospectus Supplement No.1 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 14 August 2019 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus ("Prospectus Supplement No.1
to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10deb9997ha54a4268b6e71b9aa5c24c02) is hereby incorporated by reference
into this Base Prospectus.

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No. 1 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 9 to 10
the Instruments”
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 10 to 11

the Notes"

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 11 to 12

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Pages 12 to 13

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Guaranty" Pages 13 to 15
8. Prospectus Supplement No.2 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 19 September 2019 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus ("Prospectus Supplement
No.2 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/103afcl4ceb7694e658ch0a63b8a90b364) is hereby incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus.

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No. 2 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "Coupon Payout Conditions" Pages 4 to 8

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 8 to 10

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Pages 10 to 12
9. Prospectus Supplement No.3 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 3 October 2019 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus ("Prospectus Supplement No.3
to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/100e8d4065278d4238801e4e769f427c06) is hereby incorporated by reference
into this Base Prospectus.

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No.3 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 7 to 8
the Instruments"

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 8t0 9
the Notes"

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 9to 11
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Pages 11 to 13

10. Prospectus Supplement No.5 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 13 November 2019 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus ("Prospectus Supplement
No.5 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/10728fd98800ce482d9bde61c8f3daad0b) is hereby incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No. 5 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 8t0 9
the Instruments”

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Page 9
the Notes"

Amendments to the section entitled "Payout Conditions" Page 9
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 9to 11
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Pages 11 to 13

11. Prospectus Supplement No.6 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 8 January 2020 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus ("Prospectus Supplement No.6
to the July 2019 Base Prospectus") (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1008c00a57188340908chdaf6e4 7a8b0f9) is hereby incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus.

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No. 6 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 2 to 4
the Instruments"

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 4 to 6
the Notes"

Amendments to the section entitled "Payout Conditions" Pages 6 to 7
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 7 to 10
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Pages 10 to 14

12. Prospectus Supplement No.7 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 10 February 2020 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus (“Prospectus Supplement
No.7 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/101a88925715304246a1f106b6a40548ce) is hereby incorporated by reference
into this Base Prospectus.

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No. 7 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "Coupon Payout Conditions" Pages 11 to 13
Amendments to the section entitled "Autocall Payout Conditions" Page 13

Amendments to the section entitled "Payout Conditions" Pages 13 to 15
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 15 to 20
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Pages 20 to 24

13. Prospectus Supplement No.8 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 9 March 2020 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus (“Prospectus Supplement No.8
to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/1034396559eac44c76af198e79b349a283) is hereby incorporated by reference
into this Base Prospectus.

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus Pade references
Supplement No. 8 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus g
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 10 to 11

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Page 11

14, Prospectus Supplement No.9 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 7 April 2020 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus ("Prospectus Supplement No.9
to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/1010e6ad298ef94627b4d19a058f53b16c¢) is hereby incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus.

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No. 9 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Page 19
the Instruments"

Amendments to the section entitled "General Terms and Conditions of Pages 19 to 20
the Notes"

Amendments to the section entitled "Coupon Payout Conditions" Pages 20 to 21
Amendments to the section entitled "Autocall Payout Conditions" Pages 21 to 22
Amendments to the section entitled "Payout Conditions" Pages 22 to 23
Amendments to the section entitled "Index Linked Conditions" Pages 23 t0 24
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Pages 24 to 25
Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Notes)" Page 25

15. Prospectus Supplement No.10 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus

The supplement dated 21 April 2020 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus ("Prospectus Supplement No.10
to the July 2019 Base Prospectus™) (accessible on
http://dl.bourse.lu/dIp/1079487426a3144a97b54b5583159b71dd) is hereby incorporated by reference
into this Base Prospectus.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

Cross-Reference List

Information incorporated by reference from the Prospectus

Supplement No. 10 to the July 2019 Base Prospectus Page references

Amendments to the section entitled "Form of Final Terms (Instruments)" Page 5

Investors who have not previously reviewed the information contained in the above documents should
do so in connection with their evaluation of any Securities. Any statement contained in a document or
the relevant portion of which is incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus, shall be deemed to
be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained
in this Base Prospectus or in any supplement to this Base Prospectus filed under Article 16 of the
Prospectus Regulation, including any documents incorporated therein by reference, modifies or
supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise).

The documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus are available to investors by request
from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New York, New York 10282, USA, telephone +1 (212) 902-
0300 and from the Luxembourg Paying Agent, Banque Internationale a Luxembourg at its office at 69
route d'Esch, L-2953 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. The documents incorporated by
reference are also available on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's website (www.bourse.lu).
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Commonly Asked Questions

COMMONLY ASKED QUESTIONS ABOUT THE PROGRAMME

List of Questions

Questions about this Programme

1. Who are the Issuers under this Programme?

2. Who is the Guarantor under this Programme?

3. Who can purchase Securities under this Programme?

4, What type of Securities can be issued under this Programme?

Questions about the documents in respect of an issuance of Securities

5. What documents do I need to read in respect of an issuance of Securities?
6. What information is included in this Base Prospectus?
7. What information is included in the Issue Terms?

Questions about risks of investing in the Securities

8. Are purchasers subject to the credit risk of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor with respect
to the amount payable (if any) to a purchaser of Securities?

9. How much of an investment is at risk?

Questions about purchase, ownership or sale of Securities

10. Who are the "holders" of Securities?

11. What rights do holders have against an Issuer?

12. How is ownership of the Securities recorded?

13. What do investors have to do to exercise their rights in respect of the Securities?
14. How are payments made to investors?

15. When are payments made to purchasers?

16. Do Securities have a minimum denomination or trading size?

17. Will purchasers be able to sell their Securities?

18. What will be the price of the Securities in such circumstances?

19. Avre there any fees, expenses or taxes to pay when purchasing, holding or selling Securities?
20. Can an Issuer redeem or terminate the Securities before their stated maturity date?
21. Can an Issuer amend the Conditions of Securities once they have been issued?

Questions about the Calculation Agent

22. Who calculates the amounts payable to purchasers?
23. What further determinations may the Calculation Agent have to make?
24, Are the Calculation Agent's determinations binding on purchasers?
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Questions about the *"coupon®, ""autocall’* and "'payout’ terms of the Securities
25. What are the Coupon Payout Conditions?

26. What are the Autocall Payout Conditions?

27. What are the Payout Conditions?

28. What are the EIS Note Payout Conditions?

Questions on the type of Underlying Asset linked Securities issued under this Programme

29. What type of Underlying Assets may be linked to Securities issued under this Programme?
30. What are share linked securities?

3L What are index linked securities?

32. What are commaodity linked securities?

33. What are foreign exchange rate linked securities?

34, What are inflation linked securities?

35. What are multi-asset basket linked securities?

36. What are EIS Notes?

37. What are exchange traded futures and options contracts on underlying indices?

Questions about this Programme
1. Who are the Issuers under this Programme?

The Issuers of securities under this programme are Goldman Sachs International ("GSI"), Goldman,
Sachs & Co. Wertpapier GmbH ("GSW") and Goldman Sachs Finance Corp International Ltd
("GSFCI").

Goldman Sachs International is an international investment banking organisation, incorporated in
England, authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority, regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority and an authorised person under the Financial Services
and Markets Act 2000 of the United Kingdom. The ultimate parent company of GSI is The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG"). The legal entity identifier ("LEI") in respect of GSI is
W22LROWP2IHZNBB6K528.

Goldman, Sachs & Co. Wertpapier GmbH is a company with limited liability incorporated in Germany
for the purpose of issuing securities and entering into the contractual arrangements contemplated in this
Base Prospectus, and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSG. The LEI in respect of GSW is
549300CRL28LF3CSEA14.

Goldman Sachs Finance Corp International Ltd is a company with limited liability incorporated in Jersey
for the purpose of issuing securities and entering into the contractual arrangements contemplated in this
Base Prospectus, and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSG. The LEI in respect of GSFCI is
549300KQWCT26VXWW684.

2. Who is the Guarantor under this Programme?
Securities issued under the Programme will not have the benefit of a Guarantee, save as described below:
. Securities issued by GSW: The payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery

obligations of GSW under the Securities are guaranteed by either (as specified in the relevant
Issue Terms) (a) GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty (as described below) or (b) GSI pursuant
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to either (i) for Securities (other than EIS Notes), the GSI Guarantee or (ii) for EIS Notes, the
GSI (Cayman) Guarantee (each as described below).

Investors should carefully review the relevant Issue Terms to determine whether
Securities issued by GSW have the benefit of the GSG Guaranty, the GSI Guarantee or
the GSI (Cayman) Guarantee.

. Securities issued by GSFCI: The payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery
obligations of GSFCI under the Securities are guaranteed by GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty
(as described below).

. Securities issued by GSI: Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Issue Terms, Securities
issued by GSI will not have the benefit of a Guarantee. If specified in the relevant Issue
Terms, the payment obligations and (save as described below) delivery obligations of GSI under
the Securities are guaranteed by GSG pursuant to the GSG Guaranty (as described below).

Investors should carefully review the relevant Issue Terms to determine whether the
Securities issued by GSI have the benefit of the GSG Guaranty.

Each of the GSG Guaranty, GSI Guarantee and GSI (Cayman) Guarantee will rank pari passu with all
other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the relevant Guarantor.

If the Issuer fails to satisfy its delivery obligations under the Securities, the relevant Guarantor (if any)
is only obliged to pay a cash amount (the "Physical Settlement Disruption Amount") instead of
delivering the Deliverable Assets.

GSG is the parent holding company of the Goldman Sachs Group (the "Group™). The Group is a leading
global investment banking, securities and investment management firm that provides a wide range of
financial services to a substantial and diversified client base that includes corporations, financial
institutions, governments and individuals.

3. Who can purchase Securities under this Programme?

A potential purchaser must hold an appropriate account enabling his or her interest in the Securities to
be recorded, and can only purchase securities in compliance with the applicable regulations. The offering,
sale and delivery of the Securities in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose
possession this Base Prospectus or any Issue Terms comes are required by the Issuers and (if applicable)
the Guarantor to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. Some, but not all, of the
selling restrictions are highlighted below:

(@)  Securities may not be offered, sold, resold, exercised, traded or delivered within the
United States or to U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act),
except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration
requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, securities issued by GSFCI may not be offered, sold, resold, exercised,
traded or delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit to, U.S.
persons at any time.

(b)  An instrument, but not a note, issued by GSI only may be offered and sold within the
United States exclusively to qualified institutional buyers ("QIBs") (as defined in Rule
144A under the Securities Act) in reliance on an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act for transactions not involving any public offering
("Private Placement Exemption™).

(c)  Awarrant issued by GSI only which is represented by a Regulation S/Rule 144A Global
Warrant may be (a) offered and sold to QIBs in reliance on the Private Placement
Exemption and (b) offered and sold to investors who are located outside the United States
and are not "U.S. persons” (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) (each, a
"Regulation S/Rule 144A Warrant").
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(d)  Securities relating to commodities and commodities futures (within the meaning of the
Commodity Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the CFTC thereunder), or
securities issuable upon exercise of certain the Securities, may not be offered, sold,
reoffered, resold, delivered, exercised or traded in or into the United States absent an
applicable exemption under the Commodity Exchange Act. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, securities issued by GSFCI relating to commodities and commaodities futures
(within the meaning of the Commaodity Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of
the CFTC thereunder), or securities issuable upon exercise of certain of the securities,
may not be offered, sold, reoffered, resold, delivered, exercised or traded in or into the
United States at any time.

(e)  Certain rights arising under an instrument will be exercisable (to the extent exercisable
rights exist) by the holder of instruments only upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial
ownership, unless the Issue Terms relating to an instrument expressly provides otherwise
in connection with an offering pursuant to the Private Placement Exemption.

f If the Issue Terms in respect of any Securities specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and
UK Retail Investors" to be "Applicable", then the Securities may not be made available
to any retail investor in the European Economic Area and the United Kingdom. If the
Issue Terms in respect of any Securities specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK
Retail Investors" to be "Not Applicable" in respect of a specified time period, then the
Securities may not be made available to any retail investor in the European Economic
Area and the United Kingdom unless a key information document required by Regulation
(EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation™) has been prepared.

() Inrespect of offers of Securities in Belgium, the Issuer will comply with the provisions
of the Belgian Code of Economic Law, especially the provisions on unfair terms in the
application of the terms and conditions as set out in the Base Prospectus and the relevant
Issue Terms relating to such Securities in Belgium, insofar as these provisions are
applicable.

4, What type of Securities can be issued under this Programme?

Under this Programme, each of the Issuers may issue different types of securities, namely Warrants and
Certificates, which are collectively known as "Instruments”, and "Notes", which together with
Instruments are collectively known as "Securities". The Securities may have any maturity. The Securities
may be listed and traded on a regulated or unregulated market on multilateral trading facilities or other
trading platforms, or not listed or traded; they may or may not be rated, they may bear no interest or bear
fixed or floating rate interest or bear interest that will be linked to the performance of one or more
Underlying Assets, in each case, depending on the type of Securities and investor demand.

Questions about the documents in respect of an issuance of Securities
5. What documents do I need to read in respect of an issuance of Securities?

There are several legal documents that an investor must read in respect of any Securities: (i) each
applicable section of this Base Prospectus (including the documents incorporated by reference in the
Base Prospectus) and (ii) the Issue Terms in respect of such trade (including the issue-specific summary
annexed to each relevant Issue Terms, if applicable).

6. What information is included in this Base Prospectus?

This Base Prospectus contains the general terms and conditions of all instruments in the section called
"General Instrument Conditions" and the general terms and conditions of all notes in the section called
"General Note Conditions". The General Instrument Conditions and the General Note Conditions may
be completed and/or amended by Coupon Payout Conditions, Autocall Payout Conditions, Payout
Conditions, the Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities or EIS Note Payout Conditions and as
may be further completed and/or amended by the Underlying Asset Conditions, which relate to the most
popular types of underlying assets, namely the Share Linked Conditions, the Index Linked Conditions,
the Commodity Linked Conditions, the FX Linked Conditions, the Inflation Linked Conditions, the Fund
Linked Conditions and the Multi-Asset Basket Linked Conditions.
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An overview of all of the information in this Base Prospectus is set out at the beginning of this Base
Prospectus, but like these commonly asked questions, the overview should only be read as an introduction
to the rest of the information in this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus also discloses financial and other information about each Issuer and each Guarantor
in respect of the Securities and incorporates by reference further financial information about such entities.
Such documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus are available to investors by request
from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New York, New York 10282, USA, telephone +1 (212) 902-
0300 and from the Luxembourg Paying Agent, Banque Internationale a Luxembourg at its office at 69
route d'Esch, L-2953 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange
will also publish such documents on its website at www.bourse.lu.

This Base Prospectus also discloses restrictions about who can buy such securities and risk factors
relating to securities issued under this Programme.

7. What information is included in the Issue Terms?

While the Base Prospectus includes general information about all securities, the Issue Terms is the
document that sets out the specific details of each particular issuance of securities. The Issue Terms will
contain, for example, the issue date, the maturity date and the methods used to calculate the redemption
amount and any interest payments and interest payment dates, if applicable and will specify which (if
any) of the Coupon Payout Conditions, the Autocall Payout Conditions, Payout Conditions,
Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities, EIS Note Payout Conditions and Underlying Asset
Conditions is applicable to the issuance.

Questions about risks of investing in the Securities

8. Are purchasers subject to the credit risk of the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the
relevant Guarantor with respect to the amount payable (if any) to a purchaser of
Securities?

Yes. The Securities (i) are not bank deposits and are not insured or guaranteed by the UK Financial
Services Compensation Scheme, the Jersey Depositors Compensation Scheme, the United States Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, the U.S. Deposit Insurance Fund or any other government or
governmental or private agency or deposit protection scheme in any jurisdiction and (ii) are unsecured
and uncollateralised obligations, and therefore purchasers have no recourse whatsoever to the relevant
Underlying Asset or any other assets in regard to the payments owing to them under the Securities.
Purchasers of Securities are therefore exposed to the creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and (if
applicable) the relevant Guarantor.

See the section entitled "Risk Factors" for more detailed information, in particular Section A (Factors
that may affect our ability to fulfil our obligations under the Securities).

9. How much of an investment is at risk?

For some Securities, as indicated in the Payout Conditions, purchasers will be entitled to receive 100 per
cent. of the face amount of the Securities on the Maturity Date, subject always to the creditworthiness of
the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the relevant Guarantor to make such payment (or deliver the
relevant Securities). If such Securities are sold prior to the Maturity Date or in certain circumstances if
the Securities are repaid early, such purchaser may not receive the entire face amount of such Security,
and may receive less than the amount that they invested.

For other Securities, a purchaser's investment may be at risk as they may receive an amount less than
their original investment on the Maturity Date and may even lose their entire investment. In such
circumstances, the value of the Securities can fluctuate and there is no guarantee that the value of the
Securities will increase or that they will retain their value.

The Autocall Payout Conditions and/or the Payout Conditions or the EIS Note Payout Conditions, as
applicable, will specify whether, and in what circumstances, a purchaser's investment is at risk.
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Questions about purchase, ownership or sale of Securities
10. Who are the "*holders™ of Securities?

The expression "holders™ refers to those who are shown in the records of the clearing systems as the
holder of an amount of Securities. Accordingly, only those who have an account at a clearing system will
be holders and only holders have direct rights against the relevant Issuer. Holders do not include investors
who own Securities indirectly (for example through a selling agent). Investors who hold only the
beneficial interests in the Securities must exercise their rights through the intermediary holding an
account at the relevant clearing system.

In respect of Securities governed by French law, such person is entitled to take any action with respect
to the relevant Securities except if such right is deferred to the "Masse" for the defence of the common
interest of the holders.

11. What rights do holders have against an Issuer?

Securities issued under the programme will constitute direct, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations
of the relevant Issuer and will rank equally among themselves and with all other direct unsubordinated
and unsecured obligations of such Issuer.

A holder's rights may include the right to have the principal amount of securities repaid by such Issuer
at maturity, the right to receive interest based on the principal amount of such securities or otherwise, the
right to receive a cash amount from the relevant Issuer calculated in accordance with the Coupon Payout
Conditions, the Autocall Payout Conditions, the Payout Conditions, the Supplementary Provisions for
Belgian Securities and/or the EIS Note Payout Conditions, as applicable, or the right to receive delivery
of a specified asset or assets against payment of a specified sum, all as more particularly described in the
applicable Coupon Payout Conditions, the Autocall Payout Conditions, the Payout Conditions,
Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities and/or the EIS Note Payout Conditions, as applicable.

Upon insolvency of the relevant Issuer, holders of the Securities will be paid at the same time as holders
of other unsecured obligations of such Issuer and will be paid after preferred obligations (for example,
secured creditors). If the relevant Issuer is unable to repay amounts due to holders, each holder will be
treated equally with all other holders who own unsecured securities issued by such Issuer. Where
specified as applicable in the Issue Terms, holders will be entitled to claim for any shortfalls in amounts
owed but unpaid by such Issuer against the relevant Guarantor.

An investor who purchases Securities is therefore relying on the creditworthiness of the Guarantor as
they will ultimately be able to recover any investment in the Securities to the extent that the Guarantor
is able to repay those amounts. The Guarantor's creditworthiness and ability to fulfil its obligations in
respect of the Securities are affected by general economic conditions and other business conditions.

For a discussion of certain factors affecting GSI and GSG's business, see the section entitled "Risk
Factors" for more detailed information, in particular Section A (Factors that may affect our ability to
fulfil our obligations under the Securities) and any other risk factors (which may arise or of which the
Issuers may become aware after the date of this Base Prospectus) that may be included in any further
documents to be incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus by way of a Supplement.

12. How is ownership of the Securities recorded?
@) In respect of the Securities (other than Securities governed by French law)

A purchaser will not receive a certificate representing his or her interest. Subject as
provided below, each series of Securities will be issued in the form of a global security
with one global security representing all of the holders' interests in respect of an entire
series of Securities. Each global security will be deposited at, and transfers of interest
therein will be facilitated between, the relevant clearing systems (being any of Euroclear,
Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear France or other domestic systems (as applicable)).
Securities held through CREST, Monte Titoli, VPS, Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear
Finland or Strate Proprietary Limited will be dematerialised and there will be no global
security in respect of such Securities. Transfers of such Securities will be through book
entries at such clearing system. Selling agents will hold an interest in the Securities
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through a clearing system on behalf of the purchasers, with whom they will have an
arrangement in respect of such Securities.

Registered Notes in global form may, if specified in the relevant Issue Terms, be held
under the new safekeeping structure in which case the global Note will be deposited with
the relevant "International Central Securities Depository" (being Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg) acting as common safekeeper and registered in the name of
a nominee of such common safekeeper. Notes held under the new safekeeping structure
may be issued with the intention that such Notes be recognised as eligible collateral for
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem, either
upon issue or at any time or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon
satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria as specified by the European Central
Bank. However, there is no guarantee that such Notes will be recognised as eligible
collateral.

(b)  In respect of Securities governed by French law

Securities governed by French law are issued in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur)
inscribed in the books of an authorised financial intermediary institution entitled to hold
accounts, directly or indirectly, on behalf of its customers with Euroclear France. No
physical document of title will be issued in respect of Securities governed by French law.

Transfer of Securities governed by French law in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur)
may only be effected through registration of the transfer in the accounts of the relevant
authorised financial intermediary institution(s) entitled to hold accounts, directly or
indirectly, on behalf of its customers with Euroclear France.

13. What do investors have to do to exercise their rights in respect of the Securities?

Purchasers' rights relating to the Securities are governed by the procedures of the relevant clearing
systems. As only the holders of the Securities can exercise any right to early repayment of the Securities,
a purchaser wanting any such right to early repayment to be exercised on his or her behalf must contact
his or her selling agent through which he or she holds his or her interest for details of how to give notice.

The purchaser should ensure proper and timely instructions are given to the selling agent requesting that
it notify the holder to exercise the repayment right on his or her behalf.

14. How are payments made to investors?

The relevant Issuer will make payments of interest and principal or settlement amounts by paying the
total amount payable to the clearing system(s), who will credit the appropriate amount to the account of
each holder (which may include selling agents), in each case, in accordance with the rules and policies
of the clearing system(s). Each purchaser of the Securities must look to its selling agent for payments on
such purchaser's Securities. The relevant Issuer has no obligation to make payments directly to
purchasers of Securities.

If a date specified for payment is not a business day, then the relevant Issuer will make the relevant
payment on the first following day that is a business day. On these occasions, the payment will be treated
as if it were made on the original specified date for payment and will not be considered a late payment.
Accordingly, the relevant Issuer will not pay an additional interest amount for the postponement.

15. When are payments made to purchasers?

Each type of Security purchased will have a different repayment date or settlement date. Securities that
bear interest (either interest accrued at a fixed or floating rate or interest calculated by reference to an
underlying asset) will also have interest payment dates.

16. Do Securities have a minimum denomination or trading size?

The minimum denomination of a note, which is to be admitted to trading on a regulated stock exchange,
or which is to be offered to the public in a member state of the European Economic Area or the United
Kingdom and is subject to the requirement of the publication of a prospectus in accordance with the
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Prospectus Regulation will be EUR 1,000 (or an equivalent amount in any other currency). Otherwise,
there is no requirement for a minimum denomination.

In order to purchase some securities, there may be a minimum amount that need to be invested, and there
may be minimum trading amounts.

17. Will purchasers be able to sell their Securities?

Goldman Sachs International, Goldman Sachs Bank Europe SE and/or Goldman Sachs International,
Paris Branch may make a secondary market in the relevant series of Securities, where an investor can
sell their Securities directly or via a selling agent to Goldman Sachs International, Goldman Sachs Bank
Europe SE and/or Goldman Sachs International, Paris Branch. However, there is no guarantee that a
secondary market will develop and a purchaser should therefore be prepared to hold the Securities until
their repayment date. If Goldman Sachs does make a secondary market, it may cease to do so at any time
without notice.

18. What will be the price of the Securities in such circumstances?

If it is possible to sell the Securities, they would be sold for the prevailing bid price in the market except
in the case where one or more entities are acting in the secondary market (e.g., specialist, market maker,
price maker) pursuant to liquidity enhancement agreement(s) which provide for pre-determined bid
prices as described below. The prevailing bid price may be affected by several factors including the
performance of the Underlying Asset, prevailing interest rates at the time of sale, the time left before the
stated repayment date, transaction costs and the creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and (if applicable)
the relevant Guarantor. It is therefore possible that any purchaser selling Securities in the secondary
market may receive a price less than his or her initial investment.

In the case of any liquidity enhancement agreement providing for bid prices for Securities on the basis
of certain fixed criteria (e.g. the creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer at the time of the issue date of
such Securities), the bid price may be higher than the market prices, since the bid prices may not reflect
all of the changes to the market variables such as any deterioration in Goldman Sachs' creditworthiness
or perceived creditworthiness whether measured by Goldman Sachs' credit ratings or other measures.
Details of any such liquidity enhancement agreements will be provided in the relevant Issue Terms.

19. Are there any fees, expenses or taxes to pay when purchasing, holding or selling Securities?

Fees and expenses may be incurred by purchasers in relation to the purchase, holding, transfer and sale
of Securities. Potential purchasers or sellers of Securities should also be aware that stamp duties or taxes
may have to be paid in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Securities are
transferred. Every potential purchaser of Securities should consult their selling agent for details of fees,
expenses, commissions or other costs and their own tax advisers in order to understand fully the tax
implications specific to his or her investment in any Security.

20. Can an Issuer redeem or terminate the Securities before their stated maturity date?

An Issuer does have limited rights to redeem or terminate the Securities earlier than the specified maturity
date and repay the purchaser an early redemption or termination amount, for example, following the
occurrence of specified events, which are highlighted in more detail in the sections entitled "Introduction
to the Share Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the Index Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the
Commodity Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the FX Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the
Inflation Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the Fund Linked Conditions" and "Introduction to the
Multi-Asset Basket Linked Conditions". The early redemption or termination amount may be less than
the invested amount. For some Securities, the relevant Issuer's right to repay the Securities can be
exercised at any time or the relevant Issuer may repay the Securities on the occurrence of a specified
trigger event.

21. Can an Issuer amend the conditions of Securities once they have been issued?

The terms and conditions of Securities may be amended by the relevant Issuer with the approval of the
Calculation Agent but without the consent of the holders if, the amendment: (a) in respect of the
Securities (other than Securities governed by French law), (i) is of a formal, minor or technical nature,
(ii) is made to correct a manifest or proven error or omission, or (iii) will not (in the opinion of the
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relevant Issuer) materially and adversely affect the interests of the holders, or (b) in respect of Securities
governed by French Law which have a denomination of at least EUR 100,000 or may only be traded in
amounts of at least EUR 100,000, is to correct a manifest error.

Following the occurrence of certain events, the Calculation Agent, on behalf of the relevant Issuer, may
be entitled to amend the Conditions of Securities without requiring the consent of the holders of such
Securities. Typically, such events will have affected the composition, or calculation, of the Underlying
Asset(s) to such an extent that the Calculation Agent could not make any adjustment to account for the
economic effect on the Securities. The sections entitled "Introduction to the Share Linked Conditions",
"Introduction to the Index Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the Commodity Linked Conditions",
"Introduction to the FX Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the Inflation Linked Conditions",
"Introduction to the Fund Linked Conditions" and "Introduction to the Multi-Asset Basket Linked
Conditions" set out in more detail the circumstances in which the Calculation Agent can make such
amendments.

An Issuer may also amend the Conditions of the Securities where it determines that its performance
thereunder, in whole or in part, is unlawful or impracticable.

Questions about the Calculation Agent
22. Who calculates the amounts payable to purchasers?

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Issue Terms, GSI will act as the Calculation Agent in respect
of Securities issued under this Programme, and in such capacity, will determine the performance levels
of the Underlying Asset(s) on specified valuation dates and will determine any interest amounts and the
redemption amounts and/or physical settlement amounts payable or deliverable by the relevant Issuer to
the holders of such Securities. Such determinations and calculations shall be made by the Calculation
Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner. In the event that a disruption event
has occurred in respect of an Underlying Asset on a specified valuation date, the valuation may be
postponed to an alternative date, or the Calculation Agent may instead, in certain circumstances, estimate
the value of such Underlying Asset on such valuation date.

In the event that: (a) the performance by the relevant Issuer or any affiliate of the relevant Issuer's
obligations under the Securities, or (b) (save in respect of Belgian Securities) the relevant Issuer's or
affiliate's obligations under hedging transactions relating to the Securities, shall have become (or there
is a substantial likelihood in the immediate future that it will become) unlawful or (save in respect of
Belgian Securities) impractical in whole or in part as a result of a change in applicable law or regulation
or a change in the interpretation of applicable law or regulation (a "Change in Law Event"), which
results in the early termination or redemption of the Securities, the Calculation Agent will determine the
Non-scheduled Early Repayment Amount of such Securities which may (if (a) specified in the relevant
Issue Terms or (b) in respect of Belgian Securities, such unscheduled early redemption is due to a Change
in Law Event which renders the continuance of the Securities definitively impossible) be an amount
determined in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent as the fair
market value of such Securities on the second Business Day prior to the date of such early redemption
or settlement, determined by reference to such factors as Calculation Agent considers to be appropriate
(including future selling commissions payable to the distributor of the Securities, if any).

23. What further determinations may the Calculation Agent have to make?

The terms and conditions of the Securities (comprising (i) the General Instrument Conditions or the
General Note Conditions, as applicable, (ii) any relevant Coupon Payout Conditions, (iii) any relevant
Autocall Payout Conditions, (iv) the Payout Conditions or the EIS Note Payout Conditions, as applicable,
(v) the Supplementary Provisions for Belgian Securities (vi) any relevant Underlying Asset Conditions,
as completed by (vii) the Issue Terms) also provide that the Calculation Agent is the entity responsible
for determining whether certain events have occurred (some of which are mentioned above), and in
circumstances where such events have occurred, whether the terms and conditions of the securities need
to be amended to reflect such events. Such determinations shall be made by the Calculation Agent acting
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in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner. A non-exhaustive summary of some events is

set out below:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

®

(9)

(h)

(i)

0)

(k)

V)

Market Disruption Event — any event that means the value of the Underlying Asset(s)
cannot be determined in the regular manner, for example, the exchange on which the
relevant shares trade has closed early or been disrupted, the management company of the
fund has failed to publish the net asset value of the shares, or the index sponsor or
commodities exchange has failed to publish the reference level,

Potential Adjustment Event or Extraordinary Event (in respect of the Share Linked
Conditions) — any event that results in significant changes to the nature of the shares,
including a reclassification, an extraordinary dividend, a delisting of shares, a merger
event, a tender offer, an insolvency or a nationalisation, and where the share is a fund, a
non-publication of the net asset value of the share;

Index Adjustment Event (in respect of the Index Linked Conditions) — (i) a material non-
prescribed modification of the composition of an index, (ii) the cancellation of an index,
which is then not replaced, (iii) the non-publication of an index level (though this may
be a Market Disruption Event), or (iv) if an index or its administrator does not obtain
authorisation or registration (subject to applicable transitional provisions) with the effect
that the index may not be used in certain ways by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent;

Commodity Index Adjustment Event (in respect of the Commaodity Linked Conditions)
— (i) a material non-prescribed change in the formula for determining the composition of
a commodity index, (ii) the cancellation of a commodity index, which is then not
replaced, (iii) the non-publication of a commodity index level, and (iv) if a commodity
index or its administrator does not obtain authorisation or registration (subject to
applicable transitional provisions) with the effect that such commodity index may not be
used in certain ways by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent;

Delay in Publication or Cessation of Publication (in respect of Inflation Linked
Conditions) — a delay in, or cessation of, publication of an inflation index level;

Change in Law — a change in law which materially increases the relevant Issuer's costs
of performing its obligations under the Securities;

FX Disruption Event — an event that makes conversion of specified and settlement
currencies impossible;

CNY FX Disruption Event — an event that makes conversion or delivery of CNY
impossible or impractical, or the general CNY foreign exchange market becomes
illiquid;

Physical Settlement Disruption Event — any event that has occurred as a result of which,
in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, the relevant Issuer cannot, or it is commercially
impracticable for such Issuer to effect physical settlement of all or any of the deliverable
assets in satisfaction of such Issuer's obligation to pay a redemption amount;

Original Primary Rate Event - if an Original Primary Rate (a) ceases to be provided
permanently or indefinitely, or (b) may not be used in certain ways by the Issuer or the
Calculation Agent if its administrator or such reference rate does not obtain authorisation
or registration (subject to applicable transitional provisions) or it is materially modified;

Administrator/Benchmark Event - if a Commodity Reference Price or FX Rate or its
administrator does not obtain authorisation or registration with the effect that the
Commodity Reference Price or the FX Rate may not be used in certain ways by the Issuer
or the Calculation Agent or it is materially modified,;

Fund Market Disruption Event — if subscriptions or redemptions in a Fund are suspended
or restricted, or the Calculation Agent is unable to receive a valuation for the Fund;
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(m)  Potential Adjustment Event (in respect of the Fund Linked Conditions) — any event that
may have a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value of a Fund;

(n)  Potential Crystallisation Event — any event that has the potential of (I) materially
interfering with the ability of the Issuer and/or any of its affiliate(s) to unwind, maintain
or establish all or a material portion of their hedge positions in respect of the Securities,
and/or (I1) materially changing the risks associated with maintaining such hedge
positions; and

(0)  Non-full Cash Redemption Proceeds Event — if a Fund fails to accept or execute
subscriptions or redemptions wholly in cash and/or in accordance with any settlement
schedule provided in the Fund's offering document (including the situation where the
redemption proceeds that would be paid to an investor of the Fund in respect of
redemption of a fund share differs from the net asset value of such fund share).

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Market Disruption Event, a Potential Adjustment Event, an
Extraordinary Event, an Index Adjustment Event, a Commodity Index Adjustment Event, a Delay in
Publication or Cessation of Publication, a Change in Law, an FX Disruption Event,a CNY FX Disruption
Event, a Physical Settlement Disruption Event, an Original Primary Rate Event,
Administrator/Benchmark Event, Fund Market Disruption Event, Potential Crystallisation Event or Non-
full Cash Redemption Proceeds Event and any other applicable event has occurred, any consequential
postponement of, or any alternative provisions for, valuation provided in the terms and conditions of any
securities may have an adverse effect on the value of such securities.

The sections entitled "Introduction to the Share Linked Conditions", "Introduction to the Index Linked
Conditions", "Introduction to the Commodity Linked Conditions"”, "Introduction to the FX Linked
Conditions", "Introduction to the Inflation Linked Conditions"”, "Introduction to the Fund Linked
Conditions" and "Introduction to the Multi-Asset Basket Linked Conditions" set out in more detail the
circumstances which can lead to a disruption event and the postponement of, or a change in the process
relating to, the valuation of the most common types of underlying assets.

24. Are the Calculation Agent's determinations binding on purchasers?

All calculations, determinations or adjustments made by the Calculation Agent shall, in the absence of
manifest error, be final, conclusive and binding on the holders of the Securities.

Questions about the "coupon’, ""autocall'* and "*payout' terms of the Securities
25. What are the Coupon Payout Conditions?

The Coupon Payout Conditions, together with the General Instrument Conditions on the General Note
Conditions (as applicable), contain the conditions applicable to the calculation of interest (if any) payable
under the Securities. The relevant Issue Terms will specify which Coupon Payout Conditions are
applicable to a particular issuance of Securities and complete the Coupon Payout Conditions with
information which is not known at the date of this Base Prospectus.

26. What are the Autocall Payout Conditions?

The Autocall Payout Conditions contain the conditions applicable to the calculation of the return of the
Securities following an "autocall event” resulting in early termination of the Securities. The relevant
Issue Terms will specify which Autocall Payout Conditions are applicable to a particular issuance of
Securities and complete the Autocall Payout Conditions with information which is not known at the date
of this Base Prospectus.

217. What are the Payout Conditions?

The Payout Conditions contain the conditions applicable to the calculation of the return on Securities.
The relevant Issue Terms will specify which Payout Conditions are applicable to a particular issuance of
Securities and complete the Payout Conditions with information which is not known at the date of this
Base Prospectus.
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28. What are the EIS Note Payout Conditions?

The EIS Note Payout Conditions contain the conditions applicable to the calculation of the return on EIS
Notes. The relevant Issue Terms will specify which EIS Note Payout Conditions are applicable to a
particular issuance of EIS Notes and complete the EIS Note Payout Conditions with information which
is not known at the date of this Base Prospectus.

Questions on the type of Underlying Asset linked Securities issued under this Programme
29. What type of Underlying Assets may be linked to Securities issued under this Programme?

The interest and/or repayment terms of the Securities issued under this Programme may be linked to a
number of different Underlying Assets, which may include:

. a Share (and/or dividends on a Share), including a Depositary Receipt;
an Equity Index (and/or dividends on Shares in an Index), futures, options or other derivatives
contract on an Index;

a Proprietary Index;

a Commodity;

a Commodity Index;

a foreign exchange rate (FX Rate);

an Inflation Index or other consumer price index;

an Interest Rate;

an Exchange Traded Fund;

a Fund;

baskets of the above;

a preference share issued by Goldman Sachs (Cayman) Limited; or
any other combination of any of the above.

More information about the most common types of underlying assets is set out below at questions 30 to
37.

30. What are share linked securities?

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of a share or a basket of shares over a fixed period of time or on fixed dates. The shares of
companies that are referenced by such Securities will be traded on a stock exchange and the prices of
such shares will be published on recognised information services, for example, Bloomberg or Reuters
screens, which means that the investor will be able to monitor the relevant share prices during the life of
the Securities.

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of an exchange traded fund. The prices of the shares of such exchange traded funds will be
published on recognised information services, for example, Bloomberg or Reuters screens, which means
that the investor will be able to monitor the relevant share prices of the exchange traded funds during the
life of the Securities.

An introduction to, and a summary of, the Share Linked Conditions is set out on pages 379 to 406 below.
31. What are index linked securities?

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of (a) an equity index that references a synthetic portfolio of shares representing a particular
market or portion of it or a basket of indices; or (b) a proprietary index that references the performance
of a synthetic weighted basket of assets, over a fixed period of time or on fixed dates. Each index has its
own calculation methodology and is usually expressed in terms of a change from a base value.
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There are two types of equity indices that are referenced by securities: (i) a unitary index, where the
underlying shares are deemed to trade on a single stock exchange and the level of such index is published
on a recognised information service; and (ii) a multi-exchange index, where the underlying shares are
deemed to trade on more than one stock exchange and the level of such index is published on a recognised
information service. A proprietary index is an index which is composed by the relevant issuer or by any
legal entity belonging to the same group.

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of futures, options or other derivatives contract relating to an equity index or assets relating
to a proprietary index. The prices of the futures, options or other derivatives contracts will be published
on a recognised information service.

An introduction to, and a summary of, the Index Linked Conditions is set out on pages 407 to 452 below.
32. What are commodity linked securities?

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of a commodity, a basket of commodities or a commodity index over a fixed period of time
or on fixed dates.

Commodities (including contracts that provide for physical delivery or are based on the price of a
deliverable commodity) and commodity indices are generally divided into four main classes: (i) energy,
which includes crude oil, gasoline, heating oil and natural gas, (ii) agriculture, which includes corn,
soybeans, wheat, sugar, cocoa, cotton and coffee, (iii) livestock, which includes cattle and hogs, and (iv)
metals, which can be subdivided into base metals such as aluminium, copper, nickel, lead and zinc, and
precious metals such as gold.

A commodity index generally references the performance of a synthetic weighted basket of commodities
that satisfy specified criteria and is designed to be a liquid and diversified benchmark for commodities.
Each commaodity index has its own composition and calculation methodology and is usually expressed
in terms of a change from a base value.

An introduction to, and a summary of, the Commodity Linked Conditions is set out on pages 453 to 497
below.

33. What are foreign exchange rate linked securities?

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of a foreign exchange rate or a basket of foreign exchange rates over a fixed period of time
or on fixed dates. Foreign exchange rates indicate the relationship between one specified currency and
another currency. The values of such foreign exchange rates are published by recognised information
services or are determined by central banks.

An introduction to, and a summary of, the FX Linked Conditions is set out on pages 498 to 519 below.
34. What are inflation linked securities?

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of an inflation index or another consumer price index or a basket of inflation indices over a
fixed period of time or on fixed dates. Inflation rates measure the percentage change in the general level
of prices of goods and services in an economy over a period of time. The values of such inflation rates
are published by recognised information services or are determined by central banks.

An introduction to, and a summary of, the Inflation Linked Conditions is set out on pages 520 to 526
below.
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35. What are fund linked securities?

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the net asset
value of the shares or units in a fund or a basket of funds over a fixed period of time or on fixed dates. A
fund is a synthetic portfolio of shares, bonds and other securities or derivative instruments representing
a particular market or portion of it. Each fund has its own investment strategies and calculation
methodology. The performance of a fund is usually measured by its net asset value. The net asset value
of a fund is calculated and published by a fund manager or other service providers of the fund.

An introduction to, and a summary of, the Fund Linked Conditions is set out on pages 527 to 542 below.
36. What are multi-asset basket linked securities?

The payments of interest and/or repayment of principal and any additional amounts payable in respect of
some Securities, as indicated in the relevant Issue Terms, will be calculated by reference to the
performance of a basket of two or more Underlying Assets over a fixed period of time or on fixed dates.
Such basket will be composed of shares (see question 30 (What are share linked securities?)) and indices
(see question 31 (What are index linked securities?)).

An introduction to, and a summary of, the Multi-Asset Basket Linked Conditions is set out on pages 543
to 557 below.

37. What are EIS Notes?

For a description of the EIS Notes see the section entitled "EIS Note Description™ on pages 980 to 990
below.

38. What are exchange traded futures and options contracts on underlying indices?

An options contract linked to an Index is one where the buyer of the options contract purchases the right
to a potential payment from the seller of the option, depending on the level of the Index. The sum that a
buyer of an options contract pays to purchase the options contract is usually known as the premium, and
options contracts will usually be call options, where the buyer will receive payment under the options
contract if the level of the Index on one or more specified dates is above a specified level (known as the
strike), or put options, where the buyer will receive payment under the options contract if the level of the
Index on one or more specified dates is below the strike.

A cash settled futures contract linked to an Index is one where, depending on the level of the Index, the
buyer of the futures contract either has a right to receive a payment (known as the settlement amount)
from the seller of the futures contract or an obligation to make a payment to the seller of the futures
contract. If the level of the Index on one or more specified dates (the "settlement price") is greater than
a specified level in the contract (the "forward price"), then the seller shall pay to the buyer the difference
between the settlement price and the forward price. If the settlement price is less than the forward price,
the buyer of the futures contract will make a payment to the seller of the futures contract equal to such
difference.

Index-linked derivatives contracts may be traded on the relevant futures or options exchanges and may
be standardised with respect to the number of futures or options covered by one index-linked derivatives
contract, the term of each index-linked derivatives contract, the dates on which various index-linked
derivatives contracts expire and the manner in which the settlement amount is calculated.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SECURITIES

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE INSTRUMENTS

Contents of General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments

Introduction

Definitions and Interpretation

Form

Title

Transfers

Status and Guarantees

Exercise Rights

Exercise Procedure

© ® N @ g & W M-

Calculations, Determinations and Adjustments by the Calculation Agent

-
©

Limits on the Number of Instruments Exercisable

11. Fixed Rate Instrument Conditions

12. Floating Rate Instrument Conditions

13. Change of Interest Basis

14. Consequences of an FX Disruption Event, a CNY FX Disruption Event or a Currency
Conversion Disruption Event

15. Automatic Early Exercise

16. Optional Early Redemption

17. Change in law

18. Purchase by the Issuer

19. Paying Agents and Calculation Agent

20. Further Issues

21. Notices

22, Modification and Waiver, Meetings of Holders

23. Currency Indemnity
24, Rounding
25. Substitution

26. Prescription

27. Taxation
28. Governing Law
29. Jurisdiction

30. Third Party Rights
31 Events of Default

32. Available Information

The following is the text of the general terms and conditions of the Instruments (the "General Instrument
Conditions", which term shall include the USD LIBOR Fallbacks Schedule) which, as set forth in
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General Instrument Condition 1(c) below, together with the Payout Conditions, the applicable Coupon
Payout Conditions (if any), the applicable Autocall Payout Conditions (if any), the applicable
Underlying Asset Conditions (if any) and as completed by the relevant Issue Terms for the particular
Tranche (or Tranches) of Instruments, comprise the Terms and Conditions of such Tranche (or
Tranches) of Instruments. The Terms and Conditions of each Tranche of Instruments are incorporated
by reference into each Global Instrument (if any) representing such Tranche. The relevant Pricing
Supplement in relation to any series of Exempt Securities may specify other terms and conditions which
shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the General Instrument Conditions
(and/or the applicable Payout Conditions and/or the applicable Underlying Asset Conditions), replace
or modify the General Instrument Conditions (and/or the applicable Payout Conditions and/or the
applicable Underlying Asset Conditions) for the purpose of such Exempt Securities. References in the
Conditions to "Securities" are to the Securities of one Series only, not to all Securities that may be issued
under the Programme.

1. Introduction

(@  Programme: Goldman Sachs International ("GSI"), Goldman, Sachs & Co. Wertpapier
GmbH ("GSW"), and Goldman Sachs Finance Corp International Ltd ("GSFCI") and
together with GSI and GSW, the "Issuers” and each an "Issuer") have established the
Series P programme for the issuance of notes, warrants and certificates (the
"Programme"). If specified as applicable in the relevant Issue Terms, Instruments issued
by GSI are guaranteed by The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. ("GSG"). All Instruments
issued GSFCI are guaranteed by GSG. All Instruments issued by GSW are guaranteed
by either GSG or GSI (each of GSG and GSI, in such capacity a "Guarantor" and
together, the "Guarantors").

(b)  Programme Agency Agreement: The warrants (the "Warrants") and the certificates (the
"Certificates", and together with the Warrants, the "Instruments™) are issued pursuant
to a programme agency agreement, dated 17 July 2020 (the "Programme Agency
Agreement"), which expression shall include any amendments or supplements thereto
or replacements thereof under the Programme from time to time) between the Issuers,
Citibank Europe plc, Germany Branch as principal programme agent in respect of the
Instruments (the "Principal Programme Agent", which expression shall include any
successor or substitute principal programme agent appointed in accordance with the
Programme Agency Agreement), Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) as Swedish
paying agent (the "Swedish Paying Agent"), Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB
(publ), Oslo Branch as Norwegian paying agent (the "Norwegian Paying Agent"),
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), Helsinki Branch as Finnish paying agent (the
"Finnish Paying Agent"), Banque Internationale a Luxembourg, société anonyme, as
paying agent in Luxembourg (the "Luxembourg Paying Agent"), BNP Paribas
Securities Services as paying agent in respect of Instruments cleared through Euroclear
France (the "French Paying Agent"), and GSI as paying agent in respect of Swiss
Securities (the "Swiss Paying Agent"), Equiniti Limited as paying agent in respect of
Instruments cleared through CREST (the "CREST Paying Agent") and registrar in
respect of Instruments cleared through CREST (the "CREST Registrar"), Citibank
Europle plc, Dublin as paying agent in Italy in respect of Instruments cleared through
Monte Titoli (the "Italian Paying Agent") and GSI as additional paying agent (the
"Additional Paying Agent", and together with the Principal Programme Agent, the
Swedish Paying Agent, the Norwegian Paying Agent, the Finnish Paying Agent, the
Luxembourg Paying Agent, the French Paying Agent, the Swiss Paying Agent, the
CREST Paying Agent and the Italian Paying Agent, the "Paying Agents"”, which
expression shall include any successor or additional paying agents appointed in
accordance with the Programme Agreement) and Goldman Sachs International or such
other calculation agent as may be specified in the relevant Issue Terms as calculation
agent (the "Calculation Agent", which expression shall include any successor
calculation agent appointed in accordance with the Programme Agency Agreement).
References herein to the "Agents" are to the Paying Agents and the CREST Registrar
and any reference to an "Agent" is to any one of them. Holders (as defined in General
Instrument Condition 2 (Definitions and Interpretation)) are deemed to have notice of
all the provisions (including the form of Exercise Notice referred to in General
Instrument Condition 10 (Exercise Procedure)) of the Programme Agency Agreement.
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(©)

Terms and Conditions: The terms and Conditions (the "Terms and Conditions" or the
"Conditions") of the Instruments comprise the following:

()
(i)
(iii)

(iv)

v)

these General Instrument Conditions;

the Payout Conditions (the "Payout Conditions");

the Coupon Payout Conditions (the "Coupon Payout Conditions") (if
applicable) which are specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms;

the Autocall Payout Conditions (the "Autocall Payout Conditions™) (if
applicable) which are specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms;

the Underlying Asset Conditions (the "Underlying Asset Conditions") (if
applicable) which are specified to be applicable in the relevant Issue Terms. In

relation to:

(A) Share Linked Instruments, the Share Linked Conditions (the "Share
Linked Conditions™) shall apply;

(B) Index Linked Instruments, the Index Linked Conditions (the "Index
Linked Conditions") shall apply;

(C) Commodity Linked Instruments, the Commodity Linked Conditions (the
"Commodity Linked Conditions") shall apply;

(D) FX Linked Instruments, the FX Linked Conditions (the "FX Linked
Conditions") shall apply;

(E) Inflation Linked Instruments, the Inflation Linked Conditions (the
"Inflation Linked Conditions") shall apply;

(F)  Fund Linked Instruments, the Fund Linked Conditions (the "Fund Linked
Conditions") shall apply; and

(G) Multi-Asset Basket Linked Instruments, the Multi-Asset Basket Linked

Conditions (the "Multi-Asset Basket Linked Conditions™) shall apply;
and

in the case of each of (i)—(v), subject to completion of the issue specific terms by the
relevant Issue Terms in relation to the Instruments.

In the event of any inconsistency between any of the General Instrument Conditions, the
applicable Payout Conditions, the applicable Coupon Payout Conditions, the applicable
Autocall Payout Conditions, the applicable Underlying Asset Conditions and the
relevant Issue Terms, the prevailing term will be determined in accordance with the
following order of priority (where 1. prevails over the other terms):

1.

2.

5.

6.

the relevant Issue Terms;

the applicable Payout Conditions;

the applicable Autocall Payout Conditions (if any);

the applicable Coupon Payout Conditions (if any);

the applicable Underlying Asset Conditions (if any); and

General Instrument Conditions,

provided that any term preceded with the phrase "notwithstanding anything else in these
Terms and Conditions" (or a phrase of similar import) shall prevail over any inconsistent
term in any other part of the Terms and Conditions of the Instruments.
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(d)

(€)

®

(9)

(h)

Issue Terms: Instruments issued under the Programme are issued in series (each, a
"Series"), and each Series may comprise one or more tranches ("Tranches" and each, a
"Tranche") of Instruments. One or more Tranches of Instruments will be the subject of
an issue terms (each, an "Issue Terms"), a copy of which may be obtained free of charge
from the Specified Office of the relevant Paying Agent. References to the "relevant
Issue Terms" or the "applicable Issue Terms" or "the Issue Terms" in relation to any
Instruments means the particular Issue Terms prepared in respect of such Instruments.
The Issue Terms shall comprise either (a) where the Securities are a tranche of
Instruments that are not Exempt Securities, a final terms document (the "Final Terms")
or (b) where the Instruments are a tranche of Instruments which are Exempt Securities,
a pricing supplement document (the "Pricing Supplement"), provided that Instruments
in respect of which none of the Issuer or Dealer(s) shall offer or apply for listing within
the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom may be issued by way of Final
Terms (at the discretion of the Issuer). In the case of Instruments in relation to which
application has been made for listing on the Official List and trading on the regulated
market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, copies of the relevant Final Terms will be
lodged with the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and will be available for viewing on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and copies of which may
be obtained free of charge from the Specified Office of the Luxembourg Paying Agent.
In the case of Euroclear Sweden Registered Instruments (as defined in General
Instrument Condition 2 (Definitions and Interpretation)), a copy of the relevant Final
Terms may be obtained free of charge from the Specified Office of the Swedish Paying
Agent. In the case of VPS Registered Instruments (as defined in General Instrument
Condition 2 (Definitions and Interpretation)), a copy of the relevant Final Terms may be
obtained free of charge from the Specified Office of the Norwegian Paying Agent. In the
case of Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments (as defined in General Instrument
Condition 2 (Definitions and Interpretation)), a copy of the relevant Final Terms may be
obtained free of charge from the Specified Office of the Finnish Paying Agent. In the
case of Instruments admitted to trading on the regulated market of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.
("Borsa Italiana™), copies of the relevant Final Terms will be lodged with Borsa Italiana
and will be available for viewing on the website of Borsa Italiana (www.borsaitaliana.it)
and copies of which may be obtained free of charge from the Specified Office of the
Italian Paying Agent.

GSG Guaranty: The payment obligations and (subject to the last sentence of this
paragraph) delivery obligations of GSFCI and (if specified as applicable in the relevant
Issue Terms), GSW and GSI, in respect of Instruments issued by GSFCI, GSW and GSl,
respectively, are guaranteed by GSG pursuant to a guaranty governed by laws of the
State of New York dated 17 July 2020 (the "GSG Guaranty"). The GSG Guaranty will
rank pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of GSG. GSG
is only obliged to pay the Physical Settlement Disruption Amount instead of delivering
the Deliverable Assets if the Issuer fails to satisfy its delivery obligations under the
Instruments.

GSI Guarantee: If specified as applicable in the relevant Issue Terms, the payment
obligations and (subject to the last sentence of this paragraph) delivery obligations of
GSW in respect of Instruments issued by GSW are guaranteed by GSI pursuant to a
guarantee dated 17 July 2020 (the "GSI Guarantee" and, together with the GSG
Guaranty, the "Guarantees" and each, a "Guarantee"). The GSI Guarantee will rank
pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of GSI. GSl is only
obliged to pay the Physical Settlement Disruption Amount instead of delivering the
Deliverable Assets if the Issuer fails to satisfy its delivery obligations under the
Instruments.

The Instruments: All subsequent references in these General Instrument Conditions to
"Instruments” are to the Instruments which are the subject of the relevant Issue Terms.

Summaries: Certain provisions of these General Instrument Conditions are summaries of
the Programme Agency Agreement, the GSG Guaranty and the GSI Guarantee, and are
subject to their detailed provisions. Holders of the Instruments are bound by, and are
deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Programme Agency Agreement, the
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GSG Guaranty and the GSI Guarantee applicable to them, if any. Copies of the
Programme Agency Agreement, the GSG Guaranty and the GSI Guarantee are available
for inspection by Holders during normal business hours at the Specified Offices of each
of the Agents.

Definitions and Interpretation

(@)

Definitions: In these General Instrument Conditions the following expressions have the
following meanings:

"2006 ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and updated
as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Instruments of the relevant Series (as
specified in the relevant Issue Terms) as published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc.);

"Account Operator" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 10(m)
(Settlement — Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments);

"Additional Business Centre" means the place(s) specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms;

"Adjusted Affected Payment Date" means, in respect of the occurrence of an FX
Disruption Event or Currency Conversion Disruption Event, the Specified Day(s)
following the day on which an FX Disruption Event or Currency Conversion Disruption
Event ceases to exist (as determined by the Calculation Agent), unless the relevant Issue
Terms specify "Default Adjusted Affected Payment Date", in which case, "Adjusted
Affected Payment Date" means the second Business Day following the day on which an
FX Disruption Event or Currency Conversion Disruption Event ceases to exist (as
determined by the Calculation Agent);

"Adjustment Date" means, in respect of an Original Primary Rate Event, the later of:

() the first date on which the Calculation Agent had identified a Replacement
Primary Rate and determined an Adjustment Spread, as applicable; and

(i) the first to occur of: (A) the first date on which the Original Primary Rate is no
longer available following an Original Primary Rate Cessation, or (B) the
Administrator/Benchmark Event Date, as relevant in relation to such Original
Primary Rate Event;

"Adjustment Spread" means, in respect of a Replacement Primary Rate, the adjustment,
if any, to such Replacement Primary Rate that the Calculation Agent determines, acting
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, is required in order to reduce or
eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable, any transfer of economic value from the
Issuer to the Holders (or vice versa) as a result of the replacement of the Original Primary
Rate with such Replacement Primary Rate. Any such adjustment may take account of,
without limitation, any transfer of economic value as a result of any difference in the
term structure or tenor of the Replacement Primary Rate by comparison to the Original
Primary Rate. The Adjustment Spread may be positive, negative or zero, or determined
pursuant to a formula or methodology. If a spread or formula or methodology for
calculating a spread has been formally designated, nominated or recommended by any
Relevant Nominating Body in relation to the replacement of the Original Primary Rate
with such Replacement Primary Rate, that spread shall apply or that formula or
methodology shall be used to determine the Adjustment Spread (as the case may be), and
such spread, formula or methodology (as the case may be) shall be adjusted as necessary
to reflect the fact that the spread, formula or methodology (as the case may be) is used
in the context of the Instruments. If the Calculation Agent is required to determine the
Adjustment Spread, it shall consider (i) any Relevant Market Data, and (ii) the spread or
formula or methodology for calculating a spread or payment (as applicable), that is, in
the determination of the Calculation Agent, recognised or acknowledged as being the
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industry standard (or otherwise customarily widely adopted) for over-the-counter
derivative transactions which reference such Original Primary Rate;

"Administrator/Benchmark Event" means the occurrence of a Non-Approval Event, a
Rejection Event or a Suspension/Withdrawal Event, or any material change in the
methodology or other terms of the Original Primary Rate, in each case being treated as
having occurred on the Administrator/Benchmark Event Date;

"Administrator/Benchmark Event Date" means, in respect of an Original Primary
Rate, the date determined by the Calculation Agent to be:

() in respect of a Non-Approval Event, the date on which the relevant authorisation,
registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision, approval, inclusion
in any official register or similar regulatory or legal requirement is required under
any applicable law or regulation for the use of such Original Primary Rate in
respect of the Instruments;

(i) in respect of a Rejection Event, the date on which following the rejection or
refusal of the relevant application for authorisation, registration, recognition,
endorsement, an equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any official
register, either the Issuer or the Calculation Agent is not, or will not be, permitted
under any applicable law or regulation to use such Original Primary Rate or to
perform its or their respective obligations under the Instruments;

(iii)  in respect of a Suspension/Withdrawal Event, the date on which following (A)
the suspension or withdrawal by the relevant competent authority or other
relevant official body of the authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement,
equivalence decision or approval, or (B) the date on which such Original Primary
Rate or the administrator or sponsor of such Original Primary Rate is removed
from the official register, as applicable, either the Issuer or the Calculation Agent
is not, or will not be, permitted under any applicable law or regulation to use such
Original Primary Rate or to perform its or their respective obligations under the
Instruments; and

(iv)  in respect of any material change in the methodology or other terms of the
Original Primary Rate, the effective date of such change or such other date as
determined by the Calculation Agent,

or, in each case, if such date occurs before the Strike Date, the Strike Date;

"Affected Payment Cut-off Date" means the Specified Day(s) following the FX
Disruption Event Cut-off Date, unless the relevant Issue Terms specify "Default Affected
Payment Cut-off Date", in which case, "Affected Payment Cut-off Date" means the
second Business Day following the FX Disruption Event Cut-off Date;

"Affected Payment Date" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 16(a)
(Postponement or Payment in USD);

"Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b) (Programme
Agency Agreement);

"Alternative Post-nominated Primary Rate" means, in respect of an Original Primary
Rate, any index, benchmark or other price source which is formally designated,
nominated or recommended by:

() any Relevant Nominating Body; or

(i) the administrator or sponsor of the Original Primary Rate, provided that such
index, benchmark or other price source is substantially the same as the Original
Primary Rate,
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(iii)  in each case, to replace such Original Primary Rate. If a replacement index,
benchmark or other price source is designated, nominated or recommended under
both paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, then the replacement index, benchmark or other
price source designated, nominated or recommended under paragraph (i) shall be
the Alternative Post-nominated Primary Rate;

"American Style Instruments" means Instruments that are exercisable on any Business
Day during the Exercise Period, subject to prior termination of the Instruments as
provided in General Instrument Condition 17 (Change in law);

"Applicable Date" means each Autocall Observation Date or other date specified as such
in the relevant Issue Terms;

"applicable law" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 19 (Change in
law);

"Assumption” has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 28 (Substitution);
"Autocall Event" has the meaning given in the Autocall Payout Conditions;
"Autocall Event Amount" has the meaning given in the Autocall Payout Conditions;

"Automatic Early Exercise Amount” means, in respect of any Applicable Date, the
Autocall Event Amount or such other amount as is specified in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Automatic Early Exercise Date" means:

Q) in respect of any Applicable Date, (a) such date as is specified in the relevant
Issue Terms or the date specified in the relevant Issue Terms to be an Automatic
Early Exercise Date scheduled to fall immediately after such Applicable Date
(each, a "Scheduled Automatic Early Exercise Date"), provided that, if the
relevant Applicable Date is adjusted in accordance with the Conditions, the
corresponding Automatic Early Exercise Date in respect of such Applicable Date
will instead be the day falling the number of Business Days equal to the Number
of Automatic Early Exercise Settlement Period Business Days after such
Applicable Date or (b) the date specified in the relevant Issue Terms as the day
falling the number of Business Day(s) after such Applicable Date;

(i) in respect of Share Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify
"Automatic Early Exercise Date —Share Linked Condition 7 (Definitions)" to be
applicable, "Automatic Early Exercise Date" has the meaning ascribed to it in
Share Linked Condition 7 (Definitions);

(iii)  in respect of Index Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify
"Automatic Early Exercise Date —Index Linked Condition 7 (Definitions)" to be
applicable, "Automatic Early Exercise Date" has the meaning ascribed to it in
Index Linked Condition 7 (Definitions);

(iv)  in respect of Commodity Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms
specify "Automatic Early Exercise Date —Commodity Linked Condition 9
(General Definitions))" to be applicable, "Automatic Early Exercise Date" has the
meaning ascribed to it in Commaodity Linked Condition 9 (General Definitions);
and

(v)  in respect of Fund Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify
"Automatic Early Exercise Date — Fund Linked Condition 8 (Definitions)" to be
applicable, "Automatic Early Exercise Date" has the meaning ascribed to it in
Fund Linked Condition 8 (Definitions),
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(vi)  unless, in each case, the relevant Issue Terms specify:

(A)  "First Automatic Early Exercise Date Specific Adjustment” to be
applicable, in which case, in respect of:

(1)  Instruments other than Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments,
the Automatic Early Exercise Date shall be, in respect of any
Applicable Date, such date as is specified in the relevant Issue
Terms corresponding to such Applicable Date or the date specified
in the relevant Issue Terms to be an Automatic Early Exercise Date
scheduled to fall immediately after such Applicable Date (each, a
"Scheduled Automatic Early Exercise Date"), or, if later, the
later to occur of (a) the Automatic Early Exercise Specified Day(s)
following the Scheduled Applicable Date or the Relevant
Automatic Early Exercise Determination Date (as specified in the
relevant Issue Terms) corresponding to such Scheduled Automatic
Early Exercise Date, and (b) the day falling the number of Business
Days equal to the Number of Automatic Early Exercise Settlement
Period Business Days after the Relevant Automatic Early Exercise
Determination Date; or

(2) in respect of Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments, the
Automatic Early Exercise Date shall be, in respect of any
Applicable Date, such date as is specified in the relevant Issue
Terms corresponding to such Applicable Date or the date specified
in the relevant Issue Terms to be an Automatic Early Exercise Date
scheduled to fall immediately after such Applicable Date (each, a
"Scheduled Automatic Early Exercise Date"), or, if later, the
later to occur of (a) the Business Day on which the Euroclear
Finland Registered Instruments shall be settled in accordance with
Finnish Regulations, and (b) the day falling the number of Business
Days equal to the Number of Automatic Early Exercise Settlement
Period Business Days after the Relevant Automatic Early Exercise
Determination Date; or

(B)  "Second Automatic Early Exercise Date Specific Adjustment” to be
applicable, in which case, the Automatic Early Exercise Date shall be, in
respect of any Applicable Date, such date as is specified in the relevant
Issue Terms corresponding to such Applicable Date (each, a "Scheduled
Automatic Early Exercise Date"), or, if later, the day falling the number
of Automatic Early Exercise Specified Day(s) after the Relevant
Automatic Early Exercise Determination Date.

"Automatic Early Exercise Event" means, in respect of any Applicable Date, (and an
Automatic Early Exercise Event shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such
Applicable Date if), the Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has
occurred on such Applicable Date;

"Automatic Early Exercise Specified Day(s)" means, in respect of an Applicable Date
corresponding to a Scheduled Automatic Early Exercise Date, such number of Business
Day(s), Clearing System Business Day(s) or calendar days as specified in the relevant
Issue Terms in respect of such Applicable Date;

"Benchmark Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial
instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds;

"Benchmark Transition Provisions" means the provisions set out in the USD LIBOR
Fallbacks Schedule;
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"Bermudan Style Instruments” means Instruments that are exercisable only on the
Specified Exercise Dates during the Exercise Period and on the Expiration Date;

"Bloomberg Page" means, in respect of a Reference Rate and any designated page, the
display page so designated on the Bloomberg® service (or such other page as may
replace that page on that service (or replace such services) for the purpose of displaying
a rate comparable to such Reference Rate, as determined by the Calculation Agent);

"Broken Amount" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Business Day" means (unless otherwise defined in the Coupon Payout Conditions or
the Payout Conditions, as applicable):

(i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day
(other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign
exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if any) Additional Business
Centre;

(i) in relation to any sum payable in CNY, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday)
on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments
generally in the CNY Financial Centre(s) and in each (if any) Additional Business
Centre;

(iii)  inrelation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro or CNY, a day (other
than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange
markets settle payments generally in the Principal Financial Centre of the relevant
currency and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre, provided that if the
Additional Business Centre is specified in the relevant Issue Terms to be or to
include TARGET, then a Business Day shall also be a TARGET Settlement Day;

(iv) in the case of Instruments held or to be held in Euroclear and/or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, a day on which Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the
case may be) is open for business;

(v) in the case of Euroclear Sweden Registered Instruments, a day (other than a
Saturday or Sunday) on which banks in Stockholm are open for business;

(vi) in the case of VPS Registered Instruments, a day (other than a Saturday or
Sunday) on which banks in Oslo are open for business;

(vii) inthe case of Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments, a day on which Euroclear
Finland and the Euroclear Finland System (in which the Euroclear Finland
Registered Instruments are registered) are open for business in accordance with
the Euroclear Finland Rules;

(viii) inthe case of Euroclear France Registered Instruments, French Law Instruments,
Monte Titoli Registered Instruments, Swiss Securities and CREST Registered
Instruments, a day on which the Relevant Settlement System is open for business,

unless, in each case, the relevant Issue Terms specify "Non-Default Business Day" to
be applicable, in which case "Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or
Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments
generally in each (if any) Additional Business Centre, provided that if the Additional
Business Centre is specified in the relevant Issue Terms to be or to include TARGET,
then a day which is also a TARGET Settlement Day;

"Business Day Convention™ means, in relation to any relevant date referred to in the
Conditions which is specified to be adjusted in accordance with a Business Day
Convention, the convention for adjusting such date if it would otherwise fall on a day
that is not a Business Day, and if the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant
Issue Terms is:

138



General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

"Following Business Day Convention”, the relevant date shall be postponed to
the first following day that is a Business Day;

"Modified Following Business Day Convention" or "Modified Business Day
Convention", the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that
is a Business Day, unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case
that date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

"Nearest", the relevant date shall be the first preceding day that is a Business
Day, if the relevant date would otherwise fall on a day other than a Sunday or a
Monday, and will be the first following day that is a Business Day, if the relevant
date would otherwise fall on a Sunday or a Monday;

"Preceding Business Day Convention", the relevant date will be the first
preceding day that is a Business Day;

"Floating Rate Convention"”, each relevant date shall be the date which
numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendar month which
is the number of months specified in the relevant Issue Terms as the Specified
Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred
provided, however, that:

(A)  if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in
which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which
is a Business Day in that calendar month;

(B) ifany such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day,
then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day
unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be
the first preceding day which is a Business Day; and

(C) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month
which was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last
day which is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the Specified
Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred;
and

"No Adjustment”, the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any
Business Day Convention;

"Calculation Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b)
(Programme Agency Agreement);

"Calculation Amount" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Calculation Period" has the meaning given in the definition of "Day Count Fraction";

"Call Option Notice Date" means:

(i)

(i)

each date specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms or the number of Business
Days preceding the Optional Redemption Date (Call) that is specified in the
relevant Issue Terms; or

if an Optional Redemption Table is set out in the relevant Issue Terms, with
respect to an Optional Redemption Date (Call) specified in the Optional
Redemption Table in the column entitled "Optional Redemption Date(s) (Call)",
each date set forth in the Optional Redemption Table in the column entitled "Call
Option Notice Date(s)" in the row corresponding to such Optional Redemption
Date (Call) or the number of Business Days preceding such Optional Redemption
Date (Call) that is specified in the Optional Redemption Table in the column
entitled "Call Option Notice Date(s)" in the row corresponding to such Optional
Redemption Date (Call),
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provided that if "Call Option Notice Date Adjustment” is specified to apply in the
relevant Issue Terms, then each Call Option Notice Date shall be subject to adjustment
in accordance with the applicable Underlying Asset Conditions as if such date were a
Valuation Date and the date on which such Call Option Notice Date is scheduled to fall
prior to any adjustment under the applicable Underlying Asset Conditions were a
Scheduled Valuation Date;

"Cash Settlement" means if specified in the relevant Issue Terms, cash payment of the
Settlement Amount;

"Certificates" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b) (Programme
Agency Agreement);

"Clearing System" means Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear France,
CREST, Monte Titoli, SIX SIS, the Euroclear Sweden System, the VVPS System and/or
the Euroclear Finland System or such other clearing system as specified in the relevant
Issue Terms;

"Clearing System Business Day" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 13(a)(vii) (Record Date);

"Clearstream, Luxembourg" means Clearstream Banking S.A.;
"Closing Share Price" has the meaning given in the Share Linked Conditions;
"Closing Value" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;

"CNY" means Chinese Renminbi, the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China
(including any lawful successor to the CNY);

"CNY Financial Centre" has the meaning given in FX Linked Condition 4
(Definitions);

"CNY FX Disruption Event" has the meaning given in FX Linked Condition 4
(Definitions);

"Commodity Linked Instruments™ are any Instruments specified as such in the relevant
Issue Terms;

"Commodity Linked Conditions" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 1(c) (Terms and Conditions);

"Conditions" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(c) (Terms and
Conditions);

"CREST" means the dematerialised securities trading system operated by Euroclear UK
& Ireland Limited,;

"CREST Holder" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 4(d) (CREST
Registered Instruments);

"CREST Paying Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b)
(Programme Agency Agreement);

"CREST Register" means the register held by the CREST Registrar in respect of
CREST Registered Instruments;

"CREST Registered Instruments" means Instruments cleared through CREST;

"CREST Registrar" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b)
(Programme Agency Agreement);
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"Currency Conversion Disruption Event" has the meaning given in FX Linked
Condition 4 (Definitions).

"Cut-off Date" means, in respect of an Original Primary Rate and:

(i)

(i)

an Original Primary Rate Cessation, the later of (a) the date that falls the number
of Business Days specified in the relevant Issue Terms (or, if not so specified, the
30th Business Day) following the occurrence of such Original Primary Rate
Cessation, and (b) the first day on which the Original Primary Rate is no longer
available following such Original Primary Rate Cessation; or

an Administrator/Benchmark Event, the later of (a) the date that falls the number
of Business Days specified in the relevant Issue Terms (or, if not so specified, the
30th Business Day) following the occurrence of such Administrator/Benchmark
Event, and (b) the Administrator/Benchmark Event Date;

"Day Count Fraction™" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period
of time (the "Calculation Period"), such day count fraction as may be specified in the
Conditions or the relevant Issue Terms and:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

Day Count Fraction =

if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is so specified, means:

(A)  where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period
during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular
Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and

(B)  where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum
of:

(1)  the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the
Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (a) the
actual number of days in such Regular Period and (b) the number
of Regular Periods in any year; and

(2)  the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the
next Regular Period divided by the product of (a) the actual number
of days in such Regular Period and (b) the number of Regular
Periods in any year;

if "Actual/365" or "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" is so specified, means the actual
number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the
Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days
in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and
(B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in
a non-leap year divided by 365);

if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 365;

if "Actual/360" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 360;

if "30/360" is so specified, means the number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360 x (Y, — Y;) +[30 x (M, — M) + (D, — Dy)]]
360

Where:
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(vi)

Day Count Fraction =

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following
the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period,
unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last
day of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater
than 29, in which case D2 will be 30; and

if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is so specified means, the number of days in
the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360 x (Y, — Y;) +[30 x (M, — My) + (D, — Dy)]]
360

Where:

"Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

"Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following
the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M1" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the
Calculation Period falls;

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

"D1" is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period,
unless such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

"D2" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last
day of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2
will be 30;

"Deliverable Assets" has the meaning given in the Payout Conditions;

"Eligible Financial Institution" means a financial institution organised under the laws
of any jurisdiction in the United States of America, the United Kingdom or the European

Union;

"eura", "EUR" or "€" means the lawful single currency of the member states of the
European Union that have adopted and continue to retain a common single currency
through monetary union in accordance with European Union treaty law (as amended
from time to time);

"Euroclear" means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V_;

"Euroclear/Clearstream Holder" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 4(a) (Euroclear/Clearstream Instruments);

142



General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments

"Euroclear/Clearstream Instruments” means Instruments that are cleared through
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg;

"Euroclear Finland" means Euroclear Finland Oy, the Finnish Central Securities
Depository;

"Euroclear Finland Holder" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 4(c) (Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments);

"Euroclear Finland Register" means the register opened in the Euroclear Finland
System for Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments;

"Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments” means any Tranche of Instruments
registered with Euroclear Finland in the Euroclear Finland System and issued in
uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form in accordance with the Finnish
Regulations;

"Euroclear Finland Rules" means the rules issued by Euroclear Finland;

"Euroclear Finland System™ means the technical system at Euroclear Finland for the
registration of instruments and the clearing and settlement of instrument transactions;

"Euroclear France" means Euroclear France S.A.;

"Euroclear France Account Holder" means any authorised financial intermediary
institution entitled to hold accounts, directly or indirectly, on behalf of its customers with
Euroclear France, and includes Euroclear and the depositary bank for Clearstream,
Luxembourg;

"Euroclear France Holder" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 4(f) (Euroclear France Registered Instruments);

"Euroclear France Registered Instruments" means any Tranche of Instruments (other
than French Law Instruments) cleared through Euroclear France;

"Euroclear Sweden" means Euroclear Sweden AB, the Swedish Central Securities
Depository;

"Euroclear Sweden Holder" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 4(a) (Euroclear Sweden Registered Instruments);

"Euroclear Sweden Register" means the register opened in the Euroclear Sweden
System for Euroclear Sweden Registered Instruments issued or to be issued by the Issuer;

"Euroclear Sweden Registered Instruments" means any Tranche of Instruments
registered with Euroclear Sweden and issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-
entry form in accordance with the SCSDFIA Act;

"Euroclear Sweden Rules" means the SCSDFIA Act and all other applicable Swedish
laws, regulations and operating procedures applicable to and/or issued by Euroclear
Sweden from time to time;

"Euroclear Sweden System" means the technical system at Euroclear Sweden for the
registration of securities and the clearing and settlement of securities transactions;

"European Style Instruments" means Instruments that are exercisable only on the
Expiration Date or if that is not a Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day,
subject to prior termination of the Instruments as provided in General Instrument
Condition 20 (Change in law);

"Event of Default" means any of the events described in General Instrument
Condition 34(a) (Events of Default);

143



General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments

"Exempt Securities" means Instruments for which no prospectus is required to be
published under the Prospectus Regulation (or in respect of which a separate prospectus
other than the Base Prospectus under the Programme will be published under the
Prospectus Regulation);

"Exercise Date" means, in respect of any Instrument, subject to General Instrument
Condition 12(b) (Maximum Exercise Number) (if applicable), the day on which an
Exercise Notice relating to that Instrument is delivered in accordance with:

Q) the provisions of General Instrument Condition 10(a) (Exercise Notice —
Euroclear/Clearstream Instruments only), provided that:

(A) if the Exercise Notice is delivered (1) on any day which is not a Business
Day or (2) (x) after 10.00 a.m. (or, if specified in the relevant Issue Terms,
such other Specified Exercise Time) (Brussels or Luxembourg time, as the
case may be) on any Business Day or (y) if a Local Exercise Place is
specified in the relevant Issue Terms, after 10.00 a.m. (or, if specified in
the relevant Issue Terms, such other Specified Exercise Time) in the Local
Exercise Place on any Business Day, then, in either case (1) or (2), the
Exercise Date shall be the next succeeding day which is a Business Day;
and

(B)  subject to General Instrument Condition 9(b) (European Style Exercise)
(if applicable) or General Instrument Condition 9(c) (Bermudan Style
Exercise) (if applicable), the Exercise Date may not be later than the
Expiration Date; or

(i)  the provisions of General Instrument Condition 10(b) (Exercise Notice —
Euroclear France Registered Instruments, French Law Instruments, Monte Titoli
Registered Instruments and CREST Registered Instruments), provided that:

(A) if the Exercise Notice is delivered (1) on any day which is not a Business
Day or (2) after 10.00 a.m. (or, if specified in the relevant Issue Terms,
such other Specified Exercise Time) (Paris, Milan or London time, as the
case may be) on any Business Day, then, in either such case, the Exercise
Date shall be the next succeeding day which is a Business Day; and

(B)  subject to General Instrument Condition 9(b) (European Style Exercise)
(if applicable) or General Instrument Condition 9(c) (Bermudan Style
Exercise) (if applicable), the Exercise Date may not be later than the
Expiration Date;

"Exercise Notice" means in respect of Instruments other than Nordic Registered
Instruments, an exercise notice in the form set out in the Programme Agency Agreement
(copies of which may be obtained from Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the
Paying Agents);

"Exercise Period" means the period beginning on (and including) such date as may be
specified in the relevant Issue Terms and ending on (and including) the Expiration Date;

"Expenses" means all expenses, costs, charges, tax, duties, withholding or other
payments, including, without limitation, all stamp, issue, registration or securities
transfer or other similar taxes or duties or other governmental charges;

"Expiration Date" means the Final Reference Date, the Final Pricing Date, the Last
Averaging Date, the Adjusted Final FX Valuation Date, or any other date specified as
such in the relevant Issue Terms, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify "Expiration
Date is Business Day Adjusted" to be applicable, if such date is not a Business Day, the
next succeeding Business Day;

"Issue Terms" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(d) (Issue
Terms);
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"Finnish Custody Cash Account™ means a cash account in euro opened in the name of
GSI and maintained by the Finnish Paying Agent;

"Finnish Paying Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b)
(Programme Agency Agreement);

"Finnish Regulations" means the Finnish Securities Markets Act (746/2012), Act on the
Book-Entry System and Clearing Operations (749/2012), Act on Book-Entry Accounts
(827/1991), the Euroclear Finland Rules and the rules of the Helsinki Stock Exchange
(NASDAQ Helsinki Ltd) (as may be amended from time to time);

"first currency" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 26 (Currency
Indemnity);

"FISA" means the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz);

"Fixed Coupon Amount" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms or, if an Interest Rate Table is set out in the relevant Issue Terms, in respect of an
Interest Period, the amount set forth in the Interest Rate Table in the column entitled
"Fixed Coupon Amount" in the row corresponding to such Interest Period, unless the
relevant Issue Terms specify "BRL FX Conditions" or "FX Security Conditions" to be
applicable, in which case, the "Fixed Coupon Amount” shall be determined in
accordance with the Coupon Payout Conditions;

"Fixed Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date of the Instruments or such
other date as may be specified as the Fixed Interest Commencement Date in the relevant
Issue Terms;

"Floating Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date of the Instruments or
such other date as may be specified as the Floating Interest Commencement Date in the
relevant Issue Terms;

"Fractional Cash Amount™ has the meaning given in the Payout Conditions;
"Fractional Entitlement" has the meaning given in the Payout Conditions;

"French Law Instruments" means any Instruments specified as such in the relevant
Issue Terms;

"French Paying Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b)
(Programme Agency Agreement);

"Fund" has the meaning given in the Fund Linked Conditions;

"Fund Linked Conditions" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(c)
(Terms and Conditions);

"Fund Linked Instruments" are any Instruments specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms;

"Fund Reference Price" has the meaning given to it in the Fund Linked Conditions;
"FX Disruption Event" has the meaning given in FX Linked Condition 4 (Definitions);

"FX Disruption Event Cut-off Date" means the Specified Day(s) following the original
date on which the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity Date or other date on which
amounts are payable under the Instruments by the Issuer, as applicable, was scheduled
to fall, unless the relevant Issue Terms specify "Default FX Disruption Event Cut-off
Date", in which case, "FX Disruption Event Cut-off Date" means the fifteenth Business
Day following the original date on which the relevant Interest Payment Date, Maturity
Date or other date on which amounts are payable under the Instruments by the Issuer, as
applicable, was scheduled to fall;

145



General Terms and Conditions of the Instruments

"FX Linked Instruments" are any Instruments specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms;

"FX Linked Conditions" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(c)
(Terms and Conditions);

"Global Instrument” has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 3(a)
(Form);

"GSFCI" means Goldman Sachs Finance Corp International Ltd;
"GSG" means The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.;

"GSI" means Goldman Sachs International;

"GSW" means Goldman, Sachs & Co. Wertpapier GmbH,;

"Guarantor" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(a)
(Programme);

"GSG Guaranty" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(e)
(Guaranty);

"GSIl Guarantee" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(f)
(Guarantee);

"Hedge Positions" means any one or more securities positions, derivatives positions or
other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) purchased, sold, entered into
or maintained by the Issuer, the relevant Guarantor (if applicable) or any affiliate thereof,
in order to hedge, or otherwise in connection with, the Instruments including, for the
avoidance of doubt, any such positions in respect of the relevant Deliverable Assets in
respect of the Instruments;

"Holder" means:

(M in respect of any Instruments (other French Law Instruments), a
Euroclear/Clearstream Holder, a Euroclear Sweden Holder, a VPS Holder, an
Euroclear Finland Holder, a Euroclear France Holder, a Monte Titoli Holder or a
CREST Holder, or a Holder as defined in General Instrument Condition 4(h)
(Swiss Securities) as the case may be;

(i) inrespect of any French Law Instruments, the person whose name appears in the
account of the relevant Euroclear France Account Holder as being entitled to such
French Law Instruments;

"In-the-Money" means that the Calculation Agent determines that the Closing Value of
an Underlying Asset is greater than the Strike Price;

"Index Linked Instruments" are any Instruments specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms;

"Index Linked Conditions” has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 1(c) (Terms and Conditions);

"Infinity system" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 10(m)
(Settlement — Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments);

"Inflation Linked Instruments" are any Instruments specified as such in the relevant
Issue Terms;

"Inflation Linked Conditions" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 1(c) (Terms and Conditions);
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"Instruments” has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b)
(Programme Agreement);

"Interest Amount" means, in respect of a period or an Interest Payment Date and each
Instrument, the amount of interest payable for such period or on such Interest Payment
Date as determined or calculated in accordance with the Conditions;

"Interest Basis" means any of Fixed Coupon, Floating Coupon or Conditional Coupon,
as specified in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Fixed Interest Commencement Date or the
Floating Interest Commencement Date (as applicable);

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of the Reference Rate for any relevant
day, such relevant day or, if specified in the relevant Issue Terms, such number of Rate
Business Days prior to such relevant day as specified in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Interest Payment Date" means each date specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Interest Period" means the period commencing on (and including) the Interest
Commencement Date to (but excluding) the next following Interest Payment Date and
each period commencing on (and including) an Interest Payment Date to (but excluding)
the next following Interest Payment Date, and, if the relevant Issue Terms specify that
the Interest Periods, or particular Interest Periods shall be (i) "Adjusted”, then each
Interest Period shall commence on or end on, as the case may be, the relevant Interest
Payment Date after all applicable adjustments to such Interest Payment Date pursuant to
the Conditions, or (ii) "Unadjusted", then each Interest Period shall commence on or end
on, as the case may be, the date on which the relevant Interest Payment Date is scheduled
to fall, disregarding all applicable adjustments to such Interest Payment Date pursuant to
the Conditions;

"Interest Rate Table" means the table specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;
"ISDA" means the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.;

"ISDA Benchmarks Supplement” means any document published by ISDA to address
any requirements under the Benchmark Regulation which does not automatically
supplement the 2006 ISDA Definitions;

"ISDA Rate" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 14(d) (ISDA
Determination);

"Issue Date" means the date specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;
"Issue Price" the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;
"Issuer" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(a) (Programme);

"ltalian Paying Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 1(b)
(Programme Agency Agreement);

"Local Exercise Place" means the place specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Local Time" means, with respect to Euroclear France Registered Instruments and
French Law Instruments, Paris time, with respect to Monte Titoli Registered Instruments,
Milan time, and with respect to CREST Registered Instruments, London time;

"Luxembourg Paying Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 1(b) (Programme Agency Agreement);

"Margin" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms or, if an
Interest Rate Table is set out in the relevant Issue Terms, in respect of an Interest Period,
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the amount set forth in the Interest Rate Table in the column entitled "Margin™ in the row
corresponding to such Interest Period;

"Maturity Date" means:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

in respect of Instruments other than Nordic Registered Instruments, Euroclear
France Registered Instruments or French Law Instruments, the Scheduled
Maturity Date, and if the Relevant Determination Date is adjusted in accordance
with the Conditions, the Maturity Date shall instead be the day falling the number
of Business Days equal to the Number of Settlement Period Business Days after
the Relevant Determination Date;

in respect of VPS Registered Instruments and Euroclear Sweden Registered
Instruments, the seventh Business Day or such other Specified Day(s) following
the Expiration Date, in each case, subject to the Underlying Asset Conditions (if
applicable);

in respect of Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments, the Business Day on
which such Euroclear Finland Registered Instrument shall be settled in
accordance with the Finnish Regulations;

in respect of Euroclear France Registered Instruments or French Law Instruments:

(A) if Warrants, then the fifth Business Day or such other Specified Day(s)
following the Expiration Date; and

(B) if Certificates, then the eighth Business Day or such other Specified Day(s)
following the Expiration Date;

in respect of Share Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify
"Maturity Date —Share Linked Condition 7 (Definitions)" to be applicable,
"Maturity Date" has the meaning ascribed to it in Share Linked Condition 7
(Definitions);

in respect of Index Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify
"Maturity Date —Index Linked Condition 8 (Definitions)" to be applicable,
"Maturity Date" has the meaning ascribed to it in Index Linked Condition 8
(Definitions);

in respect of Commodity Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms
specify "Maturity Date — Commodity Linked Condition 9 (General Definitions)"
to be applicable, "Maturity Date" has the meaning ascribed to it in Commodity
Linked Condition 9 (General Definitions); and

in respect of Fund Linked Instruments, and if the relevant Issue Terms specify
"Maturity Date — Fund Linked Condition 7 (Definitions)" to be applicable,
"Maturity Date" has the meaning ascribed to it in Fund Linked Condition 7
(Definitions),

unless, in each case, the relevant Issue Terms specify:

(A)  "First Maturity Date Specific Adjustment” to be applicable, in which
case, in respect of;

(1) Instruments other than Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments,
the Maturity Date shall be the Scheduled Maturity Date or, if later,
the later to occur of (a) the Specified Day(s) after the Scheduled
Determination Date or the Relevant Determination Date (as
specified in the relevant Issue Terms), and (b) the number of
Business Days equal to the Number of Settlement Period Business
Days after the Relevant Determination Date; or
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(B)

(©)

(D)

(E)

(2)  Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments, the Maturity Date shall
be the Scheduled Maturity Date or, if later, the later to occur of: (a)
the Business Day on which the Euroclear Finland Registered
Instruments shall be settled in accordance with Finnish
Regulations, and (b) the number of Business Days equal to the
Number of Settlement Period Business Days after the Relevant
Determination Date; or

"Second Maturity Date Specific Adjustment” to be applicable, in which
case, in respect of:

(1)  Instruments other than Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments,
the Maturity Date shall be the later to occur of (a) the Scheduled
Maturity Date or if such date is not a Business Day, such date after
adjustment, if applicable, in accordance with the Business Day
Convention specified in the relevant Issue Terms as the "Maturity
Date Business Day Convention”, and (b) the Specified Day(s)
after the Relevant Determination Date; or

(2)  Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments, the Maturity Date shall
be the later to occur of (a) the Scheduled Maturity Date or if such
date is not a Business Day, such date after adjustment, if applicable,
in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the
relevant Issue Terms as the "Maturity Date Business Day
Convention", (b) the Business Day on which the Euroclear Finland
Registered Instruments shall be settled in accordance with Finnish
Regulations, and (c) the Specified Day(s) after the Relevant
Determination Date; or

"Business Day Adjustment" to be applicable, in which case, the Maturity
Date shall be the Scheduled Maturity Date or if such date is not a Business
Day, the Maturity Date shall be such date after adjustments, if applicable,
in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the relevant
Issue Terms as the "Maturity Date Business Day Convention™; or

"American Style Adjustment" to be applicable, in which case:

(1) any Instrument exercised on an Exercise Date pursuant to the
applicable provisions of the General Instrument Conditions, the
Specified Day(s) after the Relevant Determination Date
corresponding to such Exercise Date, as determined by the
Calculation Agent; and

(2) any Instrument deemed to be exercised pursuant to the applicable
provisions of the General Instrument Conditions, the later of () the
Scheduled Maturity Date, and if specified in the relevant Issue
Terms, if such date is not a Business Day, subject to adjustment in
accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the
relevant Issue Terms as the "Maturity Date Business Day
Convention", and (y) the Specified Day(s) after the Relevant
Determination Date corresponding to the Expiration Date, in each
case, as determined by the Calculation Agent; or

"Maturity Date Roll on Payment Date Adjustment” to be applicable, in
which case, the Maturity Date shall be the later of (x) the Scheduled
Maturity Date or if such date is not a Business Day, such date after
adjustments, if applicable, in accordance with the Business Day
Convention specified in the relevant Issue Terms as the "Maturity Date
Business Day Convention" (such adjusted date, the "Adjusted Scheduled
Maturity Date"), and (y) the second Business Day after the Relevant
Determination Date, in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent.
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"Maximum Exercise Number" means the number specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms;

"Maximum Rate of Interest" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms, or, if an Interest Rate Table is set out in the relevant Issue Terms, in respect of
each Interest Period, the amount set forth in the Interest Rate Table in the column entitled
"Maximum Rate of Interest" in the row corresponding to such Interest Period;

"Minimum Exercise Number" means the number specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms;

"Minimum Rate of Interest" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms, or, if an Interest Rate Table is set out in the relevant Issue Terms, in respect of
each Interest Period, the amount set forth in the Interest Rate Table in the column entitled
"Minimum Rate of Interest™ in the row corresponding to such Interest Period,;

"Minimum Trading Number" means the minimum number of the Instruments which
may be transferred in each transaction as specified in the relevant Issue Terms pursuant
to General Instrument Condition 5(c) (Transfers);

"Monte Titoli" means the dematerialised securities post-trading system devoted to the
centralised administration of financial instruments operated by Monte Titoli S.p.A.;

"Monte Titoli Holder" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 4(e)
(Monte Titoli Registered Instruments);

"Monte Titoli Registered Instruments” means Instruments cleared through Monte
Titoli;

"Multi-Asset Basket Linked Instruments” means any Instruments specified as such in
the relevant Issue Terms;

"NCSD Act" means the Norwegian Central Securities Depositories Act of 2019 (in
Norwegian: lov om verdipapirsentraler og verdipapiroppgjer mv. av 15. Mars 2019 nr.
6);

"New Issuer" has the meaning given in General Instrument Condition 28 (Substitution);

"Non-Approval Event" means, in respect of an Original Primary Rate, the determination
by the Calculation Agent that one or more of the following events has occurred:

Q) any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision or
approval in respect of such Original Primary Rate or the administrator or sponsor
of such Original Primary Rate is not obtained;

(i) such Original Primary Rate or the administrator or sponsor of such Original
Primary Rate is not included in an official register; or

(iii)  such Original Primary Rate or the administrator or sponsor of such Original
Primary Rate does not fulfil any legal or regulatory requirement applicable to the
Issuer or the Calculation Agent or such Original Primary Rate,

in each case, with the effect that either the Issuer or the Calculation Agent is not, or will
not be, permitted under any applicable law or regulation to use such Original Primary
Rate to perform its or their respective obligations under the Instruments, provided that a
Non-Approval Event shall not occur if such Original Primary Rate or the administrator
or sponsor of such Original Primary Rate is not included in an official register because
its authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision or
approval is suspended if, at the time of such suspension, the continued provision and use
of such Original Primary Rate is permitted in respect of the Instruments under the
applicable law or regulation;
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"Nominal Amount" means the amount specified as such in the relevant Issue Terms;

"Non-scheduled Early Repayment Amount"” means, on any day:

(i)

(i)

in respect of a Certificate, if "Par plus accrued" is specified in the relevant Issue
Terms, an amount in the Settlement Currency equal to the Nominal Amount of
the Certificate plus, if applicable, any accrued interest to (but excluding) the date
of redemption or settlement of the Certificates, as determined by the Calculation
Agent; or

if "Fair Market Value" is specified in the relevant Issue Terms, an amount, in
the Settlement Currency, which shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) as applicable:

(A)

(B)

in the case of a Non-scheduled Early Repayment Amount being payable
due to the occurrence of an Event of Default and with respect to an
Instrument, on any day, an amount which shall be determined by the
Calculation Agent as the fair market value of the Instruments as of that
day, determined by reference to such factors as the Calculation Agent
considers to be appropriate including, without limitation (a) market prices
or values for any Underlying Asset(s) and other relevant economic
variables (such as interest rates and, if applicable, exchange rates) at the
relevant time taking into account the bid or offer prices of any Underlying
Asset(s) and such other relevant economic variables; (b) the remaining
term of the Instruments had they remained outstanding to the date of
redemption or settlement and/or any scheduled early redemption or
settlement date; (d) if applicable, accrued interest; (e) internal pricing
models of the Issuer and its affiliates, and provided that, for such purpose:

(1)  the Calculation Agent shall assume that the Issuer is a Qualified
Financial Institution or, if the Calculation Agent determines that no
Qualified Financial Institution exists, the Calculation Agent shall
assume the Issuer is an Eligible Financial Institution which has, at
that time, (2) outstanding debt obligations with a stated maturity of
one year or less from the date of issue and (b) the highest rating
assigned to such outstanding debt obligations by Standard & Poor's
Ratings Group or Moody's Investor Service, Inc. or any successor
of either entity, provided that if both entities no longer exist, an
entity selected by the Calculation Agent in its reasonable
discretion; and

(2)  if the relevant Issue Terms specifies "Adjusted for Issuer Expenses
and Costs" as applicable, the Calculation Agent shall adjust such
amount fully for any reasonable expenses and costs of the Issuer
and/or its affiliates, including those relating to the unwinding of any
underlying and/or related hedging arrangements, as determined by
the Calculation Agent; or

otherwise, on any day, an amount in the Settlement Currency, which shall
be determined by the Calculation Agent as the fair market value of the
Instrument on the second Business Day prior to the date of redemption or
settlement, determined by reference to such factors as the Calculation
Agent considers to be appropriate including, without limitation (a) market
prices or values for any Underlying Asset(s) and other relevant economic
variables (such as interest rates and, if applicable, exchange rates) at the
relevant time taking into account the bid or offer prices of any Underlying
Asset(s) and such other relevant economic variables; (b) the remaining
term of the Instruments had they remained outstanding to the date of
redemption or settlement and/or any scheduled early redemption or
settlement date; (c) if applicable, accrued interest; (d) internal pricing
models of the Issuer and its affiliates; and (e) the hypothetical cost of the
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Issuer of re-establishing the funding provided by the Instruments, and
provided that, for such purpose, if the relevant Issue Terms specifies
"Adjusted for Issuer Expenses and Costs" as applicable, the Calculation
Agent shall adjust such amount fully for any reasonable expenses and costs
of the Issuer and/or its affiliates, including those relating to the unwinding
of any underlying and/or related hedging arrangements, as determined by
the Calculation Agent;

"Nordic Registered Instruments" means Euroclear Sweden Registered Instruments,
VPS Registered Instruments and Euroclear Finland Registered Instruments;

"Norwegian Cash Transfer Account” means a cash account in Norwegian Krone and
in the name of the Norwegian Paying Agent on behalf of the Issuer from which the
Norwegian Paying Agent makes payments to VPS Holders;

"Norwegian Custody Cash Account” means a cash account in Norwegian Krone
opened in the name of GSI and maintained by the Norwegian Paying Agent;

"Norwegian Krone" and "NOK" mean the lawful currency of Norway;

"Norwegian Paying Agent" has the meaning given in General Instrument
Condition 1(b) (Programme Agency Agreement);

"Notional Amount per Instrument™" means the amount specified as such in the relevant
Issue Terms;

"Number of Automatic Early Exercise Settlement Period Business Days" means the
number of Business Days which the Calculation Agent anticipates, as of the Strike Date,
shall fall in the period commencing on, but excluding, the Scheduled Applicable Date
corresponding to the relevant Applicable Date, and ending on, and including, the
corresponding Scheduled Automatic Early Exercise Date in respect of such Applicable
Date, as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Number of Settlement Period Business Days" means the number of Business Days
which the Calculation Agent anticipates, as at the Strike Date, shall fall in the period
commencing on, but excluding, the Scheduled Determination Date, and ending on, and
including, the Scheduled Maturity Date, as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Optional Redemption Amount (Call)" means the amount specified as such in the
relevant Issue Terms or, if an Optional Redemption Table is set out in the relevant Issue
Terms, in respect of an Optional Redemption Date (Call), the amount set forth in the
Optional Redemption Table in the column entitled "Optional Redemption Amount
(Call)" in the row corresponding to such Optional Redemption Date (Call);

"Optional Redemption Date (Call)" means each date specified as such in the relevant
Issue Terms or the number of Business Days as specified in the relevant Issue Terms
following the corresponding Call Option Notice Date, or, if specified in the relevant Issue
Terms, the later of such dates, or, if an Optional Redemption Table is set out in the
relevant Issue Terms, each date set forth in the Optional Redemption Table in the column
entitled "Optional Redemption Date(s) (Call)" or the number of Business Days as
specified in the relevant Issue Terms following the corresponding Call Option Notice
Date in the Optional Redemption Table, or, if specified in the relevant Issue Terms, the
later of such dates;

"Optional R